Annual General Meeting of the West Suffolk CCG Governing Body
to be held from 0915–1230hrs on Wednesday 29 September 2021

In response to the challenges facing the NHS and to reduce the risk of coronavirus
transmission, the meeting will be ‘live streamed’ for members of the public (a link for the live
streaming will be available on the CCG website).
Members of the public are invited to submit questions relating to agenda items either, prior to
the meeting, via email to jo.mael@suffolk.nhs.uk, or during the live streaming when they will
be collated and asked at the appropriate time on the agenda. The minutes of the meeting
which will include answers to any questions submitted by the public will be published on the
CCG website after the meeting.
1.

Apologies for Absence

Dr Christopher Browning

2.

West Suffolk CCG – Annual Report and Accounts 2020/21

Dr Christopher Browning/
Ed Garratt
WSCCG 20-45

3.

Auditors Annual Report 2020/21

Jane Payling
WSCCG 20-46

Questions and Answers

GENERAL BUSINESS
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Declarations of Interest and any hospitality or gifts.
Declarations of interest made by members of the Governing Body are
listed in the CCG’s Register of Interests which, along with the CCG’s
Hospitality and Gifts Register, is available on the CCG website.

3.

Minutes of the previous West Suffolk CCG Governing Body
meeting.
To approve as a correct record Minutes of the West Suffolk CCG
Governing Body meeting held on 28 July 2021

Dr Christopher Browning

4.

Matters Arising and Action Log

Dr Christopher Browning

5.

General Update
To receive a verbal report from the Chief Executive
STRATEGY AND SERVICE DEVELOPMENT

Dr Christopher Browning
All

Ed Garratt
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6.

West Suffolk Alliance Update
To receive and note a report from the Director of Integration

Kate Vaughton
Report No:
WSCCG 21-47

7.

Procurement Update: Summary of Activity 2021/22
To receive and note a report from the Director of Performance
Improvement

Paul Gibara
Report No:
WSCCG 21-48

FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND SCRUTINY
8.

2021/22 Financial Planning and Extension of Temporary Financial
Arrangements
To receive and approve a report from the Director of Finance

Jane Payling
Report No:
WSCCG 21-49

9.

Integrated Performance Report - Are the CCGs finances,
performance and quality on track?
To receive and note a report from Directors.

Directors
Report No:
WSCCG 21-50

Order of presentation:
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)
10.

Director of Performance Improvement
Director of Nursing
Director of Strategy and Transformation
Director of Integration
Director of Finance

Governing Body Assurance Framework
To receive and approve a report from the Director of Corporate
Services and System Infrastructure

Amanda Lyes
Report No:
WSCCG 21-51

GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE BUSINESS
11.

Financial Performance Committee Annual Report
To receive and note a report from the Director of Finance

Steve Chicken/
Jane Payling
Report No:
WSCCG 21-52

12.

Audit Committee Annual Report
To receive and note a report from the Director of Finance

Geoff Dobson/
Jane Payling
Report No:
WSCCG 21-53

13.

Minutes of Meetings:
To receive a report seeking the endorsement of minutes and
decisions from the following West Suffolk CCG Sub Committees.

Committee Chairs
Report No:
WSCCG 21-54

a) Audit Committee
The unconfirmed minutes of a meeting held on 10 September 2021.
b) Financial Performance Committee
The unconfirmed minutes of a meeting held on 15 September 2021
c) Covid-19 Resource Approval Committee
Minutes from a meeting held on 19 August 2021
d) West Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The unconfirmed minutes of a meeting held on 25 August 2021
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e) Commissioning Governance Committee
Decisions from virtual meetings held on 7 and 12 July 2021 and 10
and 25 August 2021
f)

14.

CCG Collaborative Group
The minutes of a meeting held on 17 August 2021 and 7 September
2021

Date and Time of future Governing Body meetings
0915 - 1230 Wednesday 24 November 2021

15.

Questions from the public – Maximum 15 minutes
Please note questions should relate to the items under discussion and
must be a question rather than statement. Where individuals deviate
from this requirement they will be asked to stop and will not be invited
to take any further part in the meeting.
Exclusion of the Press and Public

The Governing Body is recommended to exclude representatives of the press, and other members of the
public, from the meeting having regard to the confidential nature of the business to be transacted, publicity on
which would be prejudicial to the public interest; Section 1(2), Public Bodies (Admission to
Meetings) Act 1960.
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West Suffolk CCG
Annual General Meeting
Annual accounts
2020-21

1

1

Key Messages
All financial targets achieved:

• £394.44M total spend vs £398.67M total income giving a surplus of £2m (19/20
£1.2m)
• 20/21 financial year saw the NHS working under emergency financial arrangements
due to Covid-19
• Over 96% of invoices paid within 30 days
• Audit reporting requirements changed for 2020-21 to include a narrative report on
the Use of Resources, assessing the value for money delivered by the organisation.
2

2

Expenditure Analysis

Prescribing
Costs

• 94% of the CCG’s funds are
spent on services from NHS
bodies, healthcare from nonNHS bodies, prescribing
costs and primary care.
Services
from NHS
Bodies

• Expenditure on prescribing
increased by 8% on previous
year (noting covid impact).
• Expenditure on GP contracts
increased 6.5% year on year.

3

3

Statement of financial position (balance sheet)

4

•

The CCG holds very few physical
assets, those held comprise IM&T and
furniture and fittings

•

Decrease in provisions mainly relates
to utilisation of provisions for premises

•

Cash is released to CCGs from NHS
England when required therefore
CCGs are not expected to hold
significant cash balances.

21-22 and beyond
• ‘Normal’ financial arrangements not yet fully in place
• Funding announcements for the NHS remain relatively short term
• Uplifts for services directly commissioned by CCG have been very
low leading to cost pressures
• 22-23 financial year should see a return to normal allocation
processes
• Integrated Care System will bring together the funding across
Suffolk and North East Essex and should result in increased
flexibility. Aiming to report finances at ICS, place and locality
levels.
5

5

COVID-19 VACCINATIONS

DRIVE-THRU VACCINATION IN WEST SUFFOLK

Annual Report
2020/21
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Welcome

This past year has been a year like no other. The devastating impact of the coronavirus
pandemic is still requiring our undivided attention and effort. We wanted to start this year’s
annual report with recognition of the enormous effort by our staff to support our system’s
response to the pandemic. But we also must acknowledge the devastation that these past
12 months have brought to many thousands of colleagues, local people and communities.
Our thoughts remain with everyone who’s lost a loved one, friend or colleague.
Our concern and thoughts remain too with those who have been affected in other ways.
Many have experienced job loss and financial hardship and now face an uncertain future. A
great number of people have struggled in maintaining good mental health, with loneliness
and isolation having a major adverse effect on their wellbeing. Many parents have struggled
on a practical level in coping with school closures, and the unacceptable level of health
inequalities in our communities has been starkly highlighted.
The pandemic has negatively affected us all in some way and undoubtedly the last twelve
months has been a year of adversity. Yet, throughout this time the NHS and its brilliant staff
have shone brightly in supporting people’s physical and mental wellbeing. We proudly thank
every staff member for their hard work and effort. It’s often been said in the past that the
NHS is bureaucratic and too slow to change – a view we believe can no longer be justifiably
held. Consider, for example, the quick and nimble adoption of new working practices, such
as the speedy introduction of video and telephone appointments by our GP practices, so that
people could still access health care services. Across the NHS we have seen tremendous
examples of innovation that have ensured the NHS has been there to help people when they
need it.
Towards the end of 2020, some hope returned to our lives with the instigation of the national
vaccination programme. The vaccine rollout has been a huge success and has been well
supported with our own highly commended local vaccination website
(www.sneevaccine.org.uk) and telephone helpline so that people have been able to access
trusted information and advice at any time. It is certainly pleasing that our local area
continues to be among the top performing areas in the country for the speed and reach of its
vaccine programme. This level of success could not have been achieved without the
incredible display of community spirit from the army of volunteers who have been integral to
the smooth running of vaccination clinics – from performing car park marshalling duties to
administering the vaccine, their roles are many and varied, and every individual volunteer
deserves a huge debt of thanks for their selfless contribution – thank you.
It’s also important we highlight too just how fantastically well local health and care, voluntary,
community and public sector organisations have worked together over the last year and
remained wholly focused on supporting people’s lives. The benefits of partnership working
have never been so clearly evident as during this pandemic, and this bodes well for the
proposed national development of integrated care systems which will result in much closer
working between our CCG, the wider NHS and public sector partners in the near future.
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While the financial year 2020/21 has been principally concerned about COVID-19 it is
pertinent to highlight the much good work that is happening to keep the wider services
operating as smoothly as practicably possible, and it is important we highlight some of this
work, including:
More young adults in Suffolk are able to seek help from Kooth after the free online
counselling and emotional wellbeing support service was extended. Kooth was launched
with the aim of providing support to young people aged between 11 and 18-years-old. Due
to its reach and success it was extended to all young adults up to the age of 25. Kooth
provides young people with safe and secure access to support with their emotional health
and wellbeing needs from a professional team of qualified counsellors.
A new grant fund worth £300,000 was launched by IESCCG in partnership with WSCCG
and the Suffolk Community Foundation, to support people’s mental wellbeing. Called Equity
in Mind the programme will enable local organisations to bid for funding to provide
community-based interventions with a focus on addressing health inequalities and
supporting those from BAME backgrounds, services supporting older people over the age of
65 years and our population with a severe mental illness.
The CCG has been working closely with West Suffolk Council to support interventions that
improve the wellbeing of homeless people living in temporary accommodation. £30,000 was
awarded to deliver personalised healthcare to those tenants with additional health needs.
LifeLink, a west Suffolk wellbeing project is reducing demand on NHS services and
helping connect people to social activities. Following an initial pilot in Haverhill, the
LifeLink project was rolled out across the whole of the district in 2020 and is
connecting people with health and wellbeing services, social groups, clubs and new
skills opportunities. It was formed to help people with needs such as anxiety and
loneliness without needing to use GP or NHS services where they were not
appropriate. Since its inception LifeLink has dealt with over 2,200 cases.
We are incredibly proud of Julie Irving, Information Sharing Programme Manager, who
scooped a national award, and was named Information Sharing Champion of the Year by
the National Health and Social Care Strategic Information Governance Network. Julie
received the award in recognition of her successful implementation of My Care record in
Suffolk and north east Essex, and for her innovative ideas for improving health and care
services, through better information governance and IT.
As in previous years, the CCG annual assessment for 2019/20 provides each CCG with a
headline assessment against the indicators in the NHS Oversight Framework. The
categorisation of the headline rating is either Outstanding, Good, Requires Improvement or
Inadequate and I am delighted to report that the headline rating for West Suffolk CCG for
2019/2020 was Good. NHS England and NHS Improvement stated this was possible
through an established and stable senior management team. They also cited the CCG
maintained a strong financial position throughout the year which has delivered in line with
plan for 19/20 and worked well collaborating with providers and regional colleagues to
deliver efficiencies and strengthen working arrangements. This is a fantastic achievement
by everyone.
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The year 2020/21 will certainly be remembered as the year of the COVID-19 pandemic. As
we slowly emerge from these challenging times, we can be confident that many lessons
have been learned and we now have even more resilient and robust systems in place to
help us better deal with any future pandemics.
We can never forget the tragedy of the many lives lost but let us hope the truly magnificent
community spirit which has been evident will be a lasting legacy, with kindness, helpfulness
and a willingness to give up our time to help others enduring for a long time to come.
Dr. Christopher Browning, Chair of West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
Dr. Ed Garratt, Chief Executive (Accountable Officer) of West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
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Section 1
The Performance Report
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Performance Overview
Member Practices’ Introduction
This section of the Annual Report looks at how our system has performed over the last
financial year. It provides information on the purpose and activities of the CCG, describing the
environment in which the CCG works, its organisational structure, its objectives and strategies
for achieving these in the context of its local population. The issues and risks associated with
achieving these objectives are explained. The section concludes with a short summary of
performance during 2020/21. Due to Covid-19, the detailed performance analysis section is
not mandatory for this year, and the resources usually deployed to produce it have been
redeployed to support NHS efforts.
The CCG has made significant progress towards addressing the health priorities of the local
community, while at the same time keeping spending within budget and meeting most of the
performance targets set out in the NHS Constitution, by the Department of Health and Social
Care.
We have developed a set of clear ambitions and priorities that will ensure a local approach to
our delivery of the Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
At the heart of our approach is a determination to work more closely with our health and social
care providers, and our local communities, to improve the quality of the services we
commission.
To achieve our ambitions we have identified six clinical priorities. They are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

to develop clinical leadership
to demonstrate excellence in patient experience and patient engagement
to improve the health and care of older people
to improve access to mental health
to improve health and wellbeing through partnership working, and
to deliver financial sustainability through quality improvement.

During 2020/21 we have engaged with patients and stakeholders, listened to their feedback
and responded to their healthcare needs on many areas of work, but have specifically been
engaging in co-production around planning at a locality level.
This approach is helping us achieve our goal of delivering long-term sustainable health
services that provide comprehensive, high quality care for all.
Our partner organisations across the West Suffolk Alliance are committed to helping us create
an integrated health and care system aimed at keeping our local communities well and
enabling people to live independently with a good quality of life for as long as possible. We
recognise the crucial role GP practices play in preventing ill health and managing people with
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Performance Overview
Member Practices’ Introduction continued
long-term conditions, which is why we have placed primary care at the very heart of our joint
plan to implement the General Practice Forward View (GPFV) and the NHS Long term plan.
The long term plan builds upon the GPFV and has several key areas.
It increases investment and certainty around funding and looks to reduce workload and
workforce pressure. It also will ensure general practice plays a leading role in every Primary
Care Network (PCN). The PCNs include bigger teams of health professionals working together
in local communities.
During the Covid-19 pandemic, primary care has played a crucial role in changing the model
of healthcare provision within our communities, moving from face to face to virtual provision
and creating a safe, alternative model to managing long term conditions.
During the year, introduction of our Primary Care Networks (PCN) has progressed, with their
governance maturing such that our clinical directors now have a clear leadership role within
our health economy.
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG

The CCG was licensed from April 1, 2013, under provisions enacted in the Health and Social
Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.
In west Suffolk, GPs chose to form a CCG that would embrace commissioning from the
acute, mental health and community sector. From the 24 member GP practices, a maximum
of eight GPs may be elected to sit on the CCG’s Governing Body. The Governing Body also
has two lay members for corporate governance and patient and public engagement. It
shares a third lay member with NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG.
The CCG buys, manages and pays for health services including planned and emergency
hospital care, rehabilitation, most community healthcare, mental health and learning
disability services.
Its constitution sets out the arrangements it has made to ensure it meets its responsibilities
for commissioning high quality health care for the people of west Suffolk. It describes the
governing principles, rules and procedures that will ensure integrity, honesty and
accountability in our day-to-day activities.
It commits the CCG to making decisions in an open and transparent way and places the
interests of patients, carers and public at its heart.
The CCG’s constitution can be downloaded at:
https://www.westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk/about-us/our-constitution/
The CCG’s population is registered with west Suffolk’s 24 GP practices and is predominantly
rural, with the population scattered across small towns and villages. The areas covered
include the West Suffolk local authority district and part of the Mid Suffolk and Babergh
districts.
The total GP registered population of West Suffolk CCG in March 2020 was 259,000 1.

1

Patients Registered at a GP Practice - March 2021 - NHS Digital
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG continued
Office for National Statistics data is available for populations living in West Suffolk
CCG. The mid-2019 estimates indicate that the population was 231,706. The same
estimates indicate that people aged 65+ comprise 22.5% of the population, the same
proportion 22.5% are 19 or under2.
Population figures – West Suffolk CCG:
0-19
20-39
40-64
65-79
80+
Total

Males
26,596
28,793
35,806
17,783
6,129
115,107

Females
25,431
26,619
36,428
19,733
8,388
116,599

2018 Population Projection data indicates that between 2021-2041 the population of West
Suffolk CCG will grow by 6.7% 3. By 2041 it is estimated that 28.7% of the population will be
age 65 and over.
The dramatic decline in relative deprivation seen in Suffolk between 2010 and 2015 has not
been repeated, but neither has there been much of a recovery in Suffolk’s relative position in
the 2019 data.
Index of Multiple Deprivation in Suffolk (2010-2019)

2

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/clinicalcom
missioninggroupmidyearpopulationestimates
3https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/clinicalco
mmissioninggroupsinenglandtable3
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Performance Overview
Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG continued
The deprivation score for West Suffolk CCG was 16.0 in 2019, a slight improvement from
16.4 in 2015, and below the England value (21.7) 4.
•
•

There are no GP practices in the CCG with a deprivation score higher than the national
average.
West Suffolk is a generally affluent area, with pockets of relative deprivation in Bury St
Edmunds and the towns of Haverhill, Mildenhall, Newmarket and Sudbury. The most
deprived general practice areas include Brandon Medical Practice, Forest Surgery and
Haverhill Family Practice.
Overall, the population of Suffolk is generally healthy with high life expectancy 5.

Suffolk males have a healthy life expectancy of 65.05 years, and Suffolk females have a
healthy life expectancy of 62.93 years. Suffolk males live approximately 80% of their lives in
‘good health’, whereas females live approximately 75% of their lives in ‘good health’. (Data:
2017-19)

4

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomesframework/data#page/0/gid/1000049/pat/6/ati/302/are/E10000029/iid/90362/age/1/sex/1/cid/4/tbm/1
5
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Performance Overview
CCG Headquarters and Operational Area
Since July 2014 the CCG’s headquarters have been located at West Suffolk House in Bury
St Edmunds, which it shares with colleagues from Suffolk County Council, West Suffolk
Council and the East of England Local Government Association.
West Suffolk House provides flexible, open plan office space along with conference and
meeting rooms, public access areas and a shared staff café (Café West).
Easy access to colleagues from partner organisations improves the effectiveness of joint
working.
We share our management delivery team with colleagues from the neighbouring NHS
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG which is based at Endeavour House in Ipswich where it
shares offices with Suffolk County Council, the Norfolk & Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust,
Babergh District Council and Mid Suffolk District Council, and with North East Essex CCG,
based at Aspen House in Colchester.
The management delivery team provides contracted services to all three CCGs. It is led by a
shared Chief Executive.
During Winter 20/21, the Department of Health and Social Care issued a Policy Paper
entitled Integration and Innovation: Working Together to Improve Health and Social Care for
All. Included within this policy is the formation of a Statutory Integrated Care System (ICS)
for each area which will take over the functions of existing CCGs from the 1 April 2022. The
joint management delivery team which covers the three CCGs in Suffolk and North East
Essex will be working with partners and regulators to understand and implement the
implications of this policy as formal guidance is issued.
The hot desk facilities available at West Suffolk House enable the shared management
delivery team to work from Bury St Edmunds when necessary, thereby making better use of
resources and time. However, during the Covid-19 lock down periods, in line with national
guidance, almost all CCG staff have worked from home.
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Performance Overview
Commissioning Activity

The CCG commissions services from a range of organisations including acute hospital
trusts, GP practices, voluntary organisations and other NHS and non-NHS providers.
The services we commission include:
•

Urgent care services - including ambulance response services, hospital accident
and emergency departments and the NHS111 telephone service

•

Elective care services - for planned operations and interventions

•

Community services – including community nursing and therapy services,
community hospitals and the provision of community equipment

•

Mental health and learning disability services - provided in both in-patient,
community and at-home settings

•

Tailored domiciliary care packages - to enable people to remain at home, and
nursing home care packages

•

Children’s services – specifically aimed at supporting children including those
with individual NHS care packages and those receiving services provided in
association with Suffolk County Council

•

Primary care services – in and out of hours GP Services, and

•

Non-emergency patient transport.

All contracts with providers are closely managed by a dedicated, highly skilled contracting
team to ensure the services provided are high quality and as safe as required by the
contract, whilst providing value for money for the people of Suffolk.
The team has built strong, collaborative partnerships with our providers, giving support, but
also challenging where appropriate. Our aim is to work from a position of trust, respect and
active clinical leadership.
All commissioning decisions are based on clinical best practice and data analysis. Service
providers are required to demonstrate effectiveness through care outcomes and feedback
from patient experience to ensure value for money. The CCG’s ‘Commissioning Intentions’
for 2021/22 are available to view here.
The CCGs have regularly consulted both the Suffolk and Essex Health and Wellbeing
Boards. All major service strategies have been taken to them for debate and support, such
as our Special Educational Needs and Disabilities strategies and the Covid-19 Vaccination
programmes. The CCGs’ transformation plans are informed and guided by the Health and
Wellbeing strategies for each county.
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Performance Overview
Strategies for Achieving the Objectives
This section of our annual report sets out the way in which our CCG, working with our partners
across the Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System, is developing strategies for
achieving the objectives of both the CCG and the local Alliance. During the 2020-21 financial year,
much of our work was initially concentrated on our response to the Covid-19 pandemic whilst
maintaining usual health and care provision wherever possible, more recently we have moved into
planning for recovery and restoration of services.
One of our main strategies is the development and strengthening of our local alliance. This report
starts with a summary of alliance led developments, followed by areas where we are working with
our partners across the Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System.
WEST SUFFOLK ALLIANCE
The West Suffolk Alliance led the System Escalation response to Covid-19 with the governance
model adapted to accommodate the need for daily operational oversight.
Daily escalation calls were put in place for health and care providers and bi-weekly meetings for all
system partners including: Police, Fire, Leisure, District Councils and VCSE.
System outputs included: Creation of hot and cold sites in community settings and primary care,
modification of estate to cater for these changes, oversight of PPE levels, establishment of Covid-19
visiting car, roving certification of death team, creation of designated Covid-19 care setting, and
furloughed staff to support front line community teams.
Weekly clinical cells were put in place for decision making and oversight of risk. Outputs included:
Virtual consulting introduced for 100% of practices, improved access to End of Life drugs working
with community pharmacies, and additional mental health join up.
An enhanced offer by the Integrated Neighbourhood Teams provides a 24/7 model of wraparound
support to people who would otherwise require admission into an acute hospital or a Community
Assessment Bed. The principles are similar a to virtual ward but with a focus on proactive and
intensive management of people from a step-up community perspective.
Health, Adult and Community Service and the voluntary sector have worked with the multi-agency
‘Home But Not Alone’ service, which was set up to help vulnerable people in the community.
Vertical Integration partnership between the West Suffolk Foundation Trust, West Suffolk Council,
and Abbeycroft Leisure using community assets, workforce and skills to deliver activity programmes
and support into patient pathways to improve health and well-being for those with long term health
conditions.
The Early Supported Discharge service is a service for stroke patients in the West Suffolk
Alliance providing intensive support for people from hospital to community to help them recover from
the effects of their stroke, in place from the 1st April 2021.
Covid-19 Vaccination Programme involved all alliance partners working together to support the
delivery supporting innovations such as: Drive through model to administer vaccines at the Primary
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Care Network site in Woolpit; and working with Gatehouse charity to ensure our homeless population
received their jabs in an appropriate setting.
The West Suffolk Alliance was enhanced during the year through the appointment of an
Independent Chair to chair the System Executive Group, and widening the partnership to include
Suffolk Constabulary and West Suffolk College.
Our One Clinical Community/One Team leadership programme of integration launches for its
second year in May 2021
Additional investment has been made in the West Suffolk Population Health Management team
with PCN pilots reinstated and being utilised to underpin recovery.
The West Suffolk Alliance is now shifting focus from dealing with the pandemic into recovery of
services, whilst taking into account the learning and impact of the pandemic on communities and the
wider workforce.
Structural Issues at West Suffolk Hospital
The CCG has been working closely with partners at West Suffolk Hospital to mitigate the risks
associated with Reinforced Autoclaved Aerated Concrete (RAAC) planks used in the original
construction of the hospital. A number of actions have taken place during the year:
• West Suffolk and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCGs established a Risk Committee to oversee
risk of potential plank failure
• Independent evaluation of current mitigation and options for re-provision of services
commissioned
• Surveyed 100% of wall planks and accessible roof planks (5% not accessible due to plant)
• Mitigations have been put in place and include: enhanced roof planks, emergency escalation
procedures, comprehensive database of surveyed planks, and a rolling survey and
assessment programme
• Failsafe roof support programme has been agreed. Work will be done in phases to minimise
disruption but will impact on capacity within the organisation
• Operational impact of all changes will be continuously monitored
• West Suffolk estates team has been praised for leading the way nationally on RAAC issues
Future Systems
The West Suffolk alliance is working together to develop a model for future service delivery which
includes the redevelopment of West Suffolk Hospital. A system partnership Board is now in place to
oversee the future system programme with strong representation from all stakeholders. There have
been a number of developments during the year
• Hardwick Manor has been purchased and identified as a potential site for the development
• Partnership with Healthwatch has been established to support commitment to coproduce the
programme
• Strategic Outline Case completed
• Clinical co-production leads now in post and leading the pathway modelling to inform the next
stage of the process
• Provider collaboration is being pursued at both ‘place’ level and ‘system’ level
• Co-production community engagement group established
• Ambitious programme of workshops underway to build the community model integrated with
internal hospital pathways.
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COVID-19 VACCINATION PROGRAMME
Introduction
As of 9 April 2021, the UK had recorded 4.37m cases of people infected with Covid-19. Tragically,
127k people in the UK have died within 28 days of being diagnosed with the disease. As noted in
the UK Government’s COVID-19 Vaccines Delivery Plan 6, vaccines are our best way out of the
pandemic and a move towards a more normal way of life.
The UK Government’s delivery plan sets out its strategy and targets. It is built around the vaccine
priority groups defined by the Joint Committee for Vaccination and Immunisation 7 (JCVI). The JCVI
estimate that taken together, priority groups 1 – 98 represent circ. 99% of preventable mortality from
Covid-19.
The plan has three phases, with the government committing to:
• Offer the vaccine to the top four priority groups, around 15m people in the UK, by midFebruary. This was achieved.
• Offer the vaccine to the remaining priority groups, around 17m people in the UK, by mid-April.
This was achieved.
• Offer the vaccine to all remaining adults in the UK by the end of July. Sustainment of
progress to-date indicates this target is likely to be achieved.
Within Suffolk and North East Essex (SNEE), 868k people are eligible to receive the vaccine; 218k
are within catchment of the WS CCG. If there were 100% take up, this would equate to a total of
1.7m vaccines being administered (1st and 2nd doses) in SNEE, 436k of which being in West Suffolk
(WS).
As of week ending March 25, 91.9% of people in the cohorts 1 – 9 within Suffolk and North East
Essex had received their first dose of vaccine - rating the ICS as best in the country alongside
Coventry and Warwickshire ICS and Shropshire and Telford and Wrekin ICS.
Our Plan
Roll out of the Covid-19 vaccine is a national programme, led by NHS England and respective
devolved administrations in Wales, Scotland and Northern Island. We (SNEE) work closely with
regional colleagues at NHS East of England (EOE) to deliver our programme. Our plan aligns to the
UK Government’s delivery plan and is based around 4 critical success factors: supply, prioritisation,
places, and people.
Our success to-date is in large part testament to building upon the strengths of our Integrated Care
System – specifically strong partnerships with statutory bodies; the voluntary, community and social
enterprise sector, community leaders; and the public.

UK COVID-19 Vaccines Delivery Plan, Department of Heath & Social Care; published 11 January 2021.
Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation: advice on priority groups for COVID-19 vaccination, 30 December
2020 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
8
JVCI priority group 1 – 9 includes those aged 45 or over, the clinical extremely vulnerable, the clinically vulnerable,
those with a learning disability, health and social care workers, and unpaid carers.
6
7
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Vaccine Supply
Critical to the success of the programme is stable and predictable supply of vaccine and other key
products (such as personal protective equipment, syringes, etc). Vaccine9 is allocated to SNEE by
the national programme team – a key consideration being the size of the population remaining to be
vaccinated and availability of supply nationally.
Prioritisation
In December 2020, the JCVI advised the UK government that the priority for the current Covid-19
vaccination programme should be the prevention of Covid-19 mortality and the protection of health
and social care staff and systems. All systems in England, including SNEE, have developed delivery
plans aligned to the prioritised cohorts and nationally agreed timeline.
Places
Aligned to the national delivery framework, a network of vaccination sites has been designed to fit
the expected vaccine supply and ensure safe and easy access for the whole population. There are
three main types of vaccination site:
• Vaccination centres, using large-scale venues, such as football stadiums and accessed by a
national booking service;
• Hospital hubs, using NHS Trusts; and
• Local vaccination services, made up of sites led by general practice teams working together
in already established primary care networks and pharmacy teams through community
pharmacies
As an ICS, we pride ourselves on being innovative and are proud to have introduced mobile ‘pop up’
sites; to have trialled a drive through model at Woolpit, West Suffolk; and to have introduced a
vaccination bus.

9

The Pfizer/BioNTech and the Oxford/AstraZeneca vaccines are currently administered within SNEE.
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People
At the heart of our programme is our workforce. As well as current NHS staff, we have drawn on the
skills of those who have volunteered through the NHS Bring Back Scheme, those currently working
outside of the NHS (e.g. St John’s Ambulance) and when required, armed forces personnel. As well
as trained vaccinators, our workforce includes a range of non-clinical support staff (e.g. logistics
management, stewards and first aiders). We have been overwhelmed and humbled by the support
of Alliance partners including the VCSE sector, community groups, and the public. Our system’s
success is testament to our collaborative One Team ethos.
We recognise the programme is a marathon rather than a sprint. As such, we continue to
collaborate with staff groups and Trade Unions to ensure the welfare and wellbeing of all staff is
protected and supported. Examples of initiatives include workshops and learning opportunities being
offered by the East of England Leadership Academy (e.g. workshops such as Managing Stress and
Anxiety Through the COVID Crisis).
Promoting inclusion & Reducing Health Inequalities in Covid-19 Vaccinations
A detailed system learning report from the initial stages of the pandemic in SNEE looked in detail at
how Covid-19 had further amplified the many existing inequalities in our communities. We have
used this research to coproduce with affected community groups / representatives a shared
understanding of need and a broad suite of resources to provide tailored vaccination services. Our
plan seeks to address the needs of the few, as well as the many and focusses on 5 key areas.
•
•

•
•

•

Adaptations to promote equality of access across all vaccination sites. An example initiative
includes an equalities checklist (inc. reasonable adaptations) which has been introduced as
part of the quality assurance framework for vaccination centres.
We engage and communicate with the public in a responsive way as the programme moves
forward. For example, in order to facilitate the public and all those supporting people from
diverse backgrounds to access their vaccinations, trusted websites have been introduced
(e.g. www.sneevaccine.org.uk) as well as a patient helpline to assist with answering
questions about the booking process (0344 2257 3961).
Broadening access to vaccinations. There are a range of initiatives we have introduced to
ensure our services are accessible to all. These include mobile delivery of vaccination by
GPs to those who are housebound or in care homes; and
Operating specialist clinics featuring a range of adaptions to meet need (e.g. ‘quiet clinics’ for
patients with learning disabilities, and specific sessions in vaccination centres for ethnic
minority groups).
Using data to inform our approach and identify emerging inequalities. The use of dashboards
and data modelling technics enables the programme to monitor both the cohort and specific
patient group take up of the vaccine (inc. by ethnicity). Active review enables the programme
to be agile and responsive, targeting its approach to the communities with greatest need.
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Patient and Public Engagement
Building upon existing patient and public engagement mechanisms within the ICS (particularly our
partnership with Healthwatch Suffolk and Healthwatch Essex), the programme has developed a patient
engagement survey to understand what’s working and how we can continue to improve our services.
As at 5th March, 2,616 surveys had been completed; 537 from members of the public within WS. The
survey asks about the end-to-end experience from receipt of an invitation to book an appointment
through to aftercare. Feedback has been overwhelmingly positive and the Programme continuously
adapts services to meet patient need; communicating the action we’ve taken. The patient and public
involvement section of this report goes on to describe further local surveys undertaken and the actions
taken as a result. One area where initially feedback suggested improvement was required was in
waiting times for appointments, however over time this has improved.

QUALITY
The CCG’s role in quality surveillance and improvement has continued throughout the year, and is
being increasingly managed across the Integrated Care System of Suffolk and North East Essex.
Some of the significant developments which have taken place during the year are highlighted below.
Supporting Special Measures Trusts.
We continue to work closely with our two providers in special measures - EEAST and NSFT
alongside the national and regional NHSEI teams. Both Trusts have improved in some areas of
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performance and quality but require ongoing support and challenge to ensure the performance,
quality and cultural issues present in both organisations continue to improve and are sustained.
As CCGs we oversee NSFT’s improvement plans through our quality and performance contract
meetings with a monthly Exec to Exec meeting between NSFT and CCG for any unresolved issues.
We jointly have an oversight and assurance group meeting with NHSEI and external stakeholders
where ongoing concerns are discussed and NSFT’s improvement plan is monitored.
NSFT has made improvements to their inpatient facilities for people with learning disabilities and has
seen a significant reduction in inpatient admissions for people with learning disabilities due to
improved working in the community and with social care. The acute inpatient units have also seen an
improvement in the quality of care delivered, particularly in Lark ward, the psychiatric intensive care
unit. NSFT are partners in the #verydifferentconversation and are working with us to improve the
models of care delivered to children and young people, community model, crisis services and
learning disability services.
We continue to monitor closely the quality of the children and young people’s mental health services
particularly relating to access by data, quality visits and patient/service user feedback. We expect to
see improving performance over the coming year.
EEAST was issued with notices following a CQC inspection in June 2020 and was subsequently
placed into Special Measures for quality concerns in October 2020. In response the Trust has now
appointed a Director of Nursing with specific responsibility for clinical quality and improvement. The
Trusts Quality Improvement Plan put in place to address the CQC notices includes 124 specific
actions together with a ten-point plan produced and coordinated by NHS England and NHS
Improvement monitored through monthly quality and performance meetings. We jointly have an
oversight and assurance group meeting with NHSEI and external stakeholders where ongoing
concerns are discussed and the improvement plan is monitored.

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)
Suffolk and North East Essex CCGs are key partners in both Suffolk and Essex SEND oversight. In
Essex, through the newly formed SEND partnership board we have supported an improved
governance system and established the joint commissioning framework which is leading on the
review of services that Ofsted/CQC found to require further development. In Suffolk, we continue to
work in partnership with Suffolk County Council, developing integrated roles and focusing on
improving children and young people’s mental health provision, neurodevelopmental pathway
changes and therapy provision.
Maternity
Improvements have been recognised in West Suffolk Foundation Trust (WSFT) maternity services
through the appointment of new leadership triumvirate and greater focus and oversight at Executive
level. Joint quality assurance visits with NHS England and Improvement feed into Local Maternity
and Neonatal System Board (LMNSB) and regional quality maternity board where progress is
monitored. East Suffolk and North Essex Foundation Trust (ESNEFT) has some significant
improvements to make in maternity services across both sites to ensure delivery of maternity
transformation agenda and Ockenden action plan. We have implemented the ‘saving babies lives’
bundle across the LMNSB and are developing the quality assurance and oversight function of
LMNSB within the new perinatal surveillance framework.
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ICS quality surveillance
We have established our SNEE Quality Surveillance Group with stakeholder and provider
representation and it is emerging as a robust environment to understand and resolve system quality
issues. We will commence the transition to an ICS wide Quality Board and are developing a steering
group to implement the new governance structures as guidance emerges.
PROVIDER COLLABORATIVE REVIEW
A key part of our strategy is to take the opportunity to reflect and learn from our experiences. In
autumn 2020 Suffolk and North East Essex was one of eight Integrated Care Systems selected by
the CQC to participate in a Provider Collaborative Review, looking at how health and social care
have worked together since the start of the pandemic across urgent and emergency care.
The aim of the review was to help providers learn from each other’s experience following response to
the coronavirus pandemic; supporting learning and improvement, highlighting innovation and
creativity.
The review explored the following areas: keeping people safe, supporting people’s mental health
needs, public messaging tackling inequalities, effective governance, keeping staff safe, good use of
technology, supporting children and young people and capturing system learning.
Over two weeks in October the CQC carried out over twenty four interviews and workshops across
our ICS with a range of staff and partners; reviewed data; and sought views from Healthwatch Essex
and Suffolk.
The CQC shared initial feedback with our system. Overall the report was overwhelmingly positive
and a testament to everyone’s hard work, collaboration and integrated working throughout the
pandemic. The final report includes multiple examples of what has gone well and areas for future
focus.
“Without exception, all system partners had a mutual respect for each others part in the system and
worked as a collaborative to ensure patients could receive health and care in the right place, at the
right time.”
“System partners had clearly used COVID as an opportunity to bring forward plans to innovate and
change services for the good of the public.”
The CQC has published a short report of the key findings Collaboration in urgent and emergency
care | Care Quality Commission (cqc.org.uk) The report references several SNEE initiatives, and
acknowledged the report which captured our system learning from the first wave response and
explored what might come next, stating; “We heard it was used as an exemplar for system learning.”
The full findings from the reviews will be published in Spring 2021.
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WORKFORCE
Our workforce is key to delivery of our strategic aims. During 2020-21 we have continued to develop
our local workforce strategies whilst supporting the wider needs of the Covid-19 pandemic. 2020-21
saw the launch of the NHS ‘We Are The NHS: People Plan for 2020/21 - action for us all’ 10 which we
were actively involved with in Suffolk and North East Essex.
‘Can Do’ People plan
Our ‘Can Do’ People Plan was developed and submitted during the year. The ‘Can Do’ People Plan
has been widely socialised across the ICS involving system leaders to support the implementation of
the delivery plan.
Key achievements:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

System ‘People Board’ established and in place
Finalised the Mutual Aid Agreement (MAA) across the system with Social Partnership Forum
signoff, this has been used effectively to support the vaccination programme since December
2020.
System wide apprenticeship strategy refined, endorsed and agreed.
System wide health and wellbeing initiatives consolidated and shared across the system, joint
Health & Wellbeing local board being developed
Developed system equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) group supported by Human Resources
Director network.
Successfully development of SNEE Health and Care Academy – careers website under
development ‘We Can Do Together’. This will focus on supply, retaining current and attracting
future workforce.
Development and implementation of two Mental Health and Wellbeing Hubs (Suffolk and Essex).
Selected by National team to deliver the Enhanced Occupational Health and Wellbeing hub –
two systems working together will support both the regional and national teams to develop
system-wide approaches to creating a wellness culture for our people.

Supporting the regional and national workforce agenda
•
•
•

•
•
•

10

Supported the region to promote the wellbeing support offers as part of the Health & Wellbeing
Collaborative.
National learning on Equality and Diversity shared with Local People Board and actions agreed
Successfully recruited Health Care Support Workers (HCSW) at system level supporting the
regional HCSW recruitment drive. This initiative is linked to growing our workforce and
supporting the implementation of the SNEE apprenticeship strategy. Agreed to work at a
system level with the Care sector to develop career pathways across health and care.
Working in a number of areas to increase the numbers of nurses: extending the Nursing
Associates roles, return to practice, retention and international recruitment, working closely with
Health Education England.
Participating with the COVID-19 digital staff passport which will support the effective
implementation of the MAA for staff to work across organisations.
Vaccination programme – recent focused work on dealing with health inequalities, adapted
vaccination centres to meet the local needs. Learning shared with the region.

NHS England » We are the NHS: People Plan for 2020/2021 – action for us all
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INTRODUCTION OF NEW SERVICES
A number of new services have been developed during the year, some in response to the pandemic.
The following section provides some of the highlights of those developments across Suffolk and
North East Essex.
Think 111 First
•
•

Commenced 1 December 2020
Over 1,500 patients using the service had directly booked appointment in ED helping to manage
arrivals to this service and improve patient experience

Admission avoidance/managing emergency demand schemes
•
•
•

Developments were put in place during the year to provide GP and consultant support to
paramedics and care
Early data demonstrates significant reduction in the numbers of patients conveyed to hospital by
the ambulance service
Increased access to secondary care consultants for GPs requiring advice

Marginalised Vulnerable Adults (MVA)
•

Additional resources provided to fill gaps in the support available that appeared due to COVID
restrictions, for example closure of outreach cafes, volunteer centres and stopping of group
support sessions, and reduced ED and Primary Care access. This investment has been
extended for 2021/22 contract year.

First Response Service (Mental Health Crisis)
•
•

Crisis telephone line provided by Norfolk & Suffolk Foundation NHS Trust offers emergency and
urgent help for all ages 24 hours a day seven days a week. Health professionals are also able to
call this number for specialist advice.
Launched in April 2020, the daily average number of calls (Trust wide in NSFT) is currently 180.

Other Developments in west Suffolk
•
•
•

Early Supported Discharge Stroke service is working with the VCSE on providing a wrap around
reablement support offer to the whole family
Abbeycroft Leisure is working with consultants from WSFT to tailor health and wellbeing
programmes for individual specialties and exercise on referral.
Continuation and expansion of work with the VCSE in mental health through the Kooth and Night
Owls services.

DIGITAL AGENDA

Part of our strategy is to maximise the use of digital technologies to improve patient access
to healthcare and their overall experience. Suffolk and North East Essex ICS hosts the
East Accord, a collaborative network and Programme Management Office that supports East
of England Shared Care Records and Joined Up Care digital programmes. The digital team
was diverted to the Covid-19 response and formed the East COVID Digital Cell with partners
across the East of England. Some examples of the achievements during 2020-21 are given
below:
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•

Mobilised Video Consultation across all services, General Practice, Acute services, Mental
Health, Community services and hospices

•

Large numbers of laptops, tablet devices & home working capabilities have been set up to
support people working from home & to increase capacity

•

Care Homes have been provided with tablet devices, training & support

•

Many examples of innovation including:
• Robotic Process Automation scheduled 20,000 staff for antigen tests in 5 weeks
• Virtual Desktop Infrastructure to enable secure access from a personal device
• Two million health records were connected across and beyond Suffolk and Essex

•

Remote Care for the Most Vulnerable programme was initiated in October through
implementation of:
• COVID Virtual Ward
• Pulse Oximetry @ Home
• Virtual Care for long term conditions
• eObservation tools in care homes connected to GPs, community and secondary care
teams.

•

In March 21 we developed the Strategic Case for the East of England ‘Sharing of Shared Care
Records’ which will be progressed during 2021-22

•

Developed the One Workforce Insight tool to support Covid-19 Vaccination Workforce
Management.

CCG COMMUNICATIONS
The covid-19 pandemic has increased the need for effective communication with our patients and
partners on a scale not previously experienced. The section below sets out some of the ways in
which CCG communications have worked during 2020-21.
•
•

•

•
•

Established the system’s vaccination service website (www.sneevaccine.org.uk). A one stop
shop providing local and national information about the vaccination roll out.
Supported national messages and campaigns. For example, these include reducing vaccine
hesitancy, attending vaccination appointments when called, the rule of six and the
appointments process.
Facilitated many media opportunities with the local and regional media to show the SNEE
system delivering the vaccine and the opening of new vaccination sites. This also highlighted
people’s experiences of being vaccinated and included adaptions the system is making to
support people needing support – for example, individuals and their carers living with learning
disabilities.
Held monthly councillor briefings – these virtual ‘live teams events’ have been county-wide
and aimed at parish, district/borough and county councillors.
Held regular community events for the public. These virtual county-wide public events are
aimed at all communities, in particular seldom heard community groups. A panel of experts
from SNEE and colleagues from the Norfolk and Waveney system gave information about
vaccination roll-out and answered questions. During one event, we had over 600 attendees.
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•

•
•
•

•

In conjunction with Ipswich and Suffolk Council for Racial Equality and Community 360, the
system produced video translations of key messages fronted by local community leaders and
trusted communicators. These were shared with local communities across SNEE.
Posters produced and circulated, supported with social media graphics, about the ‘dos and
don’ts’ when attending a vaccination centre.
A diary was produced in July 2020 which highlighted the first three months of the system’s
response to the pandemic.
Acknowledged the national day of reflection with a special edition of the ICS briefing. This
highlighted new ways of working brought about as a result of the pandemic as well as future
plans for recovery.
Supported the ICS programme of ‘Thinking Differently Together’ events.
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RESTORATION AND RECOVERY
One of the main elements of our strategy as we leave 20/21 is the restoration and recovery of
services. The following sections focus on the work which has continued during 20/21 and how this
will be enhanced to enable recovery.
Cancer
•
•
•

•
•

•

Suffolk and North East Essex wide cancer operational group has been working with the East
of England Cancer Alliance to deliver the 10 priority actions from the Phase 3 recovery plan
Two week wait referral numbers are now surpassing pre Covid-19 levels across Suffolk and
North East Essex.
Diagnostic capacity planning and delivery continues particularly for endoscopy, during the
year we saw the introduction of the Rapid Diagnostic Service (RDS) which went live in Feb
2021
Additional CT capacity created through new scanner at Ramsay Oaks (Independent Sector
provider) to support ESNEFT and the RDS
A range of cancer innovations have been invested in during the year – Colon Capsule
Endoscopy, Cytosponge, Early CDT Lung Checks and ‘C the Signs’ clinical decision support
tool
We have also worked with Macmillan Cancer Support and have invested in Cancer support
Navigators across the ICS. These posts support patients as they move from acute care into
the community and are a key enabler of personalised care.

Urgent and Emergency Care
•

•

•
•

During the year there has been a focus on admissions avoidance work across our area which
is supporting patient flow – this includes new schemes to reduce the number of patients who
are taken by ambulance to hospital
Discharge to Assess embedded and discharge hubs in place at all three acute sites enabling
improved patient flow with particularly low levels of Delayed Transfers of Care and stranded
patients at ESNEFT – which is the lowest in the region
Virtual wards setup in each of our three placed based alliances linked to our discharge to
assess programmes
Think 111 First Programme implemented and now in review

Elective and Diagnostics
•
•
•
•

Suffolk and North East Essex Elective Care Board in place and running for six months
Elective recovery plan in place, previously achieved 90-100% of the targets in 2020 for
recovery. Plan refreshed for 21-22 aiming to exceed 90% of 19-20 baselines by July 21
Strong working relationship in place with our three local independent sector providers
providing additional capacity
Outpatient demand management programmes in place, including virtual outpatient provision
and greater use of patient initiated follow up.
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Mental Health, Learning Disabilities and Autism
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Mental Health Investment Standard expenditure levels achieved by all three CCGs and 21-22
indicative plans developed
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) service fully resumed via digital access
and planning meet 25% access by end of March 21 in Suffolk and North East Essex.
Crisis helplines mobilised across the area, working towards 111 integration in 21-22
Community Mental Health models agreed and recruitment commencing on key roles
Our mental health providers continue to review all caseloads and prioritising where needed
Mental Health services are working closely with primary care to continue to reinstate Learning
Disability health checks and Serious Mental health (SMI) checks
Additional support for NHS staff in place available with telephone and email support. The ICS
has partnered with Suffolk and North East Essex MIND services to boost support
mechanisms
Regular system meetings in place to review out of area placements and ensure timely
repatriation

Primary Care
•
•
•
•
•

Childhood immunisations have not been widely impacted during Covid-19 and any backlog is
minimal
Cervical screening services – although initially suspended last year, this service is now back
up to speed with additional targeted work
Structured medication reviews are embedded through the Primary Care Networks
Primary Care Networks have the social prescriber model in place, but this is still embedding
in order to be fully effective
Continuing to utilise virtual consultations where possible across all practices

Community Care
•
•
•
•
•

Long COVID Assessment Service up and running across the ICS
Seven day working in place for community services
Two hour crisis response in place with further investment planned
Additional community hospital and nursing home bed capacity in place across the ICS
providing much needed additional capacity
Worked closely with our partners in each of our CCG areas to enhance End of Life and
Virtual Ward services as a key part of our Covid-19 response.

IMPROVING EQUALITY OF ACCESS TO SERVICES
We have recognised for some time that inequalities occur in both the provision of health and care
services to and access to those services by our population, leading to inequalities of outcome
particularly differences in life expectancy and healthy life expectancy. One of our Integrated Care
System higher ambitions is to enable health equality for everyone.
Covid-19 shone a harsh light on some of the health and wider inequalities which existed in our
society. As an ICS we drew together the System Learning from Covid-19, the first point being that it
had further amplified the many existing inequalities in our communities and acknowledged amongst
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other things that we need the right data and intelligence to deliver better together, enabling us to plan
for both the many and the few.
The divide between the well paid and highest educated, and the lower paid and less well educated
has been further exposed, and the long-term impact of the pandemic upon the local economy
remains unknown. Younger workers have borne the brunt of the consequent reduction in
employment. The crisis has had a disproportionate impact on ethnic minority communities, who have
experienced higher infection and mortality rates than the white population. The reasons for this are
multi-factorial and not fully understood, but there is overwhelming evidence that existing socioeconomic inequalities and co-morbidities such as cardiovascular disease and diabetes played a key
role. Digital solutions have been put in place at pace and helped to overcome many of the challenges
faced by people during Covid-19; however digital exclusion has created additional barriers to access.
Research shows that this is not purely a generational issue, with significant barriers created for those
with some disabilities, those in rural areas with poor internet connectivity as well as those living in
deprivation. Digital exclusion has been a reality during Covid-19 for 22% of the UK’s population who
lack basic digital skills, with the likelihood of having access to the internet from home increasing
along with income, such that only 51% of households earning between £6,000 -10,000 had internet
access compared with 99% of households with an income of over £40,000 11. The link between
poverty and digital exclusion is clear: if you are poor, you have less chance of being online.
As an ICS we dedicated one of our ‘Thinking Differently Together about’ events to turning the curve
on racism and inequality in health and care. Building on the findings of this event, we used the
funding donated by members of the public to NHS Charities Together to make a difference to those
communities that we know have been hardest hit by the Covid19 pandemic – those from BAME and
deprived communities. We have also recently launched our ICS inequalities film competition looking
at ‘How will we Heal?’
As we move forward into 2021-22, one of the strategies to achieve our higher ambition is to use the
insights gained through Population Health Management and the new Waiting List Minimum Data Set
to identify areas for enhanced investment and developing personalised care, and monitor its impact.
Areas of focus will include:
•
•
•

Acute waiting list review – looking at waiting lists split by ethnicity and deprivation to check for
and act on any correlation to longer waiting times
Mapping deprivation against provision of community mental health services
Covid-19 vaccinations – continuing to put in place interventions to increase the uptake across
all ethnic groupings. Examples include vaccination bus, operation of specialist clinics and
targeted communications. The use of dashboards and data modelling technics enables the
programme to monitor cohort and specific patient group take up of the vaccine (inc. by
ethnicity). Active review enables the programme to be agile and responsive, targeting its
approach to the communities with greatest need.

SUSTAINABILITY
Leadership
It is essential that along with all other health and public sector partner organisations we embrace
sustainability and place it at the heart of every decision and action we take. We recognise that
tackling climate change will reduce pressure on front line services and is linked to reducing poverty,
pollution and health inequality. Actives that tackle climate change will, deliver health benefits to our
communities.
As a CCG we are placing a concerted focus on minimising our carbon footprint and have been
developing a positive culture that embraces sustainable development. To drive this forward the
11

The Digital Divide: what does the research tell us? | Cambridge Centre for Housing & Planning Research
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Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure is the lead Director on Sustainability for the
organisation. During 2019/20 we appointed a Sustainability Officer to support this important
agenda and a Sustainability Steering Group has been established.
The three CCGs across Suffolk and North East Essex link in with relevant public sector partners. We
are a member of the Essex Carbon Innovation Network and work with our partners in Essex Climate
Action Commission. We are also a member of the the Suffolk Climate Change, Environment and
Energy Board. Working with our public sector partners will ensure we approach and address issues
in a holistic and strategic way to deliver an integrated approach for the communities we serve.
Green Action Plan
Working with our Regional Sustainability Group and Greener NHS, we have developed a Green
Action Plan. The first step of our plan is gathering data to help identify, target and monitor the key
areas and tasks that need to be undertaken in order to develop our wider Sustainability Strategy. We
are focusing on several key areas including travel and transport, facilities and estates, waste and
resource use, medicines and equipment, commissioning and procurement, digital and our people
and partners. A key element of our activity in 2021-22 will be to gather information whilst we build on
some the best practice projects that we successfully completed in 2020-21.
Net Zero Carbon
The NHS is responsible for 4-5% of UK carbon emissions and has committed to become carbon
neutral by 2040. Our activities in 2020-21 have started to contribute towards this vision.
Facilities and Estates
SNEE shares its offices at Endeavour House with Suffolk County Council. The building has several
energy efficient features including photovoltaic cells and rainwater recycling systems. As tenants at
Endeavour House and West Suffolk House we benefit from renewable energy supplies and new LED
lighting that has been installed to reduce electricity consumption. Our offices at Aspen House have
been converted to LED lighting and we have installed our first Electric Vehicle (ELV) charging point.
Travel and Transport
2020-21 has been an unusual year due to the Covid-19 pandemic with most staff working from
home. Our business and commuting mileage (and therefore vehicle emissions) have subsequently
dropped significantly. The Sustainability Steering Group is actively focusing on how we can blend
new home working practices together with an active travel and transport strategy that embraces
digital technology, reduces car travel, and supports staff wellbeing, health and productivity. A key
focus for 2021-22 will be the reduction of business miles from pre Covid-19 levels.
Waste and resource use
Reducing waste, maximising re-use of items and recycling are all essential activities that deliver
value for money and tackle climate change. As part of our remote care oximeter project, we were
instrumental in shaping new and more sustainable practices to reduce waste. As a result of our
intervention, patients were advised to return oximeters for decontamination at a convenient time to
them rather than dispose of them. NHS England decontamination guidance was circulated via
practices to ensure patients knew how to return them safely. This intervention has significantly
reduced wastage, with up to 90% re-use being achieved in some areas.
Digitally delivering climate change action
We continue to invest in digital platforms and solutions that allow our patients to receive remote
consultations. Our ICS project on teledermatology has resulted in over 1,000 advice and guidance
consultations, with 47% of patients being managed in primary care saving over 400 outpatient visits.
Not only does this improve the patient pathway, it also has a significant impact on transport
emissions. During Covid-19 we have also revamped and re-used 125 computers in vaccination
centres that were going to be disposed for recycling.
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Commissioning & Procurement
During the year our ICS has been building on previous work led by our partners in local authorities,
which is working on ways to improve opportunities for local business. As an Anchor Institution, a
major element of this work is maximising Social Value Act opportunities within procurement
undertaken by the CCG and its wider public sector partners. Through our ICS partners we delivered
a Thinking Differently Together event that looked at how we can incorporate social value and
sustainability more into our purchasing decisions to deliver greater community value and benefits.
Whilst we continue to explore how best to incorporate existing social value and sustainability criteria
into our procurement processes, we have committed to pilot new guidance on sustainability
measures into some forthcoming procurements in 2021-22.
Our People
Moving forward it is essential that our people understand how and why tackling climate change is a
primary health care intervention. During the year we have embarked on an education and
awareness raising campaign to ensure our staff understand the links between sustainability, climate
change and health. Regular sustainability updates are posted in our staff newsletter the Buzz. We
launched an indoor plant challenge designed to get staff thinking about the benefits of plants in
providing clean air, wellbeing and an activity that is environmentally positive during the winter
lockdown. We have created a new Sustainability page on our staff intranet and sustainability is now
included in our new staff induction programme. Our staff are also working closing with the newly
formed Essex and Suffolk Greener Practice Group which, is a GP led group that seeks to encourage
and facilitate practices to adopt eco principles to deliver environmental and health benefits.
Moving forward we plan to design more training and guidance that integrates carbon reduction
measures into our decision making and planning for priority areas. In 2021-22 we will also include a
sustainability section on our website to allow our communities to understand our plans and how they
can work with us to tackle climate change.
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Patient and Public Involvement – Engaging People and Communities
Our approach in a challenging year
Perhaps this last year, more than ever, we have seen the value of working with patients and the
wider public to improve health outcomes. The NHS response to Covid and the vaccination
programme has relied on collaboration with our communities, working with them to develop a
response which has supported and enabled new ways of managing their health. This approach has
been critical in maintaining a good patient experience, sustaining high quality services and delivering
responsive and reactive solutions in an ever changing environment.
The CCG’s commitment to involving, listening and working with the public has been elevated this
year with the creation of the Head of Patient and Public Involvement and Experience role, which was
filled in October 2020. Members of patient groups across all three CCGs played an important role in
the interview and appointment process of the successful candidate. Members of the patient groups
attended the presentation, asked questions and scored the candidates. The presentation was given
40% of the final mark.
Now part of the Nursing Directorate, working alongside Quality Assurance colleagues the team are
well placed to ensure that patient experience informs quality monitoring and improvement, as well as
the planning and commissioning of services.
Moving our public involvement and engagement activity online has presented us with a range of
opportunities and challenges. Supporting our communities and public to adapt to this new way of
working has ensured their continued participation in decision making and planning. Our groups, open
forums and public meetings have been facilitated through online meeting platforms, virtual
presentations and information sharing via social media, press releases and local communication
channels such as parish newsletters, community groups and our partners in the VCSE.
Some of the patient and public involvement activity over the last 12 months includes;
Building community capacity
In April 2020 the CCG worked with SCC Building Community Capacity Officers and Community
Action Suffolk Good Neighbour Scheme Coordinator to understand the needs of volunteers during
lockdown. We met with representatives of local communities to understand the range of volunteering
activities taking place. We worked with partners to create a short survey for volunteers to see if there
were emotional support needs for this group and linked Suffolk Mind in with the Good Neighbour
Scheme to offer best practice advice in supporting volunteers should emotional support be required.
Insight into shift to Online working
In May 2020 we worked with the ICS Digital team to hear about the early patient experience of
transition to online platforms. Through facilitated Community Discussions which included
representation from all three CCG patient engagement forums patient insight was gathered around
the switch to online health consultations and appointments. This insight was shared with the ICS
digital team to guide development and further roll out across the CCG areas.
Review of the Cancer Nurse Specialist
Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated care System commissioned a review of their Clinical Nurse
Specialist (CNS) workforce, the outcome of this review was to improve the cancer pathway for
patients within secondary care.
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Engaging People and Communities continued
The CCGs also wanted to review best practice recommendations for CNS activities, gaps in care
delivery and identify reasons for the gaps in care delivery including training needs. The project was
to review services within Suffolk and North East Essex ICS in the following pathways;
- Gynaecology
- Upper Gastro-intestinal
- Lower Gastro-intestinal
- Urology
- Haematology
To support this piece of work the team held two focus groups with patients to understand their
experiences. Feedback was collated and then fed into the wider programme and used to plan the
forward view of the service.
Maternity Engagement and Maternity Voice Partnerships (MVPs)
In 2020 the team supported the maternity transformation team to facilitate partnership working
between Maternity Voice Partnerships and the Local Maternity System, to improve maternity services
and patient experience through effective coproduction as part of the Better Births transformation
plan. This was made possible by facilitating open conversations with the MVP Chairs and Heads of
Maternity and addressing issues and barriers in working together.
Engagement with maternity service users remains difficult for the MVPs due to not being able to
physically be at the hospital/baby groups etc. The team have supported the MVPs to connect with
maternity service users through social media to recruit new members and have helped link the MVPs
in with hard to reach and vulnerable groups, via Church groups and Health Visiting Teams.
CYP Mental Health Transformation
In June 2020 we set up a ‘Children and Young People’s Network’ to act as an information sharing
and engagement platform for the CCG and it’s Alliance partners. We started with around 10
members and since then the network has grown to nearly 80 people from various organisations and
groups. The network is comprised of professionals who work directly with young people, to include:
ISCRE, Youth Outreach, The Wellbeing Hub, Volunteering Matters, NSFT, Nurses and Support staff,
Social Care and Education.
The network has played an important role in developing CYP Services within Health and creates
opportunities for colleagues to access young people for feedback, engagement and coproduction.
More impressively, it also creates empowering opportunities for young people to become involved
and influence positive change. Some of these activities have included;
-

The development of a new Crisis Outreach Service where people were part of the recruitment
process
In October 2020 young people made and launched an animation video, which included
avatars of themselves, to help young people understand the changes that would be
happening within mental health service provision.
During September and October 2020 as part of #adifferentconversation work, we asked
people living in east and west Suffolk to let us know what they thought of our plans by filling
out a survey. The feedback received was then used to amend the plans further.
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Engaging People and Communities continued
Cancer Transformation - Personalised Care
A Personalised Care Patient Panel was held in October 2020 with the Cancer transformation
Manager, a MacMillan GP, a Consultant and ICS Clinical Lead, Nurse Specialists for Breast and
Colorectal and five cancer patients. At the meeting a patient portal was discussed and how this will
work in Primary Care to support our patients, and improve the patient experience and pathway
through services. This information was then used to shape the design of new pathways.
Development of the winter communications plan
Between August and November 2020 patient forums across the ICS were involved in the
development of our winter Communications plan. These members met monthly with the Head of
Communications and the Patient and Public Involvement Manager to agree priorities, messaging and
communication channels (learning from the experience of the previous few months of working mostly
online). The plan was circulated to all members of outpatient forums for comment and review. The
plan was designed to be as co-productive as possible and all members were asked to support the
delivery of the plan through the utilisation of their local networks and connections.
Cancer Patient Advisory Panels
The Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System (ICS) Cancer Strategy 2018 – 2022
includes a commitment to bring together patients, those Living With and Beyond Cancer (LWBC),
carers, patient-advocates, community support organisations, health care providers and clinicians to
share knowledge, experience and ideas that actively identify and shape the improvements required
to local cancer pathways and services. The Patient and Public Involvement team ensured the patient
voice was at the heart of this by recruiting to three different patient advisory panels and facilitated
their involvement in the patient advisory panels:
1. Supporting faster diagnosis for lung, prostate, colorectal and oesophago-gastric cancer
pathways.
2. Improving support for people living with and beyond cancer for breast, prostate and
colorectal cancers.
3. Rapid diagnostics Centres and Vague Symptoms Clinics
These have been moved to virtual panels at the start of the pandemic, which has worked well, and
patients have felt that their opinions were being heard by the clinicians and health care providers at
those meetings.
Covid Vaccination Programme
More recently the CCG has worked with the public in the Vaccine Programme development and
delivery. We have developed a survey working with local system partners and patient groups to
understand the vaccine experience and how we could improve it. The survey results are
complemented by community led discussions with different groups of people, including people with a
learning disability, carers, people with severe mental health problems, older people and many more.
At the time of producing this report nearly 4000 people have completed the online survey and more
than 100 people have taken part in community learning discussions.
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Engaging People and Communities continued
The insight and learning from this data has been shared weekly with the Vaccine Equalities
Reference Group and the Vaccine programme Board. This has resulted in a number of changes to
the vaccination process including improvements to site organisation and accessibility, improvements
to information provided at the sites, development of the Vaccine Communication Plan and
information Quality Assurance processes.
Engagement and Involvement work in West Suffolk
Community Engagement Group
The Community Engagement Group (CEG) is a public group that represents the patients and public
of west Suffolk. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic and shutdown of all public meetings, the CEG
members have been meeting virtually and more regularly, on a monthly basis to share updates from
their localities.
A weekly newsletter was produced and circulated to all members summarising information across
health, social care and the VCS during the first stages of the COVID crisis. This included information
from the stakeholder update, Suffolk County Council, Healthwatch Suffolk, Suffolk Mind and BME
networks.
In May 2020 the Community Engagement Group members worked with each Integrated
Neighbourhood Team across west Suffolk to ensure the patient and public voice was being
represented in these discussions. Connections were made with the Newmarket, Bury Town, Bury
Rural and Haverhill INTs. CEG members now attend the locality meetings for these areas.
Other activity conducted by members of the CEG include
•
•
•
•
•
•

CEG member Lynne Byrne was involved in the recruitment of the Patient Experience Officer
role.
CEG members were invited to support the NHSE PPI audit process 2020/21.
CEG member Michel Simpkin attended an Integrated Care System (ICS) Rapid Diagnostics
Patient Advisory Panel, to share lived experience. The next panel was due to take place in
January 2021 but was postponed until later in the year, due to the vaccination programme.
CEG member Carol Mansell has been actively involved in the responsive work churches
have been doing throughout the pandemic, supporting food banks with pop-up shops and
offering debt counselling and support to young people with mental health issues.
CEG member Graeme Norris volunteered to be a rolling chair for the newly developed PPG
Network.
Two members of the CEG have resigned, Paule Wise who intends to focus more on his role
at his PPG and Nicola Mann, who remains a member of the Early Stroke Discharge patient
panel on the CCG.
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Engaging People and Communities continued
West Suffolk PPGs and PPG Network
PPG members were keen to help out during the pandemic and volunteered to deliver PPE to GP
surgeries, however this was then picked up by ESNEFT, as commissioner of the ERS Medical
pathology collection service across Suffolk and North East Essex, to make the PPE deliveries as part
of their planned routes.
PPG members were able to be active volunteers during flu season and throughout the Covid-19
vaccination rollout, to support the CCG and GP practices. Some members were asked via the
WSCCG Community Engagement Group to share selfies or videos receiving their flu jab, as part of
our winter communications plan.
A PPG network for West Suffolk was established in November 2020, to replicate that of IESCCG and
NEECCG. This is a virtual network, welcoming Chairs and members of the West Suffolk PPGs to
attend. PPG members will be able to make suggestions on topics to discuss, speakers and the
frequency of these meetings. Initially we are going to trial three meetings a year.
The first successful meeting of the PPG network was held in November and the PPGs led the
agenda, for example with issues that COVID has caused their surgery etc. The next meeting was
held in March and followed a similar theme, with PPG members identifying speakers to attend.
The network has members from 15 PPGs and covers all six PCNs across West Suffolk.
There is also a PPG newsletter that goes out quarterly, although paused temporarily during lockdown
and it will be reviewed and restarted if PPG members feel it is something they would benefit from.
West Suffolk Alliance - Good News Stories
At the beginning of the pandemic, the team were asked to source case studies of the system
working together during Covid-19. This included stories such as the VCS raising money for PPE and
CCG staff volunteering to deliver PPE and supporting local pharmacies by volunteering to work extra
shifts.
These ‘good news’ stories were shared across the ICS via our Alliance partners, to promote the
collaborative working response to the pandemic
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Key Issues and Risks
Resources
The NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group delivered its key statutory and
administrative financial duties during the financial year ending 31 March 2021, posting a surplus
of £2.0million, against an overall Agreed Revenue Allocation of £430.9 million. Financial
performance targets can be found in Section 3 Accounts, Note 20. The allocation was based on
a formula that takes into account factors such as the age and needs of the population served by
the CCG, as well as market forces.
The NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk, NHS West Suffolk CCG and NHS North East Essex CCGs
are overseen by a single management delivery team headed by a Chief Executive (Accountable
Officer). All three CCGs also have a shared Director of Nursing, Director of Finance, Director of
Corporate Services and System Infrastructure, Director of Performance and Contracts and
Director of Strategy and Transformation. Each CCG has its own dedicated Chief Operating
Officer.
This structure has enabled the provision of:
•
•
•

dedicated support for the specific functions required of each CCG, its Governing
Body, committees and membership
expertise in safeguarding, quality and safety, financial management and contracting,
and
economies of scale through shared functions.

Risks and uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties relevant to each CCG during the course of 2020/21 are
recorded and managed via its Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF).
At year end, the NHS West Suffolk CCG carried forward a number of risks on the GBAF in the
following areas:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

WSFT 18 week Referral to Treatment (RTT), A&E performance, cancer waiting times,
CQC, and longer term financial pressures
Mental health trust performance and CQC issues
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust performance and CQC issues
Cyber security
Insufficient workforce across the system
Covid-19 impact on service delivery and finances
Delivery of 2020 flu vaccination campaign
EU Exit
Delivery of the Covid-19 vaccination programme
Structural issues at West Suffolk Hospital associated with Reinforced Autoclaved
Aerated Concrete infrastructure.
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Key Issues and Risks continued

All of these risks are reviewed on a regular basis by the Directors and reports made to
Governing Body, Clinical Scrutiny Committee and the Audit Committee who hold the CCG to
account regarding plans to mitigate these risks.
Each Director maintains a local risk register which ensures that risks are identified as early as
possible and managed to reduce their potential impact.
A Risk Forum has been set up to enable risks and activities to be shared across the
organisation enabling a more holistic approach to risk management.
The CCG’s Governing Body Assurance Framework and Management of Conflict of Interests
have been given ‘reasonable’ internal audit assurance ratings
The Governing Body has risk management strategies and an organisational framework that set
out how risks should be managed. The full GBAF can be viewed within the Governing Body
papers on our website.

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Executive (Accountable Officer), West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 June 2021
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The Accountability Report
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Corporate Governance Report – Members’ Report
Member Practices Report
The NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group is a membership organisation, comprising
24 GP practice members from across west Suffolk. GP practices are the backbone of our NHS,
are an integral part of the community and are often the providers of healthcare to many
generations of the same family.
Yet there are many challenges, with rising demand and ongoing recruitment issues making this a
testing time for our primary care providers.
It is pleasing to report that local GP practices are performing better than the national average and
patients are reporting a high level of satisfaction, according to the annual IPSOS Mori/NHS
England patient survey for 2020.
Along with Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG, West Suffolk CCG showed the highest performance for
overall patient experience in the region, with all but three practices above national average.
Just over 3000 west Suffolk patients rated their experiences of using their GP practice including
how easy it was to contact the surgery, the helpfulness of receptionists, satisfaction with the type
of appointment and recognition of mental health needs.
Overall, in west Suffolk 86% of respondents said their overall experience of their GP surgery was
very good or good, compared to the national average of 82%.
In dealing with coronavirus, we are proud of the way in which every GP practice adapted quickly to
ensure patients were still able to access primary care services, with many swiftly introducing
telephone and video appointments. These changes in practice and learning are all being taken
into consideration to help us understand what the future model of primary care can be for west
Suffolk.
This new way of working has been welcomed by many patients, taking into account the risk of
digital inequalities. In looking to the future of primary care services it is clear there will continued
demand for this type of appointment. However, we are mindful there needs to be a careful balance
so all patients can access an appointment whether that is face-to-face or remotely.
GP practice members are represented on the CCG’s governing body and clinical executive as well
as a number of key committees. The PCN Clinical Directors also attend the CCG Clinical
Executive to provide additional clinical leadership. This section of the report details individual
practice and committee members; details of governing body member remuneration can be found
in the remuneration report.

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Executive (Accountable Officer), West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 June 2021
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List Member Practices Report
This section sets out details of the member practices of the CCG, together with the
composition of each of the Membership Bodies.
Angel Hill Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

The Long Melford Practice

Stanton Surgery

Market Cross Surgery, Mildenhall

Botesdale Health Centre

Mount Farm Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Brandon Medical Practice

Oakfield Surgery, Newmarket

Haverhill Family Practice

Orchard House Surgery, Newmarket

Christmas Maltings & Clements Practice, Haverhill

The Rookery Medical Centre, Newmarket

Forest Surgery, Brandon

Siam Surgery, Sudbury

Glemsford Surgery

Swan Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Guildhall Surgery, Clare

Reynard Surgery, Mildenhall

Guildhall and Barrow Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Victoria Surgery, Bury St Edmunds

Hardwicke House Group Practice, Sudbury

Wickhambrook Surgery

Lakenheath Surgery

Woolpit Health Centre
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Composition of Governing Body
The Governing Body Membership includes eleven men and seven women
Dr Ed Garratt, Chief Executive Officer
Dr Ed Garratt is Accountable Officer for Ipswich & East Suffolk, West Suffolk
and North East Essex Clinical Commissioning Groups. He is also the
Executive Lead for the Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System
(ICS) and lead commissioner of the East of England Ambulance NHS Trust.
Ed is a Visiting Professor of Integrated Care at the University of Suffolk (20212024).
Ed has a strong reputation for building collaboration. He has over 15 years’
experience of working in the NHS, has worked at regional level in
commissioning and currently co-chairs the East of England Health Inequalities
Board. He has worked on major national policy by supporting the development
of the NHS Constitution and the government’s NHS White Paper 2021. Ed
holds a doctorate in English Literature from the University of Cambridge.

Dr Christopher Browning, GP Chair
Dr Browning is the Chair of West Suffolk CCG and is a GP appraiser with 13
years’ experience in hospital medicine and 16 years as a GP. He has had
operational experience in the out-of-hours service and many years’ experience
representing his GP colleagues on the Local Medical Committee.

Dr Zohra Armitage, GP and Joint Lead for Bury St Edmunds
locality
Dr Armitage is an experienced GP. She has had various clinical and
management responsibilities within different practices and the CCG. Her
clinical interests include adolescent health, sexual health and end of life
care. When not at work she is a busy mum and wife, and enjoys running and
reading.

Steve Chicken, Lay Board Member
Steve Chicken joined the CCG’s Governing Body in early 2017 as lay member.
He also works for the NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG in the same
capacity. Steve has held senior roles in global manufacturing businesses and
is a specialist in continuous improvement. He and his wife have lived in Suffolk
for 22 years, as do his parents, grown children and grandchild.
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Geoff Dobson, Lay Board Member (Corporate Governance)
and Vice Chair
Geoff Dobson provides strategic and impartial advice on financial
management issues to make sure the CCG meets its statutory guidelines and
carries out its work according to nationally agreed standards. He oversees key
aspects of corporate governance including audit, remuneration and managing
conflicts of interest. Geoff worked in local government finance for more than
four decades, most recently as Suffolk County Council’s Director of Resource
Management.

Paul Gibara, Director of Performance Improvement
Paul has over three decades of NHS experience, starting out as a Registered
Nurse in the 1980s, and since then he has held a number of senior clinical,
operational and commissioning leadership roles, within a diverse range of
settings. His most recent role was as Chief Commissioning and Performance
Officer at NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning
Group. He is responsible for the performance, negotiation and effectiveness
of contracts commissioned by the CCGs. Paul’s priorities have always been
to ensure patients and families receive the highest standard of personcentred care and he has always taken a keen interest in supporting staff and
organisations, and the provision of safe, good quality care and effective
outcomes, combined with the best use of resources.

Dr Andrew Hassan, Associate GP
Dr Hassan qualified from Sheffield, entered General Practice in 1980 and was
a senior partner at Avicenna surgery in Hopton until retirement from practice
in 2015. He has also served as the Chairman of the Bury St Edmunds PCG,
PEC Chair and Board Member for Suffolk West PCT; Chair of the Individual
Funding Panel and Clinical Priorities Group for the joint management team of
the Suffolk CCGs and Medical Director of NHS Suffolk until 2013.

Amanda Lyes, Director of Corporate Services and System
Infrastructure
Amanda has an NHS career spanning 20 years. Her portfolio encompasses
HR, IM&T, corporate governance and information governance. Her strengths
lie in the field of change management, organisational development and
employee relations. She is an experienced board member having held board
level positions in other NHS organisations. She is a Fellow of the Chartered
Institute of Personnel and Development and holds an MSc in Human Resource
Management.

Lisa Nobes, Director of Nursing and Clinical Quality
Lisa is the Chief Nursing Officer for the NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk and NHS West
Suffolk CCGs. She started her nursing career at West Suffolk Hospital 29 years ago and
moved to Manchester to train and practise as a children’s nurse at the Royal Manchester
Children’s Hospital before relocating back to Suffolk to work at the East Anglia Children’s
Hospice. She enjoyed working at both the hospice site and providing care to children at
the end of their lives in their homes. She left EACH to become a Lecturer in Children’s
Nursing and then a Senior Lecturer in Service Improvement, teaching service
improvement methodologies to under and post-graduate health students. She has
worked in the acute sector at both West Suffolk Hospital and Ipswich Hospital in senior
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nurse leadership posts, most recently as Director of Nursing at Ipswich Hospital before
taking up the CNO role in the Suffolk CCGs. Her academic background is in psychology,
inter-professional healthcare education and health psychology and she has recently
been appointed as Senior Visiting fellow at University of Suffolk. She is interested in coproduction of services with users and families and is keen to work with the wider Suffolk
community to understand how services need transforming to meet the needs of Suffolk
residents. Nursing remains a career that she loves and she is keen to work with senior
nurse leaders across Suffolk to be the voice for nurses, midwives and AHPs.

Jane Payling, Director of Finance
Jane is the Chief Finance Officer for the NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk, NHS
North East Essex and NHS West Suffolk clinical commissioning groups. She
previously worked at CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy) as Head of Health and Integration. This followed 10 years as
Director of Finance at Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust where Jane
was part of the team which secured the go ahead for the New Papworth
Hospital. She joined the NHS in 1992, and has worked in a variety of NHS
roles across East Anglia.

Dr Godfrey Reynolds, GP and Lead for Forest Heath locality
Dr Reynolds is Senior Partner at the Market Cross Surgery, Mildenhall, where
he has worked as a GP for 30 years. He qualified from Birmingham University
Medical School in 1983 after training spells in Africa and the United States and
worked in hospitals in the West Midlands for five years before entering general
practice. He has been a member of Suffolk Local Medical Committee for 25
years and was its Chair from 2010 to 2016. He has interests in forensic
medicine and psychiatry. He has been Chair of the Mildenhall Sick and Poor
Fund Charity for 30 years.

Lynda Tuck, Lay Board Member (Patient and Public
Engagement)
Lynda joined the CCG’s Governing Body in 2018. Her role is to ensure the
patient and public voice is listened to and remains integral to the decisionmaking of the governing body. Lynda has enjoyed an extensive career in
health care, both in delivering frontline services and in an educational setting.
She began her career as a nurse and midwife followed by an appointment as
Associate Dean (Health) at Bedfordshire University, with responsibility for
nursing and midwifery programmes. Latterly, Lynda held senior posts at
Bedford Hospital NHS Trust, including Associate Director of Operations,
building a well-deserved reputation for her focus on improving services for
patients through training, innovation and partnership working.

Kate Vaughton, Director of Integration and Partnerships
Kate joined the NHS in September 2001 and has gained extensive knowledge
from working across various NHS organisations. Prior to joining WSCCG Kate
was working at NHS North East Essex CCG as Chief Operating Officer playing
an active role as a board member contributing to the development of the vision,
aims and business objectives of the CCG.
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Dr Firas Watfeh, GP and Lead for Haverhill locality
Dr Watfeh is a GP partner at The Haverhill Family Practice. He is the GP lead
for prescribing and has a keen interest in dermatology. He represents his GP
colleagues on the LMC Board.

Richard Watson, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of
Strategy and Transformation
Richard has worked across the NHS and local government in a variety of roles,
most recently at NHS Enfield CCG where he led on the redesign of clinical
services. He has also been an elected local councillor and cabinet member
within a London borough where he led on community safety, leisure and
libraries. He is passionate about improving outcomes and managing complex
service redesign in partnership with other stakeholders.

Dr Bahram Talebpour, GP and Joint Lead for Sudbury
locality
Dr Talebpour has been a GP in Sudbury since 2012, and has been on the
Governing Body since 2016. He leads on Planned Care for the CCG.

Dr Victoria Wilson, GP Lead for Bury and Blackbourne
locality
Dr Wilson has served the WSCCG since 2016, first as an associate and
subsequently as a board member since 2019. Her interests include local
maternity services and promoting GP recruitment, training and retention. She
is an East Anglia peri-natal mental health champion and is co-chair of the local
First Five Group of newly qualified GPs.

Dr Andrew Yager, GP Lead for Cancer
Andrew is an experienced GP having come to Botesdale Health Centre as a
partner in 1986. In 1992 Andrew gained an MSc in Medical Ethics. In 2003 he
was elected as a Fellow of the Royal College of General Practitioners. In 2012
with the advent of CCGs Andrew became West Suffolk CCG clinical lead for
cancer and now also works for Macmillan throughout Norfolk and Suffolk as a
Macmillan GP. Within this role he has an interest in improving cancer services
along the patient journey within primary and secondary care, particularly
relating to early diagnosis and survivorship.
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Key Committees
Clinical Scrutiny Committee
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Christopher Browning (Chair)
Steve Chicken
Nichole Day
Geoff Dobson
Dr Ed Garratt
Paul Gibara
Amanda Lyes
Lisa Nobes
Jane Payling
Dr Godfrey Reynolds
Jon Reynolds
Dr Jep Ronoh
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Lynda Tuck
Kate Vaughton
Dr Firas Watfeh
Richard Watson
Dr Victoria Wilson
Dr Andrew Yager
Commissioning Governance Committee
Steve Chicken
Dr Ed Garratt
Paul Gibara
Geoff Dobson (Chair)
Jane Payling
Lynda Tuck
Remuneration and Human Resources (HR) Committee
Dr Christopher Browning (reserve member)
Geoff Dobson (Chair)
Lynda Tuck
CCG Collaborative (Committee of West Suffolk CCG, North East Essex CCG and
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG)
Dr Christopher Browning
Steve Chicken (Chair)
Dr Hasan Chowhan
Geoff Dobson
Dr Ed Garratt
Graham Leaf
Jon Price
Dr Mark Shenton
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Key Committees continued
Financial Performance Committee
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Christopher Browning
Steve Chicken (Chair)
Geoff Dobson
Dr Ed Garratt
Paul Gibara
Amanda Lyes
Lisa Nobes
Jane Payling
Dr Godfrey Reynolds
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Lynda Tuck
Kate Vaughton
Dr Firas Watfeh
Richard Watson
Dr Victoria Wilson
Dr Andrew Yager
Community Engagement Group
Lynne Byrne
Terry Clements
David Dawson
Carole Eagles – VCS Representative
Carol Mansell
Margaret Marks
Graeme Norris
Tanya Millar
Barbara Pooley
Jon Rapley
Elizabeth Storer (Healthwatch)
Michael Simpkin
David Taylor (Chair)
Lynda Tuck (Lay Member – Patient and Public Involvement)

47. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2020/21

Corporate Governance Report – Members’ Report
Key Committees continued
Audit Committee
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson (Chair)
Lynda Tuck
The following attend the Audit Committee:
• Representatives from Finance
• Representatives from External Audit
• Representatives from Internal Audit
• Representatives from Counter Fraud
Primary Care Commissioning Committee
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson
Dr Ed Garratt
Paul Gibara
Amanda Lyes
Jane Payling
Lynda Tuck (Chair)
Kate Vaughton
Lois Wreathall
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Corporate Governance Report – Members’ Report
Personal data related incidents
There were no serious incidents relating to data security breaches, and therefore none
reported to the Information Commissioner (ICO).
Register of Interests 2020/21
The Register of Interests document can be found on the constitution page of the NHS West
Suffolk CCG website here.
Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:
•

so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit
report

•

the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
NHS West Suffolk CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern
slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual
Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.
The CCG has nonetheless chosen to produce a statement, which can be found on its
website, HERE.
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Corporate Governance Report – Members’ Report
continued

External Audit and Complaints
External Audit
The CCG’s external auditor was EY until their resignation following the 19/20 audit and
tender for audit services for 2020/21. The cost of services provided by them in 2019/20 was
£65,628 for the local statutory audit (inc. VAT). For the 2020/21 audit, the CCG’s external
auditor is BDO LLP, whose fee is £62,400 (inc. VAT). In relation to 2019/20 work was also
undertaken on the Mental Health Investment Standard by BDO LLP, at a cost of £12,000.
Equivalent work has not yet been commissioned in relation to 2020/21, and national
guidance has not yet been issued on whether it will be required.

Patient Advice & Liaison Service (PALS)
Complaints and Compliments
The Patient Experience Team is responsible for the oversight of complaints and
compliments. This includes issues raised by GP practices in the GP contract issues log as
well as issues raised through the PALS.
Between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 the team received a total of 332 complaints for the
three CCGs covering Suffolk and North East Essex, 65 of which related to West Suffolk
CCG. Of these complaints, 24 (of which 6 related to WSCCG) were later closed due to
consent not being received or the complainant deciding to withdraw their complaint, and 207
(of which 26 related to WSCCG) were passed to the relevant service provider.
All complaints received were acknowledged within 3 days. The CCGs’ target response
timescale for responding to complaints is 25 working days, which was achieved for 78% of
complaints received during 2020/21. In cases where the timescale could not be met, a
revised timescale was agreed.
One complaint (of which 0 related to WSCCG) was received during 2020/21 and was
referred to the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO). The PHSO has
requested further information before making a decision as to whether they will investigate.
The details of complaints form part of the CCGs’ patient experience report. The main
themes identified in complaints to the CCGs during the year were community services (all)
patient transport (WS and IESCCGs) and Primary Care (NEECCG).
There were 209 letters received from MPs relating to the three CCGs, 20 of which related to
WSCCG.
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PALS
PALS provides information and advice on NHS services, non-emergency hospital transport
and community health services within Suffolk and North East Essex.
The main aim of PALS is to resolve problems and concerns for people using NHS services
before they become a major issue. It also acts as an early warning system by monitoring
and highlighting any problems or gaps in service provision.
The total number of contacts between patients and the PALS service in 2020/21 for Suffolk
and North East Essex was 1,783. This included 239 relating to WSCCG patients.
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Corporate Governance Report
Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS
Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Chief Executive
Officer to be the Accountable Officer of West Suffolk CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:
The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable,
For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them
to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction),
For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities).
The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money,
Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)),
Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

•
•
•
•
•

•

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a statement of accounts in
the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared on an
accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and of its income and expenditure, Statement of Financial Position and
cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements
of the Government Financial Reporting Manual, taking account of the application guidance
contained in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual, and in
particular to:
•
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on
a consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
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Corporate Governance Report
Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities continued
•

•
•

State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, taking account of the application
guidance contained in the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting
Manual, have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in
the accounts; and,
Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and
Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report and
Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, balanced and
understandable.

As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that West Suffolk CCG’s auditors are
aware of that information. So far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which
the auditors are unaware.

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Executive (Accountable Officer), West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 June 2021
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Annual Governance
Statement
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West Suffolk CCG - Governance Statement 2020-21
Introduction and Context
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is a body corporate established by NHS
England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of services for persons for
the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange
for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet
the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2020, the CCG is not subject to any directions from NHS England issued under
Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.

Scope of Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of
the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this
governance statement.

Governance Arrangements and Effectiveness

The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as
are relevant to it.
The Governance Framework of the CCG is the system by which the CCG is directed and
controlled in order to achieve its objectives and meet the necessary standards of
accountability and probity. Effective corporate governance, along with clinical governance,
is essential for a CCG to achieve its clinical, quality and financial objectives.
The NHS Act 2006, together with the Health & Social Care Act 2012 and associated
legislation, sets out the legal framework within which the CCG operates. It is a statutory
requirement that the CCG Governing Body specify their terms of reference, schedule of
reservation and delegation of powers, and the financial framework within which the
organisation operates. These key documents comprise the CCG’s corporate governance
arrangements and include:
•

The Constitution - as a framework for Governing Body governance
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•

The Detailed Financial Policies - as a framework for financial governance

•

The Scheme of Reservation and Delegation - as a framework for internal governance

It is essential that the public and all employees are aware of these documents and that
employees understand their responsibilities as set out within. They are therefore reviewed,
updated and approved each year at a meeting of the Governing Body in public and made
available on the CCG web site and intranet.
The CCG’s Membership Body includes 24 member practices.
The CCG’s Governing Body includes 8 GPs elected by their peers, a secondary care doctor
a lay member for governance, a lay member for patient and public involvement, a third
general lay member, a Chief Executive as Accountable Officer, a Director of Nursing and a
Director of Finance. The Governing Body also includes 4 non-voting Directors.
Governing Body meetings focus on strategy, clinical and service development, finance,
performance and scrutiny and governance and corporate business.
Some of the key items considered by the Governing Body at meetings during the year
included:
•

Development of the Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System (ICS) and
operational plans for 2021-22

•

Ongoing development and support for the West Suffolk Alliance including service
transformation through dedicated funding

•

The system response to the Covid-19 pandemic, emergency funding and vaccination
roll out

•

Mental Health Service Transformation Programme

•

Commissioning Intentions for 2021-22

•

Sizewell C proposed nuclear power station

•

West Suffolk Hospital Infrastructure

•

Approval of a new CCG Constitution

•

Development of system governance

Given the dynamic environment within which CCGs operate, even the most experienced
Governing Body Members benefit from on-going training and support. New Members also
need induction and training, allowing them to understand their role and the organisation’s
governance processes. As such and in response to the annual self assessment process, the
CCG provides Governing Body Members with regular training opportunities, with particular
focus on scrutiny and challenge. This ensures the Governing Body is effective in the
discharge of its duties.
In view of the global Covid-19 pandemic, 2020-21 was a different year as regards attendance
at meetings with almost all being held on a virtual basis.
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The table below shows the Governing Body attendance for 2020-21:
West Suffolk CCG – Governing Body
Governing Body Member

20 May 20

23 Jun 20
(Part Two)

(Part One and
Two)

(Part One and
Two)

23 Sept 20

28 Oct 20
(Part Two)

(Part One and
Two)

25 Nov 20

23 Dec 20

06 Jan 21
(Part Two)

(Part One and Two)

Armitage Zohra

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Browning Christopher

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Chicken Steve

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

(GP Member)

(GP Member – CCG Chair)
(Lay Member)

(Part One and
Two)

Day Nichole

(Lay Member for Governance - Vice Chair)

Yes

Yes

Game Mark

(Chief Executive)

27 Jan 21

Yes

(Deputy Director of Finance)

Garratt Ed

(Part Two)

Yes

(Deputy Director of Nursing)

Dobson Geoff

29 Jul 20

Yes

Yes

Gibara Paul

(Director of Performance and Improvement)

Lyes Amanda

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Nobes Lisa

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Payling Jane

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Reynolds Godfrey

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Vaughton Kate

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Watfeh Firas

Yes

Yes

Yes
(P1 only)

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Watson Richard

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Wilson Victoria

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yager Andrew

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Consultant in Public Health
Medicine

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

(Director of Corporate Services and System
infrastructure)
(Director of Nursing)
(Director of Finance)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)
(Chief Operating Officer)
(GP Member)

(Director of Strategy and Transformation)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

Vacant Practice Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Practice Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post - GP
Vacant Post – Secondary Care
Doctor

Note – where an entry is blank and shaded, this means that the listed person was not invited to
attend the meeting. This will have occurred where a named individual was not in post at the
meeting date or where a deputy or representative was invited for a specific meeting or meetings and
does not normally attend. This applies to all the attendance tables included within the annual
report.
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West Suffolk CCG – Governing Body
Governing Body Member

24 Mar 21

(Part One and
Two)

Armitage Zohra

Yes

Browning Christopher

Yes

Chicken Steve

Yes

Day Nichole

Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Garratt Ed

Yes

Gibara Paul

Yes

Lyes Amanda

No

Nobes Lisa

No

Payling Jane

Yes

Reynolds Godfrey

Yes

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Vaughton Kate

Yes

Watfeh Firas

Yes

Watson Richard

Yes

Wilson Victoria

Yes

Yager Andrew

Yes

Consultant in Public Health
Medicine

No

(GP Member)

(GP Member – CCG Chair)
(Lay Member)

(Deputy Director of Nursing)
(Lay Member for Governance - Vice Chair)
(Chief Executive)
(Director of Performance and Improvement)
(Director of Corporate Services and System
infrastructure)
(Director of Nursing)
(Director of Finance)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)
(Chief Operating Officer)
(GP Member)

(Director of Strategy and Transformation)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

Vacant Practice Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Practice Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post - GP
Vacant Post – Secondary Care
Doctor
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The formal sub-committees established by the CCG Governing Body include:
The Audit Committee
The purpose and key functions of the Audit Committee include reviewing the adequacy of:
(i)

All risk and control related disclosure statements (in particular the Annual
Governance Statement), together with any accompanying Head of Internal Audit
statement, external audit opinion or other appropriate independent assurances,
prior to endorsement by the Governing Body;

(ii)

The mechanisms for identifying and managing key risks facing the organisation
through the operational effectiveness of policies and procedures relating to internal
control and risk management including the Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF); and

(iii)

The policies and procedures for prevention, detection and management of work
related to fraud and corruption as set out in Secretary of State Directions and as
required by the NHS Counter Fraud Authority.

Highlights of the Committee’s work included consideration and oversight of:
•

The strategy and work plans for External Audit, Internal Audit and Counter Fraud

•

The organisation’s approach to Data/Cyber Security & General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR)

•

Oversight of risk management through the Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF)

•

Assurance engagement on the Mental Health Investment Standard

•

Review of delegated limits and routes of expenditure approval

•

Annual Review of the CCGs Accounting Policies and Detailed Financial Polices
(DFP’s)

Internal Audit reported on a variety of items, which are discussed in the Head of Internal Audit
opinion.
West Suffolk CCG – Audit Committee
Audit Committee Member

07 Apr 2020

Chicken Steve

Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes

(Lay Member)

(Lay Member for Governance)

17 Jun 20
(Extraordinary)

15 Sept 2020

8 Dec 20

23 Feb 21

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Leaf Graham

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance IESCCG, coopted)

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Others in attendance to advise:

Internal Audit
External Audit
Director of Finance
Governance Advisor
Chief Corporate Services
Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Involvement)

Yes
External Audit
Internal Audit
Director of Finance
Deputy Chief Finance
Officer
Governance Advisor
Project Accountant

Yes

Yes

No

Internal Audit
Counter Fraud
Director of Finance
Deputy Director of
Finance
Governance Advisor
Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Governance Accountant

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Director of Finance
Deputy Director of
Finance
Governance Advisor
Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Governance Accountant

Internal Audit
External Audit
Deputy Chief Finance
Officer
Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Governance Advisor
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The Remuneration and Human Resources Committee
The purpose of the Remuneration and Human Resources Committee is to:
(i)

Advise the Governing Body about the appropriate remuneration and terms of
service for the CCG’s Accountable Officer, Directors and senior managers.

(ii)

Under delegated powers from the Governing Body, make decisions on all
aspects of the Accountable Officers’, Directors’ and senior managers’
remuneration (within the provisions of relevant national frameworks), provisions
for other benefits and other contractual terms.

(iii)

Advise on all Human Resources policies, and procedures and issues that may
impact on the terms and conditions of employment for all staff.

(iv)

Advise on all matters of health and safety.

Highlights of the Committee’s work included:
•

Monitoring workforce information including recruitment, vacancies, sickness
and organisational structure.

•

Oversight of Health and Safety/Risk Management

•

Management running costs

•

Oversight of the Training Hub and Apprenticeships

•

The Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)

•

The Suffolk and North East Essex People Plan

•

Home working policy and procedure

Remuneration and HR Committee – West Suffolk CCG
Remuneration & HR
Committee Member

09 Jun 2020

06 Oct 2020

11 Nov 2020
(Virtual)

10 Dec 2020
(Virtual)

16 Feb 21
(Extraordinary)

10 Mar 21
(Extraordinary)

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Reserve - Browning
Christopher

No

No

No

No

No

No

Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Deputy Director of
People and Culture

Director of
Corporate Services
and System
Infrastructure
Deputy Director of
People and Culture

(Lay Member for Governance)
(Lay Member for Patient and
Public Engagement)

(GP Member – CCG Chair)

Others in attendance
to advise:

Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Chief Executive

Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure

Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
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Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure

The Clinical Scrutiny Committee
The purpose of the Clinical Scrutiny Committee is to:
(i)

Provide a dedicated forum for the oversight of clinical governance.

(ii)

Provide assurance to the Governing Body and Audit Committee that the CCG has
the necessary clinical governance arrangements in place to meet its objectives.

(iii)

Ensure effective clinical engagement in clinical governance processes, utilising
clinicians’ specific expertise and knowledge of local communities and public/patient
involvement.

(iv)

Facilitate a culture where clinical quality, patient experience and patient safety are
of the highest priority.

Clinical Scrutiny Committee – West Suffolk CCG
Clinical Scrutiny
Committee Member

29 Apr 20

24 Jun 20

Armitage Zohra

Yes

Yes

Browning Christopher

Yes

Chicken Steve

No

(GP Member)

(GP Member – CCG Chair)
(Lay Member)

Day Nichole

26 Aug 20

28 Oct 20

23 Dec 20

24 Feb 21

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

(Deputy Director of Nursing)

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Garratt Ed

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)
(Chief Executive)

Gibara Paul
(Director of Performance Improvement)
Lyes Amanda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Nobes Lisa

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Payling Jane

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Reynolds Godfrey

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure)
(Director of Nursing)
(Director of Finance)
(GP Member)

Reynolds Jon

Yes

(Deputy Chief Contracts Officer)

Ronoh Jep

No

No

No

No

No

No

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda
(Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement)

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Vaughton Kate

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Watfeh Firas

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Watson Richard

Yes

Part

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Wilson Victoria

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yager Andrew

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Consultant in Public Health)
(GP Member)

(Director of Integration)
(GP Member)

(Director of Strategy and Transformation)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

Vacant Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post - GP
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The Commissioning Governance Committee
The purpose of the Commissioning Governance Committee is to:
(i)

Provide a forum, with delegated decision-making powers, for approval of commissioning
intentions where the recommended providers are GP practices.

(ii)

Provide assurance to the Governing Body, Audit Committee, NHS England and the
general public that the CCG has the necessary governance arrangements in place to
manage conflicts of interest with regard to the procurement of services provided by GP
practices.

(iii)

Facilitate a culture of openness and probity around the local commissioning of GP
services.

(iv) Demonstrate that the CCG and member practices are acting fairly and transparently,
and that final commissioning decisions are made in ways that preserve the integrity of
the decision making process.
Commissioning Governance Committee – West Suffolk CCG
Committee Member

01 Apr 20
(Virtual)

02 Apr 20
(Virtual)

14 Apr 20
(Virtual)

26 May 20
(Virtual)

23 Jun 20
(Virtual)

02 Jul 20
(Virtual)

05 Aug 20
(Virtual)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Garratt Ed

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)
(Chief Executive)

Gibara Paul

Yes

(Director of Performance Imrovement)

Payling Jane

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Director of Finance)
(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Vacant Post

(Secondary Care Doctor)

Commissioning Governance Committee – West Suffolk CCG
Committee Member

21 Aug 20

8 Sept 20
(Virtual)

10 Nov 20
(Virtual)

8 Jan 21
(Virtual)

2 Feb 21
(Virtual)

12 Feb 21
(Virtual)

Chicken Steve
(Lay Member)

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Garratt Ed

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Gibara Paul

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

Payling Jane

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)
(Chief Executive)
(Director of Performance Imrovement)
(Director of Finance)
(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Vacant Post

(Secondary Care Doctor)

The Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is established in accordance with statutory
provisions to enable the members to make collective decisions on the review, planning and
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procurement of primary care services in West Suffolk, under delegated authority from NHS
England.
West Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee
Committee Member

29 Apr 20
(Part Two)

(Part One and Two)

Bhagwat Ameeta

Yes

Yes

Chicken Steve

No

Yes

No

No

No

No

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Garratt Ed

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Gibara Paul

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Kearton Jennifer

Yes

(Deputising for Director of Finance)

(Lay Member)

(Lay Member for Governance)

(Chief Executive)

24 Jun 20

26 Aug 20

(Part One and Two)

20 Oct 20
(Virtual)

27 Oct 20
(In Common)

11 Nov 20
(Part Two Virtual)

Yes

(Director of Performance Improvement)

(Deputy Director of Finance)

Lyes Amanda

No

No

No

No

No

No

Payling Jane

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Vaughton Kate

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

No

Wreathall Lois

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Browning Christopher Dr

Yes

Yes

Yes

Healthwatch Representative

Yes

Yes

No

Health and Wellbeing Board
Representative

No

No

No

LMC Representative

Yes

No

Yes

NHS England Representative

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Director of Corporate Services and System
Infrastructure)
(Director of Finance)

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)
(Director of Integration)

(Deputy Director of Primary Care)

Vacant Post

(Secondary Care Doctor)

Non-Voting Members
(WSCCG Chair - Observer)

(Observer)

(Observer)
(Observer)

(NHS England Representative)

West Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee
Committee Member

23 Dec 20
(Part One and
Two)

06 Jan 21
(Part Two)

13 Jan 21
(Part Two - Virtual)

Armitt Chris

24 Feb 21
(Part One and Two)

17 Mar 21
(Part Two)

Yes

(Deputy Director of Finance)

Chicken Steve

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Garratt Ed

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

Gibara Paul

Yes (Part one
only)

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member)

(Lay Member for Governance)

(Chief Executive)
(Director of Performance Improvement)
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Lyes Amanda

No

No

No

No

No

Payling Jane

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Vaughton Kate

No

Yes

No

No

No

Wreathall Lois

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Browning Christopher Dr

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Healthwatch Representative

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Health and Wellbeing Board
Representative

No

No

No

No

No

LMC Representative

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

NHS England Representative

Yes

No

No

Yes

Part

(Director of Corporate Services and System
Infrastructure)
(Director of Finance)

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)
(Director of Integration)

(Deputy Director of Primary Care)

Vacant Post

(Secondary Care Doctor)

Non-Voting Members
(WSCCG Chair - Observer)

(Observer)

(Observer)
(Observer)

(NHS England Representative)

The Financial Performance Committee
The purpose of the Financial Performance Committee is to:
(i)

(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

(v)
(vi)

Establish a financial performance framework which enables the CCG to proactively
manage its financial, performance and quality, innovation, productivity and prevention
(QIPP) agenda
Provide assurance about financial performance to the Governing Body by reviewing
and scrutinising performance reports and remedial action plans in detail prior to
submission to Governing Body meetings
Ensure that the CCG operates within agreed budgets and proposing plans and
necessary actions to maintain financial balance
Demonstrate the achievement of value for money and provide confidence to the
Governing Body and wider public that the CCGs resources are being used effectively
and efficiently
Facilitate a culture of openness and probity around the delivery of effective financial
and performance management
Hold to account the relevant Directors and appropriate GPs for delivery of agreed
plans within their areas of responsibility

Financial Performance Committee – West Suffolk CCG
Committee Member

17 Jun 20

16 Sept 20

11 Nov 20

16 Dec 20

17 March 21

Armitage Zohra

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Browning Christopher

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Chicken Steve

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

(GP Member)

(GP Member – CCG Chair)
(Lay Member)
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Dobson Geoff

Yes (Part)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes (Part)

Yes

No

No

No

Nobes Lisa

No

No

No

No

No

Payling Jane

Yes

Yes

Yes

Part 2 only

Yes

Reynolds Godfrey

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes (Part)

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Watson Richard

Yes (Part)

No

Yes

No

Yes

Wilson Victoria

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yager Andrew

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance)

Garratt Ed

(Chief Executive)

Gibara Paul

(Director of Performance
Improvement)

Lyes Amanda

(Director of Corporate Services and
System Infrastructure)
(Director of Nursing)
(Director of Finance)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Vaughton Kate

(Chief Operating Officer)

Watfeh Firas
(GP Member)

(Director of Strategy and
Transformation)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

Vacant Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post

(Practice Manager Member)

Vacant Post – GP
Vacant Post - GP

UK Corporate Governance Code

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
However, we have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon
best practice available, including the aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code in
respect of leadership, effectiveness and accountability that we consider to be relevant to the
Clinical Commissioning Group and best practice.

Discharge of Statutory Functions

Arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning group and explained within the
Corporate Governance Framework have been developed with extensive expert external legal
input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed
the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of
delegation.
In light of the recommendations of the 2013 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that
the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory
functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those
functions.
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Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness
During the course of 2020-21, the organisation's processes for effective risk management
were managed in line with the CCG Risk Management Strategy and Organisational
Framework and the Governing Body Assurance Framework.
The Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure is the designated lead for
overseeing the day-to-day coordination of risk management reporting arrangements,
including training and is a resource for all risk related issues. The Governance Advisor
supports Directors, Heads of Department and Line Managers, whilst also scrutinising all
identified risk and incident data. As the designated lead, the Director of Corporate Services
and System Infrastructure works in partnership with:
•

The Risk Manager who acts as the CCG’s ‘Competent Person’

•

The Director of Nursing with respect to risk management requirements set out in the
Care Quality Commission standards, and

•

The Information Governance Lead and Data Protection Officer

Equality Impact Assessments are conducted at the outset of setting strategy and delivering
services across the commissioning cycle ensuring a control and assurance culture through
risk, incident and complaints management. This in turn ensures a clearly defined culture of
equality across the CCG’s activities.
Risk Assessment
The Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) provides the CCG with a simple but
comprehensive method for the effective and focused management of risk. Through the GBAF
the Governing Body gains assurance from the Directors that all risks are being appropriately
managed throughout the organisation.
The GBAF identifies which of the organisation’s strategic goals may be at risk because of
inadequacies in the operation of controls, or where the CCG has insufficient assurance. It
encompasses the control of risk; provides structured assurances about where risks are being
managed and ensures that objectives are being delivered. This allows the Governing Body
to determine how to make the most efficient use of resources and address the issues
identified, in order to continuously improve the quality and safety of healthcare
commissioning.
The likelihood and consequences of all risks on the CCG Risk Register are assessed against
an agreed 5x5 risk matrix, to ensure consistency in the risk assessment process. Risks of
sufficient concern to the organisation as a whole inform the Governing Body agenda and are
assessed for migration to the GBAF. The management of risks differs according to their
likelihood and consequence, and the risk matrix allows priorities to be assigned for remedial
action, and assessment of whether risks should be accepted. This system is also used to
review how well the agreed controls are operating.
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The risk rating matrix used:

Likelihood score →

5:

1: Rare

2: Unlikely

3: Possible

4: Likely

5: Catastrophic

5

10

15

20

25

4: Major

4

8

12

16

20

3: Moderate

3

6

9

12

15

2: Minor

2

4

6

8

10

1: Negligible

1

2

3

4

5

Almost
Certain

Consequence score ↓

The subsequent red, amber, green (RAG) scores identify the level at which identified risks will be managed within the organisation. It also
assigns priorities for remedial action and determines whether risks are to be accepted on the basis of the colour bandings and risk ratings. In
terms of evaluation of effectiveness, the RAG rating system is also used to present how well the agreed controls are operating within the
following classifications:
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RAG Score

CRITICAL
(15-25)

CHALLENGING
(8-12)

MANAGEABLE
(1-6)

Progress

Risk Assessment

• There may be significant gaps in controls to
ensure effective management.
• Controls are in place but insufficient
resources
• Controls are in place but external forces may
be preventing progress.

• There are insufficient controls in place to address the
cause or source of the risk
• Controls are considered insubstantial or ineffective
• Controls are being implemented but are not yet in place
• If this risk were to materialise, the situation could be
irrecoverable in terms of the Clinical Commissioning
Groups reputational/financial well-being and or service
continuity.

Progress is being made but there is concern
that the objective may not be achieved.
Additional controls or management action is
being taken to improve the likelihood of
success.

There are few controls in place, which are considered
substantial and/or effective and address the cause of the
risk. The consequences of the risk materialising, though
severe, can be managed to some extent via contingency
plans.

Progress is being made in accordance with
plans. There are no significant concerns.

The risk is considered to be small and there are sufficient
controls in place which address or substantially address the
cause of the risk. The consequences of the risk
materialising can be managed via contingency plans.

68. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2020/21

Revising Risk Ratings

If controls are inadequate then the revised risk rating
increases

If controls are uncertain, the revised risk rating stays the
same as the original risk rating

If they are perceived as adequate, then the revised risk
rating decreases

A summary of the key strategic risks affecting the CCG during the course of 2020-21
(including those carried forward into future years) and the actions taken to eliminate or
mitigate them have included:
Covid-19 Pandemic
Understandably, a number of key strategic risks for 2020-21 concerned the Covid-19
pandemic, specifically in regard to additional expenditure (GBAF Risk 57), management of
the outbreak (GBAF Risk 56) and the vaccination roll out programme (GBAF Risk 59). With
the NHS operating at an Incident Level 4 or 5 for most of the year, the CCG had a business
continuity plan in place with an incident room covering Suffolk and North East Essex providing
tactical support to the Suffolk Outbreak Management Centre. A Local Outbreak Management
Plan was published in June 2020. At the start of the outbreak, the increasing incidence of
Covid-19 cases resulted in a significant impact on the delivery of primary and secondary care
but through the implementation of new ways of working and the provision of additional
capacity, pressures decreased towards year-end.
Additional expenditure to support the Covid-19 response presented a financial risk for the
CCG and the wider system potentially resulting in the restriction of future services or failure
to meet financial targets. In order to manage the risk, a Covid-19 Resource Approval
Committee (CRAC) was established on an extraordinary basis to address decision-making
in regard to coronavirus resource requirements across the local healthcare system. The
CRAC considered requests for expenditure from £10k up to £3m on the basis that national
policy was for all reasonable Covid-19 related expenditure to be reimbursed from central
government resources up to a level to allow the CCG to break even.
The national Covid-19 vaccination programme has been a success within which Suffolk and
North East Essex played a significant part. However, the CCG recognised the risk that work
streams maybe unable to deliver the requirements of the national vaccination programme
resulting in the necessary timescales being compromised. Through the establishment of a
Programme Group with a dedicated team bringing together the various work streams,
hospital hub vaccination sites were established at the Ipswich, Colchester and West Suffolk
sites, twenty Primary Care Network vaccination centres opened across Suffolk and North
East Essex and the system leads worked with the Essex Partnership University NHS
Foundation Trust, as lead provider and the NHS England regional team, to operationalise the
wider vaccination programme.
Ambulance Services
The East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust (EEAST) failed performance targets
against ambulance response time categories with a particular concern regarding delays in
response to acuity category 1 and 2 calls (GBAF Risk 39). EEAST performance has remained
average in the sector and resource targets were met despite 20% staff absence rates. Whilst
by year-end the Trust was much closer to meeting the necessary standards, the risk remains
challenging.
EEAST was also issued with Section 29a and 31 Notices following a CQC inspection in June
2020. The Trust was subsequently placed into Special Measures for quality concerns in
October 2020 (GBAF Risk 60). As a result, EEAST now have a Director of Nursing with
specific responsibility for clinical quality and improvement. The Trusts Quality Improvement
69. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2020/21

Plan put in place to address the Section 29a and 31 Notices includes 124 specific actions
together with a ten-point plan produced and coordinated by NHS England and NHS
Improvement monitored through monthly quality and performance meetings.
While these risks pertaining to ambulance services are owned by the Ipswich and East Suffolk
CCG, the implications and remedial actions are of equal importance to West Suffolk CCG.
Mental Health
The CCG’s main mental health provider is the Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust, which
continues to have variable CQC ratings demonstrating that the service requires improvement.
As such, the CCG holds risks around the capacity of NSFT to discharge its service
adequately, and the consequent potential risk to patients (GBAF Risks 27a and 27b). The
CCG continues to work closely with the Trust, with additional controls including a joint quality
assurance process, where the Director of Nursing regularly reviews progress against every
service line and the CQC action plan through clinical quality meetings. As a result of these
actions, feedback from a CQC inspection in November 2020 was positive in regard to inpatient wards and crisis teams with further inspections of other services to follow. During the
Covid-19 pandemic, CCG teams maintained close contact with NSFT colleagues, and the
Trust expanded their telephone offerings to patients. In addition, the CCG invested in
additional voluntary sector capacity to manage lower risk patients.
Acute Care
The West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (WSFT) has continued to miss its 62-day referral to
initial treatment cancer target (GBAF Risk 45), with this having been further impacted by the
Covid-19 pandemic. The Trust has provided weekly performance information which has been
monitored with monthly quality contract review meetings. The Cancer Board has been
working across the system to improve performance by systematically identifying and
mitigating bottlenecks. The volume of cancer referrals did not decline during the second wave
of the pandemic as it had in the first and by Q4 of 2020-21, services are returning to normal
but with further progress dependent upon endoscopy waiting times. With on-going restrictions
effecting diagnostic efficiency, the final impact of the pandemic on waiting times is unknown
and is why the risk remains critical.
Regarding the 18-week referral to treatment (RTT) target (GBAF Risk 33), WSFT failed the
necessary performance requirement on both aggregate and individual speciality levels with
this being another quality target adversely affected by the pandemic whereby greatly
increased numbers of patients breached the 52-week maximum target. Previous recovery
targets were benchmarked against activity in 2019-20 and will need to be revisited in light of
the additional pressures occasioned by the pandemic.
WSFT has also missed its 4-hour A&E target (GBAF Risk 27), which presents a potential risk
to patient safety and experience. Again, this has been impacted by Covid-19 although as
WSFT is now part of the trial of alternative A&E metrics, reporting on the existing 4-hour
standard is not required by NHS England. However, the underlying issues identified prior to
the pandemic are still being addressed through a number of key controls including daily
reporting of performance, internal escalation processes, admission avoidance schemes, GP
streaming arrangements and 111 targets to reduce inappropriate referrals. As required by
NHS England guidance, an A&E Board is also in place to oversee performance. As at Q4 of
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2020-21, A&E demand was returning to normal although system pressures remain
challenging.
A risk in regard to the WSFT financial position remains challenging (GBAF risk 52). As a
CCGs provider, this presents a risk to service delivery with consequent financial pressures
across the West Suffolk Alliance. As such, the West Suffolk Alliance Resources Group
continues to monitor financial performance and assist the Trust to stabilise its finances. The
Alliance and wider ICS partners are determining the actions and service changes necessary
for the Trust to regain financial balance in 2021-22.
A new risk was added to the Governing Body Assurance Framework in February 2020
following a CQC inspection of WSFT which rated the Trust as requiring overall improvement
(GBAF Risk 53). The CQC also initiated an enforcement action in respect of patient safety
improvement in maternity and midwifery services. In addition, they issued a warning notice
under Section 29a of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 with a requirement for the Trust to
address the issues of concern by the end of January 2020. By year-end, WSFT was making
good progress against the agreed action plan underpinned by monthly contract review
meetings and the CCG being integrated into the WSFT quality governance processes.
Other Risks
A new risk in regard to the WSFT infrastructure was added in February 2021 (GBAF risk 61).
This concerned WSFT having identified and alerted the CCG to risks associated with the
hospitals reinforced autoclaved aerated concrete (RAAC) infrastructure. The use of RAAC
planks in construction was commonplace in the late 1960’s and 1970’s but a report from the
Standing Committee on Structural Safety (SCOSS) in May 2019 identified a risk of shear
failure in buildings constructed using RAAC planks. In order to address the risk, WSFT have
established a surveillance programme and remedial action plan. The CCG has likewise
established its own RAAC Risk Committee, independently chaired, to ensure all necessary
mitigations are in place.
One risk the CCG holds on its GBAF is the risk of a cyber-security incident leading to
widespread system outages (GBAF risk 42). This could result in a lack of access to records
and services. Whilst eliminating the risk of cyber-attack completely is not possible, the CCG
together with its IT provider has achieved cyber essentials accreditation. There are monthly
provider service reviews together with a bi-monthly Joint Digital and IT Services Board. The
Audit Committee monitors the impact of the work to reduce the cyber security risk to the CCG.
The CCG also holds a risk of the UK leaving the EU at the end of the transition period (GBAF
risk 43), and the impact on NHS service provision this may have. There remains a lack of
clarity about any impact the new trade deal with the EU will have particularly in regard to the
import of medicines and medical devices. Regular monitoring has therefore continued, and
the CCG is engaging with NHS England, providers and GPs, and the Joint Leadership Team
regularly monitors any developments. The CCG also holds an EU Exit Action log to ensure
all relevant actions for commissioners are completed as required.
Linked to Brexit, a risk in regard to provider workforce (GBAF risk 49) where a lack of a
sufficient workforce across the system could lead to shortfalls in patient safety, care and
services is being addressed through a system level workforce strategy. An interim NHS
People Plan has been released together with Local Workforce Assurance Boards and the
establishment of a primary care training hub. There is also a GP Support Hub providing
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support for the recruitment and retention of GPs with monthly data demonstrating progress.
A nursing programme has been established and is meeting its targets to increase nurse
placements by 15%. An important Next Generation Project is also in place working with
schools and colleges to provide careers advice and joint recruitment events.
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Further to monthly scrutiny, the risk ratings for each of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s key strategic risks have changed over the course of the
year as follows:
Risk No
NSFT CQC
NSFT

Performance

WSFT RTT
WSFT Cancer
Targets

SEND
CAMHS
WSFT A&E
2020 Flu
Campaign
EEAST
Performance

Covid
Resource

CHC DOLS
Cyber
Security

Apr-20

May-20

Jun-20

Jul-20

Aug-20

Sep-20

Oct-20

Nov-20

Dec-20

Jan-21

Feb-21

Mar-21

25►

25►

20▼

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

20►

20►

Removed

16►

16►

12▼

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

16

16►

16►

16►

12▼

12►

12►

12►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

16►

12▼

12►

15

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

12►

12►

12►

Removed

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

16►

16►

16►

12▼

12►

12►

Brexit
WSFT
Maternity
Covid 19

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

Removed

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

20►

WSFT

16►

16►

16►

16►

12▼

12►

Removed

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

9▼

9►

9►

9►

Quality

Wedgewood

WSFT CQC
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Provider
Workforce
IUC 60
Seconds
WSFT
Finance
Covid 19
Vaccine
EEAST
Quality
WSFT

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

Removed

15►

15►

15►

15►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

12►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

15►

20

20►

20►

20►

20

20►

20►

12

12►

Infrastructure
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None of the principal risks relate to compliance with the CCG licence. In addition, the
Governing Body reviews the GBAF at each of its meetings thus ensuring a high degree of
rigour over the CCG’s performance.

Capacity to Handle Risk

All actions contain inherent risks and risk management is central to the effective running of
any organisation. The CCG therefore ensures that decisions made on behalf of the
organisation are taken with due consideration to the management of risks.
To achieve this, the Governing Body must be confident that the systems, policies and people
it has put in place are operating in a way that is effective, focused on key risks and driving
the delivery of the organisation’s objectives. The Governing Body must also demonstrate that
it has been properly informed, that it is aware of the totality of risk facing the organisation,
and that it has made decisions on the management of that risk based on all of the available
evidence. The CCG’s risk and control mechanism is described diagrammatically below:

The GBAF is built around the Risk Register, from which the relevant strategic risks are drawn.
At each Governing Body meeting, the GBAF is presented, allowing members to effectively
assess whether they would like risks currently held at a lower level on departmental risk
registers to be migrated to the GBAF.
Incident and risk reporting is actively encouraged across the CCG and relevant reports are
recorded within the systems managed by the Director of Corporate Services and System
Infrastructures department.
As a working document, the GBAF is updated monthly by the Directors and reviewed by the
Governing Body (in public), the Clinical Scrutiny Committee and the Audit Committee at each
of their meetings.
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Risks arising from the CGG’s daily operations can result in less than optimum quality of
service, financial loss, disruption of normal operations, accidents and injuries, or adverse
publicity. The likelihood of these events occurring and the potential extent of their impact
depend on the CCG’s practices, processes and culture, as well as external influences.
A key aim of the CCG’s risk management arrangements is the continued reduction of risk
through the involvement of staff at all levels of the organisation. Supporting this, anybody
who identifies a risk can report their concerns to their line manager, a Director or by submitting
a completed Risk Report Form.

Other Sources of Assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the CCG to
ensure it delivers its objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate
the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to
manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness. How we achieve this is described in the preceding sections.
Annual Audit of Conflicts of interest Management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs requires CCGs to
undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to
undertake this task, NHS England has published a template audit framework.
The annual audit was undertaken with an overall assessment of reasonable assurance.
Data Security
Data security risks are reported through the Head of Information Governance/DPO to the
Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure. The CCG’s Information
Governance Steering Group that reports to the Audit Committee monitors a detailed action
plan, linked to the requirements of the NHS Digital Data Security and Protection Toolkit
(DSPT). Overall standard compliance has been achieved for all of the toolkit
requirements. The CCG is aware of the increased risk from so called Cyber Security attacks
and has included this on the GBAF.
Information Governance
The NHS Digital Data Security and Information Governance Framework sets the processes
and procedures by which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in
particular personal identifiable information, and gives assurance against the 10 Data Security
Standards. It is supported by a Data Security and Protection toolkit, and an annual
submission provides assurance to the public and others that personal information is dealt
with appropriately.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems in
place to protect patient and corporate information. All staff are required to undertake annual
information governance training, we have established an information governance
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management framework, as well as processes and procedures in line with the Data Security
and Protection toolkit. These include processes for incident reporting and investigation of
serious incidents. Our procedures have embedded an information risk culture throughout the
organisation.
Business Critical Models
An appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance of
business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report. Quality
assurance is vital to ensure that business critical models are robust. The CCG ensures as
part of its quality assurance that the appropriate governance is applied to its business critical
models and that NHS quality assurance guidelines and checklists are also applied.

Control Issues

The CCG is not aware of any current significant control issues that would potentially:
•

Prejudice the achievement of priorities or undermine the integrity or reputation of the
CCG and/or wider NHS

•

Put delivery of the standards expected of the Accounting Officer at risk

•

Make it harder to resist fraud or other misuse of resources, or divert resources from
another significant aspect of the business

•

Have a material impact on the accounts

•

Put national security of data integrity at risk.

Review of Economy, Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Use of Resources
The CCG has systems and processes for managing its resources including the following:
• Standing Orders.
• Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.
• Financial Policies.
• Strict controls on vacancy management, recruitment and use of agency staff
• Devolved budget management throughout the CCG.
• QIPP Delivery
The Governing Body gains assurance on the delivery of its financial duties from the Financial
Performance Committee on a regular basis following their review of detailed financial
information including financial planning and QIPP delivery. The Programme Management
Office (PMO) also provides a monthly report to the Financial Performance Committee.
A monthly Integrated Performance Report is submitted to the Governing Body and Clinical
Scrutiny Committee, and provides performance updates on Constitutional Standards, Clinical
Quality and Patient Safety, Contractual Performance, Redesign programmes and the
Programme Management Office.
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Assurance is also provided to the Governing Body via the Audit Committee, which receives
regular reports from both Internal and External Audit to ensure that controls are operating
effectively and to advise on areas for improvement. The internal audit plan has been designed
to deliver assurance against constitutional duties and give useful insight into any gaps in
controls.

Delegation of Functions

The CCG has not delegated any of its functions.

Counter Fraud Arrangements

The CCG is required, under the terms of the Standard NHS Contract and in accordance with
the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHS CFA) Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery
and Corruption, to ensure that appropriate counter fraud measures are in place.
There was a robust programme of counter fraud and anti-bribery activity, supported by the
accredited Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) whose annual work plan was monitored
by the Director of Finance and the Audit Committee.
The LCFS attends the CCG Audit Committee regularly to provide progress reports and
updates, as well as providing an annual NHS CFA Self-Review Assessment against each of
the Standards for Commissioners. Appropriate action would be taken regarding any NHS
CFA quality assurance recommendations.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion (HoIA) for the Year Ended 31 March 2021
The purpose of the annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to the
Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Board’s own assessment of
the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This Opinion will in turn assist
the Governing Body in the completion of its Annual Governance Statement (AGS).
The opinion is set out as follows:
1. Overall opinion;
2. Scope and Limitations of Work; and
3. Summary of work undertaken.
1.

The overall opinion is a positive opinion; that the organisation has an adequate
and effective framework for risk management, governance and internal control.
However, internal audit work has identified further enhancements to the
framework of risk management, governance and internal control, to ensure that it
remains adequate and effective.

2.

The scope and limitations of the work is as follows:

The formation of our draft opinion is achieved through a risk-based plan of work,
agreed with management and approved by the Audit Committee. Our draft opinion is
subject to inherent limitations, as detailed below:
• the draft opinion does not imply that internal audit has reviewed all risks and
assurances relating to the organisation;
78. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2020/21

•

•

•
•

•
•

•

3.

the draft opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans
generated from a robust and organisation-led assurance framework. As such, the
assurance framework is one component that the Governing Body takes into
account in making its annual governance statement (AGS);
the draft opinion is based on the findings and conclusions from the work
undertaken, the scope of which has been agreed with management / lead
individual;
the draft opinion is based on the testing we have undertaken, which was limited to
the area being audited, as detailed in the agreed audit scope;
where strong levels of control have been identified, there are still instances where
these may not always be effective. This may be due to human error, incorrect
management judgement, management override, controls being by-passed or a
reduction in compliance;
due to the limited scope of our audits, there may be weaknesses in the control
system which we are not aware of, or which were not brought to our attention; and
it remains management’s responsibility to develop and maintain a sound system of
risk management, internal control and governance, and for the prevention and
detection of material errors, loss or fraud. The work of internal audit should not be
seen as a substitute for management’s responsibilities around the design and
effective operation of these systems.
our internal audit work for 2020/21 has been undertaken through the substantial
operational disruptions caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. In undertaking our audit
work, we recognise that there has been a significant impact on both the operations
of the organisation and its risk profile, and our annual opinion should be read in this
context.
Summary of work undertaken – Please see table below for summary of internal
audit work undertaken
Report

Assurance Level

Key Financial Controls
Governance Part 1
Primary Care Commissioning
Governance Part 2
Safeguarding Adults – Oversight of
Providers
Risk Management
Conflicts of Interest (Draft)

Substantial
Substantial
Substantial
Substantial
Reasonable
Reasonable
Reasonable
Advisory

GDPR
Financial Governance
Joint Management Team

Advisory
Advisory
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GP Pensions

Advisory

Data Security Protection Toolkit

Advisory

Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and
Internal Control
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the CCG. My review was informed in a number of ways:
•

Directors within the organisation who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the system of internal control provided me with assurance.

•

The GBAF itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage the risks to the organisation achieving its principal objectives have been
reviewed.

•

The work of Governing Body committees; particularly the Audit Committee, which
scrutinises and challenges governance and risk activities and seeks assurances on
the effectiveness of controls.

•

The Clinical Scrutiny Committee, as a committee of the Governing Body, provides
strategic clinical leadership, expertise and advice whilst ensuring effective clinical
engagement, utilising clinicians’ knowledge of local communities and public and
patient involvement.

•

The work of the Chief Nursing Officer’s team in carrying out quality visits, inspections
and monitoring provider serious incidents and risks.

•

Contract meetings with providers, which hold them to account for the quality of the
services commissioned.

•

The Health & Safety and Risk Committee reviews health & safety risks and ensures
the health & safety of the workforce and any persons working or visiting the premises.

•

The Information Governance (IG) Committee reviews information governance risks
and issues, including data losses, IT security, the CCG’s obligations under the General
Data Protection Regulations 2018 and progress with the IG Toolkit assessment, action
plan and submission. The latter is also monitored by the Audit Committee.

•

The work of regulatory bodies such as Monitor and the Care Quality Commission their inspection reports provided assurance on the quality and governance of our
provider organisations and services and help triangulate local information.

•

The work of the Local Counter Fraud Specialist.

•

The Serious Incident (SI) process for reporting and investigating serious incidents and
robust monitoring of action plans to ensure recommendations are put into practice and
risk mitigated.
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•

Internal Audit provides an independent, objective opinion on the degree to which
governance and risk management supports the achievement of the organisation’s
objectives. The Head of Internal Audit, in accordance with NHS Internal Audit
Standards, is required to provide an annual opinion of the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control, covering the whole
financial year. For 2020-21 the opinion stated that reasonable assurance could be
given, as a generally sound system of internal control is in place, designed to meet the
organisation’s objectives, and controls are generally being applied consistently and
effectively, with only minor areas for improvement identified.

•

Within the CCG information risk management forms part of the wider information
governance agenda. Ultimate responsibility rests with me as Accountable Officer and
I am supported by the Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), a member of the
Governing Body. The SIRO in turn is supported on a daily basis by the Information
Governance and Risk Manager who has responsibility for following up on issues in
this area.

•

An Information Governance Group, chaired by the SIRO and attended by staff from all
areas, meets every quarter. This group discusses all information related issues and
makes recommendations of actions to address them. The group provides updates into
the Audit Committee on a regular basis. To support this, the CCG has approved a
number of polices including Information Governance Policy, IT Security Policy and a
Data Protection Policy, which guide staff on their responsibilities.

Conclusion
The Governance Statement highlights the CCG’s key governance issues for 2020-21.
Inevitably, the Covid19 pandemic has influenced much of the CCGs activity and business
over the course of 2020-21. The two peaks of infection in the spring of 2020 and winter of
2021 put the entire system under pressure but by year-end, when hospital and critical care
admissions were reducing, there was a focus on recovery whilst still managing the ongoing
challenges of the pandemic. The roll out of the vaccination programme commencing in
December 2020 was a story of significant success and staff across the system worked hard
and with flexibility to ensure service continuity. Despite the challenges occasioned by the
pandemic I can, however, confirm that all of the CCGs governance arrangements remained
in place with robust alternative processes for effective oversight and decision-making.
One of the CCG’s key priorities is to improve access to mental health services across Suffolk.
Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (NSFT) is the main provider of mental health
services commissioned by the CCG. A previous Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection
report highlighted serious concerns in service quality and rated the Trust inadequate overall.
Subsequent inspection ratings have remained variable indicating that improvements in some
services are still necessary. Feedback from a CQC inspection in November 2020 was positive
in regard to in-patient wards and crisis teams with further inspections of other services to
follow. The CCG has therefore continued to work closely with the Trust during 2020-21 to
ensure it delivers the required quality improvements and to address the challenges of the
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Covid-19 pandemic. The NHSE Mental Health Long Term Plan (LTP) is addressed locally by
the Suffolk Mental Health Transformation Programme which is underpinned by the 10 Year
Suffolk Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing Strategy. During 2020/21, as part of the
response to the pandemic, some areas of mental health transformation have quickened pace
including the establishment of the NSFT mental health First Response Service (FRS) crisis
telephone line, 24/7 NSFT Psychiatric Liaison services at the West Suffolk Foundation Trust
and provision of NSFT 24/7 Home Treatment Teams. However, the pandemic response has
both nationally and locally highlighted population inequalities and the increasing role that the
voluntary, community and social enterprises can play in future service models.
2020-21 has been another year of change where the CCG has continued to transform health
and care services as part of the Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System which
was established from the former Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) as a
second wave ICS in April 2019. The ICS has now been in place for three years and with
partners is taking collective responsibility for managing resources, delivering NHS standards
and improving the health of the populations of Suffolk and North East Essex. As an ICS all
local stakeholders including the NHS, local government, primary care, local charities and
community groups are aligning their efforts so that the one million people living across Suffolk
and North East Essex can live healthier lives for longer.
2019-20 has also been the year in which the West Suffolk Alliance has further developed,
building upon its five- year strategy 2018-23 and developed jointly with the West Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust, Suffolk County Council, Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust and Suffolk
GP Federation working with West Suffolk CCG and wider public and voluntary sector
partners. The Alliance is one of three within the Suffolk and North East Essex ICS, with
Alliances also in Ipswich and East Suffolk and North East Essex. The vision for the West
Suffolk Alliance is to strengthen support for people to stay well and manage their wellbeing
and health within their communities by focusing on individual needs, changing the ways
services are configured and working together to make effective use of resources.
In summary, good governance is about the processes for making and implementing
decisions but is also important for several other reasons. It not only gives the local community
confidence in its CCG as the commissioner of their healthcare, but improves the confidence
that members and officers have in their own organisation and its decision making processes.
With the heightened corporate focus across the NHS on integrated working through ICSs and
Alliances, the need for clear and robust governance arrangements is ever more important.

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Executive
Accountable Officer, West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 June 2021
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Remuneration Policy

Remuneration Policy
The CCG’s policy for the remuneration of senior managers was operated in accordance with Agenda
for Change and it is intended to continue with this policy for future years. The pay for both the
Accountable Officer and the Director of Finance was in accordance with recently published national
guidance. The remainder of the senior managers are paid on the VSM (very senior manager) grade,
all salaries have been nationally benchmarked.
Remuneration of Very Senior Managers
No senior manager of the CCG was paid more than £150,000 per annum.
Senior managers’ performance related pay
There is no element of pay that is performance related.
Policy on senior managers’ contracts
All CCG staff, including senior managers (up to and including Band 9), follow the national terms and
conditions of service pertaining to notice periods. The maximum period of notice under Agenda for
Change is three months. Directors are appointed in accordance with the VSM framework (Senior
Salaries Review Body Recommendations) and have a notice period built into their contracts of
employment of six months.
Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office (subject to audit)
The CCG made no payments of compensation on early retirement or for loss of office during the year
(2019/20 - £nil).
Payments to past members (subject to audit)
The CCG made no payments to past members during the year (2019/20 - £Nil).
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r Management Remuneration Report Tables (Subject to audit)
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Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables
The below relates to the 2020/21 Salaries and Allowances
Changes to the Governing Body Membership
Management Delivery Team:
Paul Gibara joined the team as Director of Performance and Contracts (post formerly referred to
as Chief Contracts Officer) on 13 July 2020 following Richard Watson who had been acting in
the position from 21st January 2020.
GP Membership:
There have been no changes to the GP membership during the year.
Lay Members
There have been no changes to the lay membership during the year.
Other:
Ed Garratt, Lisa Nobes, Amanda Lyes, Jane Payling, Richard Watson and Paul Gibara (from
13/7/20) worked in the posts stated in the above table across West Suffolk CCG, Ipswich &
East Suffolk CCG & North East Essex CCG. Costs are recharged across the 3 CCGs in line
with running cost allowances.
The cost for Stephen Chicken is shared between the CCG's in the proportion:- Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG 60.60%; West Suffolk CCG 39.40%.
Note 1 - Management Delivery Team
West Suffolk and North East Essex CCGs host the Management Delivery Team that provides
management support to West Suffolk CCG, Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG and North East
Essex CCG. The costs of the Management Delivery Team were shared based on running cost
allocations: - North East Essex 33.8%; Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 40.2%; West Suffolk
CCG 26.1%. The Management Delivery Team includes the above highlighted Directors. In
addition to showing the salary and fees charged to Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG the table also
records the Chief Officer's total salary and fees. As West Suffolk CCG and North East Essex
CCG host staff who form the Management Delivery Team the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
share of these pay costs is shown as charges from West Suffolk CCG and North East Essex
CCG and not as payroll costs.
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Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables
Note 2 – All Pension Related Benefits
The amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in
accordance with the ‘HMRC’ method for defined benefit pension schemes. In summary,
this is as follows:
Increase in pension entitlement = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB), where:
•
•
•
•

PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year;
PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year;
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year; and,
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.

The amount included is not a sum paid to the officer by the CCG. It merely represents
the increase in pension entitlement that occurred during the year and is derived from
data received from NHS Pensions.
Where N/A is shown in the table there is no requirement to disclose as the pensions
data received includes contributions from other employment sources.
Note 3 - Expense Payments (taxable) to nearest £100
This is the gross value of such benefits before tax. It includes:
• Expenses allowances that are subject to UK income tax and paid or payable to the
person in respect of qualifying services, and
• Benefits received by the person (other than salary) that are emoluments of the person
and are received by them in respect of qualifying services.
In this instance, this is calculated in relation to the taxable element of mileage
payments.
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Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables
The below relates to the 2019/20 Salaries and Allowances
Changes to the Governing Body Membership
Management Delivery Team:
Jane Webster went on secondment to Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG starting
12th August 2019, and officially left the CCG on 21st January 2020 without returning to
NHS West Suffolk CCG. Jane Payling acted as Chief Contracts Officer for the period 12th
August 2019 to 20th January 2020, followed by Richard Watson acting in the position
between the dates of 21st January 2020 to the end of the financial year.
GP Membership:
Andrew Yager joined the Governing Body as the lead for Cancer on 1st September 2019.
Victoria Wilson joined the Governing Body as the lead for the Bury & Blackbourne locality
on 11th September 2019.
Other:
Lisa Nobes, Amanda Lyes, Jane Payling and Richard Watson joined North East Essex
CCG and worked in the posts stated in the above table across West Suffolk CCG, Ipswich
& East Suffolk CCG & North East Essex CCG. This commenced from 1st August 2019
and North East Essex CCG were recharged 37.18% of the relevant costs from that date
onwards.
Kate Vaughton currently joins board meetings at West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust in
an attendance capacity and reports directly into Ed Garratt and Stephen Dunn (Chief
Officer at West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust). Kate's role is the Director of Integration
and Partnerships.
Note 1 - Management Delivery Team
West Suffolk CCG host the Management Delivery Team that provides management
support to both West Suffolk CCG, and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the
Management Delivery Team is shared between both CCG's in the following proportions
up to 31st July 2020: - Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 60.60% (2018/19 - 60.60%) - West
Suffolk CCG 39.40% (2018/19 - 39.40%). After 31st July 2020, costs for directors were
shared as follows: - North East Essex 37.18%; Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 38.07%;
West Suffolk CCG 24.75% The Management Delivery Team includes the above
highlighted Chief Officers. In addition to showing the salary and fees charged to Ipswich
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Senior Management Remuneration Report Tables
and East Suffolk CCG, the table also records the Chief Officer's total salary and fees. As
West Suffolk CCG host the Management Delivery Team the Ipswich and East Suffolk
CCG share of these pay costs is shown as a charge from West Suffolk CCG in the Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG's accounts and not as payroll costs.
Note 2 – All Pension Related Benefits
The amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in
accordance with the ‘HMRC’ method for defined benefit pension schemes. In summary,
this is as follows:
Increase in pension entitlement = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB), where:
•
•
•
•

PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year;
PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year;
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the officer if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year; and,
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to
the officer if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.

The amount included is not a sum paid to the officer by the CCG. It merely represents
the increase in pension entitlement that occurred during the year and is derived from
data received from NHS Pensions.
Where N/A is shown in the table there is no requirement to disclose as the pensions
data received includes contributions from other employment sources.
Note 3 - Expense Payments (taxable) to nearest £100
This is the gross value of such benefits before tax. It includes:
• Expenses allowances that are subject to UK income tax and paid or payable to the
person in respect of qualifying services, and
• Benefits received by the person (other than salary) that are emoluments of the person
and are received by them in respect of qualifying services.
In this instance, this is calculated in relation to the taxable element of mileage
payments.
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Members of the Board who do not make pension contributions or accrue pension benefits within the NHS Pension Scheme are not disclosed in
the above tables, as their remuneration is non-pensionable. They are listed below.
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Members of the Board who do not make pension contributions or accrue pension benefits within the NHS Pension Scheme are not disclosed in
the above tables, as their remuneration is non-pensionable. They are listed below.
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Pay Multiples (subject to audit)
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-inkind but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and
the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest paid director / member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the
organisation's workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director at NHS West Suffolk CCG in the
financial year 2020/21 was £100,000 to £105,000 (2019/20 - £95,000 to £100,000). This
was 2.51 (2019/20 - 2.60) times the median remuneration of the workforce, which was
£40,894 (2019/20 - £37,750). The highest paid member of the Governing Body moved up a
remuneration band in year due to a pay award. The median remuneration has increased in
year due to the recruitment of agency nurses within the Continuing Healthcare team to
support the Covid-19 response. For the purposes of this calculation, shared directors have
been included at their cost to the entity.
In 2020/21, no (2019/20, No) employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid
director of the organisation. Remuneration ranged from £5,000 to £105,000 (2019/20 - from
£0 to £100,000).
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Introduction

Ipswich and East Suffolk, North East Essex and West Suffolk CCGs work together and have a shared
Management Delivery Team (MDT) which undertakes the majority of shared functions. In addition,
each CCG has its own discrete operations office, led by a Chief Operating Officer and Governing
Body. Staff which make up the MDT are employed by either West Suffolk CCG or North East Essex
CCG with relevant recharges to ensure that costs are apportioned in line with running cost funding.
The following staff report provides information on both the shared management delivery team and the
WSCCG operations office and Governing Body (where appropriate) thus showing the full range of
staff which support the CCG. The management delivery team is made up of 372 staff, with the
WSCCG operations office staff totaling 33 (excluding temporary bank staff). The sections below
provide further information on the composition of the staff team and policies implemented during the
year.

Staff Numbers by Band

The figures below show the headcount for the shared management delivery team, and those staff that
are assigned to WSCCG operations office and Governing Body members, these figures exclude
temporary bank staff.
MDT
Headcount

WSCCG
Headcount

Band
2-7
236
Band
2-7
12

8a
45

8a
4

8b
45

8b
1

8c

8d

Other

17

18

8c

8d

Other

1

1

14

Total

19

372

Total
33

Staff Numbers and Costs (subject to audit)
Permanently Employed Staff and other staff

The tables below show the split of staff between those which are permanently employed and other
staff. The tables show both the shared management delivery team and the CCG operations office.
Please note this includes temporary staff but excludes non-executive directors/ lay Governing Body
Members.
Permanently Employed
Headcount - MDT

Other Headcount
322

Permanently Employed
Headcount WSCCG

.

Total Headcount
58

Other Headcount
18

380

Total Headcount
7

25
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to

audit)
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Staff numbers by functional group
Management Delivery Team
Staff Group

Total Staff

Professional Scientific and Technical
Administrative and Clerical

1

1.00

338

291.97

4

0.99

37

35.15

380

329.11

Medical and Dental
Nursing and Midwifery Registered
Total

Total WTE

West Suffolk CCG
Staff Group

Total Staff

Prof Scientific and Technical
Administrative and Clerical
Total

Total WTE
6

4.75

19

11.70

25

16.44

Staff Composition
Governing Body
The staff composition of the CCG Governing Body is shown below, this includes all shared
directors which are part of the board of the CCG .

Headcount

WSCCG Governing Body composition by Gender
(headcount)
20
10
0
Series1

female
7

male
11
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The composition of the management delivery team is shown below by agenda for change
(AfC) pay band and gender.

MDT - Gender by AfC Pay Band

80
70

Number of Staff

60
50
40
30
20
10
0

Male

2
0

3
1

4
5

5
4

6
8

7
24

8a
10

8b
9

8c
5

8d
7

Other
5

Female

1

15

32

25

73

48

35

36

12

11

14

West Suffolk CCG

WSCCG - Gender by AfC Pay Band

7
6

Number of Staff

5
4
3
2
1
0

Male

2
0

3
0

4
1

5
0

6
0

7
0

8a
1

8b
0

8c
0

8d
0

Other
2

Female

0

0

0

7

4

0

3

1

1

1

4
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Staff Turnover
The staff turnover rate for West Suffolk CCG during the year was 8.97%. Staff turnover has
been decreasing steadily for the last 12 months and is at its lowest rate for two years.
Staff turnover is reported to the Joint Staff partnership and the renumeration committee. All
data is collected from the ESR Business Intelligence Reporting

Staff Survey Results
The CCGs take part in the annual NHS staff survey. The survey works on the basis of
payroll assignment, the closest match for this CCG is represented the staff employed by
Ipswich and East Suffolk and West Suffolk CCGs. The completion rate was 64% with the
main features shown on the graphic below.
Completion Rate: 64%
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Staff Policies applied During the Year
Equal Opportunities
The CCGs continue to follow the Equal Opportunities in Employment Policy which outlines our
commitment to ensuring that all employees, and CCG applicants for employment, are treated
fairly and equally. Recruitment and selection (including both external and internal
recruitment/promotion) procedures follow NHS Employers ‘good practice guidance’ and meet
NHS employment checks and standards.
In 2020, the CCGs also co-produced a WRES action plan, with a group of staff who
volunteered to be part of this work. Many of these staff are from Black and Asian Minority
Ethnic (BAME) backgrounds and contributed valuable insight and shared lived experience to
inform the plan which was published in October 2020 and work towards implementation of this
plan and the Model Employer goals continues.
The CCGs are also represented in the SNEE ICS Equality, Diversity and Inclusion group which
brings together colleagues from across the ICS and is looking at where greater gains can be
made at ICS level and also supporting the SNEE People Plan with an ED&I strategy.
All staff including board members are also required to undertake mandatory equality and
diversity e-learning training.
The CCG values diversity and recognises that this is an area for further work. We also
recognise that to recruit and retain staff, we will need to retain and develop an inclusive culture
that makes the CCG an employer of choice for applicants
Disability
In the 2020 NHS National Staff survey, 92% of employees said that they felt that CCGs had
made adequate adjustments for them to be able to carry out their work.
The CCG’s HR function works closely with occupational health, access to work and of course
line managers to ensure that individuals who require adjustments are supported and that this
support is precisely tailored for the individual.
In addition to this:
•
•
•

We are a ‘disability positive’ employer. If an applicant is disabled and meets the
essential criteria for the job description they are guaranteed an interview. This is
enshrined in our Recruitment and Selection Policy
Adjustments for disability-related illness are included in our Sickness Absence Policy
We have a policy of ensuring we make all reasonable adjustments to enable staff
with disabilities to progress in line with their peers.
98. NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group – Annual Report 2020/21

Remuneration and Staff Report – Staff Report
These measures are designed to ensure we:
•
•
•

give full and fair consideration to applications made by disabled persons, having
regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities
continue the employment of, and appropriate training for, employees who have
become disabled since they were employed by the company, and
provide training, career development and prospects for promotion of disabled
employees.
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The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements)
Regulations 2017
Relevant union officials
Total number of employees who were relevant union officials during 2020/21:
Number of employees who were relevant
union officials during 2020/21
1
(Shared resource across NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG and NHS West Suffolk CCG)

Full-time equivalent employee number
1
(Shared resource across NHS Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG and NHS West Suffolk CCG)

Percentage of time spent on facility time
Percentage of their working time spent on facility time by employees who were
relevant union officials employed during 2020/21:
Percentage of time
0%
1-50%
51-99%
100%

Number of employees
0
1
0
0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time
Percentage of your total pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant union
officials for facility time during 2020/21:
Total cost of facility time
Total pay bill
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility
time

£1k
£14,930k
0.0%

Paid trade union activities
Percentage of total paid facility time hours spent by employees who were relevant
union officials during the 2020/21 on paid trade union activities:
Time spent on paid trade union activities as a
percentage of total paid facility time hours

100%
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Other Employee Matters
Other Employee Matters
Staff Engagement
A variety of means are used to keep staff informed about workplace developments.
These include:
• regular one-to-one meetings with line managers during which they are encouraged to
raise any concerns or issues
• fortnightly team briefings hosted by the Chief Executive or members of the Executive
team during which questions are encouraged or can be tabled anonymously in
advance
• The Buzz, a fortnightly electronic newsletter, and
• ICS Newsletter
Any issues concerning staff are reported to the Remuneration and HR Committee and the
Staff Partnership Forum for discussion.
The CCG’s values and behaviours are included in the personal development plans of all
employees and regular reviews are conducted by line managers to ensure they are adhered
to.
Joint Staff Partnership:
The CCG works closely with trade unions including Unison, the Royal College of Nursing
and Managers in Partnership as part of the Joint Staff Partnership (JSP). Meetings occur
every other month and details of matters discussed, and decisions taken are communicated
to staff.
Health and Safety
The Health, Safety and Risk Committee meets bi-annually to review issues relating to the
CCGs.
The committee is chaired by the Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure
and draws membership from across the three CCGs in Suffolk and North East Essex and
the management delivery team. The committee reports to the Remuneration and HR
Committee for information and comment.
Endeavour House, Landmark House and West Suffolk House are Suffolk County Council
buildings all have Building User Group (BUG) meetings. The CCGs have representatives
who attend these meetings and any health and safety issues, from either the Health, Safety
and Risk Committee or respective BUG meetings, are fed back to staff via these forums.
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Other Employee Matters (cont)
Health and safety training is now provided via eLearning. The mandatory modules cover the
required areas of health and safety for a low risk office environment and each module
includes an assessment that must be passed by staff.
All CCG staff that occupy Suffolk County Council buildings dovetail into the fire and first aid
arrangements which are in place. Staff have been trained in the use of evacuation chairs so
they are able to assist disabled staff in the event of an incident. Any health and safety
concerns
relating to the buildings are relayed to the building facilities management team for action.
The SCC buildings CCG staff occupy comply with current fire safety legislation with minimal
risk of fire spread.
The Terms of Reference for the Health, Safety and Risk Committee are reviewed annually.
The committee continues to provide advice to staff on their safety within the office
environment and work with them to maintain a safe environment for staff and visitors.

Expenditure on Consultancy
The CCG spent £143k during 2020/21 on consultancy services (2019/20 - £133k).
The majority of the expenditure for the year was in relation to Corporate
Governance. This was in connection with an Information Governance lead to ensure
the CCG's compliance with such legislation.
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Off-payroll engagements

Off payroll engagements
There were three off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months during the year.
Off Payroll Engagements as of the 31st March 2021, for more than £245 per day and that last
longer than 6 months;

Number of existing engagements as of the 31st March 2021
Of which, the number that has existed
For less than 1 year at the time of reporting
For between 1 and 2 years at the time of reporting
For between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting
For between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting
For more than 4 years at the time of reporting

Number
2
0
0
0
0
2

New off payroll engagements
For all new off payroll engagements or those that reach 6 months in duration, between the
1st April 2020 and 31st March 2021, for more than £245 per day and that last longer than 6
months.

Number new engagements or those that reach 6 months in duration
between April 1st, 2020 and 31st March 2021
Of which,
Number assessed as caught by IR35
Number assessed as not caught by IR35
Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to the entity) and are
on the entity’s payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance
purposes during the year.
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following
the consistency review

Number
1
0
1
0
0
0
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Off-payroll engagements
The CCG has robust contractual arrangement with all of its off-payroll engagements
that minimises any risk to the CCG. The contractual arrangements require all offpayroll engagements to provide assurance that the correct amount of tax is being
paid.

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or senior officials
with significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2020 and 31 March
2021:
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior
officers with significant financial responsibility, during the financial
year
Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements.

0

17

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual)
payments (subject to audit)
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and in full in
the year of agreement.

2020/21:
The CCG agreed 1 exit package during 2020/21. The exit package was agreed in
the form of a redundancy payment for the value of £25,833. This will be paid by West
Suffolk CCG only.
2019/20:
The CCG agreed 6 exit packages during 2019/20. The exit packages were agreed in
the form of redundancy payments. Exit payment one was for £139,144, payment two
for £71,591, payment three for £161,091, payment four for £77,221, payment five for
£6,262 and payment six for £27,951. Payments one to five were in relation to
members of the management delivery team, while payment six was in relation to
West Suffolk CCG alone. Payments one to five have been split in cost between
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG and West Suffolk CCGs, but the exit packages were
paid by West Suffolk CCG as this is where MDT colleagues are employed.
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group is not required to produce a
Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent
liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as
notes in the Financial Statements of this report at Annual Accounts Note 19. An
audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at the end of
Section 3, Annual Accounts.

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Executive (Accountable Officer), West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
23 June 2021
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2021
2020-21
£'000

Note

2019-20
£'000

Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income

2
2

(13,582)
(972)
(14,554)

(13,668)
(5)
(13,673)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation
Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

4
5
5
5
5

15,969
424,656
497
1,912
404
443,438

15,285
381,899
205
(335)
387
397,441

Net Operating Expenditure

428,884

383,768

Total Net Expenditure and Total Comprehensive Expenditure for the year

428,884

383,768

The notes on pages 6 to 35 form part of this statement
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2021
Note

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

31 Mar 21

31 Mar 20

£'000

£'000

8
9

-

474
23
497

10
11

7,821
296
8,117

6,612
388
7,000

Total current assets

8,117

7,000

Total assets

8,117

7,497

(33,988)
(1,925)
(35,913)

(33,560)
(831)
(34,391)

(27,796)

(26,894)

(1,292)
(1,292)

(449)
(449)

Assets less Liabilities

(29,088)

(27,343)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(29,088)
(29,088)

(27,343)
(27,343)

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

12
13

Non-Current Assets less Net Current Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

13

The notes on pages 6 to 35 form part of this statement
The financial statements on pages 2 to 35 were approved by the Governing Body on 23rd June 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Dr Ed Garratt
Chief Executive (Accountable Officer)
23rd June 2021

3

NHS West Suffolk CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2021
General fund
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Balance at 01 April 2020
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2020

Total
reserves
£'000

(27,343)
(27,343)

(27,343)
(27,343)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(428,884)

(428,884)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2021

(428,884)
427,139
(29,088)

(428,884)
427,139
(29,088)

General fund
£'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Balance at 01 April 2019
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 31 March 2020

Total
reserves
£'000

(24,415)
(24,415)

(24,415)
(24,415)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating costs for the financial year

(383,768)

(383,768)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2020

(383,768)
380,840
(27,343)

(383,768)
380,840
(27,343)

The notes on pages 6 to 35 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2021
Note

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
(Increase) in trade & other receivables
Increase in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase in provisions
Net Cash (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5
10
12
13
13

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net Funding Received
Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities
Net (Decrease) / Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents

11

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

The notes on pages 6 to 35 form part of this statement
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2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

(428,884)
497
(1,208)
428
11
1,925
(427,231)

(383,768)
205
(28)
3,631
(800)
148
(380,612)

427,139
427,139

380,840
380,840

(92)

228

388
296

160
388
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Notes to the financial statements
1. Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2020-21 issued by the
Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The
particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in
dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns
where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be
provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going
concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are
prepared on the going concern basis.
The White Paper on the introduction of ICSs (Integrated Care Systems) shows that the functions of the CCG would be
transferred into an ICS body. As such, the CCG has considered its circumstances and expects that its services would continue
to be provided by another public sector entity.
1.2 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.
1.3 Pooled Budgets
The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Suffolk County Council, in
accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. Under the arrangement, funds are pooled in the Better Care Fund, and also
into the Mental Health Pooled Fund. The former seeks to join up health and care services, and the latter used to jointly
purchase mental health services. Note 16 provides details of the income and expenditure.
The pools are both hosted by Suffolk County Council. The clinical commissioning group accounts for its share of the assets,
liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled
budget agreement.
1.4 Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the revenue note and are reported as a single segment in line with management
information used within the clinical commissioning group.
1.5 Revenue
Under IFRS 15, Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied
by transferring promised services to the customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that
performance obligation. Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following
year, that income is deferred.
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as
follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not disclose information regarding
performance obligations of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less.
• The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the
practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly
with the value of the performance completed to date.
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•

•

•

•

The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the
clinical commissioning group to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial
application.
The clinical commissioning group does not hold any contracts where they expect that the customer will pay for the
good or service more than one year after the good or service is provided, and as such is choosing to apply the practical
expedient as per Paragraph 63, not adjusting the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component.
The clinical commissioning group is utilising the practical expedient offered in paragraph 4, whereby the clinical
commissioning group is permitted to apply the Standard to portfolios of contracts with similar characteristics, as the
effect on the financial statements from applying the Standard in this way will not differ materially from applying this
Standard to individual contracts.
The clinical commissioning group will be taking the practical expedient listed in paragraph 94 of recognising the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when they are incurred, where the amortisation of the asset
the entity would otherwise have recognised is one year or less.

The main sources of revenue are as follows:
• The management delivery team is provided by West Suffolk and North East Essex CCGs on behalf of both East and
West Suffolk clinical commissioning groups, as well as North East Essex CCG. West Suffolk clinical commissioning
group employs a proportion of the staff and the staff are deployed across the clinical commissioning groups. The
performance obligation in this instance is to be available to provide support and to provide management services as
required by the supported CCGs. West Suffolk is required to provide access to the staff to conduct the affairs of the
CCGs at all times during office hours, and on call cover outside office hours. The clinical commissioning groups’
entitlement to management services do not decrease in the future with the current provision of said management
services. Work performed by employees of West Suffolk would not have to be repeated, and overall fulfils the
requirements for recognition over time.
• The provision of services for the care of young people with complex health needs, where Suffolk County Council
agrees partial funding, but the clinical commissioning group maintains control of the placement and the risks
attached.
• The ambulance commissioning team is provided by West Suffolk on behalf of all the clinical commissioning groups
covered by the East of England Ambulance Service. West Suffolk clinical commissioning group employs the staff and
the staff are deployed to facilitate appropriate ambulance commissioning across the various clinical commissioning
groups. The performance obligation in this instance is to be available to provide this commissioning facilitation as
required by the clinical commissioning groups. West Suffolk is required to provide access to the staff to conduct
these affairs. The other clinical commissioning groups' entitlement to the provision of these services do not decrease
in the future with the current provision of said services. Work performed by employees of West Suffolk would not
have to be repeated, and overall fulfils the requirements for recognition over time.
In prior years, the below have been additional main revenue sources, but these have reduced due to changes in contracting
methods by NHS E due to Covid.
•

•

Extended Access Funding, which is income received from NHS England in relation to an audit completed on the
clinical commissioning group's extended access provisions in the form of GP+ services. It is lump sum income
receivable on completion of an audit and as such is recognised when the audit is completed satisfactorily.
The provision of transformation services for the Sustainability Transformation Partnership, relating to changes to
diabetes care and elective care. The clinical commissioning group is required to run projects in relation to the changes
in care, and the clinical commissioning group controls how these projects are completed. When the projects have
been run, the clinical commissioning group is then entitled to income covering the costs of the project, and as such
income should be recognised in line with expenditure on the projects.

Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles, at 30 days. There are no other significant terms. The
value of the benefit received when the clinical commissioning group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship
service are recognised as income in accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 20, Accounting for Government
Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider, non-cash income and a corresponding noncash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.
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The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited
to the general fund. Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received.
1.6 Employee Benefits
1.6.1
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy,
are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are
unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would
enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are
accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of
participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical
commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been
received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.

1.8
1.8.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
• It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical
commissioning group;
• It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where
the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have
simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,
• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives,
the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.

1.8.2

Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management.
Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are measured subsequently at their current value
in existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus are measured at fair value
where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at the reporting date.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different
from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing use are determined
as follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
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Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately,
as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are
brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for operational use
are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful economic lives or low values or both, as this
is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the
same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease
previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential
is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for
the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are
taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive
income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.8.3

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost
is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised
and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.9
1.9.1

Intangible Assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the
rest of the clinical commissioning group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are
recognised only:
• When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical
commissioning group;
• Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
• Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example
application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as
an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of
the following have been demonstrated:
•
•
•
•
•
•

1.9.2

The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or
use it; and,
The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Measurement
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The amount initially recognised for
internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are
initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the
period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an
active market, or, where no active market exists, at the lower of amortised replacement cost or the value in use where
the asset is income generating. Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of
increases in development costs and technological advances. Revaluations and impairments are treated in the same
manner as for property, plant and equipment.
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1.9.3

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that
reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is
the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the
asset. This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself.
Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a
prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated
useful life.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any
of its property, plant and equipment assets or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is
indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been
a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as
an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and,
thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to
expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been
no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease
previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.10

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred
to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.10.1

The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease,
at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease
obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in
calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

1.11

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more
than 24 hours.

1.12

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows.
Note that where specific increases in cash-flows are known, they have been used to give more appropriate
discounting than the nominal rates provided by HM Treasury. The CCG is aware that for many of its provisions increases
in cash flows are expected to be in line with inflation.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal
plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by
starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a
restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts
that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.
1.13

Clinical Negligence Costs
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual
contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability
remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.14

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third
Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution
to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership
contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when
they become due.

1.15

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will
be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent
liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical
commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

1.16

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument
contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are
derecognised when the contractual rights have expired, or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
• Financial assets at amortised cost;
• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and;
• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in
IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.16.1

Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved
by collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes
most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments. After initial recognition these financial assets are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset.

1.16.2

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash
flows are solely payments of principal and interest.
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not otherwise measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.

1.16.3
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1.16.4

Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (except
equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets,
the clinical commissioning group recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit losses on the financial
asset.
The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and
measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and
otherwise at an amount equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against
other government departments, their executive agencies, the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds
assets where repayment is ensured by primary legislation. The clinical commissioning group therefore does not recognise
loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. Additionally, Department of Health and Social
Care provides a guarantee of last resort against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical
commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected credit losses
at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

1.16.5

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods
or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the
liability has been paid or has expired.

1.16.6

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, except for loans from the Department of Health and Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net
carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.

1.17

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output
tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged, or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.18

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for
the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accrual’s
basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group
not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.19

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies, management is required to make
various judgements, estimates and assumptions. These are regularly reviewed.
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1.19.1

Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the
process of applying the clinical commissioning group's accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Better Care Fund:
The CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Suffolk County Council in respect of the Better
Care Fund. This is a national policy initiative and the funds involved are material in the CCG accounts. The operation is
jointly led with day to day running the operation led either by SCC or the CCG. Having reviewed the terms of the
agreement, the Department of Health and Social Care manual for accounts and the appropriate financial reporting
standards, the CCG has determined that there are two elements to the Better Care Fund and they are accounted for as
follows:
(i)
The first part is within Suffolk County Council’s remit and commissions services from various non-NHS providers.
Whilst the services are determined in partnership, the risks and rewards of the contracts remain wholly with the
council. The CCG pays various third parties for care via the council.
(ii)

The second part is within the CCG’s remit and involves the commissioning of various services from NHS and nonNHS providers. The risks and rewards of these contracts are the responsibility of the CCG, which considers itself
to be acting as a lead commissioner for those services. The CCG accounts for these costs as healthcare purchased
from NHS and non-NHS providers.
Otherwise there were no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that

management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
1.19.2

Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a
significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.
Prescription Services and Prescribing Liabilities: The CCG receives financial information from NHS Business
Services Authority relating to the cost of drugs prescribed by independent GPs, CCG run practices and other CCG
services. The total expenditure for the year includes an estimate for March, based on the estimated profile of
spend. The estimate for March 2021 is £3.9m (March 2020: £3.4m). The cash outlay for the expenditure is also
in arrears, with the estimate for remaining cash outlay being equal to the estimated unbilled prescriptions.
Secondary Healthcare: Secondary activity reports are received from providers monthly, but activity information
for the final month of the year is not available in time for the accounts, so estimates are made in agreement
with providers. A full reconciliation is undertaken once actual activity is agreed which is at the end of the first
quarter of the following year. Any increase or decrease in activity (if any) becomes a charge or credit in the next
financial year. Historically, when these estimates have been compared to the subsequent actual data, they have
not been materially different. Estimation techniques are used to ensure that the correct levels of income and
expenditure due relating to the current year are included through the inclusion of accruals based on known
commitments and local knowledge.
Partially Completed Spells: Expenditure relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the year-end
have previously been apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay at the end of the
reporting period compared to expected total length of stay. When this was the case, the CCG agreed to use the
figures calculated by the local provider Trusts. In the current year the use of partially completed spells no longer
applies due to the complete switch to block contracts across the NHS. As such, the value of the accrual as at 31
March 2021 is £NIL (31 March 2020: £1,121k)
Maternity Pathways: Prior to the mandatory use of block contracts across all providers, expenditure relating to
all ante-natal maternity care is made at the start of a pathway. As a result, at the year-end part completed
pathways were treated as a prepayment. The CCG agreed the methodology to be used for the calculation with
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the local provider Trusts. However, now block contracts are in use across all providers, this prepayment will no
longer apply. As such, the value of the prepayment as at 31 March 2021 is £NIL (31 March 2020: £990k).
Continuing Healthcare Accruals: The CCG commissions a large number of Continuing Healthcare (CHC) packages
from a variety of providers, and administers these packages using the Broadcare system. At the end of any
accounting period there will be a number of liabilities that have not been invoiced by providers, and so an accrual
is calculated to ensure that the financial ledger is consistent with the information reported on Broadcare. The
value of the accrual at 31 March 2021 is £1,445k (31 March 2020: £1,506k).
1.19.3

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued but Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations
to be applied in 2020-21. These Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for
implementation in 2022-23, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury
consideration (it is expected to be from 1 Apr 2023):
• IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2022 as adapted and interpreted by the FReM.
• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 in
non-Government accounting, but not yet adopted by the FReM: adoption is not therefore permitted.
The application of IFRS 17 as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2020-21, were they
applied in that year.
IFRS 16 is also not expected to have a material impact on the CCG’s financial statements in the period of initial
application, and an analysis of the relevant leases has been completed in order to allow assessment of the materiality of
its adoption.
IFRS 16 Leases
The CCG is required to adopt IFRS 16 Leases from 1 April 2022. The CCG has assessed the estimated impact that
initial application of IFRS 16 will have on its consolidated financial statements, as described below. The actual impacts of
adopting the standard on 1 April 2022 may change because the new accounting policies are subject to change until the
CCG presents its first financial statements that include the date of initial application.
IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-ofuse asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease
payments. There are recognition exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting
remains similar to the current standard – i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases. IFRS 16
replaces existing leases guidance, including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a
Lease.
i.

ii.

Leases in which the CCG is a lessee
The CCG will recognise new assets and liabilities for its operating leases. The nature of expenses related to those
leases will now change because the CCG will recognise a depreciation charge for right-of-use assets and interest
expense on lease liabilities. Previously, the CCG recognised operating lease expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease, and recognised assets and liabilities only to the extent that there was a timing difference
between actual lease payments and the expense recognised. The CCG does not hold any leases that it assesses
to be onerous, and as such this section of IFRS 16 will not have any impact on the CCG. These changes are not
expected to increase assets or liabilities materially. The CCG does not hold finance leases, and as such no impact
is expected.
Transition
The CCG plans to apply IFRS 16 initially on 1 April 2022, using the modified retrospective approach. Therefore,
the cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 will be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings at 1 April 2022, with no restatement of comparative information. The CCG plans to apply the practical
expedient to grandfather the definition of a lease on transition. This means that it will apply IFRS 16 to all
contracts entered into before 1 April 2022 and identified as leases in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

14

NHS West Suffolk CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
2 Other Operating Revenue

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Education, training and research
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Prescription fees and charges
Other Contract income
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Other non contract revenue
Total Other operating income
Total Operating Income

2020-21
Admin

2020-21
Programme

2020-21
Total

2019-20
Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

71
6,070
442
6,583

79
6,642
76
202
6,999

150
12,712
76
644
13,582

523
11,050
(31)
1,152
973
13,667

898
898

52
22
74

52
920
972

5
5

7,480

7,073

14,554

13,673
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3.1 Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts)

Education, training
and research
Source of Revenue
NHS
Non NHS
Total

£'000
150
150

Education, training
and research
Timing of Revenue
Point in time
Over time
Total

£'000
150
150

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000

Prescription fees
and charges
£'000

12,232
480
12,712

Non-patient care
services to other
bodies
£'000

76
76

Prescription fees
and charges
£'000

12,712
12,712

3.2 Transaction price to remaining contract performance obligations

No contract revenue is expected to be recognised in future periods related to contract performance obligations.
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76
76

Recoveries in
respect of employee
benefits
£'000
334
310
644

Recoveries in
respect of employee
benefits
£'000
644
644
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2020-21

2019-20

Total
£'000

Total
£'000

12,316
1,240
2,233
52
128
15,969

11,337
1,189
2,219
50
490
15,285

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

(644)
15,325

(973)
14,312

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

15,325

14,312

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits

2020-21
Total
£'000

Employee Benefits - Revenue
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits

(522)
(54)
(68)
(644)

17

2019-20
Total
£'000
(712)
(169)
(92)
(973)
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4.2 Average number of people employed

2020-21

Permanently
employed
Number
Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people engaged on capital
projects

Other
Number

2019-20

Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

226.19

25.71

251.90

231.64

18.17

249.81

-

-

-

-

-

-

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

£25,001 to £50,000
Total

2020-21
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
1
25,833
1
25,833

2020-21
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

£10,001 to £25,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Total

2019-20
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
1
21,739
2
155,329
1
139,144
1
161,091
5
477,303

2019-20
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

-

-

Number

Number

2020-21
Total
1
1
2019-20
Total
1
2
1
1
5

£

25,833
25,833

£

21,739
155,329
139,144
161,091
477,303

Note: 1 exit package was agreed in 2020-21 for £25,833. This member was not part of the MDT team and the cost will be solely in relation to West Suffolk CCG.
Note 2: North East Essex CCG agreed 2 exit packages totalling £361k in 202-21 which related to Management Delivery Team members who were performing a shared role split between North
East Essex CCG, West Suffolk CCG and Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG. Due to the fact the individuals held a contract of employment with North East Essex CCG, the exit packages were paid
in full through them as the host organisation. Therefore, the full amount of the exit packages are shown in the North East Essex CCG accounts with income from West Suffolk CCG & Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG being accounted for as 'Non-patient care services to other bodies'. West Suffolk CCG & Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG were charged 26.1% and 40.2% respectively of
the total settlement paid by North East Essex CCG. This equated to £94k and £145k being accounted for by West Suffolk CCG & Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG respectively as 'Services from
other CCGs and NHS England' (see Note 5).
Note for 2019-20, 5 of the 6 exit packages agreed totalling £462k related to the Management Delivery Team members who were performing shared roles split between West Suffolk CCG and
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCGs. Due to the fact that West Suffok CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team, the exit package was paid in full through the host organisation. Therefore the full
amount of the exit package is shown above with income from Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG being accounted for as 'Non-patient care services to other bodies' (see note 2). The income from
Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG equated to 60.6% of the total settlement, therefore £279,876. Note also that the exit package in excess of £160,000 includes employer NI payable as the exit
package payment will be made after the end of the year. The exit package itself is <£160,000. One exit package is solely in relation to West Suffolk CCG, totalling £27,951.
* As a single exit package can be made up of several components each of which will be counted seperately in this table, the total number will not necessarily match the total number in the table
above, which will be the number of individuals.
These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full in a previous
period. Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the Agenda for Change terms and conditions. Exit costs are accounted for in accordance
with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.
Where NHS West Suffolk CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by West Suffolk CCG and not by the NHS Pension Scheme, and are included in the tables. Ill-health
retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme and are not included in the tables. The Remeuneration Report includes the disclosure of exit payments payable to individuals named in
that report.
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4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules
of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of
the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.38% to 20.68% from 1st April 2019. From 2019/20 onwards, NHS
CCGs have continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the additional amount being paid by NHS England on CCGs
behalf. The full cost and related funding has been recognised in these accounts.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows
4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2021, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2020, updated to 31 March
2021 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS
19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual
NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can
also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account
recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation
set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.68% of pensionable pay. The 2016 funding valuation was also expected
to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that was set following the 2012 valuation. In January 2019, the
Government announced a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits
caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud case.
The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been lifted, and so the cost control element of the 2016
valuations could be completed. The Government has set out that the costs of remedy of the discrimination will be included in this
process. HMT valuation directions will set out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy will be included in the valuation process.
The Government has also confirmed that the Government Actuary is reviewing the cost control mechanism (as was originally announced
in 2018). The review will assess whether the cost control mechanism is working in line with original government objectives and reported
to Government in April 2021. The findings of this review will not impact the 2016 valuations, with the aim for any changes to the cost cap
mechanism to be made in time for the completion of the 2020 actuarial valuations.

19

NHS West Suffolk CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
5. Operating expenses

2020-21
Total
£'000

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from Other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS (N1)
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Other services
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Total Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Amortisation
Total Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Change in discount rate
Provisions
Total Provision expense
Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Clinical negligence
Expected credit loss on receivables
Total Other Operating Expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2019-20
Total
£'000

1,934
263,320
11,230
32
56,158
43,540
117
43,287
25
143
3,244
1
1,276
57

817
237,764
13,037
43,985
40,251
180
40,566
426
209
2,985
5
1,181
66

35
126
38
93
424,656

164
(27)
290
381,899

474
23
497

182
23
205

1,912
1,912

(335)
(335)

391
13
404

378
10
(1)
387

427,469

382,156

N1 - GMS (General Medical Services), APMS (Alternative Provider Medical Services), PCTMS (Primary Care Trust Medical Services).
5.1 Limitation on Auditors' liability
The limitation of the auditors' liability for external audit work is £1m.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

2020-21
Number

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
Number

11,524
11,105
96.36%

114,310
111,173
97.26%

11,220
10,836
96.58%

103,736
101,292
97.64%

856
796
92.99%

285,844
282,194
98.72%

2,435
2,388
98.07%

255,249
254,701
99.79%

The number of NHS invoices paid during the year has decreased due to changes to the NHS financial regime as a result of Covid-19.
6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
There were no late payments made of commercial debts in 2020-21 (2019-20: NIL)
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
Lease payments are for the offices of the CCG and the management delivery team which serves both Ipswich and East Suffolk and West Suffolk CCGs.

7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total
7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Buildings
£'000

2020-21
Other
£'000

293
293

Buildings
£'000
120
369
118
607

Total
£'000
16
16

2020-21
Other
£'000

Buildings
£'000
309
309

Total
£'000
-

300
300

Buildings
£'000
120
369
118
607

2019-20
Other
£'000

120
393
193
706

Total
£'000
66
66

2019-20
Other
£'000

366
366

Total
£'000
2
2

122
393
193
708

West Suffolk CCG hosts the Management Delivery Team that provides management support to both West Suffolk CCG, NHS North East Essex CCG and Ipswich
and East Suffolk CCG. The cost of the Management Delivery Team includes lease costs, and is shared between both CCGs in the following proportion (to 1 decimal
place):
- Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG 40.2%
- North East Essex CCG 33.8%
- West Suffolk CCG 26.1%
The recharges between the three bodies is shown as gross in each CCG's set of accounts i.e. it is not netted off against the lease expenditure but shown as income
or expenditure with each other.
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8. Property, plant and equipment

Information
technology
£'000
738

Furniture &
fittings
£'000
363

Total
£'000
1,101

Reclassifications
Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2021

(91)
647

363

(91)
1,010

Depreciation 01 April 2020

451

176

627

Reclassifications
Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2021

(91)
287
647

187
363

(91)
474
1,010

-

-

-

2020-21
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2020

Net Book Value at 31 March 2021

8.1 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:

Information technology
Furniture & fittings
Total
8.2 Economic lives
Information technology
Furniture & fittings

2020-21
£'000

2019-20
£'000

Minimum Life
(years)
2
5

Maximum Life
(Years)
5
15

738
363
1,101

23
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9. Intangible non-current assets

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2020

Computer
Software:
Purchased
£'000
90

Reclassifications
Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2021

91
181

91
181

67

67

91
23
181

91
23
181

-

-

2020-21

Amortisation 01 April 2020
Reclassifications
Charged during the year
Amortisation At 31 March 2021
Net Book Value at 31 March 2021

Total
£'000

90

9.1 Cost or valuation of fully amortised assets
The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:
Computer software: purchased
Total
9.2 Economic lives

2020-21
£'000
181
181

Minimum Life
(years)
3

Computer software: purchased
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10.1 Trade and other receivables

Current
31 Mar 21
£'000

Current
31 Mar 20
£'000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total Trade & other receivables

6,975
364
473
3
(1)
3
4
7,821

4,974
992
357
259
(1)
15
16
6,612

Total current and non current

7,821

6,612

10.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

31 Mar 21

31 Mar 21

31 Mar 20

DHSC Group
Bodies

Non DHSC Group
Bodies

DHSC Group
Bodies

£'000

£'000

762
13
41
816

Trade and other
receivables - Non
DHSC Group
Bodies
£'000
(1)
(1)

10.3 Loss allowance on asset classes
Balance at 01 April 2020
Total

25

61
2
63

Other financial
assets
£'000

£'000
3,073
10
3,083

Total

-

£'000

(1)
(1)

31 Mar 20
Non DHSC
Group
Bodies
£'000
51
17
3
71
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11. Cash and cash equivalents
2020-21
£'000
388
(92)
296

2019-20
£'000
160
228
388

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

296
296

388
388

Balance at 31 March 2021

296

388

Balance at 01 April 2020
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2021

No Patients' money is held by the Clincial Commissioning Group (2019-20: NIL)
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12. Trade and other payables

Current
31 Mar 21
£'000

Current
31 Mar 20
£'000

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
NHS deferred income
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables

3,010
2,844
480
4,101
22,128
77
217
176
955
33,988

4,978
1,121
1,433
24,856
196
196
780
33,560

Total current and non-current

33,988

33,560
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13. Provisions

Current
2020-21
£'000
103
877
945
1,925

Redundancy
Continuing care
Other
Total
Total current and non-current

Non-current
2020-21
£'000
2
1,290
1,292

3,217

Redundancy
£'000
Balance at 01 April 2020
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2021
Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31 March 2021

Current
2019-20
£'000
323
314
195
832

Non-current
2019-20
£'000

2
447
449

1,281

Continuing
Care
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

323

316

642

1,281

120
(250)
(90)
103

491
261
(189)
879

1,622
(29)
2,235

2,233
11
(308)
3,217

103
103

877
2
879

945
668
622
2,235

1,925
670
622
3,217

The continuing care provision consists of the likely costs associated with appeals as at 31 March 2021 and the likely costs
associated with a backlog of cases that relate to retrospective periods of care. The provision has been calculated on a case by
case basis using both average weekly costs and conversion rates. Additionally, increased rates of retrospective claims are
expected as a result of the emergency response to the pandemic and CHC assessments & appeals being paused for the first half
of the year.
Provisions that make up "Other" include provision for increased costs in relation to issues with provider sustainability, increased
costs as a result of a constructive obligation in relation to premises and a provision for an onerous contract covering future void
payments for unoccupied areas of Sudbury Community Health Centre.
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14. Financial instruments
14.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.
Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the
financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and
financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical
commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical
commissioning group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the
NHS clinical commissioning group and internal auditors.
14.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning
group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
14.1.2 Interest rate risk
The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England.
The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
14.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes as parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning
group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers.
14.1.4 Liquidity risk
The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.
The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical commissioning group is
not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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14. Financial instruments cont'd
14.2 Financial assets
Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
31 Mar 21
£'000
Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March 2021

5,102
1,875
368
296
7,641

Total
31 Mar 21
£'000
5,102
1,875
368
296
7,641

Total
31 Mar 20
£'000
4,228
897
223
388
5,736

14.3 Financial liabilities
Financial Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
31 Mar 21
£'000
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Total at 31 March 2021

2,184
10,640
20,213
33,037
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Total
31 Mar 21
£'000
2,184
10,640
20,213
33,037

Total
31 Mar 20
£'000
554
11,965
20,648
33,167
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15. Operating segments

CCG
Total

Gross
expenditure
£'000
443,438
443,438

Income
£'000
(14,554)
(14,554)

Net expenditure
£'000
428,884
428,884

Total assets
£'000

8,117
8,117

Total liabilities
£'000
(37,205)
(37,205)

Net assets
£'000
(29,088)
(29,088)

15.1 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoCNE

Total net expenditure reported for operating segments
Reconciling items:
Total net expenditure per the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure

2020-21
£'000
428,884
428,884

15.2 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoFP

Total assets reported for operating segments
Reconciling items:
Total assets per Statement of Financial Position

Total liabilities reported for operating segments
Reconciling items:
Total liabilities per Statement of Financial Position

2020-21
£'000
8,117
8,117
2020-21
£'000
(37,205)
(37,205)

The Clinical Commissioning Group considers it has only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services. The Clinical Commissioning Group has income Totalling £14,554k from external customers.
Only two customers generated income greater than 10% of the total sum - NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG (£10,585k) and NHS North East Essex CCG (£2,167k). The majority of this income is derived
from the hosting of the joint management delivery team.
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16. Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations

16.1 Interests in joint operations

Amounts recognised in
Entities books ONLY
2020-21

Name of arrangement

Parties to the
arrangement

Mental Health Pooled Fund

Suffolk County
Council

Better Care Fund

Suffolk County
Council

Description of
principal
activities
Purchase of
mental health
services
Jointly
commission or
deliver health and
social care
services

2019-20

Expenditure

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

397

389

16,776

15,914

16.2 Mental Health Pooled Fund
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled funding agreement under section 75 of the NHS
Act 2006, in which the Clinical Commissioning Group made a total contribution of £397k in 2020-21 (2019-20 £389k).
The pool is hosted by Suffolk County Council. As a commissioner of healthcare services, the Clinical
Commissioning Group makes contributions to the pool, which is then used to purchase Mental Health Services.
The memorandum account produced by Suffolk County Council shows total income of £3,142,002 (2019-20
£3,080,394) and total expenditure of £3,144,791 (2019-20 £2,993,715). This leaves deficit of £2,789 (2019-20:
£86,679) as at 31 March 2021. The CCG's share of this deficit is £353 (2019-20, £10,946)
16.3 Better Care Fund
From 1 April 2015, the Clinical Commissioning Group entered into a section 75 pooled fund arrangement with
Suffolk County Council for the Better Care Fund, The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a policy initiative between local
authorities, CCGs and NHS providers which has resulted in pooled funds being used to jointly commission of
deliver health and social care, Suffolk County Council act as the Host Partner for the Pooled fund and provides
the financial management for the fund.
Strategic oversight of the Better Care Fund is provided by the Health and Wellbeing board. The Clinical
Commissioning Group and Suffolk County Council have agreed that the already established Suffolk
Commissioners' Group should act as the Partnership Board for the fund. The Partnership Board is responsible
for the overall approval of the individual schemes, ensuring compliance with the Better Care Fund Plan and the
strategic direction of the Better Care Fund
Each partner to the Better Care Fund manages the contracts with their own providers of Better Care Fund
services and each partner retains any financial risk relating to those contracts. The Clinical Commissioning
Group made a total Better Care Fund contribution of £16.776m in 2020-21 (2019-20 - £15.914m), this consisted
of direct contributions to the pooled fund totalling £5.995m in the year (2019-20 - £5.687m) with the balance
spent on a lead commissioning basis by the CCG.
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17. Related party transactions
West Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of eight GPs from across our three localities; one secondary care lead; two lay members responsible for patient and
public engagement, governance and conflicts of interest, and a third general lay member and seven chief officers. Each GP on the Governing Body is either a partner or
salaried GP of a Practice that supply general or personal medical services commissioned by the CCG. The value of transactions with these Practices is set out in the
table below and largely consists of payments for local enhanced services supplied under contract, Prescribing Incentive scheme payments and other payments for
specific contracts. Note that personal payments to governing body members are disclosed in the remuneration report within the annual report.
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

2020/21
Receipts Amounts Amounts
Payments to
from owed to due from
Related Party Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party

GP Governing Body Members
Name of Related Party
Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice
Dr Firas Watfeh - Partner - Haverhill Family Practice
Dr Barham Talebpour - Partner - Hardwicke House Group Practice
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Godfrey Reynolds - GP - Market Cross Surgery
Dr Victoria Wilson - GP - Woolpit Surgery

£000
51
72
100
68
123

£000
-

£000
11
29
50
23
35

£000
19
-

Payments to
Related Party
in respect of
Provision of
Primary Care
£000
1,500
2,265
3,989
1,658
2,622

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year West Suffolk CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250,000 are listed below:2020/21 Entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250k
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
East Of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust
Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
Mid and South Essex NHS Foundation Trust
NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG
NHS North & East London Commissioning Support Unit
NHS North East Essex
NHS Property Services
NHS West Essex CCG
Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk & Suffolk Foundation Trust
Royal Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
West Suffolk Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
In addition, West Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of
these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.
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17. Related party transactions (2019-20)
West Suffolk CCG has a governing body consisting of eight GPs from across five localities (currently 2 vacant GP posts); one secondary care lead
(currently vacant); two lay members responsible for patient and public engagement, governance and conflicts of interest, and a third general lay
member and seven chief officers. Each GP on the Governing Body is either a partner or salaried GP of a Practice that supply general or personal
medical services commissioned by the CCG. The value of transactions with these Practices is set out in the table below and largely consists of
payments for local enhanced services supplied under contract, Prescribing Incentive scheme payments and other payments for specific contracts.
Note that personal payments to governing body members are disclosed in the remuneration report within the annual report.
2019/20
Receipts Amounts
Payments to
from owed to
Related Party Related Related
Party
Party

GP Governing Body Members

£000
32
48
82
23
33
99

Name of Related Party
Dr Christopher Browning - Partner - Long Melford Practice
Dr Firas Watfeh - Partner - Haverhill Family Practice
Dr Barham Talebpour - Partner - Hardwicke House Group Practice
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Godfrey Reynolds - GP - Market Cross Surgery
Dr Victoria Wilson - GP - Woolpit Surgery
Dr Andrew Yager - GP - Botesdale

£000
-

£000
34
24
12
14
-

Payments to
Amounts
Related Party in
due from
respect of
Related
Provision of
Party
Primary Care
£000
-

£000
1,469
1,933
3,714
1,624
2,319
1,577

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year West Suffolk CCG has had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded
£250,000 are listed below:2019/20 Entities with whom the value of transactions exceeded £250k
Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
East Of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust
Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
Health Education England
Mid Essex Hospital Services NHS Trust
NHS England
NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG
NHS North & East London Commissioning Support Unit
NHS North East Essex
NHS Property Services
NHS West Essex CCG
Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Norfolk & Suffolk Foundation Trust
Norfolk Community & Care NHS Trust
Royal Papworth Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
University College London NHS Foundation Trust
West Suffolk Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
In addition, West Suffolk CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government
bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Suffolk County Council.

34

NHS West Suffolk CCG - Annual Accounts 2020-21
18. Events after the end of the reporting period
There have been no reportable events following the end of the reporting period (2019-20 - NIL).
19. Losses and Special Payments
19.1 Losses
No losses were made in 2019-20 or 2020-21

19.2 Special Payments
No Special Payments were made in 2019-20 or 2020-21
20. Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:
2020-21
Target
445,477
430,923
5,672

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
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2020-21
Performance
443,439
428,884
5,396

2019-20
Target
398,669
384,996
6,269

2019-20
Performance
397,441
383,768
5,723

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF NHS WEST
SUFFOLK CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group (the
CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2021, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity,
the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as interpreted
and adapted by the 2020-21 Government Financial Reporting Manual as contained in the
Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual 2020-21.
In our opinion the financial statements:




give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS West Suffolk CCG as at 31 March 2021
and of its net expenditure for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care’s
Group Accounting Manual 2020-21; and
have been prepared in accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006.

Basis for opinion on financial statements
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Accountable Officer’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the CCG’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the
financial statements are authorised for issue. Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the
Accountable Officer with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report.
Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
Basis for opinion on regularity
We carried out our work on regularity in accordance with Practice Note 10 (Revised 2020) issued by
the Public Audit Forum. Our responsibilities in this respect are further described in the Auditor’s
other responsibilities section of our report. We believe the evidence obtained from this work, in
conjunction with the evidence we have obtained in our audit of the financial statements, is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on regularity.
Opinion on information in the Remuneration and Staff Report
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is described in
that report as subject to audit.
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual
2020-21.
Report on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the
use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception
We are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year
ended 31 March 2021.
We have not completed our work on the CCG’s arrangements. On the basis of our work to date, having
regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021, we have not
identified any significant weaknesses in arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2021.
We will report the outcome of our work on the CCG’s arrangements in our commentary on those
arrangements within the Auditor’s Annual Report. Our audit completion certificate will set out any
matters which we are required to report by exception.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of the CCG’s resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy
ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources, and to report where we have not been able to satisfy ourselves
that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects
of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
are operating effectively.

We have undertaken our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021.
Other matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following other matters which the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 requires us to report to you if:






in our opinion the Governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued by NHS
England; or
we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the
CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action
which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency;
or
we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014; or
we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable
Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the CCG’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the CCG has been informed of an intention
to dissolve the CCG without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity.
As explained in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is
also responsible for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable and for ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
In respect of our audit of the financial statements our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
Extent to which the audit was capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We
design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below:

Our procedures included the following:
 inquiring of management, the CCG’s head of internal audit, the CCG’s Local Counter Fraud
Specialist and those charged with governance, including obtaining and reviewing supporting
documentation in respect of the CCG’s policies and procedures relating to:
o identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they
were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of
any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; and
o the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud or noncompliance with laws and regulations including the CCG’s controls relating to
Managing Public Money requirements;
 discussing among the engagement team and involving relevant internal and or external
specialists, including specialist expertise to support our testing of IT General Controls
regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential
indicators of fraud. As part of this discussion, we identified potential for fraud in the
following areas: revenue recognition, expenditure recognition, posting of unusual journals,
use of management estimates and judgements and classification of non-NHS expenditure as
COVID-19 related; and
 obtaining an understanding of the CCG’s framework of authority as well as other legal and
regulatory frameworks that the CCG operates within, focusing on those laws and regulations
that had a direct effect on the financial statements or that had a fundamental effect on the
operations of the CCG. The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included
the National Health Service Act 2006, as amended by Section 27 of the Health and Social Care
Act 2012, whereby the CCG must ensure that its revenue resource allocation in any financial
year does not exceed the amount specified by NHS England.
In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to identified risks included the following:
 reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to
assess compliance with relevant laws and regulations discussed above;
 enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and in-house legal counsel concerning actual
and potential litigation and claims;
 reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and the Governing Body;
 in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the
appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements
made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the
business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal
course of business; and
 testing a sample of expenditure classified as COVID-19 related to ensure it was correctly
classified as such and validly claimable under the funding regime for 2020/21.
We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all
engagement team members including internal specialists and remained alert to any indications of
fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements, recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate
concealment by, for example, forgery, misrepresentations or through collusion. There are inherent
limitations in the audit procedures performed and the further removed non-compliance with laws
and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less
likely we are to become aware of it.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Auditor’s other responsibilities
In addition to our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial statements conform to
the authorities which govern them.
We are also required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be
satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources.
As set out in the Matters on which we report by exception section of our report there are certain
other matters which we are required to report by exception.
Certificate - delay in completion of the audit
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for NHS West Suffolk CCG for
the year ended 31 March 2021 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed our work on the
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS West Suffolk CCG, as a
body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in
paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by the
National Audit Office in April 2015.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the CCG and the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work,
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Lisa Blake
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Ipswich, UK
23 June 2021
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number
OC305127).

NHS NORTH EAST ESSEX CCG,
NHS IPSWICH & EAST SUFFOLK CCG,
NHS WEST SUFFOLK CCG
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This Auditor’s Annual Report provides a summary of the key issues arising from our audit of NHS North East Essex CCG, NHS Ipswich & East
Suffolk CCG and NHS West Suffolk CCG (‘the CCGs’) for the year ended 31 March 2021.
Area
Financial statements
We issued an unqualified opinion on all three CCGs’ financial statements.
This means that we consider that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position and net expenditure for the year.
Regularity
We did not identify any matters where irregular expenditure had been incurred.
Value for money
We have not identified any significant weaknesses in respect of the CCGs’ arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of CCG resources; having regard to the specified criteria
in the Code.
Other reporting
We did not consider it necessary to use our auditor powers or report on other matters.

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which we are required to report under the NAO Code of Audit Practice (April 2020). In preparing this report we do not accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person.
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PURPOSE AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Purpose of the Annual Audit Letter

Responsibilities of auditors

This Auditor’s Annual Report summarises the key issues arising from
the work that we have carried out in respect of the year ended 31
March 2021.

Our responsibility is to plan and carry out an audit that meets the
requirements of the National Audit Office’s (NAO’s) Code of Audit
Practice – April 2020 (the ‘Code’).

It is addressed to the CCGs but is also intended to communicate the
key findings we have identified to key external stakeholders and
members of the public.

Under the Code, for each CCG, we are required to review and report
on:
•

It is the responsibility of the CCGs to ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for the conduct of their business and that
public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for.

Whether the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the CCG and of its income and expenditure for
the year and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
relevant legislation

•

The CCGs are also each responsible for preparing and publishing its
financial statements, annual report and governance statement.

Whether the other information published together with the
financial statements is consistent with the financial statements

•

Whether the auditable parts of the remuneration and staff report
are properly prepared

•

Whether the governance statement complies with the guidance
issued

•

Whether financial transactions and resources authorised by
Parliament have been used for the purposes for which it was
provided

•

Whether the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources

•

Where appropriate, make statutory recommendations, referral
matters to the Secretary of State or issue a Public Interest Report.

Responsibilities of the CCGs
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Audit conclusion

Audit differences

We issued an unqualified audit opinion on the financial statements of
all three CCGs.

For NHS West Suffolk (WS) CCG the audit identified misstatements
that were corrected by management resulting in decrease of net
expenditure for the year by £2.035 million.

This means that we consider that the financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position and net expenditure for
the year.

There were also unadjusted audit differences identified by our audit
which, if corrected, would have the following effect:

We reported our detailed findings to the Audit Committee in
common on 7 June 2021.

•

NHS North East Essex (NEE) CCG: decrease net expenditure for the
year by £4.989 million. (Materiality: £10,190k)

Significant deficiencies in controls

•

We did not identify any significant control deficiencies during the
audit of the financial statements of the CCGs.

NHS Ipswich & East Suffolk (IES) CCG: decrease net expenditure for
the year by £4.097 million. (Materiality: £9,500k)

•

WS CCG: decrease net expenditure for the year by £3.931 million.
(Materiality: £6,700k)

We reported these audit differences to Those Charged with
Governance and the Audit Committee confirmed that as the impact
was not material, the final published financial statements would not
require amendment.
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VALUE FOR MONEY

Scope

Funding and contracting arrangements for 2020/21

We are required to review and report on each of the CCGs’
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
its use of resources. Where we identify significant weaknesses in
these arrangements we are required to report these in the auditor’s
report included in the financial statements, and to make
recommendations for improvement in the Auditor’s Annual Report.

Our work has been performed in the context of guidance issued by
NHS England/Improvement (NHSE/I) in response to Covid-19 and the
suspension of normal Payment by Results contracting.

Specified criteria
The National Audit Office (NAO) has issued guidance for auditors to
report against three specified reporting criteria:
•

Financial sustainability - planning and managing resources to
ensure the CCG can continue to deliver its services

•

Governance - informed decisions and properly managing risks

•

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness – using
information about costs and performance to improve the way the
CCG manages and delivers its services.

The NAO guidance also includes a number of further areas for review
within each criteria to allow the auditor to assess those
arrangements.
Risk assessment
Our risk assessment did not identify any areas of potential significant
weaknesses.

For the first six months, NHS providers moved to block allocations and
funding top-ups from CCGs and NHSE/I were made to cover costs. For
the second six months, Integrated Care System areas received an
overall funding envelope based on payments for the first half of the
year that was distributed across commissioners and providers. This
arrangement was designed to enable all commissioners and providers
to break-even.
Funding and budgeting for 2021/22 is again based on system funding
envelopes.
As a result normal financial planning arrangements, savings and
efficiency requirements, and performance monitoring arrangements
were suspended.
Audit conclusion
We have not identified any significant weaknesses in the three CCGs’
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
their use of resources.
We had no matters to report by exception in the audit report on the
financial statements. We also have no matters to report in our closing
audit certificate on completion of our work on the CCG’s value for
money arrangements.
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VALUE FOR MONEY
Financial sustainability – planning and managing resources

Areas reviewed:

Auditor’s commentary on arrangements

 How significant financial
pressures relevant to short
and medium-term plans
identified and built into
plans

All three CCGs arrangements for 2020/21 were assessed in the context of changes to the NHS financial framework as
part of the coronavirus pandemic response. Transaction flows were simplified in the NHS and the CCGs moved onto
block contract payments to providers at the start of 2020/21. In the second half of the year, a revised financial
framework was introduced, which built on these arrangements, but with a greater focus on system partnership.

 Plans to bridge funding gaps
and to identify achievable
savings
 Whether financial plans
support the sustainable
delivery of services in
accordance with strategic
and statutory priorities
 The consistency of financial
plans with other plans such
as workforce, capital,
investment, and other
operational planning which
may include working with
other local public bodies as
part of a wider system
 Identification and
management of risks to
financial resilience e.g.
unplanned changes in
demand, including challenge
of the assumptions
underlying its plans.

A centrally issued allocation was received by each CCG up to month six, with retrospective top-ups for Covid-19 and
other non-recurrent costs to fully fund all costs up to month six. At month seven, NHSE issued an overall system
allocated based on the rate of expenditure at month five. This allocation was to meet all costs for the CCGs and
providers, including any Covid-19 response and recovery costs for months seven to 12. The retrospective top-up
allocations for months one to six ceased. All three CCGs met their financial targets in 2020/21.
All three CCGs had the arrangements we would expect to see to enable them to plan and manage their resources in
order for them to continue to deliver their services. Overall review of all three CCGs arrangements confirmed the
assumptions, cost pressures identified and information used was appropriate and in line with our expectations for such
organisations.
How the body ensures that it identifies all the significant financial pressures that are relevant to its short and
medium-term plans and builds these into them
In previous years, the CCGs set and achieved balanced financial plans. For 2020/21 the CCGs had set balanced plans,
although this required the achievement of QIPP targets. The plans were aligned with the Integrated Care System (ICS)/
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) plans and followed their Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).
All three CCGs had set their operating plans in line with NHSE guidance. However, continual review and updating of
the budgets for 2020/21 were put on hold due to Covid-19 and the guidance issued on 28 March 2020 “Reducing the
burden and releasing capacity at NHS providers and commissioners to manage the Covid-19 pandemic”. All three CCGs
have commenced their financial planning for 2021/22 in line with NHSE guidelines, although it is currently unclear if
this is required.
Each CCG sets an annual budget which is created by taking the prior year actual position as a starting point and
adjusting for expected changes. As part of this process, each CCG identifies financial cost pressures and/or potential
risks to the financial position in the short and medium term. In addition, when planning occurs management consider
the potential costs at a system /department level, with each element feeding into the wider organisation’s plan.
Planning typically consists of smaller financial plans which accompany activity plans that are used alongside
trajectories and performance standards (such as the mental health plan) and these feed into the final budget / plan
created by management and sent to relevant committees such as the Finance Committee for review and approval.
This also ensures there is consistency across the ICS, and alignment of workforce, activity and finances. This process
is facilitated by discussions with staff across the organisation who feed into these at each stage and the plans are
shared with respective committees for review.
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VALUE FOR MONEY
Financial sustainability – planning and managing resources

Areas reviewed:

How the body plans to bridge its funding gaps and identifies achievable savings

 How significant financial
pressures relevant to short
and medium-term plans
identified and built into
plans

Management prepare a “Finance report” on a monthly basis. This monitors performance against budget for each
month as well as for the year to date, with a review of the actual position against budget performed in respect of
costs and income. This also details the achievement of QIPP savings to date, as well as a general overview of the cash
and debt for the month and year to date. This report was presented to the Governing Body each month, where the
minutes confirmed that the Governing Body discussed and challenged the contents of these reports. The discussions
covered the key risks and challenges being faced to meet the budget requirements.

 Plans to bridge funding gaps
and to identify achievable
savings

Usually monthly budget reports are circulated to budget managers by the management accounting team shortly after
the month end closedown. These reports pull together information from across the CCGs into a clear, single report
which contains narrative on variances and commences the dialogue with budget managers. Our review confirmed the
CCGs undertake annual budget setting processes which flow from the detailed financial plans. Discussions which take
place during the planning round to inform the individual budgets which are devolved within the CCGs, with individual
budget holders being involved in the detailed budget work. Review of the process confirmed that this has been an
effective approach in the past, although we note due to Covid-19 2020/21 was an exceptional year.

 Whether financial plans
support the sustainable
delivery of services in
accordance with strategic
and statutory priorities
 The consistency of financial
plans with other plans such
as workforce, capital,
investment, and other
operational planning which
may include working with
other local public bodies as
part of a wider system
 Identification and
management of risks to
financial resilience e.g.
unplanned changes in
demand, including challenge
of the assumptions
underlying its plans.

Our review of financial plans prepared by each CCG and discussions with both senior management at each CCG and
review of papers and minutes confirmed that all three CCGs prepare realistic budgets based on relevant information
such as growth trends, inflation assumptions and calculations of investments required to achieve national targets.
The implementation of the financial regime, in particular the revised block funding to acute providers, meant that
savings were difficult to achieve and the QIPP achievement ceased to be monitored by the CCGs, as it was no longer
required in the new regime and therefore of limited relevance for the year. In a usual year, the QIPP schemes would
ensure that any funding gaps had been bridged, hence for the purposes of consistency the CCGs have proposed a
budget for 2021/22 and included a nominal QIPP savings target. However with the uncertain requirement for this
savings this was completed for budget purposes using previous trends. Other factors have also been considered such as
non recurrent expenditure including, Covid-19 impact, system top ups, inflation and activity growth based on national
assumptions. When creating the budgets each CCG has completed its usual process for consistency (even though it may
not be required). The process has included the assumptions previously used such as the inclusion of non-recurrent
allocation and growth funding based on the CCG population. This demonstrates, and our review of documentation
confirmed, that although the funding regime is currently different, there were still processes in place that the CCGs
followed to ensure effective monitoring.
It is currently unclear whether and to what extent control totals and savings targets will be re-introduced for the
remainder of 2021/22. The CCGs remain under a funding regime consistent with months seven to 12 of 2020/21 as at
the date of this report, with an expectation that this top-up funding will remain in place for at least the first six
months of 2021/22.
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VALUE FOR MONEY
Financial sustainability – planning and managing resources

Areas reviewed:
 How significant financial
pressures relevant to short
and medium-term plans
identified and built into
plans

How the body plans finances to support the sustainable delivery of services in accordance with strategic and
statutory priorities
The Covid-19 pandemic radically changed the requirements and demands of population that each of the CCGs operate
in, and the CCGs had to urgently put in place measures to respond to that need. The financial regime mandated by
NHS England was implemented by all three CCGs in response to the rapidly changing priorities that emerged as the
pandemic developed.

 Plans to bridge funding gaps
and to identify achievable
savings

Standard contracting arrangements between commissioners and providers was suspended. All expenditure in the first
six months of the year was fully funded. With the implementation of system wide funding in the second half of the
year, decisions about how this funding was to be allocated within the system were made locally by commissioners and
providers.

 Whether financial plans
support the sustainable
delivery of services in
accordance with strategic
and statutory priorities

Covid-19 reimbursement funding was also available during months one to six of the 2020/21 financial year. The
purpose of this funding was to ensure that each of the CCG’s income equalled its expenditure during this period.
Information about the additional costs arising as a result of these activities was submitted to NHSE who then validated
the details and performed a sense check over the funding. The tight monitoring of Covid-19 related spend has allowed
the CCGs to claim the additional top up funding to recover the cost in the first half of the year.

 The consistency of financial
plans with other plans such
as workforce, capital,
investment, and other
operational planning which
may include working with
other local public bodies as
part of a wider system
 Identification and
management of risks to
financial resilience e.g.
unplanned changes in
demand, including challenge
of the assumptions
underlying its plans.

Whilst the second half of the year moved to a system allocation, the services were still distorted by the additional
demands of the Covid-19 response. However, the CCGs and the ICS have continued to monitor national and local
targets and are now looking towards the reduction of elective backlog with restorative and recovery planning to move
towards the achievement of targets. As part of its planning, the CCGs allocated funds to ensure delivery of
investment to the national priorities including investment in Mental Health and primary care.
Covid-19 related challenges faced by the CCGs are similar to those currently facing all health sector entities in the
country. We note that these issues have been taken regularly to the Governing Body and other committee meetings,
with detailed action plans observed to be in place, including the monitoring of progress against these plans. This
evidences that arrangements are in place to ensure proper use of resources in the face of these challenges.
Finally, the CCGs recognise the ongoing risk of financial pressures within their Governing Body Assurance Frameworks
(GBAFs: the CCGs’ risk management frameworks) and there are clear action plans, monitoring officers designated and
monitoring of these pressures to mitigate the risk where possible and reduce it to an acceptable level.
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VALUE FOR MONEY
Financial sustainability – planning and managing resources

Areas reviewed:
 How significant financial
pressures relevant to short
and medium-term plans
identified and built into
plans
 Plans to bridge funding gaps
and to identify achievable
savings
 Whether financial plans
support the sustainable
delivery of services in
accordance with strategic
and statutory priorities
 The consistency of financial
plans with other plans such
as workforce, capital,
investment, and other
operational planning which
may include working with
other local public bodies as
part of a wider system
 Identification and
management of risks to
financial resilience e.g.
unplanned changes in
demand, including challenge
of the assumptions
underlying its plans.

How the body ensures that its financial plan is consistent with other plans such as workforce, capital,
investment, and other operational planning which may include working with other local public bodies as part of
a wider system
Throughout 2020/21, the CCGs were being fully reimbursed for expenditure incurred, and the main risk discussed at the
Governing Body meetings throughout the year was whether this funding regime would continue for the whole year.
Once it became clear that this was the case, the focus of the budgeting process and discussions was with respect to the
2021/22 year.
Each CCG’s own financial plan sits within the ICS plan, which was produced following national guidance and includes;
finance, workforce, activity and capital. The ICS plan was agreed by the ICS Director of Finance and all individual
organisations in the system. This was completed by the 15 June 2021 deadline, which demonstrated an effective
process.
Each CCG has a clear understanding of their objectives and financial plans for the ICS, with the Accountable Officer for
each of the CCGs being the Accountable Officer for the ICS, and regular meetings taking place between the systems
Finance Directors and Chief Finance Officers.
The CCGs have participated in the monitoring of the ICS position with regular updates of the system position being
reported to the ICS systems group and the bi-monthly ICS Partnership Board.
How the body identified and manages risks to financial resilience, e.g. unplanned changes in demand, including
challenge of the assumptions underlying its plans
Key risks to the financial position are presented to the Governing Body on a monthly basis with the ongoing impact of
Covid-19 remaining one of the greater risks for all three CCGs. This is being monitored and managed to ensure that the
financial position is not significantly impacted by the uncertainty caused by the pandemic. In addition, the CCGs are
aware of the knock-on affect of the delays in operations and ‘routine healthcare’, and have this included as part of
their risks. This position is also discussed and monitored at the Finance committee.
Financial reports have continued to review activity and whilst it has been difficult to manage demand with the
fluctuating levels of resources required for the Covid-19 response, the CCGs have continued to monitor the situation by
discussing the issue at relevant committees and considering the trends and expectations within those meetings and
discussing it at the Covid Resource Allocation Committee (CRAC) meetings (detailed on the next page).
Overall, if events or conditions were to happen which lead to significant unplanned changes to management plans, then
these would be identified through review of the operational activity and factored into performance reporting to the
Governing Bodies and their sub committees. Significant unplanned changes are rare and the only example observed in
respect of this in recent years has been the pandemic, for which national guidance was issued and additional funding
provided.
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VALUE FOR MONEY
Financial sustainability – planning and managing resources cont.

Areas reviewed:
 How significant financial
pressures relevant to short
and medium-term plans
identified and built into
plans

During the 2020/21 year a CRAC was established across the three CCGs to enable spending decisions related to the
pandemic to be quickly and effectively reviewed. The decisions made by this committee, which is chaired by the CCG
chairs, is reported to the Governing Bodies and overseen by the Finance Committees.
We are satisfied that the impact of the pandemic was incorporated into the management of risks associated with
financial resilience.

 Plans to bridge funding gaps
and to identify achievable
savings
 Whether financial plans
support the sustainable
delivery of services in
accordance with strategic
and statutory priorities
 The consistency of financial
plans with other plans such
as workforce, capital,
investment, and other
operational planning which
may include working with
other local public bodies as
part of a wider system
 Identification and
management of risks to
financial resilience e.g.
unplanned changes in
demand, including challenge
of the assumptions
underlying its plans.
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VALUE FOR MONEY
Governance - informed decisions and properly managing risks

Areas reviewed:

Auditor’s commentary on arrangements

 How risks are assessed and
monitored to gain assurance
over the effective operation
of internal controls,
including arrangements to
prevent and detect fraud

Risks are assessed and monitored to gain assurance over the effective operation of internal controls, including
arrangements to prevent and detect fraud

•

All risk and control related disclosure statements

 The annual budget setting
process

•

Mechanisms for identifying and managing key risks facing the organisation through the operational effectiveness of
policies and procedures relating to internal control and risk management including the Governing Body Assurance
Framework (GBAF).

 Systems and processes are in
place to ensure budgetary
control, support statutory
financial reporting
requirements are met and
corrective action is taken
where needed

We consider an internal audit (IA) function as key to the arrangements from which the Audit Committee obtains
assurances over the effective operation of internal controls. For the Suffolk & North East Essex (SNEE) CCGs IA is part of
the governance and risk assessment structure and is outsourced to a third party firm (RSM). We know this to be a
reputable firm. Based on our review of documentation as well as our interactions with the Audit Committees during the
year, we have seen that the IA projects were based on a risk-based plan agreed with management and approved by the
Audit Committees.

 Whether the CCG makes
properly informed decisions,
supported by appropriate
evidence and allowing for
challenge and transparency
 Observance of appropriate
standards, such as meeting
legislative / regulatory
requirements and standards
in terms of officer or
member behaviour

As expected each of the CCGs’ Audit Committees (and later in the year the Audit Committee in Common) serves the key
purpose and functions (as described in the AGS) of reviewing the adequacy of:-

We noted that for IESCCG & WSCCG the Audit Committee received 12 IA reports for 2020/21 of which four were given a
“Substantial Assurance” opinion, three were given “Reasonable Assurance” and five were advisory, where an opinion is
not given due to the nature of the review. The same number of reports was received for North East Essex (NEECCG) with
the same split of assurance opinions. As such, our review of the IA reports did not highlight any control assurance gaps
represented by “No Assurance” or “Limited Assurance” type opinions. Included within these IA reviews were assurances
the Audit Committee obtained surrounding governance mechanisms during the Covid-19 period. One was advisory and
two were given “Substantial Assurance” opinions. However we identified an area for improvement regarding obtaining
internal control assurances relating to external organisations providing support services and functions to the CCGs e.g.
Service Auditor Reports (SARs) for NHS – SBS, Capita. We noted from review of the Risk Management IA report for NEE
CCG, IA agreed a low priority management action:
‘to ensure that sources of third party assurance, against the identified controls, are documented with a sufficient level
of detail to enable the reader to identify exactly what the assurance is, including the timeliness of the assurance.’
From discussions with management we understand the communications to the Audit Committee in common regarding
Service Auditor Reports are generally only by exception e.g. where such reports are delayed. Control failures did exist
for NHS - SBS for 2020/21 and the impact was assessed by BDO as part of the Financial Statements audit and
compensating controls were found to be adequate.
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This assessment was, however, only for the purpose of obtaining assurances to support the material accuracy of the
financial statements and not to form an opinion on the effectiveness of the system of internal control.
Our work has therefore identified a potential risk that the Audit Committee may not be fully aware of the adequacy of
the service provider controls, the impact on the CCGs’ control environments and any necessary actions that should be
taken. We have included a recommendation for the CCGs to formalise arrangements whereby the Audit Committee
receives, at a minimum, a summary of the internal control assurances obtained from the SARs, weaknesses or failures
identified and any required compensating controls, including the effectiveness thereof.
In terms of risk management arrangements, IA performed a Risk Management review during the year. Per the IA
Reports:
The objective of the audit was to review the effectiveness of the CCG’s risk management framework, including the
adequacy of the Governing Body Assurance Framework (IESCCG & WSCCG), Directorate Risk Registers (IESCCG &
WSCCG), Corporate Risk Register (NEECCG) and supporting risk management processes.
A “Reasonable Assurance” opinion was given for the audits. The IA review and positive opinion provide comfort that
expected risk management arrangements such as the GBAF and Directorate Risk Registers, key committees such as
Audit Committees, Clinical Scrutiny Committee (IESCCG & WSCCG), Operational Executive Committee (NEECCG)
responsible for monitoring and reviewing risks, are in place. We noted that the IA review also identified some areas of
improvement relating to alignment of processes across the three CCGs and agreed a management action to create,
monitor and implement an action list for risk management alignment. This was rated a medium priority action. With
the implementation of a statutory Integrated Care Board (ICB) by 1 April 2022 in mind, we support this
recommendation and consider that implementing it would improve the efficiency of the risk management
arrangements, and potentially reduce the draw on management time in preparing / observing different models in the
three separate CCGs.
NHS England has a statutory duty to undertake an annual assessment of CCGs. The most recent CCG Annual Assessment
is for 2019/20, published in Nov 2020, and IESCCG, WSCCG and NEECCG were rated "Outstanding", “Good”, and
“Outstanding” respectively. Our work did not identify any evidence of significant non-compliance with statutory
requirements set by the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC). We note that there are some main providers
that have performance issues and have been placed in special measures and the GBAF (IESCCG) describes these
performance issues as affecting the risk of the CCGs failing to meet its constitutional performance requirements as
stipulated by the DHSC. The risks associated with these providers are being managed through the GBAF (IESCCG &
WSCCG) and Corporate Risk Register (NEECCG) risk management arrangements. Corresponding controls such as
performance/contract monitoring and performance reporting are discussed in the “Improving the 3 E’s” section.
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The overall Head of Internal Audit (HOIA) opinion for 2020/21, for all three CCGs, is that the organisation has an
adequate and effective framework for risk management, governance and internal control. However, IA work has
identified further enhancements to the framework of risk management, governance and internal control, to ensure that
it remains adequate and effective. The HOIA opinion also concluded that there were no issues from IA work that need
to be considered as significant control issues within the Annual Governance Statements (AGS) of the CCGs.
Regarding arrangements surrounding fraud detection and prevention, we have seen that the CCGs have an accredited
Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) as a key component of the arrangements for detection and prevention of fraud.
The LCFS function is also outsourced to RSM. We’ve noted that the LCFS attends the CCG Audit Committees, and
provides progress reports and updates. This arrangement, which supports addressing the detection and prevention of
fraud, is as expected and we noted that Covid-19 related risks had been considered.
The annual budget setting process is appropriate.
Please refer to the section on “One off changes to arrangements as a result of COVID-19” on page 16.
Effective systems and processes are in place to ensure budgetary control, to communicate relevant, accurate
and timely management information (including non-financial information where appropriate), support statutory
financial reporting requirements and ensure corrective action is taken where needed.
Budgetary control arrangements – enquiries with management determined that monthly budget reports containing
narrative on variances are circulated to budget managers by the management accounting team shortly after the month
end closedown. We confirmed via discussions with management and review of minutes that this still occurred given the
unusual financial arrangements for 2020/21, with the focus on variable costs typically subjected to pressures, such as
CHC and prescribing. As described in the AGS, the purpose of the Finance Committee includes ensuring that the CCGs
operate within agreed budgets and proposing plans and necessary actions to maintain financial balance and the Finance
Committees continued to meet throughout the year. Given the unusual financial regime and the achievement of
financial targets and the required break-even financial position, we believe the CCGs’ arrangements are adequate in
these circumstances.
Management information including non-financial information – In their Joint Management Team 2020/21 report, in
reference to Business Intelligence (BI), IA noted:
The integrated Performance Report (IPR) has been consistently reported and provides members with a summary of
performance against national targets, contractual targets, clinical quality and patient safety issues, financial position
and transformation activity. The report outlined the overarching performance highlights, whilst also providing the
additional narrative for those providers where there were key exceptions to support the actions being taken to
improve performance.
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Governance - informed decisions and properly managing risks

Areas reviewed:
 How risks are assessed and
monitored to gain assurance
over the effective operation
of internal controls,
including arrangements to
prevent and detect fraud
 The annual budget setting
process

We consider the content and the wide-spread member review of the IPR supports arrangements for communicating
management information including non-financial contributing to making informed decisions.
The CCG makes properly informed decisions, supported by appropriate evidence and allowing for challenge and
transparency.
Through enquiry with management we understand that the governance processes within the CCGs operate at various
levels to ensure that decisions are given sufficient scrutiny and clinical input. From our review of the IA Governance
reviews performed during the year, we can see strong governance arrangements appeared to be in place. IA performed
a two-part governance review for IESCCG & WSCCG and a separate review for NEECCG. The first part was conducted
with the objective:

 Systems and processes are in
place to ensure budgetary
control, support statutory
financial reporting
requirements are met and
corrective action is taken
where needed

to ensure that robust and effective governance mechanisms were in place to provide oversight, monitoring and scrutiny
of the CCGs operations during the COVID-19 period and the second, to follow up the revisions made within the
governance structure to ensure these remain effective and have been fully embedded.

 Whether the CCG makes
properly informed decisions,
supported by appropriate
evidence and allowing for
challenge and transparency

The CCG monitors and ensures appropriate standards, such as meeting legislative / regulatory requirements and
standards in terms of officer or member behaviour (such as gifts and hospitality or declarations/conflicts of
interests).

 Observance of appropriate
standards, such as meeting
legislative / regulatory
requirements and standards
in terms of officer or
member behaviour

For both, a “Substantial Assurance” opinion was given. The IA reviews determined arrangements included key
committees within the governance structure reporting to the Governing Body, updating of the governance structure to
include the Covid-19 Resource Approval Committee (CRAC), timely notifications process to facilitate challenge, as well
as an Audit Committee self-assessment questionnaire to monitor effectiveness.

The CCGs assert that, as public sector organisations, the 7 Nolan Principles are at the heart of everything they do and
that a mandatory training programme ensures all staff and office holders are appropriately equipped to perform their
roles. NHSE’s “Managing Conflicts of Interest: Revised Statutory Guidance for CCGs 2017” requires CCGs to undertake an
annual IA of conflicts of interest management. We confirmed that an annual IA of Conflicts of Interest Management was
performed for the CCGs. The purpose of the review was to allow the Governing Body to take assurance that the CCGs
have effective processes in place to monitor, manage and report upon their management of conflicts of interest.
A “Reasonable Assurance” opinion was given. From our review of the IA report, IA determined that arrangements
included a Standards of Business Conduct and Conflicts of Interest Policy, Register of Conflicts of Interests, Registers of
Gifts and Hospitality and Procurement Decisions, mandatory training and staff and member declarations.
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IA also noted an area of best practice whereby declarations made in committee meeting minutes are held centrally in
a Log of Declarations for the CCGs. The annual review, IA’s positive opinion, together with the arrangements
mentioned and the added area of best practice identified by IA, support good governance arrangements surrounding
member or officer behaviour.
One off changes to arrangements as a result of COVID-19
We noted changes that impacted the considerations for Governance included:
•

Annual budget setting: The 2020/21 budget was not agreed and approved by the Governing Bodies for each CCG in
advance of the start of the year as would normally be the case. The Governing Bodies delegated responsibility to
the finance committees for sign off in the first part of the year and went on to approve the M7-12 budgets once
allocations were received. This is not unexpected given the 2020/21 funding arrangements and suspension of
normal financial planning arrangements, savings and efficiency requirements, and performance monitoring
arrangements as described under “Funding and contracting arrangements for 2020/21” in the Executive Summary.
We noted that the Finance Committee approved the high-level M1-4 budgets.

•

The CCGs created a temporary joint COVID-19 Resource Approval Committee (CRAC) and updated the governance
structures accordingly. This was to aid the governance processes and decision making with regard to the COVID-19
pandemic across the local healthcare system. IA performed a Financial Governance (Advisory) review for the
Suffolk CCGs and one for NEE, the purpose of which was to consider whether the revised arrangements proposed by
the CCGs had been adequately designed to ensure effective financial governance controls are in place to manage
risks within the CCGs during the period of the COVID-19 pandemic. IA concluded that the CCGs had established an
emergency procedure which conforms/largely conforms to both NHSE&I recommendations. We consider the
creation of the CRAC and associated IA reviews good governance practice.

 Observance of appropriate
standards, such as meeting
legislative / regulatory
requirements and standards
in terms of officer or
member behaviour
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Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness - using information to improve services

Areas reviewed:

Auditor’s commentary on arrangements

 Use of financial and
performance information to
assess performance and
identify areas for
improvement

Financial and performance information has been used to assess performance to identify areas for improvement.

 Evaluation of services
provided to assess
performance and identify
areas for improvement
 How the CCG delivers its role
within significant
partnerships, engages with
stakeholders it has
identified, monitors
performance against
expectations, and ensures
action is taken where
necessary to improve
 Commissioning and
procurement of services in
accordance with relevant
legislation, professional
standards and internal
policies, and how the CCG
assesses whether it is
realising the expected
benefits from these
arrangements

We have seen arrangements where financial as well as performance information is reported and reviewed across various
areas of each of the CCGs and also across all three organisations where applicable.
Through enquiries with management we understand that Finance committees use information on direct delivery within
the CCGs (CHC and prescribing) and performance in the wider system through the ICS finance report. Per management,
this information provides the organisations’ leaders with the ability to effectively assess performance and implement
work to address or investigate areas where performance is unacceptably low or dropping.
Within the “Review of Economy, Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Use of Resources“ section of the AGS we noted that:
A monthly Integrated Performance Report (IPR) is described as providing performance updates on Constitutional
Standards, Clinical Quality and Patient Safety, Contractual Performance, Redesign programmes and the Programme
Management Office and that it is submitted to the Governing Body and Clinical Scrutiny Committee.
Our review of IA reports determined that the IPR had been consistently reported and was a summary of performance
addressing those areas as described in the AGS, including actions to be taken for improvement. From enquiries with
management we understand that the IPR is used to capture performance in commissioned services alongside those
directly provided by the CCGs. In our view the content of the IPR, and reviews of it by the Governing Body and subcommittees demonstrates that the CCGs use financial and performance information to assess performance to identify
areas of improvement. As detailed in the governance section of this report we also noted where the IPR supports
arrangements for communicating management information, including non-financial, contributing to making informed
decisions.
We noted that NEECCG, specifically, also has a Quality Committee. We have seen through review of the Governing Body
minutes and IA work that the Quality Committee provides an overview report to the Governing Body for consideration.
IA noted :- the report discussed the patient safety and quality exceptions which had been identified in the services
commissioned by NEECCG. IA also noted that the Quality Committee receives and reviews quality dashboards with
narrative reports about patient experiences relating to all the service providers commissioned by the CCG for: Planned
Care; Urgent Care; Primary Care and Mental Health Care. The minutes noted that the Governing Body was assured that
the Quality Committee was satisfied that where performance was not reaching the required standard that the necessary
steps were being undertaken to achieve standards
We noted a good practice example of using information to assess performance to identify areas of improvement is the
“Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System Reflections on System Learning from Covid-19 March - September
2020” report which captured the system learning from the first wave response
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This report was referenced in the CQC’s "Collaboration in urgent and emergency care" report under the area of
“Capturing System Learning” which is discussed in further detail under the “The CCG delivers its role within significant
partnerships, engages with stakeholders it has identified, monitors performance against expectations, and ensures
action is taken where necessary to improve” section of this commentary on page 19.
Services provided by the body are evaluated to assess performance and identify areas for improvement.
Services are commissioned from a range of organisations, including acute hospital trusts, GP practices, voluntary
organisations and other NHS and non-NHS providers. One of the 8 clinical priorities of IESCCG is to ensure high quality
local services. Included in WSCCG’s 6 clinical priorities is to deliver financial sustainability through quality
improvement. For NEECCG, a strategic objective is to transform care and drive continuous improvement in quality and
safety and achieve the best possible outcomes for service users through high-quality care. Per the Annual Reports
“contracts with providers are closely managed by a dedicated, highly-skilled contracting team to ensure services are
high quality and safe, whilst providing value for money” for the people of Suffolk and North East Essex.
For evaluating and assessing performance of services provided, we expect fundamental arrangements to be in place
such as defined service specifications or requirements and monitoring against those specifications to assess
achievement, as well as identify areas of improvement. We have seen arrangements such as the Procurement Policy
(Suffolk CCGs) which requires, amongst other things, a service specification to be completed in the NHS standard
contract template, where appropriate, and quality requirements agreed and specified. The (Draft) Procurement Policy
(NEECCG) noted that performance monitoring will require effective monitoring systems to be implemented, to include
key performance indicators, standards and targets.
Through discussions with management we were informed that significant work is undertaken on the quality of services
and performance against standards. From our review of IA work, we noted IA were advised that contract monitoring
meetings had been largely postponed throughout the Covid-19 pandemic. IA identified contract monitoring meetings
and quality and contract performance monitoring meetings ongoing during the year. We noted that one of these
examples of on-going monitoring meetings related to one of the providers which is in special measures. We have also
seen examples of minutes from Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust (NSFT) and East Suffolk North Essex Foundation
Trust (ESNEFT) of quality performance meetings.
IA also performed a review of Primary Care Commissioning during the year. The purpose of the review was an
assessment of the CCGs’ compliance against their delegated Primary Care Commissioning function. A “Reasonable
Assurance” opinion was given for NEE CCG and “Substantial Assurance” for the joint IESCCG & WSCCG review.
We did not identify any significant issues from our review in this area.
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The CCG delivers its role within significant partnerships, engages with stakeholders it has identified, monitors
performance against expectations, and ensures action is taken where necessary to improve.
The NHS Long Term Plan sets out the aim that every part of England will be covered by an ICS by 2021, replacing STPs
but building on their work to date. As such, partnership working is essential to the way the CCGs operate. In some
areas STPs have evolved to become Integrated Care Systems (ICS), a new form of even closer collaboration between
the NHS and local councils. SNEE is already listed as an ICS (i.e. considered an early wave ICS) and has an ICS
Partnership Board in place, strongly indicating effective partnership working across the system.
An example we have seen which highlights the CCGs delivering their role within significant partnerships and engaging
with stakeholders is evidenced in the "Collaboration in urgent and emergency care" report published by the CQC. As
part of a national programme of provider collaborative reviews (PCRs), in autumn 2020, the CQC performed a review
of how providers had collaborated in urgent and emergency care (UEC). The aim of these reviews is to support
providers of health and social care services by sharing learning and helping to drive improvements for those accessing
care. The CCGs were selected for participation in this review and some key SNEE initiatives were positively
referenced within the report. These included the “Home but not alone” Ipswich and East Suffolk Alliance initiative
referenced in the area of "Collaborations that make a difference". Under the area of “Capturing System Learning”, the
CQC referenced the “Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System Reflections on System Learning from Covid19 March - September 2020” report which captured the system learning from the first wave response.
The Audit Committee in common approved the Ipswich and East Suffolk Alliance Partnership Agreement between the
IES CCG and the membership of the IES Alliance Board. Per the agreement presented to the Audit Committee in
common, the purpose is to demonstrate the Alliance Board’s commitment to working together in an even more
integrated way to build upon success to-date, and strengthen trust, transparency and collaboration between to
achieve the shared vision.
The agreement notes that the primary purpose of the Alliance is to deliver the outcomes of the respective well-being
boards and detailed outcomes expected. We have reviewed an update on the progress against the FY20/21 Delivery
Plan for the Alliance Board. The updates show delivery against milestones summarised against each of the Alliance’s
outcomes. This is evidences that arrangements are in place to monitor partnership performance against expectations.
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Where the CCG commissions or procures services, this is done in accordance with relevant legislation,
professional standards and internal policies, and assesses whether it is realising the expected benefits
Established policies and committee oversight surrounding commissioning and procurement of services are considered
to support the arrangements to ensure this is done in accordance with relevant legislation, professional standards and
internal policies, and assesses whether it is realising the expected benefits.
The Suffolk CCGs have a “Commissioning Procurement Policy”. The purpose of the policy includes ensuring:
• Compliance with relevant national legislation, policy and guidance, the CCGs’ Constitutions, Standing Orders,
Schemes of Reservation and Detailed Financial Policies
• Providers are treated in a transparent, proportionate and non-discriminatory manner with equality of treatment a
core requirement
• The best possible value for money is provided.
The Procurement Policy for the NEECCG sets out the objectives of the policy which include:• To set out how the CCG will meet statutory procurement requirements (a “Regulatory Framework Appendix” is
included which references various sources)
• To ensure the CCG does not engage in anti-competitive behaviour
• Providers are treated in a transparent, proportionate and non-discriminatory manner with equality of treatment a
core requirement.
We have not covered whether the above policies have been implemented in practice during 2020/21 in part due to the
wide ranging changes to the commissioning process as part of the pandemic – also referred to in “one off changes”.
For oversight arrangements, through attendance of Audit Committee in common meetings during the year we have
seen that the members obtain assurance that a process is in place to monitor compliance with the Standing Orders and
Standing Financial Instructions/Scheme of Delegation in relation to waivers of competitive tendering. The Audit
Committees also review the CCGs’ Hospitality and Gifts Register.
The establishment of a Procurement Board that works across all three CCGs within Suffolk and North East Essex was
approved by the Governing Body in January 2021 (IESCCG & WSCCG) and in February 2021 (NEECCG). The Procurement
Board is established to provide oversight and challenge to ensure procurement policy and processes are delivered
appropriately to secure quality and value for money services through procedures which are transparent,
proportionate, fair and non-discriminatory. Its purpose also includes promoting governance routes across the CCGs to
improve understanding of project and procurement sign off and compliance within the CCGs’ constitutions and
detailed financial policies.
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The Primary Care Commissioning Committee (PCCC, formerly GP Commissioning Committee in NEE CCG) monitors
primary care performance. Per the IA Primary Care Commissioning report, IA determined that primary care
commissioning is facilitated by the Primary Care Team and performance primarily monitored through the PCCC. As
reported above, IA provided positive opinions across the CCGs. As described in the AR, the purpose of the
Commissioning Governance Committee includes demonstrating that the CCGs and member practices are acting fairly
and transparently, and that final commissioning decisions are made in ways that preserve the integrity of the decision
making process.
The IA Report described earlier under “Governance” evidenced other supporting arrangements such as Standards of
Business Conduct and Conflicts of Interest Policy, Register of Conflicts of Interests, Registers of Gifts and Hospitality
and Procurement Decisions.
We expect the contract and performance monitoring arrangements described in “Services provided by the body are
evaluated to assess performance and identify areas for improvement.” should/would address the realisation of
expected benefits.
We noticed that of the IA reviews performed during the year, as well as for 2019/20, although they included Primary
Care Commissioning, and Safeguarding Adults – Oversight of Providers, there wasn’t a specific review of
commissioning/procurement and contract management. Given the importance of this area, the newly established
Procurement Board, separate Procurement policies for the CCGs and some key providers in special measures, we
support the proposal to include “Commissioning and Contract Management” in the IA Plan for 2021/22, as agreed by
the Audit Committee in common. We understand this review was initially planned for 2020/21, however was moved
due to the revisions in contracting processes in relation to Covid-19.
One off changes to arrangements as a result of COVID-19
We noted changes that impacted the considerations for Improving the 3 E’s included:
•

NHSE/I Performance monitoring arrangements were suspended

•

IA were advised by the Procurement Lead that there have been no commissioning procurement decisions made
since 1 April 2020 (IESCCG & WSCCG)

•

Per the IA Report 2020/21 Conflicts of Interest – the Procurement Lead advised there were no procurement
decisions made across the CCGs since January 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic (Decisions register last updated
January 2020) (IESCCG & WSCCG)

•

IA were advised that contract monitoring meetings had been largely postponed throughout the COVID-19 pandemic.
(IESCCG & WSCCG)
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Areas reviewed:

•

 Use of financial and
performance information to
assess performance and
identify areas for
improvement

Due to the impact of Covid-19 all procurements were stopped in April 2020; some procurements have been
restarted, whereas others are now being reviewed in light of the changes due to covid-19 or the progression of
time impacting on the options available (IESCCG & WSCCG)

•

NEECCG Quality Committee reported to its Governing Body that regular Quality and Contract Performance Meetings
for most providers had been stood down during the Covid-19 period. We understand they had been re-instated in
March 2021.

 Evaluation of services
provided to assess
performance and identify
areas for improvement
 How the CCG delivers its role
within significant
partnerships, engages with
stakeholders it has
identified, monitors
performance against
expectations, and ensures
action is taken where
necessary to improve
 Commissioning and
procurement of services in
accordance with relevant
legislation, professional
standards and internal
policies, and how the CCG
assesses whether it is
realising the expected
benefits from these
arrangements
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RECOMMENDATIONS

We have not identified any significant weaknesses in the arrangements the CCGs have for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
the use of resources, but have identified the following opportunities to further enhance arrangements in addition to those already identified
and reported by Internal Audit in their work for 2020/21.

Area

Observation & implication

Recommendation

Management response

Governance

3rd Party Service Provider control
assurances.

Report to the Audit Committee in
common a summary of the internal
control assurances obtained from the
various service auditor reports, including
weaknesses or failures identified and any
required compensating controls.

Management accepts this
recommendation and will agree the best
method of implementation with the Audit
Committee.

Currently, the outcomes of the 3rd party
provider control assurance reports are
not reported to the Audit Committee in
common. Hence, they may not be aware
of the adequacy of the service provider
controls, which may impact on the CCGs’
control environment and any necessary
actions that should be taken.
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West Suffolk CCG Governing Body and Sub Committee Members
Title

First Name

Last Name

Declared Interest

Type of Interest
Financial
Interests

Governing Body GP Member

Zohra

Armitage

Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure Amanda
Director of Nursing
Lisa

Lyes
Nobes

GP and GP Streaming work for Suffolk GP Federation
Husband is a consultant urologist at Cambridge University Hospital
Director of company providing urological services to Swan Surgery, BSE
Former Director of Resource Management with Suffolk County Council
Family member attending Healthier You, NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme’'
PMS Provider, Practice Partner Long Melford
Out of Hours doctor for Care UK and Suffolk GP Federation
Wife is Consultant at West Suffolk Hospital
Clinical Director for WGGL PNN"
Part-time medical adviser for the NHSE EoE Professional Standards unit
Owner and MD of Galliform Ltd, consultancy and training company. No NHS activity
Lay Member for Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
Wife is President and Director of East of England Co-op
Wife is Director of Shotley Heritage
Wife is Director of Eastern Savings and Loans Credit Union
Wife is Director of Rainbow Saving Credit Union
Chief Executive Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
Chief Executive North East Essex CCG
Executive Lead - Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System
Visiting Professor of Integrated Care – University of Suffolk
Director of Performance Improvement for SNEE CCGs
Wife has GDS contract with NHS England
Vaccinator for EPUT and WSHFT
Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure for Ipswich and East Suffolk and North East Essex CCGs
Chief Nursing Officer for Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG and North East Essex CCG

Director of Finance

Payling

Director of Finance for Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG and North East Essex CCG

Lay Member for Governance and Vice Chair CCG

Geoff

Dobson

CCG Chair

Christopher

Browning

Lay Member

Steve

Chicken

Chief Officer

Ed

Garratt

Director of Performance Improvement
Enhanced Associate GP

Paul
Andrew

Gibara
Hassan

Governing Body GP Member

Jane

Godfrey

Reynolds

Consultant in Public Health Medicine
Governing Body GP Member

Jep
Bahram

Ronoh
Talebpour

Chair of Community Engagement Partnership
Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement
Chief Operating Officer
Governing Body GP Member

David
Linda
Kate
Firas

Taylor
Tuck
Vaughton
Watfeh

Director of Strategy and Transformation

Richard

Watson

Governing Body GP Member

Victoria

Wilson

Governing Body GP Member

Andrew

Yagar

Trustee of Cambridge Theatre Trust
Member of the Local Medical Committee
Chair of Mildenhall Sick and Poor Fund
Husband is a locum GP at Hardwicke House Surgery, Sudbury and Fronks Road Family Surgery, Harwich
Medical Director of Sudbury Primary Care Network
GP Partner
Chairman of Hargrave Parish Council
Nil
Director of Integration for West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust, non-voting member of Board
Local Medical Committee member
Haverhill PCN Director
GP Partner at Haverhill Family Practice
Director of Strategy and Transformation for Ipswich and East Suffolk, North East Essex CCGs and West Suffolk CCGs
Husband is employee of Hadleigh Group Practice
Shares in company for ophthalmology related work
Maternity work for maternity voluntary partnership West Suffolk Hospital.
GP perinatal mental health spotlight champion (reimbursed for teaching sessions).
Co-chair of West Suffolk First 5
GP Co-production lead for Future Systems Program
Macmillan GP
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No further action required
None

Direct

25/09/2017

Ongoing

19/04/2021 Arrangements in place for the joint management team of
the CCGs
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Meeting of the West Suffolk CCG Governing Body held in public on Wednesday 28 July
2021 via Microsoft Teams and live streamed for members of the public.
PRESENT:
Dr Christopher Browning
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson
Ed Garratt
Paul Gibara
Amanda Lyes
Lisa Nobes
Jane Payling
Dr Godfrey Reynolds
Dr Bahram Talebpour
David Taylor
Kate Vaughton
Dr Firas Watfeh
Richard Watson

CCG Chair
Lay Member
Lay Member for Governance
Chief Executive
Director of Performance Improvement
Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure
Director of Nursing
Director of Finance
GP Member
GP Member
Community Engagement Group Chair
Director of Integration
GP Member
Director of Strategy and Transformation

IN ATTENDANCE:
Edward Barton
Jonathan Chew
Sarah Colley
Brendan Colton
Jared Gusterson
Dr Andrew Hassan
Jo Mael
Simon Morgan
Sally Ryan
Katie Sargeant
Jayne Stevens
Abbie Wilson

Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (Patient Story)
ACE Anglia
Communications Team
Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (Patient Story)
Communications Team
Enhanced Associate GP Member
Corporate Governance Manager
Head of Communications
LD Quality Improvement Lead Nurse Specialist
Deputy Head of Public Involvement
Suffolk User Forum (Patient Story)
ACE Anglia

21/061

WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and apologies for absence were
received from;
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Jep Ronoh
Dr Victoria Wilson
Dr Andrew Yager

GP Member
Consultant in Public Health Medicine
GP Member
GP Member

The Chair advised that sadly Lynda Tuck, Lay Member for Patient and Public
Involvement had decided to step down from her position on the Governing Body.
Lynda was thanked for her very significant contribution during her time with the
CCG and wished well for the future.

21/062

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND HOSPITALITY AND GIFTS
No declarations of interest were received.

21/063

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The minutes of the meeting held on 26 May 2021 were approved as a correct
record.

21/064

MATTERS ARISING AND ACTION LOG
There were no matters arising and the action log was reviewed and updated with
comment as follows:

21/065

GENERAL UPDATE
The Chief Executive reported;
•

•
•
•
•
•

Stephen Dunn, Chief Executive of West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust had
decided to step down. The Governing Body extended thanks to Stephen Dunn
for his work and leadership, which included work to establish investment for the
new hospital build.
Sajid Javid was the new Secretary of State for Heath and had clarified that
Suffolk and North East Essex would remain as the footprint for the Integrated
Care System.
Recruitment to the post of Chief Executive of NHS England was underway and
further information awaited.
Vaccination programme – 70% of adults with Suffolk and North East Essex had
now received two doses and 85% of adults had received one dose. Focus was
currently on vaccination of the 18-29 cohort and phase three of the programme.
Urgent and emergency care demand had increased and included a large mental
health element. Whilst there were currently increased numbers of Covid-19
inpatients across the system, infection rates were decreasing.
Work continued on elective recovery although the waiting list continued to grow.

The Governing Body noted the update.
21/066

PATIENT STORY
Abbie Wilson and Jonathan Chew from ACE Anglia were welcomed to the meeting
and proceeded to give a presentation on Learning Disability (LD) Health Checks.
The presentation outlined the work of the LD Health Check Peer Educator Network
which encouraged people with LD to have annual health checks. The Network
aimed to increase numbers of those having health checks and to raise awareness
and provide feedback in order to improve services. The Network was funded by
Ipswich and East Suffolk and West Suffolk CCGs.
Workshops had commenced in 2019 and, to date, had reached 1100 people.
Health checks within Ipswich and East Suffolk and West Suffolk had increased by
37% and numbers on the LD register had increased by 5%. The Network worked
with other areas as well and next steps included the continuation of online sessions
and face to face working, with entry into schools from September 2021 and family
carer sessions scheduled. Health meetings were delivered weekly and coproduced to discuss various health issues such as first aid, Covid-19 and wellbeing. The pre-health questionnaire had been shared and adapted across areas
an a generic one produced for NHSE.

Having noted that work being carried out by the Network was critical, it was
highlighted that training for reception staff as the first point of contact would be
beneficial going forward.
The Network was funded to April 2022 and the need to consider how the work might
be continued beyond that point was emphasized. It was reported that at present
approximately six people were in attendance at workshops and 20-25 at each
health meeting.
Having queried whether there was more peer education that could be
commissioned, it was explained that improved accessibility to invitations stressing
the importance of health checks might improve uptake.
Brendan Colton, Edward Barton and Jayne Stevens were welcomed to the meeting
to talk about Serious Mental Illness (SMI) Health Checks.
The target for SMI health checks was currently 60%. To achieve that target Ipswich
and East Suffolk and West Suffolk CCGs had established a SMI Suffolk Physical
Health Team. Work was carried out in collaboration with Primary Care with
challenges being the acquisition of data across differing IT systems. A SMI local
enhanced service had been developed. There were six core elements to the health
check as detailed within the presentation.
The health check rate for Ipswich and East Suffolk was currently 42.8% and for
West Suffolk 27.2%. Cross referencing with inpatients took place together with
support to community mental health teams, advice to primary care staff and the
data cleansing of registers. Work was underway to align with Primary Care
Networks going forward.
The Healthy Together pilot had started in February 2021 and to date there had been
a steady stream of referrals with over 50 referral pathways having been identified.
Follow ups were carried out at 80 and 190 days after referral to obtain feedback.
Individual support was offered which had included support to access dentistry
services.
The work was a good example of a partnership approach that was making a huge
difference. Navigation support for individuals through the system should be a key
focus going forward. Is there more can do re uptake. Data access from practices
varied and review of the local enhanced service for 2022 was being pursued.
Results of health checks were shared with primary care and psychiatrists as
appropriate.
The Governing Body thanked Abbie, Jonathan, Edward, Brendan and Jayne for
their informative presentations.
21/067

HEALTH CHECKS
a) Learning Disabilities Annual Health Checks
The report sought to raise awareness of the need to improve the quality of Learning
Disability Annual Health Checks and the work currently underway by the Suffolk
Peer Educator Network.
People with a learning disability often had poorer physical and mental health than
other people. An annual health check could improve people’s health by spotting
problems earlier. Anyone aged 14 or over who was on their GP's learning disability
register could have a free annual health check.
Key issues were set out in Section 2 of the report and patient and public
engagement in Section 3.

63.6% of people registered in West Suffolk had received an annual health check
last year.
It was highlighted that health checks were only the first element and there was a
need to ensure that all commissioned services took into account access for those
with learning disabilities and serious mental illness.
The Governing Body noted the report.
b) Serious Mental Illness & Physical Health - Suffolk Update
People living with severe mental illness faced one of the greatest health inequality
gaps in England. Individuals with Severe Mental Illness (SMI) had not consistently
been offered appropriate or timely physical health assessments despite their higher
risk of poor physical health. The five-year forward view for mental health committed
to leading work to ensure by 2020/21, SMI patients had their physical health needs
met by increasing early detection and expanding physical assessment and
intervention each year. The NSFT) SMI Suffolk Physical Health Team (SPHT)
arranged and undertook annual physical health checks for people living with Severe
Mental Illness (SMI) who were receiving services from secondary MH care and
those in primary care who had not attended scheduled appointments arranged by
their primary health care team, for their annual health check, to meet the NHSE
target.
Numerous pilot projects nationally had shown attendances at follow up
appointments could be significantly increased by ensuring services were designed
around people’s individual needs encouraging self-defined healthcare goals and a
step-by-step level of peer support made a significant difference to the attendance
rate for follow up appointments and improved healthcare outcomes for those living
with SMI.
The Covid-19 vaccine deployment programme, working with partners, made
available an extra £4.2m of funding initially, to further support and enable locally led
community engagement in all areas with health inequalities. Each STP received a
notional allocation of £100k, to be used across its constituent CCGs. That included
people with a SMI.
Key issues were set out in Section 2 of the report and patient and public
engagement in Section 3.
The Governing Body noted the report.
21/068

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT GROUP (CEG) MINUTES
The Governing Body received the unconfirmed minutes from a meeting of the
Community Engagement Group held on 1 July 2021.
Key points highlighted included:
•
•

As previously mentioned, thanks were extended to Lynda Tuck, Lay Member
for Patient and Public Involvement for her contribution over recent years.
The CEG had only recently begun to meet again. During the pandemic many
of its members had been volunteering for the vaccination programme and
continuing to participate in consultations, together with participating in PPG
groups. It would be interesting to see how PPG groups would fit into the Alliance
way of working going forward.

•

•

The CEG had recognised the changes being faced by the CCG and the
challenging timelines associated to introduction of the White Paper and was
willing to help with the process where appropriate. Workshops were planned to
consider how patient involvement could be embedded.
The pandemic had seen increased participation of local people in health support
and there should be opportunity to build on that support going forward.

Having recognised there was some frustration from the CEG that it had not been
involved in Integrated Neighbourhood Teams, thought would be given as to how
increased involvement might be facilitated.
The Governing Body noted the report.
21/069

PROCUREMENT UPDATE: SUMMARY OF ACTIVITY 2021/22
The Governing Body was provided with an update on the procurements completed
since the last procurement update and those currently in progress and planned for
2021/22.
Key points highlighted included;
Support for children, young people with neurodevelopmental conditions and
their families - providers received the Invitation to Tender documentation on the
26 March 2021 with options to bid in Lot 1 for annual funding over £50,000 but
below £150,000; or in Lot 2, which would be for bids of under £50,000 per annum.
The CCGs had a funding pot of up to £700,000 per annum, and the method of
procurement had allowed a contract to be offered to six organisations. Each
successful bid would be awarded a contract of up to two years and each would be
evaluated after a year to ensure they were providing a successful service. If that
was found to be the case their contract would be extended up to four years. If
services are not reaching their full potential the CCG would work with them to
improve their offer or through mutual agreement, not extend the contract further.
The award of the contracts was approved in June 2021 and the standstill period
completed without challenge, so mobilisation and contract drafting had started with
each of the providers.
Minor Surgery and Vasectomies - the Minor Surgery and Vasectomies
procurement was released on the 26 March and was planned to be completed
ready to go live in November 2021.
The procurement was now in the evaluation and moderation stage and the outcome
would be presented to clinical executive and governing body in August 2021.
Pathology Services - the CCG currently commissioned Pathology Services across
the Integrated Care System through a contract with North Essex & East Suffolk
Pathology Services (NEESPS). It had been agreed that the CCGs would adopt a
commercial sourcing approach to secure delivery partners for Pathology Services.
The specification was currently being reviewed for readiness to start the
procurement and assurance exercise.
Mental Health Assurance - the transformation work continued within mental health
services and the requirement for procurement of services was now better
understood. It was envisaged that a framework of providers would be developed
to allow easier access to interested parties as the CCG moved along the
transformation journey. The framework would also allow the commissioning of
services which were already identified as needing support.

Secure Mental Health Transport - an approach to sourcing secure mental health
transport had been agreed with colleagues from Norfolk and Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust (NSFT), however, the specification was still under review, so the
procurement process had not yet started.
Dementia Services - the release of a contract notice for Dementia Services had
been agreed by Clinical Executive and that was due to be released on the 16 July
2021. The contract would be jointly commissioned by both CCGs and Suffolk
County Council.
Procurement Policy regarding Anchor Organisations, Social Value and
Sustainability was evolving locally, and the Procurement Lead continued to be
involved in conversations across the Integrated Care System on how procurement
and pre-procurement practices needed to evolve in order to ensure those elements
were prominent throughout assurance and tendering.
The Procurement Lead also continued to be involved in the Provider Selection
Regime Reference Group run by NHS England. The group reviewed and advised
on NHS England’s implementation of the Provider Selection Regime for the
procurement of NHS Healthcare Services.
The Governing Body noted the report.
21/070

WEST SUFFOLK ALLIANCE UPDATE
The report provided a regular update for the Governing Body about activity to
transform services and outcomes for people within the West Suffolk Alliance
footprint. Several different teams had contributed to the report, from across the
CCG, the hospital and Alliance partners.
Information was loosely grouped under four Alliance ambitions although of course
most of the initiatives supported the delivery of more than one area.
It was highlighted that the Alliance vision and mission had been refreshed
considering learning from Covid-19, the opportunities we had with the Future
System Programme and the upcoming health reforms.
Points highlighted included;
•
•
•
•

The Alliance project led by West Suffolk College to capture the voice of young
people to underpin local conversations and embed co-production at the heart
of the curriculum.
Suffolk Volunteering Strategy as detailed in paragraph 3.4 of the report.
VCSE Charter for Action detailed in Section 5.
The need for more joined up data and digital systems.

Comments included:
The role of community pharmacy in the vaccination programme was highlighted
and the importance of using that to build relationships with Primary Care Networks
was emphasized.
Having questioned how volunteers linked to the vaccination programme might be
captured for other work going forward, it was felt that communication by Primary
Care Networks would be key in carrying that forward.

The Governing Body noted the progress being made through the West Suffolk
Alliance and the CCG’s wider partnership working.
21/071

INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE REPORT
The Governing Body was in receipt of the Integrated Performance Report which
had been scrutinised by the CCG’s Clinical Scrutiny Committee prior to
presentation to the Governing Body.
Points highlighted included;
A new system oversight framework had been published to monitor performance.
The framework contained a requirement for more collaboration which included
collaboration with the Care Quality Commission in respect of outcomes. Special
measures had been replaced with emphasis on system support processes in
respect of poor performance.
Performance was to be underpinned by
approximately 70 key performance indicators and the Director of Performance
Improvement agreed to circulate further information to Members outside of the
meeting. Further guidance was expected upon the change to an ICS.
Elective recovery was the key focus and a meeting with the national team was
scheduled to take place on 28 July 2021. The CCG remained on target to meet
100% by the end of July 2021. The number of people waiting over one year for
treatment had decreased although waiting list numbers overall had increased.
Those waiting over 53 weeks had decreased although numbers waiting over 44
weeks would be challenging to address. There were risks associated to the
robustness of the workforce and a rise in emergency care demand which included
an increase of Covid-19 cases.
Changes to the Elective Recovery Fund were expected which might pose a
financial risk attached to the second half of the year.
It was queried how increased activity might be addressed both inhouse and via the
private sector, together with whether there would be differential targets for those
regions that were behind the curve in elective recovery. It was reported that
clarification of targets from regional and national teams were awaited although
were expected to be tight for the second half of the year. Finances remained
unclear at present. Maximisation of private sector capacity continued where
appropriate and there was joined up working and collaboration across the system
with regard to waiting list management.
Having queried whether there was workforce redesign work taking place in respect
of identifying opportunity to upskill in order to retain productivity, it was explained
that the robustness of the workforce remained a key focus of the People Board.
Nurse Associate roles had recently been recruited to and an Advanced Practice
Forum had been established to review pathways and future needs in respect of
clinical practitioners. Workforce groups across SNEE were being brought together
to explore options.
Work to prepare for Winter was due to commence next week.
Conversations to recover children and young peoples autism service performance
were due to take place.
A workshop was scheduled to better understand quality and performance issues
associated to Ezec.

Clinical Quality and Patient Safety
•

•

The CCG continued to support organisations through demand and capacity and
particularly the East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust that was
currently facing high demand.
Demand and access to treatment remained of paramount importance. Quality
accounts from providers were currently being received. West Suffolk NHS
Foundation Trust’s priorities for 2021/22 were looking at infrastructure and
culture, supporting colleagues to speak up safely, learning and improvement
and the development of a quality reporting framework.
Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust’s priorities were to increase the
number of friends and family responses, to address physical health inequalities
through integrated care and to be in the top quarter for quality and performance
by 2023.
West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust – maternity work was continuing. The
continuity of carer roll out plan had been signed off at the Maternity Board last
week and the Trust was predicting 100% continuity of carer by April 2022.
ESNEFT was planning to start from April 2022. There was a renewed call for
those pregnant or planning to become pregnant to come forward for
vaccination.

Strategy and Transformation
•
•
•
•
•

An initial elective care meeting had been held
Musculo-skeletal and eye care programmes had been established across the
ICS.
Children and Young People – the CAHMS model and services specification had
been finalised and work was underway to address pressure on the emotional
well-being hub. The review of community Paediatrics had just been concluded.
Cancer – focus was on the breast cancer pathway and the strength of
Macmillan navigators was noted.
Mental Health – the Governing Body was due to receive a further update in
September 2021. The community model was making good progress with
recruitment to practitioner roles. Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust and
the Suffolk GP Federation were thanked for their contribution.

Primary Care
•
•
•

Patient survey results had been positive and reflected practice relationships
with local communities.
As previously reported there was a lot of work to carry out in relation to LD and
SMI health checks.
Expressions of interest for phase three of the vaccination programme were
being finalised.

Finance
•

Allocations for the second half of the year were awaited. The CCG was on
track to achieve a breakeven position for the first half of the year. Once
additional funding for the hospital discharge programme, vaccination
programme and elective recovery had been received the CCG was on track to
break even.

Having suggested that the CCG’s Executive carry out a deep dive of prescribing,
the Chief Operating Officer agreed to place the item on a future agenda.
The Governing Body noted the report.

21/072

GOVERNING BODY ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK
The Governing Body received the current version of the Governing Body Assurance
Framework (GBAF) together with a summary of local risk registers.
Amendments and additions to the GBAF were detailed within Section 2 of the
report, with key aspects of departmental risk registers being listed in Section 3.
It was explained that since inclusion of the risk associated to the White Paper, the
boundary issue had now been resolved and therefore further mitigation was to be
included. Any workforce issues would be worked through via the CCG’s
Remuneration and HR Committee and reported back to the Governing Body.
Having queried the reported risk appetite of ‘tolerate’ for risk 27a, the Director of
Nursing agreed to investigate and amend if required.
The Governing Body was informed that nothing had recently changed with regard
to the RAAC plank situation at West Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust. The situation
was regularly reviewed with the Trust.
The Governing Body noted and approved the GBAF as presented.

21/073

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
The Freedom of Information Act 2000, provided a general right of access to
information held by public authorities, including the NHS. Anyone could request
information and had the right to be told:
•
•

Whether the public authority held the information, and
If it did, to be provided with the information (subject to exemptions)

The Management Delivery Team handled requests on behalf of Ipswich and East,
North East Essex and West Suffolk CCGs.
The report detailed requests from the fourth quarter of 2020/2021 and first quarter
of 2021/22.
Requests received averaged around 20 per month for Suffolk CCGs and 18 per
month for North East Essex CCG. Requests received by all three CCGs had been
answered within the 20 working days allowed under the Act.
The Governing Body noted the report.
21/074

MINUTES OF MEETINGS
The Governing Body received the following minutes and decisions from meetings;
a) Audit Committee
The unconfirmed minutes of an Extra-ordinary meeting held on 7 June 2021.
b) Remuneration and HR Committee
The unconfirmed minutes of a meeting held on 8 June 2021
c) Financial Performance Committee
The unconfirmed minutes of a meeting held on 19 May 2021

d) Clinical Scrutiny Committee
The minutes of a meeting held on 28 April 2021
e) Covid-19 Resource Approval Committee
Minutes from a meeting held on 12 July 2021
f) West Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The unconfirmed minutes of a meeting held on 30 June 2021
g) Commissioning Governance Committee
Minutes of a meeting held on 23 June 2021
h) CCG Collaborative Group
The minutes of a meeting held on 13 July 2021
The Governing Body endorsed the minutes as presented.
21/075

DATE AND TIME OF FUTURE GOVERNING BODY MEETINGS
0915 – 1200 hrs, Wednesday, 29 September 2021

21/076

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC
No questions were received.

_____________________________
Chair (Dr Christopher Browning)

_______________________
Date

WEST SUFFOLK CCG Governing Body
ACTION LOG: 28 July 2021 (updated)
MINUTE
DETAILS
Meeting of 24 March 2021
21/027
West Suffolk Alliance
Update

Meeting of 26 May 2021
21/049
Community
Engagement
Group
(CEG) and Patient and
Public Involvement

21/060

Questions
from
Members of the Public

Meeting of 28 July 2021
21/071
Integrated
Performance Report

ACTION

BY WHOM

TIMESCALE/UPDATE

Having noted that INTs were starting to make a difference, it
was queried whether there was any early data from
evaluation of the enhanced model. It was reported that a
maturity matrix had been put together before the
pandemic, which was underpinned by the Primary Care
Network perspective. It was intended that an overview of
the maturity matrix be provided to the July meeting.

Kate Vaughton

28/07/21 work had been paused whilst structural
changes were reviewed

The Lay Member for Patient and Public Involvement
reported that the local authority had contact with the
community team and linked closely with the West Suffolk
Alliance. There was opportunity to talk to West Suffolk
College regarding broader experiences. The Lay Member for
Patient and Public Involvement agreed to take the issue
forward with the CEG and report back.
1) Response – the question was welcomed. The ICS had a
sustainability lead and part of his remit was to review
data at locality level in order to have a better
understanding. The hospital was committed to a zero
carbon footprint and intelligence was shared with the
County Council’s lead on sustainability. The Director of
Integration agreed to investigate pulling work together
and current interventions in order that a report might be
presented to the Governing Body in November 2021.

Kate Vaughton

Ongoing

Kate Vaughton

November 2021 – on forward plan.

1)

Paul Gibara

Circulated on 24 August 2021 - Complete

A new system oversight framework had been published
to monitor performance. The framework contained a
requirement for more collaboration which included
collaboration with the Care Quality Commission in
respect of outcomes. Special measures had been
replaced with emphasis on system support processes in

MINUTE

21/072

DETAILS

GBAF

ACTION
respect of poor performance. Performance was to be
underpinned by approximately 70 key performance
indicators
and
the
Director
of
Performance
Improvement agreed to circulate further information to
Members outside of the meeting. Further guidance was
expected upon the change to an ICS.

BY WHOM

2)

Kate Vaughton

Having suggested that the CCG’s Executive carry out a
deep dive of prescribing, the Chief Operating Officer
agreed to place the item on a future agenda.
Having queried the reported risk appetite of ‘tolerate’ for risk
27a, the Director of Nursing agreed to investigate and
amend if required.

Lisa Nobes

TIMESCALE/UPDATE

GOVERNING BODY
Agenda Item No.
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Reference No.

WSCCG 21-47

Date.

29 September 2021

Title

West Suffolk Alliance Update

Lead Director

Kate Vaughton, Director of Integration

Author(s)

Jo Cowley, Senior Alliance Development Lead, WSCCG
Sandie Robinson, Associate Director of Transformation, WSCCG
Rebecca Jarvis, Deputy Director of Integration, WSCCG
Gylda Nunn, Integrated Therapies Manager and AHP lead, WSFT

Purpose

To provide an update to the Governing Body on the West Alliance.

Applicable CCG Priorities
1.

Develop clinical leadership

2.

Demonstrate excellence in patient experience & patient engagement

3.

Improve the health & care of older people

4.

Improve access to mental health services

5.

Improve health & wellbeing through partnership working

6.

Deliver financial sustainability through quality improvement

x
x
x
x
x
x

Action required by Governing Body:
Note the progress being made on individual initiatives and collaborative working across the
system. This paper provides an update on the progress being made with integration in the West
Suffolk system including specific transformation projects. This is a combined paper on Alliance
development and transformation.
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1.

Background

1.1. This paper provides a regular update for the Board about activity to transform services and
outcomes for people within the West Suffolk Alliance footprint. Several different teams
contribute to the report, from across the CCG, the hospital and Alliance partners.
1.2. The aim of the West Suffolk Alliance is to work together in West Suffolk to make lives better,
and as a collaboration we do that through our transformation programmes, but also through
the way we deal with challenges across the system – highlighted through the pandemic
where partnership working, and flexibility were key to many of the changes made on the
ground and in our approach to winter.
1.3. This autumn the health and care system are managing a number of challenges, including
high demand in the hospital Emergency Department, waiting lists for treatment and issues
with recruitment and retention across both the health and care sectors. This paper sets out
the response to these issues, showing how we are working together, alongside the
transformative work that is helping us to achieve our Alliance Ambitions for people in our
area.
1.4. As well as action within the statutory sector, the voluntary and community sector continues to
play an important part in supporting people to remain healthy and connected within their
towns and villages. The Community Restart programme run by Community Action Suffolk 1 is
offering grants and support to reopen and restart services, and the Suffolk County Council
Covid-19 Engaged Communities Fund provides funding opportunities for groups offering
practical, social, and emotional support for those who need it to help stop the spread of the
pandemic and reconnect with their local support networks.
2.

Update on the Alliance response to pressures on system demand and capacity

2.1. Ordinarily this time of year provides some respite for our health and care services following
the school holiday dip in workforce, allowing time for recovery and preparation for winter
demand.
2.2. However, the system is currently extremely challenged with all partners reporting significant
pressures. Key areas of concern locally are:
•
•
•

Rising walk-in demand into the emergency department
Hospital discharge delays due to paucity of domiciliary care and fragility of the
domiciliary care market
Rising community demand and complexity of care need likely from the impact of
deconditioning

2.3. All of the above is compounded by capacity constraints in the hospital from the Roof Fail
Safe work and workforce fatigue, and the anticipation of winter pressures.
2.4. Health and care partners continue to work together, with a shared ownership of the issues. A
System Resilience Group includes all system partners, and as well as weekly meetings there
are daily health and care tactical calls to develop, manage and escalate local urgent plans.

1

Suffolk Community Restart - Community Action Suffolk
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2.5. The workplan to mitigate risks and build additional resilience has the following key areas:
1. Supporting people on waiting lists to prevent further deconditioning through extending
virtual support through a helpline in partnership with a model of Surgery School, which
aims to prepare people well for their operation. Plans are being progressed to also
develop a community virtual Multi-Disciplinary Team (MDT) approach to support people
with alternative offers of support to surgery.
2. A working group is focussing on demand into the Emergency Department (ED) with a
focus on key areas:
a. Reducing variation in utilisation of GP Streaming and matching capacity to
demand. The CCG and hospital have agreed to increase streaming to operate
for 7 hours every Tuesday, where there had previously been a gap, over the
winter period when demand is at its peak
b. Understanding the walk-in activity better so that targeted work can commence to
support this demand differently and more appropriately
c. Increasing access to admission avoidance in ED - two additional posts have
now been funded to bolster the Early Intervention Team (EIT)
d. Introduction of Red Cross into ED to offer non-medical support to people
seeking help
e. Relaunching the High Intensive User work that was paused during the pandemic
f. Improving access and integration with mental health crisis support
3. Acute bed capacity modelling concludes that due to the Fail-Safe work the acute
hospital is approaching winter with 31 less beds than was available last year and
demand profiling predicts a further 30 community nursing beds will be required to
support hospital flow and discharge. Key actions to address this gap include:
a. Convert Rosemary Ward at Newmarket Hospital into a 33 bedded inpatient unit
supporting medically optimised patients from WSFT. The loss of the reablement
beds will need to be re-provided elsewhere
b. Maintain the 10 Ashmore Nursing Home Beds already commissioned as part of
the national funding from the Hospital Discharge Policy guidance (access to this
funding is likely to stop at the end of September and so further commissioning
will be a local cost pressure).
c. Commission a further 20 nursing home beds and a business case is in place for
system consideration and support
d. Reopen St Nicholas Hospice Beds to transfer people at end of life from WSFT –
this is already in place for a 4-week period to support the current pressures
e. Explore other offers of support from private housing organisations. Orwell
Housing have offered their support and we are proactively working through the
opportunities with them.
4. Domiciliary Care and lack of care workers is an extremely challenged area across the
whole ICS and the solutions need to be considered by the system. An ICS wide
workshop is being planned to explore the opportunities. Locally we have been building
in urgent capacity through extending the utilisation of more agency staffing in Home
First and Support to Go Home, increasing spot purchasing of beds and utilisation of
Red Cross to support more discharges.
5. Reablement responsive support to admission prevention and discharge has been
stretched through the increase in demand and complexity. A business case to maintain
the current level of capacity and extend this to stretch the level of support for future
demand is currently being considered.
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6. District nursing demand has risen exponentially throughout the pandemic with
significant rise in people requiring insulin injections. WSFT are considering a business
case for a peripatetic nursing team of 6 (whole time equivalent) to bridge the capacity
gap.
7. Finally, further work is underway to look at how we can build capacity to proactively
support more people to live at home with frailty and rising risk. Recognising that these
people may be seeking urgent help in the future. Social prescribing will be key in
supporting this and the additional offer here is currently being explored.
2.6. By the end of September our first draft local resilience plan will be ready for submission to
NHS England.
3.

Alliance Ambition 1 – empower people to lead healthy and connected lives (people)

3.1. Personalised Care: The Alliance Strategy – All about People and Places – has a strong
emphasis on ensuring that the health and care services we provide are co-ordinated,
personalised and local. Recent funding from NHS England is supporting us to expand the
programme of work to make this happen. The funding is in three parts and is being used to:
a) Create a new role of Personalised Care Programme Manager. This role is four days a
week at Band 8a and is funded for 12 months. The anticipated start date for our
successful candidate is mid-November. They will be working closely with Alliance
partners and with Ipswich and East and North East Essex Alliances, as well as with
regional and national colleagues. The “must dos” for the role from NHS England are
very much in line with our Alliance transformation plans, for instance around social
prescribing, shared decision making and ensuring that services and pathways are
redesigned around the patient.
b) Implement the use of Personalised Care and Support Planning for people in West
Suffolk living with severe mental illness, following their annual health check. About 10%
of people receiving an Annual Health Check (AHC) and a health action plan are more
vulnerable and experience barriers to accessing follow up appointments due to their
diagnosis, personal circumstances, and mental health needs. It is these patients who
are referred for Healthy Together peer support. Healthy Together peer support is
designed around people’s individual needs, choices and what matters to them,
providing meaningful intervention-based support, to help people meet their health goals
to stay well. This approach supports the move away from the Care Plan Approach
(CPA), reducing the reliance on care coordinator. Additionally, it promotes the
mentoring value of lived experience through peers delivering the support provided.
Delivery of this project is by the Suffolk User Forum working closely with primary care
and the Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust.
c) Extend the reach of the West Suffolk Health Coaching Programme to a greater number
of people working within community teams. The programme provides Health Coaching
training as an essential component of person-centred care supporting the shift in
emphasis towards prevention, empowerment and self-management. Designed as a
multi-professional training delivered in 2-day courses to groups of staff and volunteers
from across the system, to date the programme has seen 341 staff and volunteers
trained from over 25 different organisations. This phase of training will be targeted
towards those working in new roles within Primary Care Networks, such as social
prescribing link workers, care coordinators, and those working within Integrated
Neighbourhood Teams providing customer facing services. 99% of attendees on
previous courses felt strongly that a health coaching approach can support
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professionals to make a ‘mindset shift’ in relation to how they work with patients or
clients, and train the trainer is being considered within the expansion of the programme.
3.2. The West Alliance Personalisation Programme is part of a wider ICS initiative, as well as
linking through to the regional and national support infrastructure and strategy provision. This
will allow us to share best practice and reduce duplication across the three Suffolk and North
East Essex Alliances.
3.3. A Thinking Differently About Personalised Care online event is planned for the 13th October,
between 3.00 and 5.00 pm. This event will highlight work going on across the ICS to embed
personalised care and will also identify areas for future action. A link to this and all the
Thinking Differently events is on the Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System
website - https://www.sneeics.org.uk/thinking-differently/thinking-differently-together/
3.4. For
more
information
about
jo.cowley@westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk
4.

personalised

care

please

contact

Alliance Ambition 2 – Create environments that enable people to thrive (place)

4.1. Realising Ambitions final report: Realising Ambition West was established to enable the
Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector to work in partnership with the
wider health system to tackle shared strategic priorities. Realising Ambition West has funded
24 (4 micro [under £1,000] and 20 main) projects designed to address three higher strategic
objectives:
1) Improving mental health and reducing suicides,
2) supporting neighbourhood action to reduce loneliness and
3), being more proactive in relation to obesity prevention and treatment.
4.2. The programme has been able to target investment into a range of small and medium sized,
tightly localised community initiatives. These include projects which, without Realising
Ambition, would be unlikely to be able to access health funding or be drawn into the ICS’s
co-ordinated partnership approach to tackling shared priorities. Suffolk Community
Foundation (SCF) managed the bidding process, and supported successful projects through
their delivery, often helping them to adapt during the pandemic. They also collected
monitoring information and case studies.
4.3. The final report has now been produced by the Foundation. The key headlines are:
- £458,891 funding distributed
- Over £500,000 non-Realising Ambitions funding was attracted because of the SFC
involvement and the nature of the projects
- 8662 people benefited from the funding
- 529 volunteers supported delivery.
4.4. Organisations were asked to collect feedback data and case studies. An example of this is
from the Greenlight Trust (GLT) who collected the following testimonials from people who
took part in their programmes:
•
•
•

"I would rate [GLT] courses I have attended as by far improving my wellbeing as
compared with other courses including mindfulness. There is definitely more sense of
community”
"Feeling useful has given me more confidence. [It has] improved [my] mental and
physical health”
"[It's] been enjoyable. I opened up a lot”
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•
•
•
•

"Outdoor activities [have been] good for [my] health. Great opportunity to spend time in
a healing environment. I would love to do another course here”
"I have really enjoyed being back in Frithy Wood. The staff have provided a safe and
desirable environment to be part of a friendly and encouraging group”
"I have enjoyed being with people and with GLT. They have helped me a lot”
"Really enjoyable, has been terrific - staff are deciding the 'destination' of the day but
not the 'route' a lot is led by participants”

4.4.1. They also put together a you tube video showing one man’s story and describing
the impact the GLT support had had on his mental health and wellbeing https://youtu.be/EVMjFPl8R9k
4.5. The Alliance Steering Group will be discussing the report at it’s meeting on 23rd September,
to acknowledge the work that has gone on in each of the projects and to agree learning from
the programme and next steps.
4.6. The full report is available on request from Jo.cowley@westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk
5.

Alliance Ambition 3 – Develop services that are joined up accessible, responsive, and
wrapped around people and families in the communities in which they live.
(Collaborate)

5.1. Suffolk Stroke Early Supported Discharge Service update: The Suffolk Stroke Early
Supported Discharge Service [ESD] was established in 2014 to allow a smooth and early
transfer of stroke patients’ care from an inpatient stroke unit environment to a community
setting as soon as they are medically fit. It enables people to continue their rehabilitation
therapy at home, with the same intensity and expertise that they would receive in hospital.
The Suffolk ESD service was transferred to the Suffolk Alliance in April 2021 following an
extensive period of co-production with the voluntary and community sector and with people
with lived experience. The Suffolk ESD service embraced the concept of the Alliance from
day one, drawing on its extensive operational networks and existing joint working
relationships.
5.1.1. Within the first 3 months, The Suffolk ESD was successful in planning and
implementing a joint project with Home first. Working with colleagues from Social
Services, the joint taskforce managed, within 4 weeks, to establish a new workstream
that utilised existing resources to maximise the rehab input to stroke patients by
involving Home First reablement support workers in delivering specific elements of
therapy. From drawing flowcharts and pathways, to developing handover sheets and
documentation, the taskforce took a very pragmatic and collaborative approach to
make this possible and tackle all barriers.
5.1.2. This successful piece of work was replicated in a joint workstream with the Pathway
1 team, with the aim of optimising the use of resourcing and ensuring the continuity of
care for patients. The Suffolk ESD service is also working very closely with the new
specialist neuro community team (therapy and nursing) to establish systems to
support the local community teams via education and joint sessions. Future work is
underway for similar joint projects with Icanho and the voluntary sectors. Having our
ESD service lead, Ehab Georgy sit as a chairman for specific task and finish groups
as part of the ICS Neuro/Stroke boards meant that we are able to contribute to the
strategic planning and development of the neuro services in the county as well as
collaborate more effectively with other partners in the Alliance in a variety of
innovative ways.
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5.1.3. A case study showing the impact of the new service is attached as Appendix 1 to
this report.
5.1.4. For more information about the Early Supported Discharge pathway please contact
Gylda.nunn@wsh.nhs.uk
5.2. Mental health support within primary care: Our vision for West Suffolk is to improve lives
for everyone, and this aligns with an NHS England (NHSE) requirement to focus on
improving services for people with Severe Mental Illness (SMI). This includes people with
eating and personality disorders, self-harm, coexisting severe mental health problems and
substance misuse, experienced trauma etc (in addition primary care SMI register). Needs will
be addressed by timely assessment, more rapid access to a comprehensive suite of
interventions and community-based rehabilitation.
5.2.1. One of the priority actions for 2021/22 is to recruit mental health practitioners
(MHPs) to work within Primary Care. These practitioners can support population
health management through providing a combined consultation, advice, triage and
liaison function. Working with other Primary Care Network-based roles, MHPs can
address the potential range of biopsychosocial needs of patients with mental health
problems, as part of a multi-disciplinary team.
5.2.2. For Adults and older adults, in 2021/22 the agreement is to recruit two roles using
the Additional Role Reimbursement Scheme funding. For each PCN this means a
Band 7 and a Band 6 member of staff. Recruitment has been successful, and we
have just 3 Band 6 practitioners left to recruit. The table below shows the recruitment
across the 6 PCNs in West Suffolk together with expected start dates of practitioners:
PCN
Bury St Edmunds
Haverhill
WGGL
Sudbury GP Network
Forest Heath
Blackbourne

Band 7 Start dates
06.09.21
In post
11.10.2021
Est early November
06.09.21
06.09.21

Band 6 Start
dates
In post

06.09.21
06.09.21

5.2.3. As the new MHPs come into post work is going on within each PCN to see how they
can best work with the GPs and other members of the team. Learning from the
Haverhill, which was an early adopter site Is being taken on board as well.
5.2.4. These new staff are part of wider model for supporting people with mental ill health
through primary care. The team supporting the PCNs will see the new PCN
practitioners working closely with Wellbeing Link workers and with social workers. In
the coming months there will be additional Band 6 nurse capacity to support
assessments and support from Senior Psychological Wellbeing Practitioners.
5.2.5. Also underway is action to support young people with mental health problems. New
Band 7 PCN practitioners will be working with people aged under 18 years of age
alongside the expansion of Mental Health Support Teams in Schools, ensuring an
enhanced primary care model that works across education and primary care. A new
pathway into mental health services in line with the THRIVE model is under
development, with referral forms based on Signs of Safety/5Ps and including interim
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safety plans. A transition plan is to be put in place to address backlog and action
needed to put new services into place.
5.3. NHS reforms: As the guidance from NHS England and the Local Government Association
comes out 2 it becomes more and more evident that the roles of the Integrated Care System
(ICS) and the Alliances will change. Fortunately for the West Suffolk Alliance and the Suffolk
and North East Essex ICS the reforms are in line with, and support, our direction of travel.
5.3.1. Alliance partners are fully engaged with the system wide discussions at ICS level,
which are supported by two consultancy firms - Tricordant and Attain, as well as
having input from the NHS Confederation and the Kings Fund. At an Alliance level we
are taking the following actions:
-

Making sure we have representation and influence at ICS wide events
Keeping local partners up to date with system development through
presentation and discussion at key Alliance forums
Looking at how we maintain a strong clinical and professional voice locally,
within both our Alliance governance and transformation activity
Planning Alliance level workshops to involve and engage partners with the
reforms.

5.3.2. For more information about this contact jo.cowley@westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk
6.

Alliance Ambition 4 – Organising resources from across the Alliance to deliver action
to contribute to these ambitions and towards the Alliance vision (resources)

6.1. Woolpit Health Centre and West Suffolk CCG shortlisted for 2021 Health Service
Journal awards: Woolpit Health Centre and NHS West Suffolk CCG COVID vaccination
drive through has been shortlisted for Primary Care Innovation of the Year at the HSJ
Awards 2021, recognising an outstanding contribution to healthcare.
6.1.1. Woolpit Health Centre and NHS West Suffolk CCG were shortlisted for the COVID
vaccination drive through because of the ambition, visionary spirit and the
demonstrable positive impact that this project has had on both patient and staff
experiences. Around 4600 local people received their COVID vaccination at the drive
through events.
6.1.2. The press release included a comment from Dr Richard West MBE, GP at Woolpit
Health Centre, “We are so thrilled to have been shortlisted for Primary Care
Innovation of the Year. This recognition really does reflect the collaborative efforts and
dedication of our colleagues who have worked so hard to successfully deliver the
COVID vaccination drive through. Knowing that there was such stiff competition this
year really does make this announcement feel like a wonderful achievement for
everyone involved and the nomination has been a tremendous boost to staff at
Woolpit Health Centre and NHS West Suffolk CCG.”
6.1.3. For more information about the role of primary care in the vaccination programme
contact Suzanne.Hoy@suffolk.nhs.uk

2

NHS England » Integrated Care Systems: Guidance
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6.2. Vaccination inequalities – reaching people who work in factories in West Suffolk: As
part of the programme to reach people who may be experiencing barriers to getting
vaccinated the Alliance team has been working with several food production factories. From
information from the site managers, we know that a large number of the workforce have not
taken up the offer of a vaccination. By working with site managers, the Public Health
Community Engagement Team and with the Health Outreach Service we have been able to
offer bespoke clinics, with support for people who have English as a second language,
including those with questions about the vaccine, and potential side effects.
6.2.1. Whilst the numbers have been small these clinics have helped reach some of our
most under-vaccinated communities. We are also leveraging the relationships we
have built up with site managers to propose some engagement work around health
outcomes for people working in food factories in West Suffolk, that will go on into the
autumn.
6.2.2. The Site Manager at direct table provided a testimonial for the work we have done
with them. This is a small extract:
“The support we have received from WSCCG and Suffolk County Council’s Public
Health Team since then has been exceptional. We have been provided with lateral
flow tests and access to community groups who offer practical advice and additional
services to support the welfare of our staff.
“DTF is committed to the health and wellbeing of all its employees, especially during
these unprecedented times. We thank our health and local authority partners for
their continuing support and commitment to pooling resources to support individual
needs.”
6.2.3. For more information about the work we are doing to ensure equity in the delivery of
the COVID vaccine contact Katrina.hawker@westsuffolk.gov.uk
6.3. Integrated Neighbourhood Teams – a comprehensive update: Integrated Neighbourhood
Teams (INTs) are an important element of the West Suffolk health and care architecture and
an integral component to the East and West Suffolk health and care model of care developed
from the 2014 health and care review which informed the 2017 community services
procurement through both the place-based Alliances as Most Capable Providers. The model
of care is shown diagrammatically below (taken from the 2017 community services
specification):
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6.3.1. During the pandemic our local system has developed new ways of working to adapt
to the crisis and we have seen good levels of acceleration of integrated health and
care working progress faster than planned but some areas have stalled or even taken
some steps backwards including elements of Integrated Neighbourhood Team
development. The 2021/22 priorities and operational planning guidance seek systems
to build on this progress with a set of priorities for the year ahead, against a backdrop
of the challenge to restore services, meet new care demands and reduce the care
back logs that are a direct consequence of the pandemic, whilst supporting staff
recovery and taking further steps to address inequalities in access, experience, and
outcomes. A key priority is a focus on continuing the work of transforming community
services and improving discharge. Specifically, it seeks that by 31 March 2022
effective partnership working across systems must deliver on several ambitions:
1. Universal coverage of a 2-hour urgent community response at home service
operating 8am-8pm 7 days a week at a minimum and using a model in line with
national guidance. All services should be accepting referrals directly from all key
sources incl. 111, 999, general practice, social care, care homes and SDEC
services
2. Embed and mature the discharge to assess approach, improve patient flow out
of hospital with a particular focus on reducing long length of stay, build the
evidence base on discharge practices, use of pathways, outcomes and the
impact of intermediate care
3. Deliver EHCH programme in full for care homes and explore extending this to
the wider care sector. Support the development of an NHSEI care sector vision,
strategy and operating model and care sector related restoration, recovery and
transformation post-COVID-19
4. Drive a minimum standard of MDT anticipatory care drawing down on ARRS
funding and develop clear ambitions and trajectory for AC delivery across the
footprint, including structures to drive delivery through accessing ICS AC Lead
funding. Systems should work towards a population health management and
personalised care approach to improve health outcomes and health inequalities
5. Progress digital transformation including virtual wards and MDT communication
systems.
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6.3.2. Finally, the work being led by WSFT to shape the new hospital is driving a need to
review the community model of delivery which will require the support and input from
partners to ensure we take a whole system approach. This will need modelling
support from analytics to help inform the model and trajectory for changes ahead of
the new hospital opening.
6.3.3. Further information about the elements of the integrated community model and the
activity going on to support delivery is attached as Appendix 2 to this report.
6.3.4. For more information about the development of Integrated Neighbourhood Teams
contact sandie.robinson@westsuffolkccg.nhs.uk
7.

Recommendation

7.1. The Governing Body is asked to note the progress being made through the West Suffolk
Alliance and the WSCCG’s wider partnership working.
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Appendix 1

SUFFOLK Stroke Early
Supported Discharge

Case Study

What is Early Supported Discharge?
• Early Supported Discharge is an intervention for adults after a stroke that
allows their care to be transferred from an inpatient environment to a
community setting as soon as they are medically fit.
• It enables people to continue their rehabilitation therapy at home, with the
same intensity and expertise that they would receive in hospital.
• 50% of patients would be eligible.

Patient profile
Age: 87
Presentation: moderate residual disturbed dynamic balance, dysphagia, independent with walking stick but high
falls risk, assistance with personal care, meals and catheter care, in addition to cognitive deficit post-stroke.
Diagnosis: Left Partial Anterior Circulation Stroke – Left PACS.
Social history: Lives with wife and son in bungalow. Patient was main carer for wife as son works full time. Drives

and still rides bike. Previously independent.
Support services: care package on discharge from hospital (new) from HomeFirst.

Input required: Was referred to ESD for OT, physio and SLT.

Length of hospital stay

9
days

Acute
Unit

28
days

ESD

0
days

LCHT

4- WEEK TAILORED REHABILITATION PROGRAMME

Level of ESD service provision
Frequency: (2-3 x per week)
Occupational Therapy: 12 visits (9 by rehab assistants, 3 by qualified OT)
Speech and Language therapy: 10 visits (7 by rehab assistants, 3 by qualified SLT)

Physiotherapy: 1 visit (0 by rehab assistants, 1 by qualified physiotherapist)
Psychology: N/A

HomeFirst: a care plan was also handed over to HomeFirst RSWs
for daily dressing, showering and breakfast prep practice.
Part of the joint project between Home First and ESD to maximise efficiencies, collaborative working for
maximum patient benefits, and to maximise the rehab input to stroke patients by involving Home first
Reablement support workers in delivering specific elements of therapy.

Excellent Alliance work
Routine ESD

Joint work ESD + HomeFirst

Frequency &
Intensity

Maximum 15 visits within 28 days

Up to 35 practice sessions within the
28 days

Context

Rehab Sessions/exercises

Rehab Sessions/exercises
+
Functional tasks retraining performing
day-to-day tasks and activities

Timing

Rehab sessions as per scheduled visits

Practice sessions timed according to
normal routine E.g., practice lunch
prep at lunchtime, practice washing in
the morning.

Repetition

Maximum 3 times/week

Daily practice

Goals
SMART GOAL

Importance

Difficulty

Baseline

Achieved

To be able to make breakfast and lunch independently in 4 weeks

2

1

-1

1

To be able to do the hoovering safely in 4 weeks

1

1

-1

0

To be able to hang the washing out safely in 4 weeks

1

1

-1

0

To be independent with showering and dressing in 4 weeks

2

1

-1

1

Key: -1: goal not achieved

0: goal achieved

1: goal achieved to a higher level.

Outcome
measures
G oal attainment score
Care provision
Modified Carer Strain
index
Barthel Index
Modified Rankin Scale

33.1

Goals achieved to a higher level than expected

BD care package

None needed

6

2

13 /20

16 /20

3

1

Moderate disability. Requires some help, but able to walk unassisted.

Discharge destination
Onward referrals

57.5

No significant disability. Able to carry out all usual activities, despite some symptoms.

Home

Home
None needed

 LOS

Mood

 Staff
Satisfaction
 Improved
clinical outcomes

 Patient
Satisfaction

 Carer
strain

 Carer
Satisfaction

Reflection
• Patient D progressed really well and achieved all goals to a higher level than expected; a
lot of this was down to the joint and inetrgrated alliance work between ESD and
HomeFirst where day-to-day activities and tasks were practised both during rehab visits
and daily as part of the HF input.

• By discharge the patient no longer required a care package for himself, he was
independent with showering, dressing, breakfast, lunch, hoovering, and laundry/hanging
the washing out.
• This is a good example of someone who benefitted from 4 weeks of intensive input, to the
point where they felt confident going forwards, which meant a community therapy team
referral was not required. This was only possible due to the enhanced package of ESD +
HomeFirst.

Appendix 2 – Integrated Community Model
Core Integrated Neighbourhood Teams (INTs)
In autumn 2019 the transformation team developed a toolkit for supporting development of the six INTs. The
maturity matrix toolkit aimed to provide the teams with a framework of self-assessment against a set of
dimensions worked up with the locality operational leads as qualities of an INT. The first self-assessment
was conducted in late 2019 and developmental action plans were being taken forward at each INT level. The
pandemic paused further progress and more recently the integrated health and care operational structure
development work paused this again until now.
The maturity matrix has now been refreshed by the operational leads and is ready to be re-introduced to the
INTs to revisit the baselines. Operational leads are preparing to do this for completion by October and then
regularly going forwards to review trends, progress and system actions.
As an Alliance we are supporting the development of the INTs through the One Team development
programme with Module 3 scheduled to be launched shortly in September.
The remaining key recommendations from the Rethink review i including developing coterminous boundaries,
introducing capacity modelling tools and developing INT referral processes are being progressed by the
transformation and operational teams alongside this as enablers to the INT work and an action plan picking
these up is in place. The localities also have dedicated named links from the transformation team to support
the operational leads with their action plans and implementation and regular meetings to progress this are
either in place or in progress
Bury Rural =Sarah Hedges
Bury Town = Michelle Glass
Mildenhall = Hannah Pont
Sudbury = Becky Turner
Haverhill = Cara Twinch
Newmarket = Trisha Stevens
Ageing Well – Anticipatory Care
Helping people with complex needs stay health and functionally able
One of three ambitions aligned to the national Ageing Well programme ii, this is probably the least matured in
terms of progress in West Suffolk. Pre pandemic the system had a model of support to people who
frequently utilise the urgent care system (High Intensive Users), but the operational capacity was withdrawn
to support our system covid response. This now needs to restart with a focus in each locality supported by
an MDT infrastructure and access to a range of statutory and community support and is currently a priority
for the system.
Work has commenced to mature the Frailty and End of Life model of care in West Suffolk to ensure our most
vulnerable are identified both proactively and reactively. This needs to be supported by risk stratification and
aligned to ARRS funding to support cross sector MDT working including care coordination (links to maturity
matrix) but is likely to take some time to mature given the demand pressures on the system.
Requirement for reporting against this dimension is expected from Q3
Ageing Well – Enhanced Health in Care Homes
Enhanced support and better coordinated care, reablement and rehabilitation
A mature model of care that excelled in delivery during the pandemic now needs to be part of the integral
offer of support at locality level integrated with each INT and PCN as part of national Enhanced Service. The
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national Ageing Well funding is aligned to this ambition.
Our next steps are to embed operationally at locality level with each INT, embed the utilisation of the virtual
ward technology ‘whazam’ and implement the national deterioration on patient pathway. Tactical cell care
home meetings continue to meet and considering stepping up the wrap around support operationalised in
the pandemic over the winter months.
Reporting already in progress
Ageing Well – Urgent Community Response
2 hour standard for urgent community response, 2 day standard for reablement and a single point of access
for UCR utilising NHS111
Urgent community response (UCR) is the collective name for services that improve the quality and capacity
of care for people through delivery of urgent, crisis responsive care within two-hours and reablement care
responses within two-days. The national framework for UCR seeks a single, integrated service that covers all
these types of care from crisis response to reablement. The model in West Suffolk brings the Early
Intervention Team and Discharge to Assess pathway 1 together as a single responsive model working at INT
level 24/7, 7 days a week. The responsive model is currently funded through the national Ageing Well
allocations and the national Discharge from Hospital policy which expires at the end of September 2021. A
funding paper outlining the capacity needed to meet the national standards for UCR and reablement for the
rest of this financial year (and ultimately substantially) protecting our services over the winter surge period
has been submitted for system approval. Further work will continue once this urgent funding approval is
made to expand on the work to date to work through the opportunities for closer alignment and integration
with local communities to strengthen the offer and ensure our collective resources are optimised.
Two key enablers to this model include:
1. A new role to the system which has been tested out over the last year and builds on the national learning
from Integrated Health and Care Teams development around care coordination. Each INT will have an INT
coordinator who is the single point of contact for the responsive model and will be integral to the
development of the INT as the model of care matures.
2. Supportive digital technology to help more people virtually to be more independent by having access to
self-monitoring devices that are viewed remotely by the INT coordinator and case manager.
National reporting against UCR standard must be in place end of Q3
Discharge to Assess
National guidance seeks local systems deliver same day discharge 7 days a week against all four pathways
(not just pathway 1 in responsive) using the national criteria to reside guidance. In West Suffolk all four
pathways are operational and supported by an integrated discharge transfer of care hub and dedicated
system discharge coordinator. However, further improvement work is needed and being progressed in the
following areas to optimise performance ahead of winter 21/22
1. Increase in same day discharge supported by access to a discharge data set that helps the system to
plan, monitor and manage demand and ensure the 7-day working is consistently applied across the system
2. Stretch to deliver ECIST recommendations for number of discharges each day on each pathway – this is
tied up into the Responsive funding paper
3. Embedding Pathway 1 into the Responsive offer of support as part of the community operating model
4. Ensuring alternative offers of support including social prescribing are fully integrated into all pathways
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including the Urgent Community Response
5. Developing an out of hospital bed modelling plan that supports the Fail-Safe acute hospital roof
programme and associated capacity constraints
6. An urgent system therapy review to understand the opportunities of our system’s collective therapy
resources to meet the demands of the system throughout winter including a prioritisation process to maintain
urgent and elective demand capacity

ReTHINK Community Services listening exercise December 2020 commissioned by WSFT
National Ageing Well Programme : The three priorities for this funding are:
• Deliver at pace Urgent Community Response (UCR) services to operate seven days a week, delivering against the
national standards for Urgent Community Response (within two hours for urgent care and two days for accessing
intermediate care and reablement services). Prepare for a rapid expansion of these services for 2021/22.
• Implement the clinical domains of the Enhanced Health in Care Homes framework by the end of 2020/21 supported
by the network Direct Enhanced Service (DES) contract funding.
• Jointly with Primary Care Networks develop new service models of Anticipatory Care to help people stay well

i

ii
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Action required by Governing Body:
To note the work undertaken and the evolving procurement work programme for 2021/22.
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1.

Update

1.1

The table below summarises the current health service procurement activity.

Procurement Name

Vasectomy and Minor Surgery Services
Lot 1 - Level 3 Minor Surgery
Lot 2 - Vasectomy

ITT
Bidders

Awarded to

Contract
Start

Lot 1 - 4
Lot 2 - 4

Lot 1 - IESCCG - ID Medical Nov 2021
/ WSCCG Swan Surgery
Lot 2 - MSI Reproductive,
Swan Surgery and Tollgate
Clinic

Pathology Services

Procurement approach agreed - start date tbc

Mental Health assurance

Portfolio of assurance and procurement - ongoing

Secure Mental Health Transport

Details of approach below start date tbc

Dementia Services

tbc

Neuro beds

Approach and start date tbc

tbc

Apr 2022

Please note table does not include procurements being undertaken exclusively for Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG

Current Procurements
1.2

Minor Surgery and Vasectomies
The Minor Surgery and Vasectomies procurement was released on the 26th March and has
successfully completed the standstill period without challenge.
As approved by both CCGs contract awards have been made to the following Providers:
- Lot 1a - East Level 3 Minor Surgery awarded to ID Medical.
- Lot 1b - West Level 3 Minor Surgery awarded to Swan Surgery.
- Lot 2 - Vasectomy Services delivered as an Any Qualified Provider market across East
and West Suffolk awarded to MSI Reproductive, Swan Surgery and Tollgate Services.
The mobilisation phase is now underway, and the contracts are due to start in November
2021.

1.3

Pathology Services
The CCG currently commissions Pathology Services across the Integrated Care System
through a contract with North Essex & East Suffolk Pathology Services (NEESPS).
The specification has now been agreed by Clinical Executive and a paper has been produced
to outline the proposed commercial sourcing process, which will be implemented once this has
been approved.

1.4

Mental Health Assurance
The transformation work continues within mental health services and the requirement for
procurement of services is now better understood.
On the 23rd September the assurance workbooks from the Provider Alliances will be received
covering, Crisis, Children & Young People, Community and Learning Disabilities & Autism.
These workbooks will then progress through a multi-disciplinary assurance process assigning
assurance ratings and working with the providers to develop a service develop improvement
plan and roadmap for each discipline.
On the 24th September a market engagement process is being held to outline to the provider
market the work which has been undertaken so far and the developments yet to come within

mental health services. This event will also outline the procurement to develop a mental
health support framework, which will allow easier access to interested parties as the CCG,
NSFT and SCC move along the transformation journey. The framework will also allow the
commissioning of services which are already identified as needing support.
Outcomes of the assurance process are due to be presented to governing body in January
2022 and for the procurement element the outcome of the evaluation and moderation will be
presented in March 2022.
1.5

Secure Mental Health Transport
An approach to sourcing secure mental health transport has been agreed with colleagues from
Norfolk and Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (NSFT), however, the specification is still under
review, so this procurement process has not yet started.
The CCG will release a notice advertising for providers to be awarded a zero-value contract
within an any qualified provider market. It is envisaged that the providers will be ranked
according to their value for money score and this ranked list will provide the basis of an agreed
list of preferred providers which NSFT can approach to secure this level of transportation
without prior approval from the CCG.
This procurement will be prioritised when additional resource starts within the CCG in early
October 2021.

1.6

Dementia Services
The contract notice for Dementia Services was released on the 16th July and submissions
have now been returned for evaluation. The contract is jointly commissioned by both CCGs
and Suffolk County Council and the panel will reflect this. The outcome of the evaluation and
moderation is due to be presented to Governing Body in November.

Future Procurements
1.7

A number of other services are currently under review and the outcome of these reviews may
fall into the procurement pipeline depending on the need identified, such as Neurological
Beds.

2.

Other updates

2.1

Procurement Policy regarding Anchor Organisations, Social Value and Sustainability is
evolving locally, and the Procurement Lead continues to be involved in conversations across
the Integrated Care System on how procurement and pre-procurement practices need to
evolve in order to ensure these elements are prominent throughout assurance and tendering.

2.2

The Procurement Lead also continues to be actively involved in the Provider Selection Regime
Reference Group run by NHS England. This small group of procurement professionals’ review
and advise on NHS England’s implementation of the Provider Selection Regime for the
procurement of NHS Healthcare Services.

3.

Key Points

3.1

The following list shows services which are likely to be in the procurement portfolio over the
coming year; the shaded areas denote when it is anticipated that these will be actively
tendered and mobilised. Please note some projects do not have a set start date.

Please note this list does not include any West Suffolk CCG only procurements

4.

Patient and Public Involvement

4.1

The Procurement Lead has secured service user representatives for all procurements as they
commence, at this stage that includes Dementia Support Services.

4.2

The Procurement Lead is working with the Patient and Public Involvement team to ensure that
both the mental health procurement and assurance processes have meaningful representation
and involvement throughout. So far, the opportunity to take part has been publicised widely
and a number of individuals have come forward. Two open sessions are being held to help
those individuals understand what would be required of them during the processes and to
answer any questions they may have.

4.3

The Lead for Procurement and the Patient and Public Involvement Team also met with
Healthwatch Suffolk to consider how their co-production team could support during and after
the initial procurement and assurance processes.

5.

Recommendation

5.1

The Governing Body is asked to note the work undertaken and the evolving procurement work
programme for 2021/22.
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Action required by the Governing Body:
The Governing Body is requested to:
• Note the further extension of the emergency finance period for the remainder of 21-22
• Note the planning timetable for H2
• Delegate approval of the H2 financial plan and budget to the Financial Performance
Committee, for final sign off by the Governing Body.
• Approve the extension of the Covid-19 resource allocation committee and temporary
financial delegation limits until 31 March 2022.
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1.

Background

1.1

At its meetings in May the Governing Body received a report on planning for the first half of
the financial year 21-22, which included approval of the CCG’s budget for this period.

1.2

NHS finances have been running very differently to normal since April 2020 due to the
coronavirus pandemic. National emergency financial arrangements were originally put into
place between April and July 2020 these have subsequently been extended on a number of
occasions and extended into the current financial year. These arrangements include
additional funding for NHS organisations to offset specific additional costs associated with
responding to the pandemic, suspension of planning and contracting and an emergency
block payment system for providers which has been calculated and mandated centrally.

1.2

CCG allocations for April to September 2021 were notified in late March allowing the CCG,
along with NHS partners in the Integrated Care System, to develop budgets for the first half
of the year (H1). At the time of writing this report, formal notification of allocations has not
been received from October onwards, with an expectation that detailed plans and budgets
are approved during October and November.

2

September Update

2.1

The expected timetable for H2 planning has been reviewed by the Financial Performance
Committee with key dates highlighted below:
•
•
•

2.2

Operational planning, financial and contracting guidance and supporting technical guidance
publication – 16 September (now expected w/c 20 September)
Plan (other than finance) submission window- 14 October – 11 November
Financial plan submission window – 8-11 November
Whilst the formal guidance and allocations have not yet been received, information on the
likely contents have been shared by the regional and national teams including:

•
•
•
•

Continuation of arrangements for H1 including block contracts for providers, Covid-19 and
provider top-up funding
Extension of the Elective Recovery Fund to support additional elective activity
Partial continuation of the Hospital Discharge Programme
Increased requirement for efficiency savings, and reductions in the funding provided for
Covid-19

2.3

As allocations are expected imminently, a verbal update will be given to the Governing
Body.

2.4

The timing of the H2 planning guidance and financial allocations means that sign-off doesn’t
fit neatly with the schedule of Governing Body meetings. The Governing Body is therefore
requested to delegate approval of the financial plan and budget to the financial performance
committee, with a report back to the Governing Body in November.

3

Extension of temporary financial arrangements until the end of September

3.1

To facilitate the operational delivery agenda, and support the vaccination programme, it is
proposed that the processes put in place by the CCG to facilitate robust and expedient
financial decision making are extended to the end of March 2022 in line with the national
financial arrangements.

3.2

The specific measures which the Governing Body is asked to extend are set out overleaf.
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A

Continuation of the Covid Resource Allocation Committee

3.3

This committee which works across the 3 CCGs in Suffolk and North East Essex has been
in place since 1 April 2020. Whilst it is the aim of the committee to ensure decision making
is made at CCG/alliance level where appropriate, there are times when the added flexibility
and timeliness provided the joint committee mean that decisions can be taken in a more
timely manner.

3.4

Oversight for decisions made by the committee would continue to be via the Financial
Performance Committee with the minutes being reported to the Governing Body.

B

Continuation of the Changes to Delegated Authorisation Levels

3.5

The delegated limits for directors and senior officers were increased during 2020-21 to
facilitate decision making (attached in appendix 1). It is proposed that this change is
extended until the end of March 2022, after which the scheme of delegation for the new
Integrated Care System will come into place. The increased limits have only been used on
a limited number of occasions, with decisions being overseen by the Covid Resource
Allocation Committee.

4.

Recommendation

4.1

The Governing Body is requested to:
• Note the further extension of the emergency finance period for the remainder of 21-22
• Note the planning timetable for H2
• Delegate approval of the H2 financial plan and budget to the Financial Performance
Committee, for final sign off by the Governing Body.
• Approve the extension of the Covid-19 resource allocation committee and temporary
financial delegation limits until 31 March 2022.
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Appendix 1
Current and Proposed Limits of Financial Authority:
Relevant DETAILED
FINANCIAL POLICIES
Section
Authorisation of waiver of
Formal tendering
procedures

Delegated to

Financial Limit
(Original)

Financial Limit
(Temporary measures
approved for 2020-21)

Operational
Responsibility

Financial limit as delegated to
each Budget holder as
agreed and set by the Chief
Executive and Director of
Finance and reviewed from
time to time (for the
avoidance of doubt such
financial limit shall not exceed
£37,999).

Financial limit as delegated to
each Budget holder as agreed
and set by the Chief Executive
and Director of Finance and
reviewed from time to time (for
the avoidance of doubt such
financial limit shall not exceed
£37,999).

Senior Officers *

Up to £38,000

Up to £500,000

Senior Officer

Chief Executive following
consultation with the Director of
Finance and with the Chair on all
significant proposals, where
possible.

Up to £250,000

Up to £1,000,000

Chief Executive and
Director of Finance
following consultation
with the Chair on all
significant proposals

CCG Governing Body

Over £250,000

Budget holders

Authorisation of Tenders
and Competitive Quotations
Commissioning
Non-Pay Expenditure

Budget holder

Capital Investment
* Senior Officers include:
Chief Executive
Director of Finance
Director of Performance
Improvement
Director of Nursing
Chief Operating Officer

(Up to £3,000,000 in exceptional
circumstances, on consultation
with the chair only) (N1)
Over £1,000,000

Senior Officer

* The Senior Officers named above may be substituted for their nominated deputy in the instance that the Senior Officer is unavailable.
N1 – where the exceptional circumstances limit is used, this expenditure is to be brought to the next available Governing Body for review.

Appendix 2
Proposed Limits for CHC Approval
Packages or equipment costs of £700/week or under:
• Nurse Co-ordinators or;
• Director of Nursing (or nominated deputy) or;
• Head of CHC, Clinical Lead or;
• Head of CHC, Operational Lead; or
• Clinical Commissioning Manager/Locality Manager; or
• CHC PHB Clinical Lead
Packages or equipment costs of £1500/week or under:
•
•
•
•
•

Director of Nursing (or nominated deputy) or;
Head of CHC, Clinical Lead or;
Head of CHC, Operational Lead; or
Clinical Commissioning Manager/Locality Manager; or
CHC PHB Clinical Lead

Packages or equipment costs of £4000/week or under:
•
•
•

Director of Nursing (or nominated deputy) or;
Head of CHC, Clinical Lead or;
Head of CHC, Operational Lead

Packages or equipment costs of over £4000/week:
•

Director of Nursing (or nominated deputy) and;

One of the following:
•
•

Head of CHC, Clinical Lead or;
Head of CHC, Operational Lead
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Summary – (1 of 2)
Provider

Service

Quality

Performance

Demand vs
19/20

Productivity vs
19/20

Workforce

Transformation

Contract
Finance

Provider
finance

Key changes in
month

West Suffolk
NHS FT

Acute

CQC: Requires
Improvement
Local: Level 3

Key metrics
missed

Referrals down
ED attends up

Throughput
improving

Work in
progress

Work in
progress

Work in
progress

Work in
progress

Demand and
throughput
down

Mixed
performance

Mixed data

Mixed data

Work in
progress

Work in
progress

Work in
progress

Work in
progress

No key changes

Key metrics
missed

Referrals down
ED attends
down

Throughput
down

Not locally
reviewed
(CPCCG)

See WSFT

Work in
progress

Work in
progress

Demand and
throughput
down

Community
(West Alliance)

Cambridge
University
Hospitals NHS
FT

Acute

CQC: Good
Not locally
reviewed
(CPCCG)
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Summary – (2 of 2)
Provider

Service

Quality

Performance

Demand vs
19/20

Productivity vs
19/20

Workforce

Transformation

Contract
Finance

Provider
finance

Key changes in
month

Norfolk and
Suffolk NHS FT

Mental Health

CQC: Requires
Improvement
Local: Level 3

Key metrics
missed

Demand down

Mixed metrics

All metrics
missed

Work in
progress

Work in
progress

Work in
progress

Youth
treatment
performance
deteriorating
Vacancy rate
climbing

Practice Plus
Group

Integrated
Urgent Care
Service

CQC: Good
Local: Level 2

Key metrics not
met

Calls up on
20/21, down on
plan

On line
throughput up

Good National
Level of Staff

Work in
progress

Work in
progress

Work in
progress

Not reviewed

E-Zec

Patient
Transport

CQC: Not rated
yet
Local: Level 2

Mixed metrics

Referrals down

See demand

Work in
progress

Not applicable

Under plan

Not reported

Quality rating
improved

Not all projects
on track

Block contract

No reporting in
M2

East of England
Ambulance
Service NHS FT

Emergency

CQC: Requires
Improvement
Local: Level 2

C1T achieved
and lower
urgency calls.
C1 and C2
requires
improvement

Activity 4%
increase

Activity 4%
increase, C2
calls 10%
reduction

Local staffing
numbers on
track – skill
level in balance
against
requirement

4

Key Issues M4
West Suffolk Alliance
1.
2.

3.

Covid19 2 vaccination program roll out
Securing longer term capacity and
integration:
•
Development of Primary Care
Networks;
•
Embedding Integrated
Neighbourhood Teams
•
Future Systems work -future shape
of the health system in West Suffolk.
•
Recruiting to ARRS PCN roles
Addressing inequalities such as eliminating
rough sleeping

Pan Essex
1. Covid19 recovery
2. Joint working with ECC County Council re
Care homes and Connect discharge
programme
3. Children’s EWMHS services procurement
progressing on timeline

Pan Suffolk
1. Mental
Issue 1 Health Transformation
2. Joint
Issue working
2
with Suffolk County
3. Council
Issue 3
3. Children’s services integration/
development
Integrated Care system
1. ICS
Issue
strategic
1
priorities such as
2. cancer,
Issue 2 stroke care etc.
3. Reducing
2.
Issue 3 health inequalities
3. Improving sustainability

Ipswich and East Suffolk Alliance
1.

2.

3.

Implementing the community mental
health model with full integration with
INTs
System wide demand management –
urgent and emergency as well as
planned care
Equity of outcomes - addressing
inequalities

Pan ESNEFT issues

Pan ESNEFT issues
1. RTT elective recovery- maintaining
1. Issue
safety1of patients with long waits;
2. Issue
2
maximising
independent sector
3. Issue
3 to clear waiting lists
capacity
2. Diagnostic testing capacity
3. Cancer performance

North East Essex Alliance
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Covid19 vaccination delivery in primary care hubs, and aligned Flu planning
Primary care Covid Recovery and access demand.
Focus on Inequalities and the future systems integration agenda. Integration Case for Change
Alliance board for sign off in August.
System planning for winter and beds alongside elective recovery and the Accelerator site
developments and delivery. Focus on delivery of first aid training to reduce UC demand.
Suicide prevention activities and crisis demand.

5
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West Suffolk FT - Month 4 YTD – Quality Plan on a Page
CCG Quality Assurance
Rating:
Month updated:

CQC Rating:

Level 3 (→ from last month)
Sep-21 (Jul-21 data)

Issues / Concerns / Comments

West Suffolk Foundation Trust (WSFT)

2020: Requires improvement

1.

Ongoing recruitment of midwives to be able to deliver continuity of carer
model.

2.

During June there was a reported Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococcus
(VRE) outbreak at West Suffolk Hospital.

3.

Recovery of services following the pandemic.

4.

WSFT has a Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) value
of 0.9253 for the period March 2020 – February 2021. COVID-19 activity
has been excluded from the SHMI. The SHMI is not designed for this
type of pandemic activity and the statistical modelling used to calculate
the SHMI may not be as robust if such activity were included.

Actions / Progress
1.

Actions already in place include rolling adverts, early recruitment of newly
qualified staff, financial incentives and Local Maternity & Neonatal System
(LMNS) recruitment drive.

2.

Admission and discharge screening are now in place. Weekly internal
meetings continue with monthly Incident Management Team (IMT)
meetings.

3.

There has been a significant focus on recovery, however theatre capacity
is reduced due to the structural issues, therefore impacting recovery. The
decant ward is now open and will be used to provide additional flexibility
whilst the estates programme progresses.

4.

WSFT’s SHMI value is “as expected” when all contextual indicators are
taken into consideration. WSFT had a higher than expected number of
deaths with a diagnosis of fluid and electrolyte disorders (30 as opposed
to 20 expected) however had a lower than expected number of deaths with
a diagnosis of Pneumonia (115 as opposed to 145 expected). All other
diagnosis group deaths were as expected.
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West Suffolk FT – Month 4 – Top 10 Performance Items
Standard

This
Month

Last
Month

18 wk RTT Incomplete(N)

92.0%

66.0%

65.4%

RTT 52 Week Waiters(N)

0

2,213

2,302

18 wk RTT Incomplete(N)

15,395

23,205

23,096

1.0%

36.4%

35.7%

Standard

This
Month

Last
Month

All Cancer 2 week wait(N)

93.0%

63.3%

56.3%

Two week wait for breast symptoms(N)

93.0%

89.8%

53.0%

96.0%

100.0%

85.0%
Standard

Elective

Diagnostic test waiting times(N)
Cancer

Cancer 31 day wait: Percentage receiving 1st
treatment within one month of cancer
diagnosis (N)
Cancer 62 day wait: urgent GP referral for
suspected cancer(N)
A&E
A&E 4 Hour Standard-Nat'l

95.0%

Assurance

SPC Trend

Consistently
failed
Both met and
failed
Consistently
failed
Both met and
failed

Special cause
variation: Low
Special cause
variation: High
Special cause
variation: High
Special cause
variation: High

Assurance

SPC Trend

Both met and
failed
Both met and
failed

Special cause
variation: Low
TBD - Trend or
CCV

100.0%

Consistently
met

TBD - Trend or
CCV

75.3%

81.3%

Both met and
failed

TBD - Trend or
CCV

This
Month

Last
Month

Assurance

SPC Trend

No Data No Data

No Data
Collected

Part of A&E Pilot

ISSUES:
RTT – Activity at WSFT is now running at c 90%. Work is
ongoing to increase this number. The remedial Estate works in
the Trust is continuing.
Cancer –Due to a battle building during Covid, waits are longer
than the National standard.
Non Elective – Demand increasing and creating significant
capacity challenges.
Diagnostics – Endoscopy and Ultrasound waits remain a
challenge.
ACTIONS:
RTT – Trust and the CCG are purchasing additional capacity
from the IS. Dedicated team in place to support the Trust in
their recovery programme. Increased focus on 104 week waits.
Cancer – A recovery trajectory and improvements are in place
and long waits are reducing.
Non Elective –System wide response to improving urgent care
flow.
Diagnostics – Additional endoscopy capacity is in place and a
recovery plan for Ultrasound is being developed.
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West Suffolk Community – Month 4 Key Performance Items
Adult

Standard

This Month

Last Month

Assurance

SPC Trend

% of patients seen following triage within 72 hrs.

95.0%

99.6%

99.7%

No data
available

Consistently
met
Consistently
met
Both met and
failed
Consistently
failed

TBD - Trend or
CCV
TBD - Trend or
CCV
TBD - Trend or
CCV
Special cause
variation: High

% of patients seen following triage within 4 hrs.

95.0%

100.0%

100.0%

95.0%

100.0%

100.0%

3.5%

No data
available

Standard

This Month

Last Month

Assurance

SPC Trend

95.0%

38.1%

20.8%

95.0%

27.3%

21.1%

95.0%

57.1%

54.5%

90.0%

95.6%

88.5%

18 week RTT for Paediatric Consultant led services

95.0%

62.7%

47.9%

18 week RTT for Paediatric non-Consultant led services

95.0%

89.1%

95.8%

Both met and
failed
Consistently
failed
Both met and
failed
Consistently
met
Consistently
failed
Both met and
failed

TBD - Trend or
CCV
TBD - Trend or
CCV
TBD - Trend or
CCV
Special cause
variation: Low
TBD - Trend or
CCV
Special cause
variation: Low

Standard

This Month

Last Month

Assurance

SPC Trend

94.3%

97.3%

97.1%

95.0%

90.3%

93.1%

90.0%

44.8%

59.8%

92.0%

75.0%

57.1%

95.0%

75.0%

0.0%

95.0%

100.0%

100.0%

95.0%

100.0%

100.0%

Consistently
met
Both met and
failed
Both met and
failed
Consistently
met
Both met and
failed
Consistently
met
Both met and
failed

Special cause
variation: Low
Special cause
variation: Low
Special cause
variation: Low
Special cause
variation: Low
TBD - Trend or
CCV
TBD - Trend or
CCV
TBD - Trend or
CCV

% of patients seen following triage – emergency within 2
hrs. (Referrals to REACT and EIT Teams)
Improving discharges and maintaining delayed transfers
of care at a minimum level
Children and Yound People
CYP-SALT % of children started treatment within 12
weeks of initial assessment-Commiunity Clinics
CYP-SALT % of children started treatment within 12
weeks of initial assessment-Mainstream schools
CIC % of initial health assessments completed within 15
WD of receiving all relevant paperwork.
% of responses submitted to the Local Authority (LA)
within 6 weeks of receipt of the request

Specialist
Standard equipment delivered on Time
18 week RTT for non-Consultant led services - (West
Community - 10 services)
Care Coordination Centre
% of calls answered within 60 seconds
CYP % of Service Users where equipment was delivered
in 18 weeks of being referred to the service
Lymphoedema service (west only) % of palliative
referrals seen within 2 weeks of referral
Lymphoedema service (west only) % of urgent referrals
seen within 4 weeks of referral
Lymphoedema service (west only) % of routine referrals
seen within 14 weeks of referral

ISSUES
Service restoration plans are in development and key
risks have been identified. Discussions are ongoing
focusing on resilience across the winter. Whilst the
services are experiencing challenges, overall
performance against the contract Key Performance
Indicators is good.
Children’s services:
1. Children in Care – Completion of Initial Health
Assessments within 28 days of a child entering care –
The pathway has been reviewed and there is sufficient
clinical assessment capacity to consistently deliver the
performance threshold. The main breach reasons are
either due to delays in receipt of paperwork from the
Local Authority, DNAs, or carers declining earliest
appointment. An improvement plan to address the
main breach areas is in progress.
2. The waiting list for Autistic Spectrum Disorder
assessment is up to 1 year and NICE guidance
recommends assessments are completed within six
months of referral. The waiting list issue pre dates the
pandemic, although has been exacerbated by it. A
proposal to address the backlog has been developed
and will go through governance for decision making in
October.
18 week Referral to Treatment Consultant Paediatric
breaches. It has been identified that most breaches
relate to the ASD assessment backlog and the positive
impact on a reduction in breaches has been included in
the above proposal.

3. The Care coordination Centre call response times
have lengthened. A recovery plan is being developed.
The Clinical Quality audits demonstrate the service is
safe and effective.
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West Alliance Transformation Programmes 2021 – 22 Out Of Hospital Programme
Overall
Programme RAG

Apr-21

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

At Risk

At Risk

At Risk

Sep-21

Oct-21

Nov-21

Dec-21

Jan-22

Feb-22

Mar-22

Programme Status: At Risk
Project

INT Development

RAG

At Risk

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Due to the current system pressures leading to serious
challenges in patient flow through the acute and community
services, especially in integrated urgent emergency care, a large
amount of transformation resources has been redirected to the
4 iUEC workstreams recently formed to support the work
needed to be carried out. This includes a focus of ED attendance
especially minor walk in's to ED and integrating mental health
crisis work. Also there is a large amount of resource going into
development the west Suffolk winter plan, which is being
accelerated due to the high demand and challenged flow in the
acute currently. The national, regional and local shortage in the
home care provider market is having significant impact on all
aspects of health and social care, which have been escalated to
the ICS.
INT development continues to be progressed as part of the
integrated structure. The revised baselines using the maturity
matrix will be complete in October and will inform the One
Team programme work . The geographical boundaries for the
INTs and local referral pathways work continues to make
positive progress. The investment in delivery of the 2 hr urgent
community response and 2 day reablement response through
the responsive paper will have a significant impact on the INT’s
ability to support more people at home.

Project

Ageing Well

RAG

On track

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Anticipatory Care - this is probably the least matured in terms of progress in west
Suffolk. Pre pandemic the system had a model of support to people who
frequently utilise the urgent care system (High Intensive Users), but the
operational capacity was withdrawn to support our system covid response. This
now needs to restart with a focus in each locality supported by an MDT
infrastructure and access to a range of statutory and community support and is
currently a priority for the system.
Work has commenced to mature the Frailty and End of Life model of care in west
Suffolk to ensure our most vulnerable are identified both proactively and
reactively. This needs to be supported by risk stratification and aligned to ARRS
funding to support cross sector MDT working including care coordination (links to
maturity matrix) but is likely to take some time to mature given the demand
pressures on the system.
Requirement for reporting against this dimension is expected from Q3
Urgent Community Response - The model in west Suffolk brings the Early
Intervention Team and Discharge to Assess pathway 1 together as a single
responsive model. The responsive model is currently funded through the national
Ageing Well allocations and the national Discharge from Hospital policy which
expires at the end of September 2021. A funding paper outlining the capacity
needed to meet the national standards for UCR and reablement for the rest of
this financial year (and ultimately substantially) protecting our services over the
winter surge period has been submitted for system approval. Further work will
continue once this urgent funding approval is made to expand on the work to
date to work through the opportunities for closer alignment and integration with
local communities to strengthen the offer and ensure our collective resources are
optimised.
Part of the responsive offer includes a new role to the system which has been
tested out over the last year and builds of the national learning from Integrated
Health and Care Teams development around care coordination. Each INT will
have an INT coordinator who is the single point of contact for the responsive
model and will be integral to the maturity of the INT as the model of care
9
matures.
National reporting against UCR standard must be in place end of Q3

West Alliance Transformation Programmes 2021 – 22 Out Of Hospital Programme
Project

Community EOL
and Frailty

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

This month we have continued to make progress in developing the
End of Life model of care, as well as identifying key actions to be
explored to support system resilience and potential test and learn
opportunities to support winter pressures are being explored with St
Nicholas Hospice. The West Suffolk EOL Programme Group meetings
have been reinstated with terms of reference agreed and key
stakeholders providing feedback on the proposed programme plan as
well as potential outcome measures. Funding has been identified for
a transformation lead to scope the ReSPECT roll out across ICS for
four months initially, however both internal and external recruitment
process have been unsuccessful. This has now been extended out to
WSFT and ESNEFT colleagues. EOL pilot (RoSI) for single source
platform incorporating ReSPECT continues to develop with business
case drafted (led by digital) and governance structure and project
On Track plan revised. November date for pilot agreed as the aspiration with
key stakeholders.
The Frailty Model of Care development continues with a common
definition of frailty agreed with all key stakeholders. All data sets have
been submitted to Adcuris who are supporting the demand
management modelling and potential impact on the Alliance plan as
well as the acute schedule of accommodation through the Future
Systems programme. Exploring community working with WSFT
geriatricians and initial conversations regarding the development of a
West Suffolk frailty framework underway. The frailty therapy
specialists continue to support the acute to community frailty
pathway and are working with Public Health England and
Healtheanalytics on a pilot in Mildenhall/ Brandon locality to support
patients with mild to moderate frailty.

Project

Data, Digital,
Estates and
Workforce
roadmap

RAG

On track

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Digital road map is being finalised and being used to inform West Suffolk Alliance
Digital plan. WHZAN – Usage Data being reviewed and planning in progress with
regard to how support Care Homes maximise opportunities of device. Current
Health – Enhanced INT, options for support to increase utilisation being explored
(including provision of approved scales. Workforce challenges are being picked
up by the ICS as they are across the region but the west continues to play an
integral part into developing the solutions. The gaps in data and having system
wide visibility is being addressed at both alliance and ICS wide level to ensure
that all system partners have insight into each others current pressures.
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West Alliance Transformation Programmes 2021 – 22 Elective Care (Accelerator
Programme)
Overall
Programme RAG

Apr-21

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

On Track

On Track

On Track

Sep-21

Oct-21

Nov-21

Dec-21

Jan-22

Feb-22

Mar-22

Programme Status:

Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Project

RAG

Review of compliance against the 24 GIRFT pathways relevant to West
Suffolk completed. Prioritisation of specialities to determine where
greatest gains can be made is underway with the clinical leads. Other
cross cutting findings will be aligned to existing workstreams.

HVLC/ Accelerator
Programme

End to End mapping of the MSK/Ortho pathway is complete and a work
plan is in place, aligned to the system wide programme (see
Eye Care
On Track MSK/Ortho programme)
Programme
Eye care pathway reviews are underway to identify opportunities for
enhanced community activity (see Eye Care programme)

On Track

First meeting of the Eye Care Board has taken place. SNEE wide priorities
relating to workforce, demand and capacity, Diagnostic Hub and digital have
been identified. Place based plans to be developed in advance of the next
meeting.
WS Eye Care Working Group in place. Place based plan in development.
Milestones identified:
1. Establish Optimal Eye Care pathways
2. Enhance Community Provision
3 Reduce backlog and manage demand
4. West Suffolk system workforce plan – being taken forward at SNEE level
with input from ‘place stakeholders’.
5. Establish a community diagnostic hub – being taken forward at SNEE level
with input from ‘place stakeholders’.

On Track

Mapping of MSK/Ortho completed and variances between East & West
Suffolk service provision identified. High level priority areas defined.
Assessment against MSK high impact changes is underway.

A West Suffolk Elective Recovery and Transformation Group is in place.
Additional activity is being undertaken through use of the independent
sector and the Vanguard Unit and mutual aid is underway with ESNEFT.

Cardiology Programme On Track

Primary Care

WSFT currently identifying local priorities. End to end mapping is work
in progress.

MSK/Ortho
Programme

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Requirements for a clinical helpline currently being scoped with primary care. Initial discussions with WSFT and Prescribing Services LTD to scope helpline model in progress. Awaiting
details on level of demand for the helpline.
On Track Meeting with WSFT consultants and PALS to take place early September to discuss Surgery School model and scope if the model can be extended to support a ‘helpline’ concept.
Out of hospital support re waiting well initiatives being scoped. Exploring use of Eclipse to identify patients. Meeting being planned with WSFT orthopaedic team to scope out how an
online session will work – using the Berkshire model as an example.

11

West Alliance Transformation Programmes 2021 – 22 Elective Care (Outpatients
Transformation)
Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Project

RAG

A&G closed for April 21 (604); May 21 (587); June 21 (719); July (693).

Advice &
Guidance

On Track

Compliance against A&G national targets:
• Responding to requests within 48 hours – WSFT performance in June was 64.4%
above the SNEE median of 59.6%.
• Responding within 7 Days. Performance is 90.7% against a SNEE median of 88.2%.
• Plan to embed monitoring of A&G performance as part of business as usual.
Conversations with ADOs to be scheduled.

Patient
Initiated
Follow Up
(PIFU)

At Risk

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

• Still awaiting solution from Cerner regarding reporting of PIFU
• Baseline assessment completed with the regional team.
• Data from July PIFU submission:
• 123 patients who had an appointment in July and the outcome
was PIFU.
• 439 patients who were on PIFU as at 1st July.

Virtual Consultations - There has been a reduction of New and Follow Up
appointments delivered virtually but remains above national target of 25%. This is
attributed to clinicians deciding to see patients face to face as they clear the backlog.
Virtual
On Track
Consultations

Month
July 2021
August 2021

Virtual
New
23.68%
21.15%

Virtual
Follow Up
27.51%
25.87%

Patient Portal

On Track

•
•

We continue to focus on recruitment to the portal.
We now have 7,163 patients registered against a target of 10,000.
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West Alliance Transformation Programmes 2021 – 22 Elective Care (Outpatients
Transformation)
Project

RAG

Digital:
WASP

On Track

Digital:
DrDoctor

On Track

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

• Phase 1 pilot to start w/c 6 September and due to be rolled out
across WSFT from 20 September.
• A&G solution will form part of phase 2. Dates yet to be
determined.

Project

Digital:
Telederm

• DrDoctor being used successfully to contact patients on the waiting
list. To date contact over 2,000 T&O; Gynae; ENT and Urology
patients. 76% responded to the text message of which 7% indicated Digital:
MMODAL
that they no longer require an appointment. This has helped to
support further risk stratification of patients.

RAG

At Risk

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

• Go live with Skin Analytics planned for October.

On Track • Will be rolled out again in the second week of October.
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West Alliance Transformation Programme Headlines 2021 – 22
• July Data for A&E is under-reported due to warehouse issues. Inpatients and Outpatients are possibly under-reported too although not as easily
identifiable. Therefore, please use the below bullet points as well as the data in the dashboard with caution.
• WSCCG at WSFT A&E attendances are 39.7% greater than YTD last year.

• WSCCG at WSFT emergency admissions are 28.5% greater than YTD last year.
• WSCCG at WSFT OP attends (face to face, telephones & procedures, 1st and Follow ups) are 60.3% greater than YTD last year.
• WSCCG at WSFT Elective admissions are 236.7% greater than YTD last year. This large increase is due to significant reduction in elective activity from May
2020.

• WSCCG at WSFT readmissions for ages 75+ is 45.5% greater than YTD last year. The Readmission rate is below the 18% target, currently at 17.7%
• WSCCG at WSFT over 65’s A&E attendances is 27.3% greater than YTD last year. Emergency admissions are 22.9% greater than YTD last year.

• WSCCG ambulance call outs have increased YTD compared to last year with a combined increase of 10.2% YTD. All age groups have increased with the
biggest increase in paediatrics (58.8% YTD). The percentage rate of conveyances is 4.3% greater YTD than last year, currently standing at 63.9%.
• WSCCG at WSFT care homes activity has decreased YTD for A&E attendances compared to last year (0.3%) and for emergency admissions compared to last
year (1.8%).
• All three stranded patient targets have been missed for each month in 21/22
• 111 calls in July are high with a significant number of abandoned calls (approx 1 in 6 calls). I suspect 111 usage may continue to fluctuate for a while due to
the change in behaviours as a result of the pandemic.
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SNEE Strategic Programme Dashboard 2021 – 22
Overall
Programme RAG

Apr-21

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

On Track

On Track

On Track

On Track

On Track

Sep-21

Oct-21

Nov-21

Dec-21

Jan-22

Feb-22

Mar-22

Programme Status:

Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Project

RAG

Blood Pressure Monitoring at Home (BPM@Home) - the roll out of
Phase 3 of the BPM@home programme has concluded, to date
3826 devices have been distributed to primary care practices across
the ICS. Focus within this project now shifts to building a business
case for funding from North East Essex (NEE) primary care to
support digital reporting via AccuRx, it is possible that if funding is
achieved a pilot would take place with a number of NEE practices to
enable evaluation of the reporting method, before this is
considered on a wider ICS scale.

CVD - ICS

Liberate Pro - an application for funding to NHSE has been
successful and this will support the development of education and
On Track information platform Liberate pro for use in primary care and
cardiac rehabilitation, a project group has been formed to support
this workstream working with the BI team we have developed the
first draft of a CVD data dashboard, this requires further
development.

Stroke - ICS

On Track

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

AF detection pilot in Ipswich & East and West Suffolk is progressing. We have been
unable to confirm a suitable mechanism for identification of patients for the Ipswich
cohort, the pilot will go live on 6th Sept with West Suffolk and once the issue is
resolved Ipswich will follow. The objectives are being led by the direction of the ISDN
and we have good engagement from our ICS, at regional and national level. Once
pathways and transformation have been considered at regional level the ambition is
to adopt or amend them for local use. A risk has been advised by WSFT that there are
no radiographers available out of hours (after 20:00 in the evening or at the
weekend) to report on CT angiograms in West Suffolk. The ICS Board acknowledged
this as a concern to the safety of the unit; if a patient needs CT angiogram out of
hours they will not have it. Options for addressing the risk are underway.

Using an existing list of practices interested in Familial
Hypercholesterolemia (child/parent genetic cholesterol screening)
we have identified three "pathfinder" practices who will initiate the
pilot immediately. Two are in Ipswich & East Suffolk and one in NEE.
The Eastern Academic Health and Science Network (EAHSN) have
now been in touch with these practices to discuss the pathway,
equipment options the practice has and to offer training.
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SNEE Strategic Programme Dashboard 2021 – 22
Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Extra funding from NHSEI has been secured to support the Healthy IO pilot
in West Suffolk and NEE. This pilot is now underway in both these alliances,
the chosen practices have been contacted and list of patients have been
drawn up which will receive their home urine Albumin test kit.
Funding has been secured in West Suffolk to support their pilot of the
Roche Diabetes Care Platform. This will allow some type 2 patients to be
able to record their blood glucose readings and also pass these across to
their clinicians for use in their diabetic review.
Diabetes - ICS

On Track

West Suffolk has seen a slower rate of recovery post covid in diabetes
services and have submitted a draft recovery plan to the regional diabetes
clinical network for £100K of funds for supporting recovery.

Maternity - ICS

At Risk

Maternity services remain in a crisis situation, with severe workforce
challenges on top of managing Covid+ pregnant women. Low
vaccination rates in pregnant women has created additional workload
within the transformation team programme. The programme has
altered its focus on what can be introduced to reduce the demands on
midwives and to reduce the complexity of care needs amongst
pregnant women. Work commencing on plans for increasing support
to women for tobacco dependency.

Funding for a new Engagement Officer has been passed to Xyla Health and
Wellbeing to support referral generation on the National Diabetes
Prevention Programme (NDPP). Interviews have been completed a person
selected who is due to begin early September. A new NDPP newsletter has
been created and will now be circulated quarterly to practices.
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SNEE Strategic Programme Dashboard 2021 – 22
Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Project

RAG

The three task and finish groups are focussed on:
rehab provision and workforce, L2b bed provision and
clinical psychology. These groups are developing a
report in which they will provide formal update to the
ICS Neuro Board. The L2b beds group are to produce
an options paper which will identify recommendations
to the CCGs in Suffolk on the future provision of L2
beds, this will then progress to procurement
estimated to commence early 2022.
Neuro Rehab ICS

On Track

The ESD service is operating as business as usual in
line with the contractual agreements of the 5 year
development of that service and is progressing well
against plans.
The Parkinsons helpline has had a successful start and
is now 2/12 into the pilot working with PDUK. Plans
have been made to work more closely with the
Ipswich Hospital neuro and older persons medicine
teams re the current Parkinsons disease provision,
with a view to increasing awareness of the existing
service and potential for future transformation.

Innovation

On Track

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber
A working group has met to discuss how to proceed with the three items outlined in the
Pulmonary Rehab (PR) bid. Work is underway on the video group clinics and discussion have
started on what the new PR platform will do. An MoU with NHSEI is about to be signed to secure
the £97.8K of funding for this project.
NHS Tobacco Dependency Programme has received the first third of £242K of its funding. A plan
is currently being put together which if approved will provide a further 20% of in year funding.
The first phase is in maternity where newly pregnant smokers will be offered smoking cessation.
A workshop has taken place and a pathway has been designed.

Respiratory - ICS

On Track

Spirometry recovery continues in NEE while discussions continue in east/west Suffolk about the
best way to proceed given the constraints there.

SNEE Long COVID Assessment Service - Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) for the latest
funding for this service has been signed and returned to NHS England. A new contract variation
has been signed which will now cover the following organisations:
AHP Suffolk
Norfolk & Suffolk CFS
Suffolk Wellbeing
Essex CFS
Health in Mind (Essex IAPT)
Social prescribing / council / leisure facilities

The roll out of Phase 3 of the BPM@home programme has concluded, to date 3826 devices have been distributed to primary care practices across the ICS. Focus within this project now
shifts to building a business case for funding from NEE primary care to support digital reporting via AccuRx, it is possible that if funding is achieved a pilot would take place with a number of
NEE practices to enable evaluation of the reporting method, before this is considered on a wider ICS scale. An application for funding to NHSE has been successful and this will support the
development of education and information platform Liberate pro for use in primary care and cardiac rehabilitation, a project group has been formed to support this workstream working
with the BI team we have developed the first draft of a CVD data dashboard, this requires further development.
Using an existing list of practices interested in Familial Hypercholesterolemia (child/parent genetic cholesterol screening) we have identified three "pathfinder" practices who will initiate the
pilot immediately. Two are in Ipswich and east and one in north east Essex. The EAHSN have now been in touch with these practices to discuss the pathway, equipment options the practice
has and to offer training.
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SNEE Strategic Programme Dashboard 2021 – 22
Project

Cancer

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

At Risk

2WW referrals -A referral and triage tool is currently being scoped, a colorectal process map has been developed to support the faster diagnosis agenda.
Breast pathway review - A breast task and finish group had been set up to develop a community breast pain pathway, ESNEFT have progressed the pathway and it is currently going
through internal governance. Funding has been secured through the rapid diagnostic pathway work.
Cancer PCN DES - The Cancer Research UK facilitator has started visiting practices to support with the outcomes of the primary care network cancer DES.
Screening - Task and finish group developed with Public Health, screening leads, primary care and VCSE to support screening education and access. Funding is currently being
distributed to VCSE organisations to support increase access, information and education for screening pathways. A cancer champions event is being planned for later in the year with
a focus on screening, the audience will be social prescribers, community leads and VSCE organisations.
Faster diagnosis pathways - The new faster diagnosis standard is due to go live Q3 21/22 with the standard being set at 75%. Restoration and recovery are underway at the acute
sites, with the faster diagnosis standard being shadow reported. Additional funding is being disseminated to WSFT to developa nurse led prostate biopsy template pathway, which
will result in additional capacity.
Rapid Diagnostic Service - A frailty task and finish group has been developed to explore how frailty can be managed on the cancer pathway.
Personalised Self-managed Pathways - West Suffolk Foundation Trust are exploring data collection, they currently have Breast and Prostate PCFU live pathways but are unable to
measure impact. New PCFU pathways are in development, including Endometrial and Thyroid. ESNEFT struggling to deliver pathways - compacted by the loss of the internal project
manager. WSFT and ESNEFT invited to attend September Cancer ICS Board to present issues and progress for pathways. Further engagement is required with clinical teams to help
support and drive this agenda.
Prehabilitation - We are currently exploring opportunities for patient facing apps to support prehabilitation. Further work is being undertaken to understand resource gaps in the
pathways across prehabilitation. WSFT have teamed up to implement surgical school principles for cancer patients starting with two tumour sites. Further work is being undertaken
to find a supportive app for prehabilitation, further engagement is required with clinical teams to support the prehabilitation programme. An ESNEFT colorectal prehabilitation pilot
has just launched.
MacMillan Navigators - the WSFT Navigators funding has been agreed jointly between WSFT and the cancer programme until March 2022. WSFT have now agreed sustained funding
for 50% of the navigators and due to attend West Suffolk CCG to secure the remainder. The report has been completed for thelearning from the current ESNEFT navigator project, a
initial meeting was held with stakeholders to develop a plan for the new navigator service within ESNEFT.
Telederm - Skin Analytics have been agreed as the WSFT trust provider and the pathway is due to go live October 2021.
Cancer Innovation - C the signs the clinical decision tool is currently being mobilised in I&ESCCG; the evaluation has been agreed. Further funding has become available from the
national team, therefore there is an opportunity to launch across SNEE.
Targeted Lung Pathway - It was agreed that the lung Oncimune pilot will move to an East Suffolk PCN following NEE being invited to be part of the Targeted Lung Health Check
pathway.
Workforce - The new CNS workforce transformation lead to start in ESNEFT September 2021. A series of CNS/AHP/ practice nurse workshops are currently being planned. Health
Education England funding has been distributed to trusts to support further CNS training.
Cancer Quality - The Clinical Commissioning Group remain working with providers to develop robust reporting for 62 and 104 day breached. Both acute sites are updating their local
policies following the outcomes of the reginal workstream.
Quality of Life - The Quality of Life survey workstream has developed an IT platform to review QoL data, working with national team to access the data as this remains an issue.
Patient co-production - Agenda developed in co-production with cancer patient representatives, patient event being planned for October 2021.
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SNEE Strategic Programme KPIs 2021 – 22
Project

Description

Baseline Measure

Target

Current performance

Diabetes

No.of patients achieving their 3 NICE Treatment Targets

TBA

+3%

Diabetes

No. of patients receiving all 9 Care Processes

TBA

+3%

Maternity

For all three units to achieve and maintain an A rating in
AAB
SNNAP
For an integrated ESD service to be running up to national national standard
standards
for 50% of all suffolk stroke patients to receive national
service data
standard ESD service
for 100% ESD patients outcomes to be entered into the
Ssnap data
national SSNAP data system
43
50% reduction of Stillbirths by 2024

Maternity

Neonatal Mortality Rates

13

Maternity

Brain injuries in Babies

54

Maternity

Continuity of Carer

9

Stroke
Stroke
Neuro Rehab
Neuro Rehab

AAA
AAB
national standard

below standard
50%
0
100%
0

Date to be achieved
by

Comments

Aug-21
Apr-21
May-21
Dec-21

50% reduction by
2024

21 year to date

CVD
CVD
CVD
CVD

blood pressure less than 150/90 with people diagnosed
with hypertension
new hypertension patients 30-74 with CV risk assessment
>=20%+status
Patients over 45 with a recorded history of blood pressure
monitoring
patients with heart failure with VD treated with ACE/ARB

% of patients seen within two weeks of an urgent GP
Two week Waits referral for suspected cancer

79.90%

50% reduction by
2024
50% reduction by
2024
35% by 03/21, 51%
by 03/22
0.85

65.30%

70

90%

94

82.20%

85

0.93

0.93

Number of patients being diagnosed within 28 days or
having cancer ruled out

75%

Cancer

% of patients receiving first definitive treatment for cancer
within 62 days from an urgent GP referral

85%

Cancer

75%

85%

5 year to date
TBC
TBC

Currently I&E=82.5%, NEE=79.8%,WS
80.6%
Currently stands at I&E =58.0%,
NEE=62.7%, WS =67.1%
Currently I&E=90.5% NEE=92%,
WS=90.1%
Currently I&E=81.8% NEE=83.1%
WS=76.5%
WSCCG- 60.17%
NEECCG – 78.04%
I&ECCG – 71.42%

WSCCG- 96.18%
NEECCG – 93.75%
I&ECCG – 95.18%
WSCCG- 80.31%
NEECCG – 89.47%
I&ECCG – 76.06%

31/03/2021
Nov-20

Nov-20
Nov-20

Nov-20
.

01/04/2021

01/04/2021
.
01/04/2021
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Overall
Programme RAG

Apr-21

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

Green

Green

Green

Amber

Amber

Sep-21

Oct-21

Nov-21

Dec-21

Jan-22

Feb-22

Mar-22

Programme Status:
Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Project

RAG

Rethink Paper
The final report and short form report , together with an action plan template for
completion and key points for commissioning support for strategic plan development
have been presented to stakeholders.

Oversight Group
No meetings in August, next meeting is September. Agenda items
will include:
•
Feedback from the first comms meeting which was held on
25/08
•
Terms of Reference which have been redrawn to reflect
change in emphasis from Implementation Group to Oversight
Group
•
Use of Screening Tools
and will focus on performance, risks and challenges, development
and impact

Recommendations will be taken forward following communication of the outcomes
of the review to:
• ICPS service leads
• SCC CYP DMT
• CYP Board in September to confirm forward plan; agree change of remit and role
• Ipswich and East / West Alliance Boards respectively in October to confirm
support for proposed changes to system governance relating to CYP

Suffolk Community
Paediatrics

Oversight Group
The OG did not meet in August and it is likely that the Group will wait for the above
On Track
agreement to the Rethink report before discussion of ICPS priorities
Agreement of ICPS priorities will enable limited finances for investment to be used in
the most effective way
Dedicated Paediatric Dietetic Service for CYP with SEND
A paper has been presented to the West Suffolk and Ipswich and East Suffolk
Executives who agreed a reduced level of non recurrent funding until 22/23 NHS
allocations are known. The outcome has been reported back to ICPS
Development of Paediatric Occupational Therapy Sensory
A business case has been presented to Boards and agreement from finance has been
given. The paper will now go to East and West Suffolk Executives in
September/October which is likely to be a reduced level of non recurrent funding
until 22/23 NHS allocations are known

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Suffolk Speech
Language and
Communication
Needs

At Risk

Comms meeting
Meeting held on 25/08 and agreed that the new service offer is
communicated far and wide - share agreed pathways to GP, schools,
trusts etc
Discussed ways to make patient website more user friendly - hard
to find under children’s sector currently
Exciting initiatives to build on COVID change or working being
implemented too
Service Spec
East of England NHS have not been able to source any specs for
similar services in the region (so that duplication of work is
avoided). A second meeting of the sub group that is looking at this
will be arranged once over the next couple of months.
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Project

Suffolk
Neurodevelop
mental
Disorder

RAG

At Risk

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Work on the locality model continues to delay some aspects of the NDD project (e.g. consultation
line)

Programme is Amber overall due to some delays in obtaining staff resource
to manage the work with project areas.

Steering Group/General
The August meeting focussed on a clinical pathways presentation which outlined the proposed
approach to integrating the ADHD and ASD pathways pan Suffolk. The outcome from the working
group below. Discussion being followed by comments to be fedback to clinical pathway group
meeting on 31/08
All members confirmed an ongoing commitment to the CYP NDD Transformation project and
vision.
Suffolk SENDIASS is working on a myth busting document, primarily aimed at families that will
provide advice and guidance around support available.

Demand and capacity work to inform new work areas identified as part of
the service specs and pathways ongoing due to be completed by end of
September.

Suffolk CAMHS

At Risk

Work continues with schools and the LA to ensure WSA and MH gaps in
can be identified and provision agreed to support, schools identified to
start rolling out PATHS which will start in September.

Procurement
Contracts are being drawn up with successful bidders and mobilisation will begin in September
Successful bidders are now meeting together as a group to enable partnership working and
information sharing
The group is working with the Emotional Wellbeing Hub and others to progress inward referrals as
an interim measure until the Coordination Function is up and running

ED business case approved and project resource identified to support push
on NHSE must do areas and also to develop VCSE packages of support for
recovery and longer term.

Emotional Wellbeing Hub recovery and medium term plan agreed by all
system partners and being delivered.

Coordination Function
The PIN - Children and Young People Emotional Wellbeing and Neuro Developmental Advice and
Support Service, market testing, closed on 20/08 and 7 organisations expressed an interest in
delivery. Each will now be provided with further detail around the requirements to ascertain if
they would like to progress to the next stage
Group members are working on referral form guidance to ensure a good understanding of
requirements prior to completion.
An NDD directory of service continues to be built up
Triage Panel
Names of ICPS and NSFT panel members still required
August meeting confirmed that the TP will be universal and succinct. An ‘MDT’ clinical discussion
will follow assessments but will only be required for a minority of CYP
Clinical Pathways
The group has drafted a paper that lays out the vision for the service going forward, including
possible resourcing requirements. The group aims to finalise to present to the Steering Group in
September

Work continues to move forward with MHST sites - working closely with
NSFT to ensure time scales are met. CHRIS delayed due to key roles not
filled via recruitment campaign although several posts have been recruited
too - likely to now go live in Feb 22, escalated to board and SROs.

The project is progressing in line with expected timescales.
Currently the Early Support for Families procurement is running in line with
the timescales initially outlined, with mobilisation taking place alongside
colleagues from the Contracts Team.

North East Essex
Neurodevelopmental

On Track

The Care Pathway Co-ordinators will begin their roles with a soft launch
before engaging with the wider system during September.
Demand and capacity work for ADHD and ASD has indicated an increasing
number of referrals. This is being addressed by the provider to explore if
this can be internally addressed or whether further support is required via
the CCG.
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Metric

Standard

2+ contacts (Final)

Date

n/a

IES CCG

WS CCG

NEE CCG

2,895

1,700

2,905

Jun-21

Notes

12 month rolling - final only

Access Rate (Final)

n/a

39.4%

40.4%

47.7%

2+ contacts (Provisional)

n/a

2,845

1,655

2,965

CYP Access

12 month rolling - based on provisional data;
subject to change

Jul-21
Access Rate (Provisional)

n/a

Urgent
CYP Eating Disorder Waiting
Time

95%
Routine

38.7%

39.3%

48.6%

22.2%

0.0%

92.9%

Q1 21/22

12 month rolling
59.3%

59.7%

97.3%
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Cambridge UHFT – Month 4 – Top 10 Performance Items
Standard

This
Month

Last
Month

18 wk RTT Incomplete(N)

92.0%

65.5%

65.1%

RTT 52 Week Waiters(N)

0

3,392

3,353

47,811

46,036

1.0%

55.2%

53.2%

Standard

This
Month

Last
Month

All Cancer 2 week wait(N)

93.0%

94.5%

95.1%

Two week wait for breast symptoms(N)

93.0%

88.3%

96.2%

96.0%

90.8%

85.0%

Elective

Assurance

SPC Trend

Consistently
failed
Both met and
failed

Both met and
failed

Special cause
variation: Low
Special cause
variation: High
Special cause
variation: High
Special cause
variation: High

Assurance

SPC Trend

Consistently
failed
Consistently
failed

Special cause
variation: High
Special cause
variation: High

90.9%

Consistently
failed

Special cause
variation: High

80.1%

73.4%

Consistently
failed

Special cause
variation: High

Standard

This
Month

Last
Month

Assurance

SPC Trend

95.0%

0

0

No Data
Collected

Part of A&E Pilot

18 wk RTT Incomplete(N)
Diagnostic test waiting times(N)
Cancer

Cancer 31 day wait: Percentage receiving 1st
treatment within one month of cancer
diagnosis (N)
Cancer 62 day wait: urgent GP referral for
suspected cancer(N)
A&E
A&E 4 Hour Standard(N)

ISSUES:
1. July saw 33% of SNEE RTT patients breach 18 weeks.
2. 55% of SNEE patients >6wk diagnostic wait times (873). CUH have
MRI/Dexa challenges and staffing absences both core and IS.
3. Patients waiting >52 weeks. Overall at 7% third highest regionally.
4. 2WW running at 108% (compared to July/Aug 2019). 62wk waits
recovery slippage.
5. As the data for CUH is obtained from a different source this is
currently being validated.

ACTIONS:
1. Mobile MRI and additional IS MRI in place since June, IS CT unit
from August onward and small Dexa provision in Donnington.
Procurement started in July for insourcing cardiology PM.
2. Additional staff recruitment to support gynae cancer pressures.
3. External orthopaedic provision to support reduction in RTT
pressures.
4. Weekend endoscopy to supplement reduced weekday provision.
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NSFT – Month 4 YTD – Quality Plan on a Page
CCG Quality Assurance
Rating:

Norfolk and Suffolk Foundation Trust (NSFT) (Suffolk services)

Month updated:

CQC Rating:

Level 4 (→ from last month)

2020: Requires improvement

Sep-21 (Jul-21 data)

Issues / Concerns / Comments
1.

The rise in people requiring an eating disorder service continues to impact on the service being able to
meet standards for both urgent and routine referrals. This is having a direct impact on acute admissions.

2.

Emotional wellbeing hub waiting list continues to be a concern but improvements being made and
reduction of waiting list.

3.

Children and Young People referrals for ADHD are high, resulting in a growing waiting list for
assessment and caseloads for follow up and review. NSFT are reporting current staffing does not have
capacity.

4.

The First Response Service (FRS) continues to experience high demand. The transfer from FRS to the
NHS111 has been delayed and will most likely be transferred when Norfolk set up their new service in
April 2022.

5.

Schools reporting high levels of demand causing high levels of referrals into services including voluntary
sector.

6.

Facilities for the Mental Health Liaison Service (MHLS) at Ipswich Hospital are not suitable. This reduces
the quality of the service in relation to productivity, patient safety, patient experience and staff safety and
wellbeing.

7.

There is unprecedented demand on adult inpatient facilities across the region. This coupled with several
long length of stays, delayed transfers of care places additional pressure on local resources and the
potential for out of area care. Some current inpatient facilities requirement improvements in line with
CQC recommendations.

Actions / Progress
1.

A two-part business case has been approved to increase the specialist team capacity, developing
Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise offers with Suffolk Mind, Wednesday’s Child and Beat as
key partners. Recruitment strategies working with regional NHS colleagues are in place. Intensive
treatment work has been prioritised delivered from within the existing staffing compliment. There has
been a delay with implementing recovery due to mobilisation reported by NSFT, now scheduled for
September. Temporary Project Manager commenced in post early August to oversee process, advert
currently for a fixed term role. CCG CYP Quality have system calls to support.

2.

The EWH recovery plan has been implemented with increased capacity achieved through recruitment
of additional staff and VCSE partners (Barnardo's and Suffolk MIND) commissioned to take on
referrals via the EWH. Due to these actions, the caseload trend has now reversed. Deep dive
requested by Suffolk safeguarding board has approved the recovery plans and trajectories shared.
The progress will be shared with this board to for oversight.

3.

CCG working with NSFT to put in place additional staffing for CYP ADHD including market testing
taking place going forwards. Recovery plan is in progress and with implementation very soon. The full
business case has now been received. The business case provides a clear trajectory for when the
service will be returned to normal. Work is also underway in the EWH to improve the pre-assessment
process This will ensure ADHD is the most appropriate service.

4.

Joint planning has commenced between Norfolk CCG and NSFT and we are awaiting the costed
proposal of the standalone Suffolk service. Further work is needed to understand the split between
people accessing the support for crisis and those who are using the service as an out of hours contact.
The CCG/NSFT continue to review current recovery plans and impacting factors. Patient safety review
analysis undertaken by NSFT has highlighted thematic learning; training, supervision, risk planning
and safeguarding.

5.

The school nursing service has identified staff to work over the summer holiday period to target the
current waiting lists. As of the end of august 500 cases have successfully been moved from the EWH
and actioned within the school nursing service.

6.

CCG Clinical Quality Lead has met with the MHLS leads and escalated concerns via Quality Scrutiny
and Assurance Forum (QSAF). Additional space has been allocated for administration therefore
ensuring clinical space is not compromised.

7.

Director level conversations are taking place to reduce the number of out of area placements within
local Suffolk beds. The CCG, Suffolk County Council and NSFT are working together to reduce the
number and frequency of delayed transfer of care. NSFT are seeking advice from estates to meet
CQC female environment standards.

24

Suffolk CCGs at NSFT – Month 4 Year to Date – Top 10 Performance Items
ISSUES:
1.
2.
3.

RTA and RTT performance in youth services continues to miss target although improved for July,
attributable to reduced capacity and vacancies. Majority of RTT breaches within ADHD service
Urgent ED at 0% and 30% for routine: referrals are levelling out although waiting list remain high
.performance against standards remains non compliant
RTA for Adults (18+)has been consistently underperforming at 85-87% for the last 8 months: this
has been caused by staffing and capacity constraints/patient DNAs There have also been some
data recording issues

ACTIONS:
1.

2.

3.

Recruitment initiatives ongoing within CAHMS services generally. ADHD will be market
tested, in the interim looking at short term recruitment options from slippage. Continual
harm reviews/welfare calls being made to patients breaching.
Eating Disorders:: Phase 1 recovery plan/business case approved by CCG Governing
bodies: recruitment to new posts underway: Detail of VCSE support to patients on wait
list being finalised. Project Manger to oversee recovery
AAT trialling revised admin process when booking appointments.
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Overall
Programme RAG

Apr-21

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

At Risk

At Risk

At Risk

Sep-21

Oct-21

Nov-21

Dec-21

Jan-22

Feb-22

Mar-22

Programme Status: At Risk
Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

SMI Physical Health Check Data- Q1 21/22.

SMI Physical
Health Checks ICS

At Risk

NEE: 19.9% (decrease of 1.3% from 20/21 Q4)
Ipswich & East: 44% (increase of 5.61% from 20/21 Q4)
West: 27.23% (increase of 5.84% from 20/21 Q4)

IAPT WELLBEING

Suffolk User Forum & NSFT SMI Physical Health Team – ‘Healthy Together’ pilot:
39 referrals received to date by SUF, covering the following interventions/support – Back pain, Bowel screening,
Cancer appointments/treatment, Cervical smear, COVID-19 Vaccinations, Dental Care, Dentist Registration,
Diabetes, Diet advice/support, Exercise, Eye checks, GP Registration, Hydration, Medication Review, Podiatry
care, Smoking Cessation.

Suffolk:
25% access rate achieved by end March 2021 in line with national priorities. Recruitment
underway for new posts as identified in the recent business case. Trainee places confirmed for
2021/22 with HEE for PWP/HIT posts. Spending Review proposal agreed for utilising identified
funding in order to develop dedicated pathways for older people and for BAME, to include care
homes. Funding proposal submitted by Wellbeing Suffolk regarding increase in 90 day waits for
treatment and identification of slippage funding to increase capacity to reduce waits.

NHSE Spending Review funding to be utilised to increase additional B4 Clinical Skills Practitioner capacity in the
NSFT team to deliver more health checks and expand scope; posts will be aligned to 14 PCNs across Suffolk.
Awaiting internal sign off by NSFT Finance Lead before recruitment can commence.

IAPT
Wellbeing ICS

On Track

NEE:
New service has embedded with recruitment ongoing to ensure continued increase in capacity
to deliver increased access targets. LTC pathway work has now commenced with ESNEFT and
the wider community inclusive of integration with the community mental health model of care
and single point of access. Access is behind plan due to new service mobilisation and backlogs
are reducing following NHSE/I recovery initiatives.

NEE - recovery action plan drafted between NEECCG and GPPC in order to address performance. Non-recurrent
funding identified due to primary care underspend in order to provide additional resource in order to deliver
the health checks using Suffolk model as a template. SMI register cleansing to commence by Equip in
September 2021. Stakeholder meeting arranged to review performance and discussion alternative
commissioning options, including replicating Suffolk model via EPUT. Action/Recovery Plan to be completed by
the end of September 2021.

Crisis - ICS

On Track

East and West Suffolk:
Crisis alternatives: Task and finish group finalising specification in preparation for the framework event on
24.09.21. Further conversations about referral routes with Police and Ambulance staff.
First Response Service (FRS)/111: Still receiving high number of referrals to this service, joint work underway
with Norfolk to move to integrated 111(2) service by 31.03.22. Awaiting costings from NSFT setting out the
Norfolk and Suffolk contributions to the current shared service.
MH Liaison: West Suffolk liaison team working well, progress with ESNEFT to ensure there is a suitable
environment to enable the MHL to work effectively. Highlighted to contracts issues around speed of
conveyancing urgent referrals now resolved. All NSFT crisis specifications are now finalised.
NEE: Pan Essex Crisis Concordat Group re-established to support multi-agency conversations. Crisis Café
(alternative to admission) projects continue to support service users in Colchester and Clacton.
Discussions ongoing between ESNSFT and EPUT to identify appropriate mental health space within Colchester
A&E department to support service users.

Learning
Disability
and Autism

On Track

Suffolk
LD&A Transformation (priority 4) - VCSE support continues to be worked on ready for market
event on 24.09.21. LD&A co-produced outcomes to be presented at the I&ES and WS Alliance
Boards to ensure that each organisation takes forward the delivery of these outcomes.
Improving the uptake and quality of LD annual health checks - work continues on developing the
LD friendly practice pilot and identifying a few engaged practices.
LD Annual Healthchecks - NHSE are now collecting finer detail around AHCs. Information now
included shows the number of Health Action Plans completed, the number who declined an AHC
or HAP broken down into two age groups 14-17 and 18+
NEE
ASD Service Review - Pathway in development, work progressing on demand and capacity
modelling, outcomes/metrics and referral template and process for data flow from primary care
to EPUT. Approval gained at NEE MH Programme Board for the local ASD diagnosis provision to
remain within the NEE locality to establish and realign the pathway and develop a proposed
future model for delivery.
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Project

Community

RAG

On Track

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Suffolk
Primary Care MH model
Recruitment continues for the PCN MH Practitioners across
Suffolk. In total 20 practitioners have been recruited since
interviews began in May 2021. For West Suffolk there are
3 x B6 staff yet to be recruited and for East Suffolk 1 x B7
and 6 x B6. There are 2 X Band 6 staff awaiting interview
shortly. A targeted rolling advert for the remaining East
Suffolk Band 7 is being developed and another advert for
the Band 6 posts will be live shortly.
Meetings with 9 PCNs have taken place throughout August
and others booked in for September to update on how the
model is being built and the initial staff in place for them.
Some practitioners started in post in August and are
currently working through induction and having
introductions to practices. Conversations also include PCNs
beginning to highlight nominated workspace for the PCN
practitioners and Wellbeing staff to see patients in practice.
Discussions are underway regarding the development of
the SystmOne Mental Health module enabling better
working for the PCN MH Teams (including Link workers) and
the ability to report activity. Confirmation of final KPIs and
outcomes will be required shortly to embed in the building
of the module.
All PCN MOUs have now been signed by the CCG and
returned to NSFT.
Enhanced Recovery Team - The demand and capacity
modelling being developed by Attain to inform and
recommend workforce for the model in the future is due to
be finalised shortly. The Integrated Delivery Teams are
continuing to review caseloads to ensure they reflect the
function of the Recovery Team moving forward. Initial
conversations underway regarding the process needed to
move the teams to Enhanced Recovery teams.
Haverhill Early Adopter - Haverhill continues as the early
adopter. The B7 and B6 MH Practitioners continue to work
with the Suffolk GP Federation Nurse in the daily huddles to
triage and screen patients. The Link Worker has also
started to join the daily huddles.

Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber
PERSONALITY DISORDERS
Suffolk: Service Specification (including outcomes framework) is now complete. Co-produced implementation groups are in progress with West
Suffolk, East Suffolk, Suffolk CFYP, Older People’s Services, Ipswich IDT, Avocet Ward. 8 Needs Typing workshops delivered. Co-developed and
delivered PDCN bitesize training to First Response, Suffolk Rough Sleepers (& partners), Crisis, Avocet Ward, Equity in Mind partners. DBT groups
and Living Well with Emotions groups underway in West Suffolk. Brief interventions for EUPD are being delivered in Ipswich Psych Liaison.
Psychologically informed 1:1 interventions in progress in Central and Coastal, and planned for Ipswich once psychology resource is addressed.
NEE: Business Case approved in 20/21 with recruitment completed. Essex wide system Steering Group cancelled three consecutive times and
service spec still requires development. Will be picked up in pan Essex collaborative discussions.
ADULT EATING DISORDERS
Suffolk: All-age recovery plan/phase one and phase two of business case approved between May-July. Suffolk Mind Recovery proposal also
agreed; VCSE workshop planned for 15 September with Suffolk Mind, Beat, Wednesday's Child and NSFT ED Team to agree how to implement all
pathways and agree referral processes etc to ensure smooth transition for service users between organisations. Dedicated temporary project
manager now in post while recruitment to fixed term role takes place; will oversee development of all clinical pathways and support VCSE
integration.
NEE: Essex-wide working groups set up to address county-wide approach, i.e. Medical Monitoring Pathway. Draft business case in progress to
address current gaps in line with national priority must-do’s, learning from other Essex models to ensure parity and alignment. Meetings held
with acute colleagues to ensure join up and consideration of joint posts/Consultant Nurse role in absence of Consultant Psychiatrist candidates.
Concerns over ability to recruit into MSE service. Urgent meeting to take place between EPUT and 3x ICS leads to inform NEE business case.

Specialist - ICS

On Track

PERINATAL
Suffolk: Recruitment underway for new posts as part of recent business case; access targets met in Q1; issue of lack of office space/base for the
team has been flagged and will be raised at future MH MDT as other teams are experiencing the same issues.
NEE: SPMH business case to meet LTP requirements agreed and in the 2nd year of a 3yr implementation. Co-production, education events and
toolkit all in production. Specification complete and KPIs being finalised. Links to Maternity Services programme commenced with aim of
mobilisation in Q4
EIP
Suffolk: EIP business case continues to stall in its implementation due to NSFT Estates challenges. Recruitment of business case nearly complete
and ARMs element to be scoped. Service specification developed.
NEE: EIP business case inclusive of ARMS element agreed in 20/21. Enhanced staffing establishment underway with a review of proposed
establishment completed due to recruitment challenges and business case represented within budget envelope. Service spec inclusive of KPIs
review in progress
IPS
Suffolk: IPS EPUT service extended to incorporate LTP access increase requirements with recruitment underway and integration sort with other
NSFT services inclusive of community models to enhance referrals
NEE: New Essex service procured via ECC and awarded to EPUT in 20/21 inclusive of delivering the LTP requirements. Integrations with other EPUT
services underway such as EIP and community models.
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Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

Project

RAG

Update/Action Required in Red or Amber

SNEE DDR remains below the national expectation of 66.7% and NR funding plans are being derived to support service recovery with a continued focus on the awareness of the importance in a diagnosis, support to primary care in identifying, flow
of memory assessment services and support services - aim end of Sept 21 for diagnosis recovery to be monitored as the impacts of Covid continue to flow.

Dementia ICS

At Risk

DDR Reporting period July 2021: NORTH EAST ESSEX CCG: 63.1%; IPSWICH AND EAST SUFFOLK CCG: 59.8%; WEST SUFFOLK CCG: 59.3%
Suffolk Dementia Support Services continues to progress in line with timelines for a procurement process to formally commence in July / August and new service Go Live proposed April 2022
NEE Dementia Intensive Support Service is in the process of being modelled for agreement as part of reallocating resource from the Clacton Landermere Bernard Ward into the community.
NHSE/I recovery monies to be allocated to providers across the ICS to enhance and support the diagnosis rates
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SNEE Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Programme KPIs 2021 – 22 (Prevalidated
data. Amendments/adjustments notified in October report)
Metric

Dementia

IAPT Access National

IAPT Access Local

Standard

Date

IES CCG

WS CCG

NEE CCG

Notes

Monthly

66.7%

Jul-21

59.8%

59.3%

63.1%

Reported as NHSD Recorded Dementia Diagnosis Summary

Monthly

n/a

985

565

630

Rolling Quarter

n/a

2,810

1,470

2,755

Access Rate (Rolling Quarter)

n/a

6.6%

6.2%

7.8%

Monthly

n/a

891

485

603

Rolling Quarter

n/a

2,744

1,515

1,775

Access Rate (Rolling Quarter)

n/a

6.5%

6.4%

5.0%

Jun-21

53.0%

53.0%

42.0%

Rate as published NHSD

Jul-21

52.8%

52.7%

51.0%

Local contract report (later month than NHSD)

Jun-21

96.0%

96.0%

96.0%

Rate as published NHSD

Jul-21

94.9%

95.8%

97.3%

Local contract report (later month than NHSD)

Jun-21

100.0%

100.0%

98.0%

Rate as published NHSD

Jul-21

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

Local contract report (later month than NHSD)

Jun-21

20.0%

27.7%

16.0%

Jul-21

11.8%

13.0%

not reported

Monthly national data for numerator and denominator is
rounded and the rate is calculated (rate is not published within
NHSD data)

Jun-21

92.0%

88.0%

63.0%

Source is MHSDS

42.0%

27.2%

19.9%

355

215

300

8.6%

8.4%

8.6%

Monthly National
IAPT Recovery Rate

Jul-21

Monthly National
IAPT 6 Week Wait

Data from local contract reports; note later month than national
reporting

75%
Monthly Local
Monthly National

IAPT 18 Week Wait

95%
Monthly Local
Monthly National
10%
Monthly Local

EIP Waiting Times

Quarterly

60%

SMI Physical Health Checks

Quarterly

60%

Access

n/a

Q1 21/22

Jun-21
Perinatal

NEE national data differs from previous submissions; will
monitor for future months and raise with provider if needed.
Applies to all NEE IAPT national data

50%
Monthly Local

IAPT in treatment pathway waits of 90+
days

Jun-21

Access Rate
NEE local data

7.5%
Jul-21

11.5%

12 month rolling (based on MHSDS measure MHS91)
Standard from Mental Health Core Data Pack
(FutureNHS). 21/22 end of year ambition is 8.6%
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Practice Plus Group – Month 4 YTD – Quality Plan on a Page
CCG Quality Assurance
Rating:
Month updated:

CQC Rating:

Level 2 (→ from last month)
Sep-21 (Jun-21 data)

QSG surveillance Rating:

Practice Plus Group (PPG)

Key Issues / Concerns / Comments

Latest review 5 August 2021:
No evidence to reassess rating

Routine

Actions / Progress
1.

Scrutiny remains in place for assurance regarding 111, OOH and CAS KPIs,
performance and quality via QCPMs. Any clinical quality concerns escalated in real
time. Specific plans have been developed to increase recruitment, increase home
working and reviewing Contact Centres to ensure continued safety of PPG staff.
Introduction of temporary ‘Support Advisor’ role is live which is providing comfort
calling to those 111 patients awaiting a call back. PPG have also mobilised a National
Patient Safety queue and rota to support the CAS and OOH Services, this is in
addition to the existing local Patient Safety Callers for those Services.

Rota fill for OOH & CAS staff under constant review. Successful recruitment & training
to support staffing pipeline.

2.

Requests for repeat prescriptions needs a system approach. NHSE aware of demand
for dental. Activity to continue to be shared and escalated.

Patient experience data remains good quality. Complaints and Incidents have been
investigated within the required timeframe and evidence learning and appropriate
actions where indicated. Those requiring further assurance are discussed in more
detail in quality focus forums.

3.

Infection Prevention Control plan in place. PPG able to activate BCP if required as
mitigation.

4.

Any rota fill concerns are escalated in real time.

6.

I x SI for Suffolk OOH reported for May remains open.

5.

7.

CQC reviewed PPG in NEE & EoE (August 5 th) – the commentary states ‘we carried
out a review on the date available to us about Practice Plus Group. We have not found
evidence that we need to carry out an inspection or reassess our rating at this stage.

Local Clinical Quality Assurance Group (LCQAG) which provides the opportunity for
focussed clinical quality oversight, assurance and quality improvement conducted
monthly.

6.

SI raised in Suffolk OOH. Following due process.

7.

No immediate actions. All domains ‘Good’. PPG in EoE have ‘Outstanding’ in WellLed domain. Collaborative QIV to be arranged based on need and risk.

8.

Further information being sought on PaCCS pilot in 111 and Guided On-line
Assessment pilot prior to approval.

1.

KPI specific to call handler response time to answering calls in 60sec = 44.23% for
June compared to 69.56% &78.43% for April (target 95%). Abandonment rate 12.31%
for June compared to 6.14% for May (target <5%). Performance against these KPIs
attributed to increase in activity.

2.

Repeat prescriptions and dental remain the top 2 symptoms groups.

3.

IPC measures remain in place and are reinforced.

4.

5.

8.

PPG looking at innovation to aid pandemic response in 111:
1) Pathways Clinical Consultation Support (PaCCS) pilot of NHS Pathways new
product at PPG
2) Guided On-line Assessment (GOA) a PPG innovation
3) GoodSam® pilot for video consultation, led by NHSE as a new future tool.
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Practice Plus Group Urgent Care - Transformation Summary
Project

RAG

Update/Action Required

111 Online – CPCS Emergency Prescription

Completed

Completed.

MIC Direct Booking

Completed

Completed.

GP+ Direct Booking

Completed

Completed.

GP Connect - Records Viewers

Completed

Completed.

ED ITK Messages

Completed

Completed.

111 Online – CPCS Minor Injuries

Completed.

Completed.

GP OOH Direct Booking

Delayed

Currently aiming to implement for April 2021 – Delayed due to IT resource within Suffolk GP
Federation

Non-Clinical Care Homes Line to the CAS

Completed

Completed.

Option 2 Mental Health Crisis Line Changes to
111.

Delayed

Implementation delayed due to COVID – Planned to go live in December 2020 – Delayed planned go
live April 2022

Beautiful Information Project

Completed.

Completed.

Multimedia capability within the IUC.

Completed.

Practice Plus Group and SGPF now have access to remote consultation software.
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E-Zec Medical – Month 4 YTD – Quality Plan on a Page
CCG Quality Assurance
Rating:
Month updated:

CQC Rating:

Level 4 (→ from last month)
Sep-21 (Jul-21 data)

QSG surveillance Rating:

Non-Emergency Patient Transport – (E-zec Medical)

Issues / Concerns / Comments
1.

A Remedial Action Plan (RAP) is being developed to address current
issues and supported by appropriate executive oversight.

2.

3.

4.

Report Pending
Routine

Actions / Progress
1.

E-zec are hosting a workshop/round-table event on the 14th September.
It will focus on E-zec’s governance structure: corporate and clinical and
E-zec’s quality priorities.

CCG meeting with E-zec fortnightly to review action plan, prioritise
actions and escalate as required. It is yet to be signed off and agreed.
The SCC Health Scrutiny Group (HoSC) and the CQC have requested a
summary report in relation to the RAP for their October meeting.

2.

The July data shows the KPIs for inbound outpatient journeys at:
58.68% (58.89; 60.53) and outbound (outpatient) journeys at 75.46%
(75; 78.5). The outbound discharge and transfer journeys are at 65%
(63.85; 72.21).

The workshop/round-table event will include representation from the
CCG, ESNEFT, WSFT and Healthwatch Suffolk. It will provide the
opportunity to understand, support and respond to key issues across
Suffolk.

3.

From 11 Nov. 2021 all PTS staff entering CQC registered Care Homes
to convey patients will need to provide evidence that they are fully
vaccinated for COVID-19.

The workshop/round-table event will provide an opportunity to focus on
these KPIs and the associated patient experience. This will also be
addressed through the RAP.

4.

E-zec are fully aware of this requirement and the CCG are receiving
updates for assurance in relation to this.

E-Zec PTS – Month 4 – Top Performance Items
KPI Description
In-bound - % Service Users arriving between
5 and 60 mins prior to their booked
appointment time.
Journey Times - % Service Users on the
vehicle between 0 and 90 minutes.
Journey Times - % Service Users in the IESCCG
& WSCCG footprint on vehicle between 0 and
60 min.
Outbound OP Journeys - % Service Users
waiting no more than 60 mins after booked
collection time.
Outbound Discharge - % Service Users
waiting less than 60 mins after their booked
collection time.
Unplanned short notice booking - % patients
collected in a 4 hr timeframe from initial
request.
Unplanned short notice booking in hours
service - % Short Notice Journeys Honoured
by the Provider.
End of Life Trfs from hospital to choice of
placement - % met in 2 hours of the original
request.
Front Door and Assessment Area -% Service
Users collected less than 60 minutes after init
contact
Call Handling - % Calls received by the
patient line answered within 3 minutes

Standard

This
Month

Last
Month

Assurance

SPC Trend

95%

58.7%

58.9%

Consistently
failed

Special cause
variation: Low

90.0%

95.0%

94.8%

Both met and
failed

TBD - Trend or
CCV

85.0%

87.5%

88.4%

Consistently
failed

Special cause
variation: High

95.0%

75.5%

75.1%

Consistently
failed

TBD - Trend or
CCV

95.0%

65.0%

63.9%

Consistently
failed

TBD - Trend or
CCV

90.0%

98.2%

98.6%

Consistently
met

TBD - Trend or
CCV

100.0%

98.0%

98.9%

Both met and
failed

Special cause
variation: Low

95.0%

83.3%

100.0%

Both met and
failed

TBD - Trend or
CCV

90.0%

60.9%

63.0%

Consistently
failed

TBD - Trend or
CCV

95.0%

97.2%

97.2%

Both met and
failed

TBD - Trend or
CCV

ISSUES:
1. Patients arriving between 5 and 60 minutes for planned
outpatient appointments continues to be below the target set.
Patients arriving between 0 and 60 minutes (on time) is 69.8 %.
2. Outbound discharge performance remains below the threshold
set which is collection within 60 minutes. 86.9% of patients were
collected within 2 hours.
3. Occupancy restrictions are still in place on board vehicles, which
reduces available resources. Mobility of patients has become
more complex which is impacting capacity.
ACTIONS:
1. Additional taxi spend is in place to support activity at the lower
acuity end of the contract and where appropriate. Further work
to look at mobility mix in progress.
2. Any capacity issues for discharges and outpatients continue to
be worked through with the acute trusts to achieve the best
outcomes for patients. A weekly operational meeting in in place.
3. A Remedial Action Plan is being developed to support E-zec and
give assurances to the CCG, alongside proposals for a longerterm solution to occupancy restrictions in place of taxi spend.
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EEAST Emergency Ambulance – Month 4 YTD – Quality Page
CCG Quality Assurance
Rating:

East of England Ambulance Service Trust (EEAST) (Regional)

Month updated:

CQC Rating:

Level 3 (→ from last month)
Sep-21 (Jul-21 Data)

QSG surveillance Rating:

Key Issues / Concerns / Comments
1.

Resource Escalation Action Plan (REAP) 4 status at EEAST due to system
pressure.

2.

COVID-19 Update

3.

Safeguarding: CCGs aware of a delay in the deployment of the Child ProtectionInformation Sharing (CP-IS) System. Control room staff are unable to check if a
child or unborn is subject to a Child Protection Plan (CPP) or is a Looked After
Child (LAC).

2019: Requires Improvement
Routine

Actions / Progress

1.

EEAST declared REAP 4 status on the 23 July 2021 due to system pressure and a
greater number of more seriously ill patients in Emergency Departments across the
region. In response EEAST have instigated the following:
•
Additional support within our control rooms to answer 999 calls.
•
Increasing the use of private ambulance services
•
Requesting support from other agencies – such as fire and rescue, police
and armed forces
•
Further recruitment of staff for our frontline services and patient transport
•
Increasing clinical support to our control rooms
•
Clinically trained staff supporting with patient care.
•
Reviewing and pausing meetings along with training.
•
Working with system partners on hospital handover and patients movement.

In order to support EEAST during this period the CCG have agreed a revised
investigation template for Serious Incident investigations. The aim is to ensure all
key learning is identified, in a more proportionate investigation which will reduce the
burden on clinical staff, allowing them to support frontline patient facing activity.
2.

The cumulative total for positive COVID cases either staff or household was 155 for
July 2021. As reported on the 18 August, EEAST had no active outbreaks, i.e., no
cases of linked transmission between staff in the workplace.

3.

EEAST safeguarding lead is escalating to the Interim Chief Nurse with discussions
looking at next steps.
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EEAST Ambulance - WSCCG - Month 4 - Key Performance Items
This
Month

Last
Month

Elective

Standard

Category 1 - 7 min mean response time(L)

00:07:00 00:10:55 00:09:19

Category 1T - mean response time(L)
Category 2 - 18 min mean response time(L)
Category 3 - 120 min 90th centile response
time(L)

Assurance

SPC Trend

Consistently
failed

TBD - Trend or
CCV
TBD - Trend or
CCV
Special cause
variation: High
Special cause
variation: High

00:10:54 00:10:01
Consistently
failed
Both met and
02:00:00 05:08:34 04:13:02
failed

00:18:00 00:35:28 00:30:39

Hear & Treat Rate

8.2%

8.7%

No Data

Conveyed to ED %

55.3%

52.9%

No Data

176

152

02:04

02:02

26.4%

26.4%

LQR8 Time to Answer (99th Centile secs)(L)

60

LQR3 - 90th centile - Stroke for Ambulance
Patients (Time from call to hospital arrival)
LQR1 - ROSC at time of arrival at Hospital

30.0%

Both met and
failed

ISSUES:
1.
2.

3.

Workforce - Local area skill mix in balance and current levels of
demand.
Conveyance rates to A+E now in line with last years conveyances,
pressure being added to A+E departments, increasing handover
delays reducing on the road capacity further.
High demand for calls particularly C2 calls, concern delays
particularly in this high acuity category.

ACTIONS:
1.
2.
3.

Workforce recruitment plan is in place and this continues to be
monitored regularly. Recruitment good at technician level.
Ensure 111 enhanced clinical validation of C3/4 calls target 80% is
achieved.
Admission Avoidance schemes reducing ED conveyance is in place
with PPG and EEAST, CCG arranging road show for EEAST staff to
promote service and dispel myths.

TBD - Trend or
CCV
No Data

Both met and
failed

TBD - Trend or
CCV
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* No change from last month – new data not
yet available

West Suffolk CCG Primary Care
Secondary Care

Quality Metrics
CQC Ratings (01/09/21)
Outstanding
Good
Requires Improvement

Finance Summary

YTD Activity (Jul) per 1,000 patients
21_22
20_21
Change
Elective Adm 39.6
11.5
28.1
Emergency Adm 31.8
22.3
9.5
A&E Attends 94.3
68.3
26.0

2
20
2

YTD Variance to Budget
Positive £8k

Patient Survey (July 2021)

Half Year (M1 – 6) Forecast
Adverse £161k

Helpfulness of receptionists at GP Practice

CCG
91.5%

% "Good"

NHSE
88.7%

Detail on next slide

88.9%

•

Prescribing
Jul-21

Prev. Month

Jul-20

59.3%

59.9%

59.0%

20/21 Cumulative @ Q1 21/22
Learning Disabilty Health Checks*
6.1%
Annual Target 75%

Q1 20/21

Q1 19/20

5.0%

14.1%

Rolling 12 months Q1 21/22
SMI*
27.2%
Target 60%

Prev. Qtr.

Q1 20/21

21.4%

29.0%

PCNs continue to look to utilise
ARRS funding for
implementation of new roles in
primary care.
Updates to the PCN DES
contract are currently under
review
Rollout of the GP Community
Pharmacy Consultation
programme

Commentary

Performance

Dementia Prevalence
Target 66.7%

•

•

2020
91.2%

PCN Development

(Aug)

Prescribing Budget
Spend to date

Antibiotic Items
Reduction per STAR-PU to <0.965

Controlled Drugs
Reduce prescription by 5%

Aug-21

Budget

£17.30

£17.1m

Jun-21

Prev. Month

0.827

0.82

Jun-21

Prev. Month

-1.3%

-0.9%

Prescribing Budget – £17.3m year to
date spend (actual for M01-03 is
£10.4m and estimate for M04-05 is
£6.9m). Please note that forecasts
are now based on the published PPA
profiles for the year, which have been
published since last month. For
comparison, the M01-M05 GP
Prescribing budget is £17.1m.
Flu campaign – the 2021/22 GP flu
campaign is underway but in some
areas is stalled due to vaccine non
delivery. The Covid booster
programme is still in development but
practices will form part of the roll
out.

West Suffolk CCG Primary Care – Finance (August 2021)

West Suffolk CCG Finance Report Month 5 Year To Date & Forecast – August 2021
YTD

YTD

M01-06

Anticipated
Revised
Reimbursements Variance

M01-06

Budget

Forecast
Outturn

Variance

Variance

£m

£m

£m

£m

%

£m

£m

0.0

0.0

187.4

187.4

0.0

0.0%

0.0

0.0

0.0%

0.0

0.0

47.7

47.7

0.0

0.0%

0.0

0.0

0.0
0.0

0.0%
0.0%

1.1
1.1

0.0
0.0

3.5
238.6

3.5
238.6

0.0
0.0

0.0%
0.0%

3.3
3.3

0.0
0.0

116.1

0.0

0.0%

0.4

(0.4)

137.712

137.8

0.1

0.0%

0.6

(0.5)

16.5

16.5

0.0

0.1%

0.0

0.0

19.756

19.8

0.1

0.3%

0.0

0.1

Community Health Services

13.6

13.6

(0.0)

(0.1%)

0.0

(0.0)

16.373

16.3

(0.0)

(0.2%)

0.0

(0.0)

Continuing Care

8.1

8.7

0.6

7.5%

0.2

0.4

9.631

10.4

0.8

8.1%

0.4

0.4

Primary Care

21.3

21.1

(0.3)

(1.2%)

0.0

(0.3)

25.582

25.5

(0.1)

(0.3%)

0.0

(0.1)

Other Programme

5.2

6.1

0.9

17.8%

0.4

0.5

6.166

8.8

2.6

42.4%

2.4

0.3

Contingency
Total Programme Costs

0.0
180.8

0.0
182.1

0.0
1.3

0.7%

0.0
1.1

0.0
0.2

0.000
215.2

0.0
218.6

0.0
3.4

1.6%

0.0
3.3

0.0
0.1

PC Delegated Co-Commissioning

17.4

17.4

(0.0)

(0.0%)

0.0

(0.0)

21.0

21.2

0.2

0.8%

0.0

0.2

2.0

1.8

(0.2)

-10.4%

0.0

(0.2)

2.3

2.1

(0.3)

-10.7%

0.0

(0.3)

200.2

201.3

1.1

0.5%

1.1

(0.0)

238.6

241.9

3.3

1.4%

3.3

0.0

Budget

Actual

Variance

Variance

£m

£m

£m

%

£m

156.1

156.1

0.0

0.0%

40.6

40.6

0.0

Total Funding

3.5
200.2

3.5
200.2

Acute

116.1

Mental Health

Recurrent
Non-Recurrent
Retrospective Top-Up

Corporate Running Costs
Total Expenditure

Anticipated
Revised
Reimbursements Variance
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West Suffolk CCG Finance Commentary Month 5 – August 2021
The CCG has reported a balanced position for Month 5 as per the Month 1 to 6 plan.
The CCG anticipates reimbursements of £0.7m for the Hospital Discharge Programme (HDP), £0.3m for the Elective Recovery Fund (ERF), and £0.1m
for COVID vaccination costs.
The forecast is in line with the Month 1 to 6 plan once retrospective top-ups have been received.
Key variances for Month 4 are:

Continuing Care is over spent by £0.4m after anticipated retrospective top-ups for HDP, due to increased costs of Non HDP patients and backlog of CHC
reviews resulting in more patients remaining eligible for longer.
Other Programme shows a £0.5m over spend as the plan for the first half of the year assumes prior year benefits in the General Reserve – these prior
year benefits have come through on other budget lines, leaving a variance showing here.
Running Costs shows a £0.2m under spend due to vacancy slippage.
Primary Care shows a £0.3m under spend due to under performance on GP+ contract, as well as the SLA being lower than had been assumed in the
Month 1 to 6 plan.
Acute shows a £0.4m under spend after retrospective top-ups, primarily due to the H1 budget assuming increased costs from independent providers
but not assuming the full level of retrospective top-ups that are anticipated from NHSE.
Primary Care Delegated Commissioning has a minor under spend against plan due to the utilisation of non recurrent benefits from prior year.
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West Suffolk CCG – Month 4 – Key Performance Items
Standard

This
Month

Last
Month

18 wk RTT Incomplete(N)

92.0%

66.4%

65.7%

RTT 52 Week Waiters(N)

0

2,014

2,100

1.0%

39.2%

39.2%

Standard

This
Month

Last
Month

All Cancer 2 week wait(N)

93.0%

67.6%

60.2%

Two week wait for breast symptoms(N)

93.0%

89.2%

51.2%

96.0%

97.9%

96.2%

94.0%

82.1%

96.0%

98.0%

100.0%

100.0%

94.0%

96.2%

98.0%

85.0%

74.7%

76.1%

Standard

This
Month

66.7%

59.3%

Elective

Diagnostic test waiting times(N)
Cancer

Cancer 31 day wait: Percentage receiving 1st
treatment within one month of cancer
diagnosis (N)
Cancer 31 day wait: for cancer treatmentssurgery(N)
Cancer 31 day wait: for cancer treatmentsanti cancer drug regimens(N)
Cancer 31 day wait: for cancer treatmentsradiotherapy(N)
Cancer 62 day wait: urgent GP referral for
suspected cancer(N)
Other
Estimated diagnosis rate for people with
dementia(N)

Assurance

SPC Trend

Consistently
failed
Both met and
failed
Both met and
failed

Special cause
variation: Low
Special cause
variation: High
Special cause
variation: High

Assurance

SPC Trend

Both met and
failed
Both met and
failed

Special cause
variation: Low
TBD - Trend or
CCV

Consistently
met

TBD - Trend or
CCV

Both met and
failed
Consistently
met
Consistently
met
Both met and
failed

Special cause
variation: Low
TBD - Trend or
CCV
TBD - Trend or
CCV
TBD - Trend or
CCV

Last
Month

Assurance

SPC Trend

59.9%

Consistently
failed

Special cause
variation: Low
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GOVERNING BODY
Agenda Item No.

10

Reference No.

WSCCG 21-51

Date.

29 September 2021

Title

Governing Body Assurance Framework and Chief Officers Risk
Registers

Lead Director

Amanda Lyes, Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure

Author(s)

Tony Buckle, Risk Manager

Purpose

To provide the Governing Body with the updated CCG Governing Body
Assurance Framework (GBAF) document for September 2021.

Applicable CCG Priorities
1.
Develop clinical leadership
2.

Demonstrate excellence in patient experience & patient engagement

3.

Improve the health & care of older people

4.

Improve access to mental health services

5.

Improve health & wellbeing through partnership working

6.

Deliver financial sustainability through quality improvement








Action required by the Governing Body:
The Governing Body is requested to review and approve the updated West Suffolk CCG GBAF for
September 2021.

Page 1 of 4

1.
1.1
2.
2.1
2.2

Background
Content of the GBAF is reviewed by the Joint Leadership Team every month and by the
Governing Body, Clinical Scrutiny and Audit Committees at each of their meetings.
GBAF - Key Issues
The following amendments have been agreed by the JLT at their regular review
meeting and are included in a separate table for West Suffolk CCG.
The following amendments have been agreed by the JLT at their regular review meeting:

Risk No and
Owner
WSFT RTT
33
Paul Gibara

WSFT A&E
37
Paul Gibara

WSFT
Cancer
Targets 45
Paul Gibara

NSFT CQC
Inspection
27a
Lisa Nobes
NSFT
Performance
27b
Paul Gibara

COVID-19
Outbreak 56
Lisa Nobes

EAST Quality
60
Ed Garratt

Risk description and actions update
Waiting times at WSFT have grown and there is now a significant number of patients waiting more
than a year for elective treatment.
August 2021 update.
Activity in July continued at around 90% of historic levels with the exception of inpatient
electives which were impacted by the shut down of 5 theatres for essential maintenance.
Waiting times are stable and, there are now 2,233 patients waiting more than a year for
treatment (down from over 3,300 in March 2021).
A&E failing to deliver timely care presenting a potential risk to patient safety and experience.
August 2021 update.
WSFT part of the trial of alternative A&E metrics and not reporting on 4-hour standard as
per NHSE instruction.
A consultation has been completed on adopting new national standards. In the meantime,
quality reviews will continue.
A&E attendances in July continue to be above pre-pandemic levels.
WSFT is failing in the nationally mandated quality requirement requiring that Service Users wait no
more than 62 days from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for cancer.
August 2021 update.
Latest data shows WSFT did not meet this standard in June 2021 at 87%. The Trust are
reporting they are on track for the recovery date below. Further progress is dependent on
improvements in endoscopy waiting times. The Trust is insourcing and outsourcing further
endoscopy capacity to reduce the delays.
CQC and CCG inspections of NSFT services in Suffolk demonstrate that the service ‘requires
improvement’ leading to a risk of patient harm and poor experience.
September 2021 Update:
No further update following review.
Poor performance of mental health services.
Actions update.
1. Early intervention in psychosis. Target 56% (3-month average): Update (July 2021): June
validated: 96%. July unvalidated: 94%
2. Eating Disorders (urgent). Target 86% (3-month average): Update (July 2021): June
validated: 0%. July unvalidated: 0%
3. Eating Disorders (routine). Target 91% (3-month average): Update (July 2021): June
validated: 44%. July unvalidated: 30%
4. Emergency referrals. Target 95% (3-month average): Update (July 2021): June validated:
Adult 98%; Children 93%. July unvalidated: Adult 94%; Children 86%
5. Routine referrals. Target 95%: Update (July 2021): June validated: Adult 88%; Children 48%.
July unvalidated: Adult 83%; Children 53%
6. Referral to Treatment. Target 95%: Update (July 2021): June validated: Adult 96%; Children
71%. July unvalidated: Adult 97%; Children 86%
7. Children’s emotional wellbeing hub. Target 95%: Update (July 2021): June validated: 48%
July unvalidated: 53%
Level 4 National Emergency. Current UK Alert Level 3.
As of 20/8/21 the ‘R Number’ is between 0.9– 1.2 for England and 0.9-1.2 for EoE.
The NHS are operating at a Level 3 Incident.
Increased risk of fraud from Covid-19 related claims.
Sept 2021 Update:
Continued command & control. Case rates across our ICS are stable with hospitalisations
fluctuating
The UK continues to move through the roadmap and most restrictions have been removed
in England. New isolation guidance introduced this week which should support
operational staffing.
EEAST have been issued with a CQC section 31 and section 29a notice following a well led CQC
inspection in June 2020. They were placed in Special Measures for Quality Concerns in October
2020.
Additional granular operational risk.
In July 2021 the Office for Standards in Education (OFSTED) removed EEAST as a
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61
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Resilience 63
Paul Gibara

registered provider to train apprentices.
September 2021 Update.
Progress on the CQC action plan continues. The CCG have shared the key findings and
recommendations from the Quality Visits conducted across the region in June. EEAST will
review current action plans that are in place to respond to CQC findings and ensure they
address these Quality Visit recommendations. This is in preparation for future CQC
inspection.
The CCG’s across the region received an update on the OFSTED decision from the
EEAST Director of Nursing in July 21. The immediate plans implemented include
mitigation to ensure those apprentices who are about to qualify can do so.
WSFT have identified and alerted the CCGs to risks associated with the Trusts Reinforced
Autoclaved Aerated Concrete (RAAC) infrastructure.
Action 3 – Dialogue with regional NHS. August 2021 update - CCGs have worked with Region to
support development of plans to address identified risks, CCG has requested further
information from WSFT:
1. Structured oversight report has been provided by WSFT and is currently being
reviewed with support from external surveyor.
2. Clarification of internal governance arrangements has been provided and is to be
formally reviewed on 26/08/21.
3. Attendance of WSFT to CCG Risk Committee for regular updates and assurance.
4. Internal expert leadership team now in place at WSFT.
Target date: 30/09/21
EPRR plans.
System has developed initial plans which will be reviewed via a tabletop exercise on
19/08/21.
CCGs have worked with Region to ensure regional/local plans are aligned.
Risk score.
This is planned for a formal review at risk committee early September 2021.
Transition of CCGs to an ICS. Complexities regarding the CCG Closure and seamless transition to
ICS without impact provision of safe, quality services.
Additional key controls established.
ICS boundary decision made (SNEE).
ICS Chair appointed.
Revised RAG rating reduced to 12 (from 16).
*New risk*
There are pressures across our urgent and emergency care services and the resilience of services
is challenged by a number of known factors such as: COVID-19, demand, capacity, workforce, exit
flow and recovery of elective/ planned care.
Granular operational risks include.
Risk that service demand exceeds clinical capacity potentially resulting in extended
service waiting times.
Risk of patient deterioration / deconditioning linked with longer waiting times for elective
care / procedures.
Risk of patient experience deterioration due to long waits.
Initial RAG rating 16.
Key controls established include (1, 2 and 3 only). These are linked to the actions. Please
see GBAF document for all key controls and actions.
1. Resilience plan complete.
2. Complete Seasonal planning: ‘What might reasonably be expected to happen.’ Key
Lines of Enquiry have been developed. Final plans to be reviewed / approved at
Governing Body meetings.
3. Completed a review of Urgent and Emergency Care activity / demand in May and
August 2021. Key themes and priority actions identified, and responsible Lead Directors in
place.
Assurance of controls include.
Initial requirements and timeline shared with System partners.
The final draft action plan has been shared with System partners and feedback invited.
Final plan to be agreed w/c 16 August.
Weekly system GOLD tactical meeting in place.
Revised RAG rating Tbd.
Actions include (1, 2 and 3 only) – please see GBAF document for all the actions.
Action 1 complete - Plan finalised in June 2021. NHSE feedback reviewed and shared.
Action 2 on track - Target date: Initial draft due 31 Aug and final draft by 30
September 2021.
Action 3 all reviews complete - Target date: Final action / response plan is agreed w/c 16 August.
Completion date: All actions complete by October 2021.

3.

Directors Risk Registers

3.1

The accompanying risk register summary table has been updated for August 2021. The
August Risk Forum discussed a new Corporate Services risk concerning the consequences
of climate change affecting patients and services. The forum decided to take this away and
identify the consequences of climate change and these risks within their directorates. This
was highlighted at the August IESCCG Clinical Scrutiny meeting and the Chair asked that
depravation, poverty and air pollution are included as part of the directorate reviews.
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Governing Body Assurance Framework
Overview
The Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF hereafter) provides the NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
with a simple but comprehensive method for the effective and focused management of risk. Through the GBAF the CCG Governing
Body gains assurance that risks are being appropriately managed throughout the organisation.
The GBAF identifies which of the organisation’s strategic objectives may be at risk because of inadequacies in the operation of
controls, or where the CCG has insufficient assurance. At the same time, it encompasses the control of risk, provides structured
assurances about where risks are being managed and ensures that objectives are being delivered. This allows the Governing Body
to determine how to make the most efficient use of resources and address the issues identified to improve the quality and safety of
care. The GBAF also brings together all the evidence required to support the Annual Governance Statement.
The GBAF should be a working document and will be updated regularly by the Joint Leadership Team, monitored by the Audit
Committee, Clinical Scrutiny and reported to the Governing Body at each of its meetings. The GBAF is linked to the Directorate’s
Risk Register, the content of which is also provided for review by the Joint Leadership Team. A flow chart setting out how risks are
identified and managed is set out overleaf.
In order to ensure consistency in the risk assessment process, the likelihood and consequences of all risks on the Risk Register are
assessed against the former National Patient Safety Agency (NPSA) 5X5 risk matrix and those scoring 15 and above and are of
strategic concern migrate to the B/GBAF and thereby inform the Governing Body agenda. Once added to the GBAF, a risk should
remain in place until its RAG rating has been mitigated to a score of 1-6 when it is considered manageable and therefore
no longer a strategic concern.
The 5X5 risk matrix and subsequent red, amber, green (RAG) score identify the level at which identified risks will be managed within
the organisation. It also assigns priorities for remedial action and determines whether risks are to be accepted on the basis of the
colour bandings and risk ratings. In terms of evaluation of effectiveness, the RAG rating system is also used to present how well
the agreed controls are operating.

RISKS IDENTIFIED THROUGH:
Work Stream Risk
Assessments
External Assessment &
Audit + Guidance & Alerts
Serious Incidents,
Complaints, Public Health &
Quality Issues
Public & Stakeholder
Engagement
Business & Service Delivery
Plans

CCG Governing
Body Own & Manage
Risks & the Joint
Leadership Team
Reviews the
Directorate Risk
Registers and the
GBAF

Individual Risks Jointly
Managed by Designated
Directors & Clinical Leads
Governing Body
Assurance Framework

Review by Local Risk
Forum

Review by Clinical
Scrutiny Committee
Overview & Scrutiny by
the Audit Committee
Assurance to the
Governing Body

RAG Score Framework
Likelihood score →

1: Rare

2: Unlikely

3: Possible

4: Likely

5: Almost Certain

5: Catastrophic

5

10

15

20

25

4: Major

4

8

12

16

20

3: Moderate

3

6

9

12

15

2: Minor

2

4

6

8

10

1: Negligible

1

2

3

4

5

Consequence score ↓

The subsequent red, amber, green (RAG) scores identify the level at which identified risks will be managed within the organisation. It also assigns priorities for remedial
action and determines whether risks are to be accepted based on the colour bandings and risk ratings. In terms of evaluation of effectiveness, the RAG rating system is
also used to present how well the agreed controls are operating within the following classifications:
Risk Appetite
For all risks that have been agreed and then assessed and rated, an action plan should be drawn up containing the actions that will be taken, with timescales,
in order to either totally eliminate the risk or to reduce its consequences to a level that the CCG is prepared to accept.
It is useful to consider the ‘Four T’s’ when considering the management of risks:

TOLERATE
TREAT
TRANSFER
TERMINATE

Where the CCG accepts the risk and lives with it

Where the CCG takes action to reduce the risk
Where the CCG lets someone else carry the risk
such as by passing the responsibility for the risk
to a contractor
Where the CCG feels that the risk is too great and
does not continue with the activity giving rise to it

In order to determine the likely consequence arising from an identified risk and using the 5X5 matrix:
•

Define the risk explicitly in terms of the adverse consequence or consequences that might arise

•

Use the table below for examples, by risk domains, to determine the consequence score relevant to the risk identified

Consequence score (severity levels) and example of descriptions

Risk Domains
1.
Impact on the safety of patients,
staff or public
(physical/psychological harm)

1

2

3

4

5

Negligible

Minor

Moderate

Major

Catastrophic

Minimal injury requiring
no/minimal intervention or
treatment.
No time off work

2.
Quality / complaints / audit

Moderate injury requiring
professional intervention

Major injury leading to long-term
incapacity/disability

Requiring time off work for >3
days

Requiring time off work for 4-14
days

Requiring time off work for >14
days

Increase in length of hospital
stay by 1-3 days

Increase in length of hospital
stay by 4-15 days

Increase in length of hospital
stay by >15 days

RIDDOR/agency reportable
incident

Mismanagement of patient care
with long-term effects

Incident leading to death
Multiple permanent injuries or
irreversible health effects
An event which impacts on a
large number of patients

An event which impacts on a
small number of patients
Peripheral element of
treatment or service
suboptimal
Informal complaint/inquiry

3.
Human resources / organisational
development/staffing / competence

Minor injury or illness, requiring
minor intervention

Short-term low staffing
level that temporarily
reduces service quality (<
1 day)

Overall treatment or service
suboptimal

Treatment or service has
significantly reduced
effectiveness

Non-compliance with national
standards with significant risk to
patients if unresolved

Local resolution

Formal complaint (stage 2)
complaint

Multiple complaints/ independent
review

Single failure to meet internal
standards

Local resolution (with potential to
go to independent review)

Low performance rating

Minor implications for patient
safety if unresolved

Repeated failure to meet internal
standards

Reduced performance rating if
unresolved

Major patient safety implications
if findings are not acted on

Low staffing level that reduces
the service quality

Late delivery of key objective/
service due to lack of staff

Formal complaint (stage 1)

Unsafe staffing level or
competence (>1 day)
Low staff morale
Poor staff attendance for
mandatory/key training

Totally unacceptable level or
quality of treatment/service
Gross failure of patient safety if
findings not acted on
Inquest/ombudsman inquiry

Critical report

Gross failure to meet national
standards

Uncertain delivery of key
objective/service due to lack of
staff

Non-delivery of key
objective/service due to lack of
staff

Unsafe staffing level or
competence (>5 days)

Ongoing unsafe staffing levels or
competence

Loss of key staff

Loss of several key staff

Very low staff morale

No staff attending mandatory
training /key training on an
ongoing basis

No staff attending mandatory/
key training

4.
Statutory duty/ inspections

No or minimal impact or
breech of guidance/
statutory duty

Breech of statutory legislation

Single breech in statutory duty

Enforcement action

Reduced performance rating if
unresolved

Challenging external
recommendations/ improvement
notice

Multiple breeches in statutory
duty
Improvement notices
Low performance rating
Critical report

5.
Adverse publicity / reputation

Rumours
Potential for public
concern

6.
Business objectives / projects

7.
Finance including claims

Insignificant cost increase/
schedule slippage

Local media coverage –
short-term reduction in public
confidence

Local media coverage –
long-term reduction in public
confidence

National media coverage with <3
days service well below
reasonable public expectation

Elements of public expectation
not being met
<5 per cent over project budget
Schedule slippage

5–10 per cent over project
budget
Schedule slippage

Non-compliance with national
10–25 per cent over project
budget
Schedule slippage

Loss of 0.1–0.25 per cent of
budget

Loss of 0.25–0.5 per cent of
budget

Claim less than £10,000

Claim(s) between £10,000 and
£100,000

Uncertain delivery of key
objective/Loss of 0.5–1.0 per
cent of budget
Claim(s) between £100,000 and
£1 million
Purchasers failing to pay on time

8.
Service/business interruption
9.
Environmental impact

Prosecution
Complete systems change
required
Zero performance rating
Severely critical report
National media coverage with >3
days service well below
reasonable public expectation.
MP concerned (questions in the
House)
Total loss of public confidence

Key objectives not met
Small loss Risk of claim
remote

Multiple breeches in statutory
duty

Incident leading >25 per cent
over project budget
Schedule slippage
Key objectives not met
Non-delivery of key objective/
Loss of >1 per cent of budget
Failure to meet specification/
slippage
Loss of contract / payment by
results
Claim(s) >£1 million

Loss/interruption of >1
hour

Loss/interruption of >8 hours

Loss/interruption of >1 day

Loss/interruption of >1 week

Permanent loss of service or
facility

Minimal or no impact on
the environment

Minor impact on environment

Moderate impact on
environment

Major impact on environment

Catastrophic impact on
environment

PG

The risks are:
Patient health
deteriorating due
to long waits
Poor patient
experience due to
long waits
Reputational
issues for WSFT
and WSCCG as
constitutional
performance
requirements are
not met.

52wk breaches are
increasing due to capacity
restrictions.
The delay may have an
impact on service user’s
quality of life and potentially
on outcomes.
Recovery plans confirm the
need for additional theatre
and diagnostic capacity.

4x4
16

Contractual performance
review at each contract
meeting as well as;

Monthly review of
waiting times and
backlog clearance plan
going forward.

Weekly access
meeting
o Validation of
waiting lists.
o Demand and
capacity planning
ongoing
o Additional internal
activity in place
o Additional external
activity outsourced
and insourced.
• Demand management
projects.
o

CCG Priority
Demonstrate
excellence in patient
experience.

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

Treat

TARGET RISK

Specialities with the greatest
need for improvement are
orthopaedics,
ophthalmology, general
surgery, gynaecology,
urology, and ENT.

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS

REVISED RAG RATING

Waiting times at WSFT
have grown and there
is now a significant
number of patients
waiting more than a
year for elective
treatment.

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

INITIAL RAG RATING

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

(LIKELIHOOD x CONSEQUENCE)

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

WSFT – RTT. Risk 33 added February 2017

4x4
16

4x4
16

2x4
8

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

4. Achievement of 92%
RTT target
Target: To be reviewed in
light of Covid 19
Update: August 2021.
Activity in July continued at
around 90% of historic
levels with the exception of
inpatient electives which
were impacted by the shut
down of 5 theatres for
essential maintenance.
Waiting times are stable
and, there are now 2,233
patients waiting more than
a year for treatment (down
from over 3,300 in March
2021).
Patient safety reviews of
long waiters continue.
Additional weekend
working and outsourcing of
work is planned as part of
the Trusts recovery plans.

PG/FW

Risk to CCG
If WSFT fail to deliver
timely care then the
CCG would have failed
to meet its
constitutional
performance
requirements as
stipulated by the
Department of Health.

Risk of patient experience
deterioration due to long
waits.

Please note
WSFT are part of the
trial of new A&E
standards and are not
currently required to
report on the 4-hour
standard.

During the Covid-19
escalation period the ED has
changed its processes to
operate a red route for
suspected Covid-19 patients
(through the old CDU) and
green route for non Covid-19
patients. Overall demand
has reduced but is beginning
to return.

Risk of breaching
constitutional obligations.
Risk of no agreed plan to
manage increase in winter
demand for services.

The risk remains challenging
as the underlying issues preCovid-19 have not been
resolved.

4x4
16

• Daily reporting of
performance.
• Escalation of health
medically optimised
delays daily for CCG
and system support.
• OOH cover and 111
support continually
reviewed to ensure
rotas are in place to
manage surges.
• Admission avoidance
schemes fully
operational and a
rolling reminder in
place to primary care
and OOH.
• GP streaming in place.
• 111 targets to reduce
inappropriate
referrals to A+E.
• Assess and address
staff shortages in
medical and nursing
rotas 10 days in
advance.
• CCG escalation team
working with WSFT to
improve flow.
Monthly system wide
urgent care meeting to
be established post
COVID-19.

Daily performance
information
supplied and
monitored, regular
discussions and
monthly formal
contract meetings.
CCG Priority
Improve health and
wellbeing through
partnership working.
Integrated
performance report
area.
Contractual
Performance

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

Treat

3x4
12

TARGET RISK

Clinical risk of patients not
being seen in appropriate
timescales or insufficient
beds to accommodate
appropriate environments.

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS

REVISED RAG RATING

A&E failing to deliver
timely care presenting
a potential risk to
patient safety and
experience.

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

INITIAL RAG RATING

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

(LIKELIHOOD x CONSEQUENCE)

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

WSFT – A&E. Risk 37 added December 2017

3x4
12

2x4
8

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

Actions revised.
Weekly tactical cell
meetings ongoing to
support flow in the system.
Target date: not set as
there is no metric to
measure this - see below.
August 2021 update; WSFT
part of the trial of
alternative A&E metrics
and not reporting on 4hour standard as per NHSE
instruction.
A consultation has been
completed on adopting
new national standards. In
the meantime, quality
reviews will continue.
A&E attendances in July
continue to be above prepandemic levels.

PG

Risk to the CCGs
If WSFT fail to meet the
62-day cancer standard
then the CCG will fail to
meet its constitutional
performance
requirements as
stipulated by the
Department of Health.

During the Covid-19
escalation period cancer
work continues and the risks
remain critical.
In addition to the above
there is a new risk emerging
relating to patients not
attending cancer
appointments.

WSFT weekly review the
priority waiting list to identify
risks/mitigations.

Progress is
reviewed at:
• Contract
meetings
• Quality meetings
• Cancer Board
• Clinical Scrutiny
• Clinical Executive
• Governing Body.

Cancer board working across
the system to improve
performance by systematically
identifying and mitigating
bottlenecks.
Remedial Action Plan had
been drafted; needs to be
revisited post COVID-19.
Capacity bottlenecks in
diagnostics/theatres
exacerbated by COVID-19;
WSFT working on plans to
insource/outsource additional
capacity.
Progress reviewed monthly at
Contract meeting; an
additional performance
improvement meeting
instigated to review all areas
of elective performance
(cancer/ RTT /diagnostics).
Monthly breach reports show
pseudonymised patient level
details for days waiting with
breach reason reviewed at
monthly QCPM.
Full RCAs undertaken for
patients waiting >104 days for
any harm caused; reviewed at
monthly Quality meeting.
Provider has reviewed
attendance, process and
governance for PTL meeting
ensuring it works more
efficiently.

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

Treat

TARGET RISK

4x4
16

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS

REVISED RAG RATING

Standard has been
consistently missed.
This is due to capacity
and complex pathway
issues in a number of
specialties most notably
Gynae, Skin, Head and
Neck, Urology, and
Lower GI.
•
Clinical risk of patients
not being seen in
appropriate timescales.
•
Risk of deteriorating
patient outcomes and
experience due to long
waits.
•
Risk of breaching
constitutional
obligations.
Risk of increasing patient
harm both physically and
mentally due to being on
Cancer pathway for
extended period of time.
•

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

WSFT is failing in the
nationally mandated
quality requirement
requiring that Service
Users wait no more
than 62 days from
urgent GP referral to
first definitive
treatment for cancer.

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

(LIKELIHOOD x
CONSEQUENCE)

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

INITIAL RAG RATING

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

WSFT – Cancer targets. Risk 45 added January 2019

3x4
12

3x4
12

2x4
8

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

1. Trajectory had been
agreed pre Covid.
Updated August 2021.
Latest data shows WSFT
did not meet this standard
in June 2021 at 87%. The
Trust are reporting they
are on track for the
recovery date below.
Further progress is
dependent on
improvements in
endoscopy waiting times.
The Trust is insourcing and
outsourcing further
endoscopy capacity to
reduce the delays.
Revised Target: February
2022.

JP

Emergency funding
measures during Covid19 mean that trust and
CCGs should be funded
to make necessary
investments, deliver
BAU and achieve FIT.
However, underlying
issues will re-emerge at
the end of the current
crisis period.

20/21 outturn position for
the trust was break even
after covid funding and topups.
Suffolk and North East Essex
ICS has elected to manage
financial control totals at
alliance level within the
overall ICS control total–
therefore financial risks at
WSFT will put the
achievement of the alliance
and system control total at
risk.

4x5
20

West Alliance Financial
Strategy Group (FSG)
now in place to monitor
achievement of West
Suffolk control total and
discuss financial
performance across the
Alliance.
Pressures that cannot be
dealt with within the
alliance are escalated to
ICS.
3rd finance deputy now in
post who will specifically
support the WS system to
understand the pressures
and build recovery plans.

Reporting back
discussions at Alliance
FSG to CCG Executive
and CCG FPC.
ICS financial reporting.
Block contract
arrangements for
providers extended for
21-22.
H1 allocations received
which suggest
resources for WSFT
remain at 20/21 levels
during which the trust
broke even.
Additional capital
resources provided for
structural issues.

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

Treat

TARGET RISK

19/20 financial performance
at WSFT was off plan
indicating non achievement
of control total.

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS

REVISED RAG RATING

Financial pressures at
WSFT present a risk to
service delivery and
create knock on
financial pressures
across the WS Alliance.

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

INITIAL RAG RATING

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

(LIKELIHOOD x CONSEQUENCE)

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

WSFT – Finance Risk 52 added September 2019

3x5
15

3x5
15

2x5
10

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

1.

Work with trust to
understand the
drivers of the
increasing overspend.
Target date: July 21
July Update: finance staff
diverted to support C-19
vaccinations and year end.
Work will resume in
Autumn. Run rate exercise
completed by trust which
will be used to understand
the exit position into 2122, with further work now
underway.
2. West Suffolk Alliance
and wider ICS partners to
determine actions and
service changes to be
made to enable the WS
system to live within
resources for 20/21 and
return to FIT for 21/22.
Target date: Extended to
October 21 due to
extension of national
emergency arrangements
into 21/22.

LN

Risk to the CCGs
Statutory Duty to
ensure patient safety
within commissioned
services: The Trust
inability to
demonstrate
appropriate safety
standards throughout
it services present
significant patient
safety risks to the
population of Suffolk.

4x4
16

Quality assurance process
initiated jointly with NSFT
to review every service line
in NSFT.
Monthly meetings to
review / challenge quality
performance.
Quality dashboard.
Attendance at monthly
stakeholder assurance
meetings led by NHS
Improvement / CQC.
Oversight of quality
improvement plans (trust /
local) and monthly
monitoring of progress.
Monitor primary care
contract issues and Trust
response.
New Chair appointed and
partnership arrangement
agreed with East London
Foundation Trust (ELFT).
Quality Improvement
methodology introduced by
Trust and training rolled
out.
Weekly CCG: NSFT Director
meeting to check progress
against actions and
escalate concerns.
Escalation through joint
NHSI: CCG oversight
meeting.
Service user tracker list
commenced, and patient
harm review process
commenced.

Improvements to
patient safety and
experience noted
through QA process.
Demonstrated
improvement
against identified
contractual key
performance
indicators
evidenced through
quality dashboard
escalation of issues
via Contract Quality
Performance
Review (CQPR)
meetings.
Confidence that
NSFT have capability
and capacity to
deliver the required
quality
improvements.
Assurance that
actions detailed in
the quality
improvement plan
have been
implemented.
CCG Priority
To improve access
to mental health
services

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

Treat

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS

4x5
20

TARGET RISK

Inability to meet
performance/clinical
quality targets in access
to service/care in
service/discharge
arrangements.
• Inability to maintain
safer staffing levels in
accordance with NICE/
NQB guidance
• Lack of confidence in
performance data
• Lack of patient safety
culture impacting
clinical risk assessment,
care planning.
• Lack of clinical
leadership structure
• NSFT have lack of
willingness to work as
part of the system.
4 high risk areas are:
• All age eating disorders
•
Emotional wellbeing
hub
•
ADHD all ages
•
Youth secondary care
teams.
CCG have a lead
identified for each area
who is overseeing
recovery planning with
the trust. Director level
oversight in place from
CCG and NSFT to monitor
current high level of risk
to patients needing
access to services.
•

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

REVISED RAG RATING

CQC and CCG
inspections of NSFT
services in Suffolk
demonstrate that the
service ‘requires
improvement’ leading
to a risk of patient
harm and poor
experience.

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

INITIAL RAG RATING

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

(LIKELIHOOD x CONSEQUENCE)

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

NSFT – CQC Inspection. Risk 27a added July 2015 (Renumbered January 2016)

4x5
20

3x2
6

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

1. Implementation of Suffolk
emotional wellbeing and
mental health strategy to be
commissioned through most
capable provider process.
Timescales have been revised
due to Covid-19. CCG
currently unable to visit but
maintaining two weekly care
group lead meetings to
oversee progress and
maintain oversight under
present conditions. CCG
Associate Director of Nursing
- CYP, MH, LD and Autism is
liaising with Trust as part of
this.
NSFT have implemented a
first response service, open
24/7 to manage patient need
under the Covid-19 outbreak.
Sept 2021 Update:
No further update following
review.

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

TARGET RISK

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS

REVISED RAG RATING

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

INITIAL RAG RATING

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

(LIKELIHOOD x CONSEQUENCE)

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

NSFT – Performance. Risk 27b added January 2016

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

Poor performance of
mental health services

PG/JH

Risk to CCG
If performance does
not improve to the
contractual agreed
standard then service
users will continue to
receive an inadequate
service and the CCG
would have failed in its
duty to commission
quality safe services

Poor performance against a
number of performance
indicators.
National standards:
1. Early intervention in
psychosis (14 days referral
to treatment)
2. Eating disorder (1-week
urgent referral to
treatment)
3. Eating disorder (4-week
routine referral to
treatment)
Local standards:
4. Emergency referrals (4
hours referral to
assessment)
5. Routine referrals (28 days
referral to assessment)
6. Referral to treatment (15
weeks)
7. Children’s emotional
wellbeing hub (10 days
referral to discharge)
8. Increasing waiting times
for ADHD assessment and
treatment

4x4
16

National standards
scrutinised by NHS E/I.
CCG teams working
closely with NSFT
counterparts to identify
root causes of problems:
• Demand over plan
• Throughout under plan
• Workforce gaps
• System gaps
• Underinvestment.
Monthly MDT meetings
in place, to review issues
and actions.
Monthly joint quality/
performance meetings
with NSFT operational/
clinical/contract leads.
These have resumed in
full post pandemic.
Regular joint meetings of
CCG and NSFT boards.
Establishment of task and
finish groups for eating
disorders, EWB Hub and
ADHD services in April
2021 given increasing
referrals and increasing
waits: Detailed demand
and capacity reviews
underway with these
teams due to long waits.
ED business case for
review at Governing
Bodies 25/05/21 and
26/05/21.
Director attendance at
Trust Finance/Business
Investment Committee to
scrutinise performance.
During Covid 19:
• NSFT have expanded
their virtual and
telephone offering.
The CCGs have invested
in additional voluntary
sector capacity to
manage lower risk
patients.

Reported to the multidisciplinary team,
clinical scrutiny,
Clinical Executive and
Governing Body as
appropriate.
CAHMS issues also
overseen by EWB Hub
Board
Progress routinely
monitored at monthly
Quality Contracts &
Performance (QCPM)
meeting.
CCG Priority
To improve access to
mental health services

Treat

4x5
20

4x5
20

2x5
10

1. Early intervention in
psychosis
Target (56% (3-month
average):
Update (July 2021):
June validated: 96%
July unvalidated: 94%
2. Eating Disorders (urgent)
Target (86% (3-month
average):
Update (July2021):
June validated: 0%
July unvalidated: 0%
3. Eating Disorders (routine)
Target (91% (3-month
average):
Update (July 2021):
June validated: 44%
July unvalidated: 30%
4. Emergency referrals
Target (95% (3-month
average):
Update (July 2021):
June validated: Adult 98%;
Children 93%
July unvalidated: Adult 94%;
Children 86%
5. Routine referrals
Target (95%):
Update (July 2021):
June validated: Adult 88%;
Children 48%
July unvalidated: Adult 83%;
Children 53%
6. Referral to Treatment
Target (95%):
Update (July 2021):
June validated: Adult 96%;
Children 71.%
July unvalidated: Adult 97%;
Children 86%
7. Children’s emotional
wellbeing hub
Target (95%):
Update (July 2021):
June validated: 480%
July unvalidated: 53%

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

TARGET RISK

ASSURANCE
OF CONTROLS

REVISED RAG RATING

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

INITIAL RAG RATING

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

(LIKELIHOOD x CONSEQUENCE)

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

Cyber Security. Risk 42 added September 2018

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

Potential impact of
cyber security incident
could lead to wide scale
IT system outages,
meaning no access to
patient records, edispensing services etc.

AL/JJ

Risk to the CCGs
The CCGs would suffer
significant service
disruption and
potential patient harm
and financial loss

National requirements
have increased, in
respect of the need to
achieve cyber essentials
+ accreditation.

No national funding has
been identified
specifically for cyber
security work to
mitigate against the
increased risk, and the
increased requirements.

No access to systems –
would require frontline
services to fully enact
Business Continuity and
Disaster Recovery
procedures.

Potential for lack of
access to relevant IT
skills and insight to
develop a recovery plan
(dependent on type of
attack).
Restoration of services
complex, would involve
multiple vendors and take a
significant period of time.


4x5
20

Note - eliminating risk of cyberattack completely is not possible.
Following external cyber
assessment (post-Wannacry
cyber-attack local review); a
number of areas to be addressed
to reduce risk of an attack and
any potential impacts (see
actions).
In progress:
Service provider (NEL)
undergoing wide scale review of
cyber assurance, have achieved
cyber essentials accreditation
March 2019, and working
toward cyber essentials +
accreditation. CCG has own
domain (green) under NEL is
working towards achieving cyber
essentials accreditation for the
CCG.
TIAA reviewed cyber controls.
Assurance received.
ETTF (GP IT Capital) funding
successful to implement security
product (DarkTrace) to improve
network monitoring.
Additional ETTF (GP Capital)
funds have been successful to
implement a NAC solution,
details being worked up with
NEL.
Board level training to IESCCG
and WSCCG Board and Lay
Members.
W10 rollout 99.95% complete.
Handful of remaining W10 PCs
will be decommissioned in
Oct/Nov when works to enable
them to be decommissioned are
complete – they remain under
support.

External Audit.
Internal audit
complete
Monthly SLA
provider
meetings.
Monthly service
review provider
meetings.
Bi-monthly Joint
Digital and IT
Services Board.
Audit Committee
review.
Scrutiny
Committee
review
Governing Body

Treat

4x5
20

4x5
20

3x4
12

1. Regular communications
to users re phishing
threats.
Target date: Ongoing
Completion:
2. Wide scale review of
patching processes and
application.
Target date: June 2021 Delayed
Completion:
Proposed further actions
as implementation plans
progress:
Procure and rollout new
network switching system
with NAC (stage 1).
Implement new licencing
using new national
licencing model. Access to
Teams available for all CCG
and GP staff. Security
licencing and continued
365 licencing for GP
applied for.
Procure and rollout
identity management
system.
Implement end user
training programme.
Rollout DarkTrace
Feb 2021 update - 25/63
Suffolk sites have had their
data migrated from the onpremise servers to the
cloud. Currently on hold.

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

TARGET RISK

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS

REVISED RAG RATING

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

INITIAL RAG RATING

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

(LIKELIHOOD x CONSEQUENCE)

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

Provider Workforce Risk 49 added July 2019

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

AL

Lack of sufficient
workforce across the
system leading to risks
to patient safety, care
and services.

The system has ageing clinical
workforce with insufficient
younger workforce to replace,
leading to clinical risk of
patients not being seen in
appropriate timescales and
inability to meet clinical and
performance quality targets.
Brexit instability affecting
overseas workforce.
Covid-19 impact on staffing
levels due to sickness and/or
isolation.
Staff redeployed to resource
Covid-19 vaccination centres.
Retention risk due to burnout
or other factors resulting from
Covid-19.
Due to Covid-19 general fear
of working in health and care
due to perception of lack of
PPE and catching Covid.
Inability to maintain safer
staffing levels in accordance
with NICE and National Quality
Board guidance.
Higher sickness absence of
staff due to workload further
impact on patient safety, care
and services impact on staff
retention, losing staff due to
increased workload.
Risk of patient experience
deterioration due to long
waits.
Risk of breaching
constitutional obligations.
Primary care risk of some
practices not being able to
function and list closures.
EEAST underperforming on
recruitment against ISR plan
impacting on the level of PFSH
available to deploy.

3x5
15

SNEE Can Do People Plan in
place
SNEE People Board
established to implement
the system People Plan
and associated initiatives.
Local workforce
transformation groups
established in each
Alliance, as well as PC WIG
and GPCC that report into
People Board for Primary
Care
Recovery planning is in
place, retention planning in
place both regionally and
across SNEE. Fully linked in.
Health and Care Academy
in place to inspire people
to work in health and care.
Apprenticeship strategy in
place to grow our own.

IESCCG, NEE and WSCCG
Local Workforce
Transformation groups,
PC WIG and GPCC
reporting to SNEE
People Board, also
various steering groups
that are topic specific
e.g. retention group

Treat

3x4
12

3x4
12

2x3
6

1. Established nursing
programme. Meeting
target to raise student
nurse placements by
15%. Fundamentals
programme available for
new nurses.
Target date: Ongoing due
to Covid.
Completion date:
3. HCSW programme in
partnership with Indeed –
push for zero % vacancy
Target date:
Completion date:
4. Essex Primary Care
Careers established to
provide bespoke
recruitment support to
Primary Care, as well as
increasing placements and
training practices and
workforce planning.
Target date:
Completion date:

LN

The Incident Level is
currently at Level 3.

The NHS are operating at a
Level 3 Incident.

The impact of a
widespread Epidemic
on the CCG will see an
increase in demand on
all commissioned
services.

Increased risk of fraud from
Covid-19 related claims.

The CCG could see
significant changes to
establish ways of
working.
The CCG may have
absenteeism as staff
self-isolate / ill over the
period of the outbreak.

4x5
20

Business continuity plan
in use.
SuNEE incident room
0800-1800 Mon-Fri and
1000-1600 weekends
with on-call cover outside
these hours.
Daily SuNEE operational
and tactical meetings.
Tactical resource
supporting the Suffolk
Outbreak Management
Centre
Local Outbreak
Management Plan
released 30/06/2020.
Daily tracking of case
numbers in place.
Local Resilience Forum
have stood up both TCG
& SCG meetings.
CCG staff working
virtually where possible
and strict controls in
place at office locations
to support social
distancing.
LCFS distributed warnings
re Covid related fraud
and passed to relevant
finance staff. Invoice
checking remains in
place, where there are
changes to these they do
not relate to new
suppliers and all items
will be reconciled as
required.

SuNEE Covid-19
Incident room staffed
on rota basis.
Virtual support from
Primary Care / Care
homes /
Communications and
IPC teams.
Business continuity
plans in full
operational use.

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

Treat

4x5
20

4x5
20

TARGET RISK

As of 20/8/21 the ‘R
Number’ is between 0.9– 1.2
for England and 0.9 -1.2 for
EoE.

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS

REVISED RAG RATING

Level 4 National
Emergency.
Current UK Alert Level:
3

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

INITIAL RAG RATING

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

(LIKELIHOOD x CONSEQUENCE)

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

Covid-19 Outbreak – Risk 56 added March 2020

2x2
4

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

2. Monitoring of
proliferation of virus will
remain on-going. CCG
will implement national
guidance as required.
Target date: 31 March
2022
Completion date:
Sep 2021 Update:
Continued command &
control. Case rates across
our ICS are stable with
hospitalisations fluctuating
The UK continues to move
through the roadmap and
most restrictions have
been removed in England.
New isolation guidance
introduced this week which
should support operational
staffing.

JP/RW

4x5
20

Planning round completed
for H1 with a balanced
budget plan in place. Risks
and mitigations identified.
Comms channels with
national/regional/system
routes, so CCG / partner
organisations stay up to
date with latest guidance.
Regular system meetings
to review resources, raise
cash management and
share knowledge.
Normal financial reporting
processes remain; all areas
of expenditure assessed
including / excluding C-19
impact where possible.
C-19 resource approval
committee established for
speedy /robust decision
making.
Close working with internal
/ external audit.
Detailed monitoring
underway against CCG and
system plans.

Feedback from NHSE/I
on recovery based
draft financial plans.
Reporting to finance
committees on BAU
and C-19 expenditure.
Positive Internal audit
assurance received on
financial governance
arrangements and
overall reasonable
assurance rating for
CCG for 20/21.

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

Treat

3x5
15

3x5
15

TARGET RISK

Allocations have been
received for the period April to
September 21 (H1).
Finances for 2nd half of the
year are still unknown.
There is a risk that resources
are insufficient to recover
services in the light of
additional legislation /
requirements for service
delivery with an underlying
level of covid-19. This risk is
higher in H2 where allocations
are unknown.

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS

REVISED RAG RATING

Expenditure to support
the Covid-19 response
may result in financial
risks for the CCGs and
wider system leaving a
requirement to restrict
future services or fail
financial targets.

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

INITIAL RAG RATING

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

(LIKELIHOOD x CONSEQUENCE)

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

Covid-19 – Resource & Finance. Risk 57 added April 2020.

2x5
10

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

1. Receive audit report on
20/21 accounts.
Target date: June 2021
Completed: main accounts
audit concluded, VFM work
to be undertaken by
September.
2. Receive H2 allocations
and understand impact on
activity progress.
Target date: Sept 2021

IQ/EG

Leadership failing to
promote a positive culture
and valuing staff.
Trust had failed to take
action to reduce bullying,
harassment and
discrimination in the
organisation.
Inadequate oversight of HR
function to ensure
consistent application of
process and appropriate
use of sanctions.
Lack of policies and
procedures in place for staff
to safely raise concerns.
In July 2021 the Office for
Standards in Education
(OFSTED) removed EEAST as a
registered provider to train
apprentices.

5x4
20

Monthly regional quality
and performance
meetings held with CCG
and EEAST.
Locality meetings held
between EEAST and CCG
to discuss culture and
quality.
A ten-point plan has
been produced,
coordinated by NHSE/I
and with CCG to address
failings identified in the
CQC inspection report
published in September
2020. EEAST have a
Quality Improvement
Plan in place.

Progress on delivery
of CQC action plan is
monitored through
this forum.
EEAST held to account
by CCG on quality
improvement.
Monthly OAG
meetings are in place
to track EEAST
progress against the
10-point plan and
track their Quality
Improvement Plan
There is a package of
support provided to
EEAST following the
imposition of Special
Measures.
CCG Priorities
To ensure high quality
local services where
possible.
To improve the health
of those most in need.

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

Treat

4x4
20

4x4
16

TARGET RISK

The quality concerns relate
to:

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS

REVISED RAG RATING

EEAST have been
issued with a CQC
section 31 and section
29a notice following a
well led CQC
inspection in June
2020. They were
placed in Special
Measures for Quality
Concerns in October
2020.

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

INITIAL RAG RATING

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

Risk is owned by Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG.
(LIKELIHOOD x CONSEQUENCE)

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

EEAST – Quality. Risk 60 added January 2021

2x2
4

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

Sep 2021 Update:
Progress on the CQC action
plan continues. The CCG have
shared the key findings and
recommendations from the
Quality Visits conducted across
the region in June. EEAST will
review current action plans
that are in place to respond to
CQC findings and ensure they
address these Quality Visit
recommendations. This is in
preparation for future CQC
inspection.
The CCG’s across the region
received an update on the
OFSTED decision from the
EEAST Director of Nursing in
July 21. The immediate plans
implemented include
mitigation to ensure those
apprentices who are about to
qualify can do so.

Paul Gibara

WSFT have
identified and
alerted the CCGs to
risks associated
with the Trusts
Reinforced
Autoclaved Aerated
Concrete (RAAC)
infrastructure

May 2019 Standing
Committee on
Structural Safety
(SCOSS) alert
identified a risk of
shear failure in
buildings made
from RAAC planks

3x5
15

WSFT have established a
significant surveyance
program and remedial
plan to ensure the safety
of patients, visitors and
staff are met.
CCGs are required to
ensure that WSFT who
are legal owners of estate
and provider of services
give assurance as to the
safety of services.
West Suffolk and Ipswich
& East Suffolk CCGs have
developed a governance
structure to monitor the
level of assurance
together with a set of
measures to assess and
give the ability to respond
to any adverse changes
and consequence of the
risks identified.

CCGs have established a
RAAC Risk Committee
independently chaired to
ensure that the CCGs
undertake all necessary
actions required to
provide assurance to
mitigate risks. These
include:
• Emergency preparedness
• Alternative service
provision
• Internal WSFT
governance and remedial
works
• New hospital build
• Quality and physical
environment.

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

Treat /
Tolerate

3x4
12

3x4
12

TARGET RISK

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS

REVISED RAG RATING

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

INITIAL RAG RATING

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

(LIKELIHOOD x CONSEQUENCE)

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

WSFT Infrastructure. Risk 61 added February 2021

2x3
6

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

Completed actions:
3. Dialogue with
regional NHS –
16/08/21 update CCGs have worked with
Region to support
development of plans
to address identified
risks, CCG has
requested further
information from
WSFT:
1. Structured oversight
report has been
provided by WSFT and is
currently being reviewed
with support from
external surveyor.
2. Clarification of
internal governance
arrangements has been
provided and is to be
formally reviewed on
26/08/21.
3. Attendance of WSFT
to CCG Risk committee
for regular updates and
assurance.
4. Internal expert
leadership team now in
place at WSFT.
Target date: 30/09/21
EPRR plans.
System has developed
initial plans which will be
reviewed via a tabletop
exercise on 19/08/21.

CCGs have worked with
Region to ensure
regional/local plans are
aligned.
Risk score
This is planned for a
formal review at risk
committee early
September 2021.

Complexities regarding
the CCG Closure and
seamless transition to
ICS without impact
provision of safe, quality
services.

AL

This risk is so complex
two standalone risk and
issue logs are live (one
for CCG Closure and
one for ICS Transition)
The detail provided here
is high level only.

• NHSE Assurance, milestones
and requirements unknown

16

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED
• Executive Directors are
abreast of progress &
ensure potential risks are
addressed & managed.
• Director involvement /
effective communication
with staff.
• Regular staff briefings.
• SRO appointed for CCG
Closure and ICS
Transition programmes.
• Governance structures
developed and roles /
accountabilities are clear.
• ICS Transition Plan
developed which includes
detailed information
regarding ICS Board and
ICS Partnership, key
milestones and processes.
• ICS Transition Board
established chaired by Ed
Garratt
• CCG Transitions
Programme Lead
appointed.
• CCG transition
workstreams mapped out
and registers (x6)
commenced
• ICS workstreams mapped
out.
• ICS Transitions
Programme Manager and
CCG Closure Programme
Manger developing a
joined up approach.
• ICS boundary decision
made (SNEE)
• ICS Chair appointed

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS
•

•

•

•

Involvement of the
CCGs Governing
Bodies.
Regular reports to
Clinical Executive &
other statutory
committees.
JLT Assurance
Board for CCG
Closure. Chaired
by EG
ICS Transitions
Board Assurance
for ICS Transitions.
Chaired by EG

(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

Treat

RAG RATING LAST
MONTH

RISK
APPETITE

16

TARGET RISK

CCG Closure:
• Timeframe is short (9
months). Impacts on closure
tasks e.g. Staffing, Contracts,
Digital, Finance, Governance
• Possible reduction of clinical
leadership, direction and
influence.
• Implications of CCGs
delegating many population
health functions to providers.
• Complexities around ensuring
registers (Contracts, people,
assets, finance, system,
information) are not complete,
not providing a clean transfer
ICS Transition:
• Possible political and
relational implications
between ICS members
• Director / CEO restructure
implications and impact
• Staff burnout/sickness
compounded by Covid, major
organisational change,
ongoing service delivery,
winter pressures / Covid
public enquiry resources
• Uncertainty regarding
treatment of CCG
accumulated surpluses.
• Uncertainty regarding the
future level of information
provided on allocations and
reporting functionality at
alliance level.
• Risks concerning the
establishment of the formal
ICS Partnership
• Risks concerning the
establishment of the formal
ICS Board

*New risk*
REVISED RAG RATING

ICS White Paper transition of CCGs to an
ICS.

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

(LIKELIHOOD x
CONSEQUENCE)

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

INITIAL RAG RATING

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

ICS White Paper – Transition of CCGs to an ICS. Risk 62 added July 2021.

12

4

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION
2. Closure of CCGs
Target date: March 2022
Competed:
3. Transition of CCGs to an
ICS.
Target date: April 2022
Completed:

RISK
APPETITE
(Treat,
Tolerate,
Transfer,
Terminate)

TARGET RISK

ASSURANCE OF
CONTROLS

REVISED RAG RATING

KEY CONTROLS
ESTABLISHED

RAG RATING LAST MONTH

GRANULAR
OPERATIONAL RISKS

INITIAL RAG RATING

DESCRIPTION OF
STRATEGIC RISK

*New Risk*
(LIKELIHOOD x CONSEQUENCE)

ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER
& GP OWNER

System Resilience. Risk 63 added August 2021.

ACTION POINTS &
TARGET DATES FOR
COMPLETION

There are pressures
across our urgent and
emergency care services
and the resilience of
services is challenged by
a number of known
factors such as: COVID19, demand, capacity,
workforce, exit flow and
recovery of elective/
planned care.
There is a risk that these
pressures may impact
clinical quality and care,
and services do not
consistently achieve the
national performance
standards for urgent and
emergency care.

Risk that service demand
exceeds clinical capacity
potentially resulting in
extended service waiting
times.
Risk of patient deterioration /
deconditioning linked with
longer waiting times for
elective care / procedures.
Risk of patient experience
deterioration due to long
waits.
Increased risk of patient
handover delays between
services (capacity).

Paul Gibara /

Increased risk that people’s
discharge from hospital is
delayed (exit flow)
Impact on staff wellbeing due
to the ongoing pressures.
This includes the taking
annual leave, which is
necessary for their wellbeing,
and needs to be considered
when looking at pressures.
Impact on staff retention due
to workload and pressure.

1. Resilience plan complete.

4x4
16

2.Complete Seasonal
planning: ‘What might
reasonably be expected to
happen.’ Key Lines of
Enquiry have been
developed. Final plans to
be reviewed / approved at
Governing Body meetings.
3.Completed a review of
Urgent and Emergency Care
activity / demand in May and
August 2021.
Key themes and priority
actions identified, and
responsible Lead Directors
in place.
4.Governance and
oversight:
4a. Maintain the weekly
System GOLD tactical
meeting to escalate key
risks for support/ resolution.
4b. Maintain the three
Alliance tactical meetings to
facilitate discussions /
actions in response to local
pressures’
4c. Maintain an Incident
Coordination Centre and
implement/ facilitate twice
daily system operational
review meetings to support
pressures.
5.Develop a proposal to
implement a System
Tactical Operations Hub to
support delivery of
responsive services.
Develop/ agree a surge
plan/ escalation triggers to
support system pressures.
6a. Enhance ‘real time’
urgent and emergency care
reporting to support
operational management
and system flow.
6b. Develop urgent and
emergency care operational

Initial requirements and
timeline shared with
System partners.
The final draft action plan
has been shared with
System partners and
feedback invited. Final
plan to be agreed w/c 16
August.
Weekly system GOLD
tactical meeting in place.
Regular meetings in
place and can be held
more frequently as
required.

Treat

N/A

Tbd

3x3
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1. Complete
Plan finalised in June 2021.
NHSE feedback reviewed and
shared.
2. On track
Target date: Initial draft due
31 Aug and final draft by 30
September 2021.
3. Reviews are complete.
Target date: Final action /
response plan is agreed w/c
16 August.
Completion date: All actions
complete by October 2021.

Twice daily meetings set
up from w/c 2 August.
Terms of Reference
drafted and circulated for
comment.
Proposal co-developed
with System partners and
business case to be
reviewed in August 2021.
Additional resources
allocated/ in place.
Approach agreed.
Adoption/ adaption stage
planning underway
Additional resources
allocated/ in place.
Requirements gathered
and approach agreed
and stage plan under
development
Additional resources
allocated/ in place.
Requirements gathered
and approach agreed
and stage plan under
development

5. Proposal drafted. Target
date: If approved, to be in
place by Autumn 2021.

6a. Target date: Stage 1
solution in place before 30
October 2021.
Enhancements released as
new requirements/ data flows
identified.
6b. Target date: Stage 1
solution in place by 30

performance ‘dashboards’ to
support system
understanding and planning.

September 2021. Stage
releases/ upgrades from
October 2021.

7. Complete a review of all
admission avoidance
services to understand
utilisation and identify any
gaps and issues.

7. Target date: 30 September
2021.

8. The People Board have
discussed and agreed ICS
wide workforce issues and
priorities and every provider
is working to their People
Plan which covers key
priorities such as staff
wellbeing, retention and
digital workforce solutions.

8. Target date: On-going.

Directorate Risk Register summary of top risks
Date: August 2021
Department

Risk Description /
consequences

Current controls / assurance

RAG

Actions with status
Escalation to ICS board for wider
health input.
Escalation to NHSI for national
support and expertise.
The Health Working Group and
Community Safety Group are to
be resurrected for March to look
at the Statement of Common
Ground and Section 106
agreement.
Work with practices and NHS
England to have grant
agreements signed and in place
to allow projects to start on site
as quickly as possible or seek
agreement for alternative
arrangement to allow works to
commence.

1.

Corporate
Services

Sizewell C proposal approved with
no system mitigation agreed to
support the impact on the health
infrastructure

Joint health workstream established
led by SCC – all communication with
EDF is jointly reviewed and agreed

9

2.

Corporate
Services

New grant agreement process
presents a risk to the delivery of
estates projects.

Scheme business case development /
approvals accelerated to maximize
available build times on site.
Regular engagement and meetings
established with practice, consultants
and contractors to manage build
program and for any options for
acceleration once on site.
Operational risks escalated to, CCG
Directors and NHSE regional and
national teams for assistance.
Estates leads working closely with
NHSE and practices to address
questions / issues raised through the
new grant agreement process

20

1.

COO Ipswich &
East and West

2.

COO Ipswich &
East and West

Risk Description /
consequences

A practice in IES have
encountered significant GP
staffing issues which may impact
on their ability to see patients in a
timely manner
Barham and Claydon Surgery have
closed their practice. Potential
financial risk and increased
pressure on neighbouring
practices. This practice is now
closing as of 30th June 2021 due

Current controls / assurance

RAG

CCG is working with local practices
and the current provider to develop a
plan to deal with this issue.

12

Consultation with neighbouring
practices and will maximum impact
on the 9 practices impacted by this
closure. All patients have been
written to and are in the process of
registering. Those that are not

15

Actions with status
Work on the way with the
practice in respect of building
project.
Staffing issues have stabilised
Monitor the impact on those
surgeries receiving the patients
from Barham and Claydon.

Completion
date

Responsible
person

December 2021

Amanda Lyes

Completion
date

Responsible
person

30 Sept 2021

Claire Pemberton

Decision by
planning
inspector due
Dec 2021

30 Sept 2021

Amanda Lyes

David Brown

1.

2.

Performance
Improvement

Performance
Improvement

to lack of staff and the partners
therefore handing their contract
back.

registered by 30th will allocated to a
practice by PCSE/NHSE.

ICANHO- Livability
Finance - Current contract 20-22
not signed due to unresolved
provider financial requests.
Additional 2.1% uplift requested
in 20/21 to include nursing home
/residential patients within main
contract. Provider submitted a
paper in Dec 2020 requesting a
further £64,202.04 funding per
year to bring their staff in line
with AfC scale to improve staff
recruitment /retention. Request
remains outstanding, the provider
requesting update.
GY&WCCG - Associate
commissioner GY&WCCG have
historically contributed a
significant amount to the contract
(23%) but referring very few
patients. In 19/20 only 14 patients
were accepted, in 20/21 8
patients. Suffolk CCGs referred
137. GY&W accepts Covid-19 may
play a part, the disparity in value
for money is clear. Recent
discussions GY&W have suggested
worst case scenario that they may
request settlement figure for
20/21 and interim arrangement
for 21/22. If GY&W withdraw
from contract, service would not
be viable.
Hazard: Pandemic Flu is one of
the highest risks on the national
risk register and Suffolk
Community Risk Register (H23).
During outbreak we could see
significant CCG and provider staff
shortages. Consequences include

Contract meetings increased to bimonthly and regular communication
with provider to try to reduce
concerns around delay in news of any
potential uplift.

Risk Description /
consequences

Current controls / assurance

RAG
9

GY&WCCG have agreed to review the
historic financial spilt and numbers
referred over the past 5 years and to
re-discuss.

PHE monitoring for potential
outbreaks. Suffolk Resilience Forum
Pandemic Flu Plan. Suffolk Resilience
Forum Mass Fatalities plan. CCG
Business Continuity Plan, provider
business continuity plans. Annual CCG

15

Actions with status
Escalated to Senior Management
in Contracts and Finance teams.
Meeting 04/05- agreed to offer
0.87% uplift, to include nursing
/residential patients into main
contract- letter sent to provider
10/05.
N&WCCG- VB confirmed that
N&W have funding to continue to
contribute at historic levels until
Sep 2021.
Negotiations/discussions
ongoing.

Annual test of BC plans, CCG
pandemic and resilience forum
plans in place. likelihood increase
to reflect pandemic ongoing.
Ongoing response to COVID19,
learning being identified, and
CCG response plans being

Completion
date

Responsible
person
Jon
Reynolds/Emma
Saunders

To be reviewed
annually

Nicola Brunning

No end date

3.

Performance
Improvement

inability to provide services,
temporary loss of staff and
permeant loss of staff. Inability to
discharge from hospitals due to
lack of care home facilities.
Increase in deaths likely to create
significant pressure on hospital
mortuary and undertaker
facilities.
EZEC Patient Transport:
Performance is falling short of the
KPIs on a sustained basis.
Detrimental impact on patient
experience, flow within the
hospitals (outpatients and
inpatients)

Business Continuity exercise. Annual
flu vaccination campaign.

Risk Description /
consequences

Remedial action plan has been
requested and is being worked
through.
Demand and capacity review planned

Current controls / assurance

1.

Finance

CCG liable if a person is
incorrectly paid outside payroll
under IR35. The CCG may be
liable to pay HMRC additional
monies for the latter. New
regulations coming in on Apr 1st
2021 mean current controls
require update to comply.

HR and Accounting staff have been
informed of current IR35
requirements and query invoices of
concern prior to paying. The
recruitment policy has been updated
and presented to the Audit
Committee. A log of IR35 assessments
is kept jointly between HR and
Finance.

2.

Finance

Failure to achieve in year financial
balance, secure financial
sustainability and deliver
optimum service from financial
resources available.

Guaranteed Income Contracts in
place with key providers.
Clinical Executive and Governing Body
review expenditure and significant
investments.
Project management approach to
delivery of QIPP through PMO

Risk Description /
consequences

Current controls / assurance

reviewed. We are still seeing
impacts across the organisation;
new ways of working being
developed. Impacts across the
ICS are still being felt with long
term recovery planning still going
on.

12

RAG
12

10

RAG

Multi-organisation review in
September 2021 meeting to
discuss and implement
improvements.

No end date.

James Waites
Carrie Bacchus

Actions with status

Completion
date

Responsible
person

March 2022

Jane Payling

Completion
date

Responsible
person

New requirements that came
into place on 1st Apr 21, require
a new policy for disputes and
determination statements (which
are already made and kept) to be
shared with all individuals. This
will have a significant impact in
Nursing where currently we use
agencies where we are satisfied
IR35 arrangements have been
met and therefore do not deal
with individuals directly.
A plan is in place between HR and
Finance to work to implement
this but it will require cross
directorate co-operation.
Regular executive level dialogue
between CCG and providers.
Regular FPC reporting.
Note that payments have been
altered due to Covid-19 and the
extent and length of these
changes is as yet uncertain: the
Covid-19 GBAF risk covers this.

Actions with status

30 Sept 2021

Mark Game

1.

Nursing

There is a risk that if maternity
workforce requirements are not
clearly understood, we may be
unable to deliver continuity of
carer to pregnant women, which
is a requirement of the NHS Long
Term Plan.

1. CCG commissioning intentions
letter reinforced the milestone
delivery.
2. Heads of Midwifery and MW
clinical lead developed
implementation plan.
3. Co-designed roll out plan of CoC to
be delivered by 30/07/21.

2.

Nursing

Risk of reputational impact as the
lead commissioner of NSFT
services, which show
organisational risks in relation to
clinical safety of services,
timeliness of access to
commissioned clinical services
and the quality of care planning
and risk assessments.
This also create a risk of lack of
public confidence including
stakeholders in the ability of NSFT
to provide the service.

3.

Nursing

4.

Nursing

Lack of recent validated data
makes it difficult to measure the
success of saving babies lives
implementation, and the required
20% reduction of neonatal and
maternal deaths and brain
injuries. This creates a risk that
the system is not on track to
deliver the required reduction,
and therefore potential impacts
on patient safety. It also creates a
risk of failure to deliver business
objectives relating to the 20%
reduction.
The mental health provider NSFT
is reluctant to acknowledge the
admission for treatment pathway
for CYP. Reputational risk to CCG
not meeting our KPIs. Risk to the

Quality assurance reviews of all 41
service lines within Suffolk NSFT.
Actions from visits shared with NSFT,
progress monitored through CQRM.
CCG support with trust quality and
safety review process.
Monthly CQRM meetings focus on
quality / contractual requirements /
appropriate actions / trajectories to
meet required quality and contractual
requirements.
Joint support process from alliance
system, with the allocation of SRO
and project lead roles to support
NSFT with progress for operational
delivery to enable MCP process in
2021.
1. Providers to submit local data to
LMS clinical lead/PM to enable crude
analysis of compliance.
2. Clinical leadership to SBL action
group to ensure the bundle is
implemented and therefore
outcomes will positively impact our
reduction.

Operating policy for admission
pathway refreshed and disseminated
within NSFT. Training sessions
delivered on pathway and processes.
Regular liaison with clinical leaders

16

15

15

16

June 2021 Update:
Successful recruitment campaign
at WSFT which continues.
Colchester Hospital expects be
fully established by Autumn and
Ipswich Hospital continues to
have some challenges, but
international recruitment is
supporting this.
June 2021 Update:
The CCG are now involved in
NSFT Quality and Safety reviews.
NSFT are welcoming the CCG into
Governance meetings to review
NSFT progress following these
actions to understand progress to
date.

Sept 2021

Helen Bowles

Dec 2021

Wendy Scott
Kathryn Searle

June 2021 Update:
Still awaiting update from
regional Maternity
Transformation team regarding
this national issue.

Sept 2021

Helen Bowles

June 2021 Update
Now in place CYP escalate T4
meeting to review all cases of
significant interest. Reduction in
use of CYP T4 beds. D2A monies

Sept 2021

Wendy Scott

5.

Nursing

1. Transformation

1. NEECCG COO
*Risk Closed*

individual of not having
independent oversight of
admissions. Risk that CCG over
trajectory for CYP. Risk of
inappropriate admissions and
subsequent consequence to
young person.
Out of area mental health and
transforming care inpatient
monitoring assurance from local
provider to ensure care clinical
oversight, patient outcomes and
discharge pathways.

Risk Description /
consequences

Failure to achieve national
Dementia diagnosis target for
WSCCG of 67% in line with the
Prime Minister's Challenge on
Dementia 2020.

Risk Description /
consequences

Failure to develop the North East
Essex Alliance to its full potential,
creating risks to CCG meeting
constitutional and other goals
through failure to work effectively
with system partners.

within CYP provider. Weekly DSR
meeting.

Commissioner oversight of quantity
and location only. Engagement at
leadership level with local provider.
When NHSE commission beds
oversight undertaken at regional level
and monthly Extra Contract Review
(ECR) panel.

Current controls / assurance

Dementia action plans in place for
each locality agreed at Clinical
Executive.
Full Programme of work underway as
agreed with NHSE. Workstreams as
follows:
1. Leadership and Governance,
including clinical leadership
2. Improving Memory Assessment
Services
3. Case finding in acute settings
4. Case finding in care homes
5. Engaging primary care in diagnosis.
Monthly monitoring of DDR and
associated pathway throughput to
diagnosis. Additional investment
agreed to support recovery following
CV!9.

Current controls / assurance

Monthly Alliance Leadership Board
meetings facilitate effective and
regular formal communication
therefore building alliance
relationships and effective leadership.
Weekly Alliance System Executive
group meetings facilitate relationship
development and regular alliance

invested with a specialised social
worker role and Barnardo’s to
enhance admission avoidance
and early discharge system
planning and conversations.

16

RAG
12

RAG

12

June 2021 Update:
Care co-ordinators have been
allocated missing or ad hoc is the
co-ordination of panels and
gathering updates for
consideration.

March 2022

Wendy Scott

Actions with status

Completion
date

Responsible
person

April 2021 Update:
Transformation programme
active with additional NHSE/I
funding received as part of Covid
recovery.
Work underway to improve the
MAS pathway, primary care
coding, community awareness
and reform of dementia intensive
support services

Actions with status
March 2021 - Alliance Leadership
board structures remain virtual
via TEAMs.
Alliance delivery plan complete
and domain profile completion in
progress further delays due to
Covid wave 2/3 is slowing
progress.

30 Sept 2021

Gail Cardy / Rob
Chandler

Completion
date

Responsible
person

31 March 2022

Pam Green

level planning, therefore reducing
risks.

Risk that Coronavirus outbreak
has delayed progress in key
programmes of work is being
managed and recovery work is
commencing to restart all
Alliance meetings in March and
April.

GOVERNING BODY
Agenda Item No.

11

Reference No.

WSCCG 21-52

Date.

29 September 2021

Title

Financial Performance Committee Annual Report

Lead Director

Steve Chicken, Financial Performance Committee Chair
Jane Payling, Director of Finance

Author(s)

Jo Mael, Corporate Governance Officer

Purpose

To present to the Governing Body the Financial Performance
Committee Annual Report 2020/21.

Applicable CCG Clinical Priorities:
1.
Develop clinical leadership
2.

Demonstrate excellence in patient experience & patient engagement

3.

Improve the health & care of older people

4.

Improve access to mental health services

5.

Improve health & wellbeing through partnership working

6.

Deliver financial sustainability through quality improvement

X

Action required by Governing Body:
To note the attached report following its presentation to the Financial Performance
Committee on 21 July 2021.

Page 1 of 1

West Suffolk CCG
Financial Performance Committee
Annual Report 2020/21

1

Contents
1.

Purpose of the Report ................................................................................................................. 3

2.

Executive Summary ..................................................................................................................... 3

3.

Establishment and Ways of Working ........................................................................................ 3
3.1 Membership and Quorum......................................................................................................... 3
3.2 Arrangements for Meetings and Circulation of Minutes ................................................ 4

4.

Specific Duties and Responsibilities.......................................................................................... 5
4.1 Delivery of financial targets ...................................................................................................... 5
4.2 QIPP Schemes........................................................................................................................... 5
4.3 Financial plans ........................................................................................................................... 5
4.4 Key Financial Issues ................................................................................................................. 5
4.5 Performance Issues .................................................................................................................. 6

5.

Committee Effectiveness and Compliance with Terms of Reference .................................. 6
5.1 Ongoing learning and improvement........................................................................................ 6
5.2 Terms of Reference................................................................................................................... 6

6.

Future Development of the Committee ..................................................................................... 6

2

1. Purpose of the Report
The Financial Performance Committee (FPC) has prepared this report to the Governing
Body of NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group to provide assurance that it
has satisfied its terms of reference during 2020/21 in relation to its ways of working, and
the discharge of its specific duties and responsibilities in relation to the oversight and
scrutiny of:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Delivery of financial targets
QIPP schemes
Financial Planning
Investments and transformation funding
Delivery of Value for Money
Key financial issues
Key performance issues

The report covers the period from April 2020 to March 2021, which was during the Covid19 pandemic.
2. Executive Summary
The Financial Performance Committee has complied with, and satisfied, its terms of
reference during 2020/21 by ensuring appropriate attendance at meetings, reviewing the
schedule of meetings and the annual calendar of agenda items and regular reporting to
the Governing Body.
In respect of its specific duties and responsibilities, the committee has reviewed and
scrutinised the reports and assurances from senior officers and managers of the CCG
shared management team covering:
•
•
•
•

2020/21 CCG Financial performance
2020/21 Covid-19 related expenditure approved via the Covid-19 Resource
Allocation Committee
2020/21 ICS Financial Performance
2021/22 ICS Financial plans & CCG budget setting

3. Establishment and Ways of Working
3.1 Membership and Quorum
The committee consists of Lay Members, CCG Chair, Directors and GP members of the
Governing Body, as appointed by the Governing Body of NHS West Suffolk Clinical
Commissioning Group. A Lay Member of the Governing Body chairs the Financial
Performance Committee and a quorum consist of three members, one of whom being
the Lay Member.
Meeting attendance was as follows, with all meetings held throughout the year having
been quorate (see attendance register on the next page).
In line with the development of the ICS and its alliances, the committee moved to a
quarterly meeting pattern during 2019/20, with the West Suffolk Resources Group due to
3

run on a quarterly basis in intervening months. The two committees share members from
the CCG and the minutes of the WSRG are reported to the committee. Owing to the
additional requirements of the system during the Covid-19, including the covid
vaccination campaign, the WSRG was stood down during 2020/21 and is due to resume
in early 2021/22. Reporting of the overall ICS position continued throughout the year.

Attendance at the Financial Performance Committee Meetings 2020/21
Financial Performance Committee – West Suffolk CCG
Committee Member

17 Jun 20

16 Sept 20

11 Nov 20

16 Dec 20

17 March 21

Armitage Zohra

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Browning Christopher

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Chicken Steve

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes (Part)

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes (Part)

Yes

No

No

No

Nobes Lisa

No

No

No

No

No

Payling Jane

Yes

Yes

Yes

Part 2 only
(part 1 covered
by DDOF)

Yes

Reynolds Godfrey

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Talebpour Bahram

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes (Part)

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Watson Richard

Yes (Part)

No

Yes

No

Yes

Wilson Victoria

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yager Andrew

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

(GP Member)

(GP Member – CCG Chair)
(Lay Member)

(Lay Member for Governance)

Garratt Ed

(Chief Executive)

Gibara Paul

(Director of Performance
Improvement)

Lyes Amanda

(Director of Corporate Services and
System Infrastructure)
(Director of Nursing)
(Director of Finance)

(GP Member)
(GP Member)

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Engagement)

Vaughton Kate

(Chief Operating Officer)

Watfeh Firas
(GP Member)

(Director of Strategy and
Transformation)
(GP Member)
(GP Member)

3.2 Arrangements for Meetings and Circulation of Minutes
The Corporate Governance Officer is the administrator for the Committee and the
unconfirmed minutes of each meeting are presented to the next Governing Body
meeting. This protocol applies for all Governing Body sub-committees.
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4. Specific Duties and Responsibilities
4.1 Delivery of financial targets
The committee received detailed reports on the financial position including reclaims
made for covid related expenditure. Where necessary, members challenged actual
performance against agreed plans, asking for explanations of any variances from plan,
and gaining understanding of how targets were being met, or challenging where they
were not.
The Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System (ICS) has continued to
develop during the year; the committee has received regular reports on overall financial
progress across the ICS, providing feedback on content and usefulness and developing
the CCG’s awareness of the overall system finance position.
4.2 QIPP Schemes
Owing to the emergency financial arrangements put into place during 2020/21 the
requirement to deliver QIPP plans was suspended in line with the level 4 incident.
4.3 Financial plans
During the national planning round for 2021/22 the committee received regular reports
on the development of the financial plan for the first half of 2021/22 in line with the
national planning guidance and allocations received. The committee scrutinised the way
the plan was built-up within the overall allocation available, including reviewing the
deployment of Covid-19 and growth funding. The process was much more centrally
prescribed than usual, reflecting the continuation of national financial measures including
centrally calculated block contracts for NHS providers and the suspension of nonContract Activity (NCAs).
The financial architecture changed a number of times during 2020-21 and the committee
was kept up to date on the latest finance and planning expectations and their impact on
the delivery of activity and financial performance targets by the CCG.
4.4 Key Financial Issues
Throughout the year, the committee challenged CCG management through reviews of
key financial issues including budgetary performance. There was routinely a high level
of focus on specific areas of discretionary expenditure which included:
•
•
•

Continuing Healthcare (including the hospital discharge programme)
Prescribing
Primary Care Budgets

Other areas of focus during the year included:
•
•
•

ICS financial performance
Covid-19 resourcing
Financial plans

5

4.5 Performance Issues
The committee reviewed and scrutinised the key financial metrics in place during 202021 which were concerned with achievement of planned financial performance and
appropriate deployment of covid resources. Where performance deteriorated or was not
making the expected level of improvement, the committee challenged the organisation
on whether existing actions were sufficient or if further remedial actions needed to be
undertaken.
IESCCG was selected as part of the nationally commissioned series of audits of covid-19
related expenditure, looking at expenditure incurred in the early part of 20-21. Although
the audit did not relate directly to WSCCG, as the systems and processes are shared
across the two CCGs the results of the audit were shared with WSCCG at the in
common audit committee. The audit raised no issues of concern.
Committee Effectiveness and Compliance with Terms of Reference
5.1 Ongoing learning and improvement
The committee chair undertakes reflection at the end of each meeting in order to
summarise the discussion and check that members have a shared understanding of the
items discussed. An action log is maintained which is reviewed and updated at each
meeting.
The committee has reviewed its performance via survey of members.
5.2 Terms of Reference
A review of the Terms of Reference is undertaken bi- annually. The latest review was
undertaken in May 2020.
5. Future Development of the Committee
During the year the input of the committee has been key to the development of the
financial governance for the Suffolk and North East Essex Integrated Care System and
the West Suffolk Alliance. From April 2020 the alliance resources committee has been
suspended to allow staff to concentrate on the covid response. The CCG FPC has
continued to meet to review the finances of the CCG during this emergency period,
including providing oversight on the CCG’s claims for additional expenditure due to
Covid-19.
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1

Purpose of the Report
The Audit Committee has prepared this report to the West Suffolk CCG’s Governing Body in
order to provide assurance that it has satisfied its terms of reference during 2020/21 with regard
to its establishment and ways of working and the discharge of its specific duties and
responsibilities in relation to:
Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control
Internal Audit
External Audit
Other Assurance Functions
Fraud and Improprieties Management
Financial Reporting
Key CCG Documents
The report covers the period April 2020 to March 2021 so that it includes those activities
relating to the conclusion on the effectiveness of the internal control system and the review of
the annual report and financial statements which are carried out at the May meetings.

2

Executive Summary
The Audit Committee has complied with and satisfied its Terms of Reference during
2020/21 by ensuring appropriate attendance at meetings, reviewing the schedule of meetings
and the annual calendar of agenda items, regular reporting to the G ov er ni n g Body, and
by carrying out and responding to an annual self-assessment.
In respect of its specific duties and responsibilities the committee has reviewed:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the adequacy of the Annual Governance Statement;
the 2020/21 annual accounts and associated documents;
the Governing Body Assurance Framework;
the plans, progress reports, conclusions and recommendations of the internal and external
auditors and the local counter fraud specialist;
the findings of other significant assurance functions, both internal and external
the reports and assurances from senior officers and managers of the CCG and shared
management team
the adequacy and security of the CCG’s arrangements for its employees to raise concerns,
in confidence, about possible wrong doing in financial reporting and other matters.
waivers of competitive tendering

In carrying out its work the Committee continues to develop its ways of working to increase its
efficiency and improve the quality of reporting on internal controls.
3
3.1

Establishment and Ways of Working
Membership and Quorum
The Committee consists of not less than three members appointed by the NHS West Suffolk
Clinical Commissioning Group Governing body as set out in its Constitution. The lay member
on the governing body, with a lead role for overseeing key elements of governance, chairs the
Audit Committee and a quorum consists of two members.
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Meetings are held, on a quarterly basis with an additional meeting in May to review the financial
statements. Attendance was as set out below. The table also details other individuals that have
attended each meeting in order to support the Committee in its business.
West Suffolk CCG – Audit Committee
Audit Committee
Member

07 Apr 2020

Chicken Steve

Yes

Dobson Geoff

Yes

(Lay Member)

(Lay Member for Governance)

17 Jun 20
(Extraordinary)

15 Sept 2020

8 Dec 20

23 Feb 21

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Leaf Graham

Yes

(Lay Member for Governance IESCCG,
co-opted)

Tuck Lynda

Yes

Others in attendance to
advise:

Internal Audit
External Audit
Director of Finance
Governance Advisor
Chief Corporate
Services Director of
Corporate Services and
System Infrastructure

(Lay Member for Patient and Public
Involvement)

3.2

Yes
External Audit
Internal Audit
Director of Finance
Deputy Chief Finance
Officer
Governance Advisor
Project Accountant

Yes

Yes

No

Internal Audit
Counter Fraud
Director of Finance
Deputy Director of
Finance
Governance Advisor
Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Governance
Accountant

Internal Audit
External Audit
Counter Fraud
Director of Finance
Deputy Director of
Finance
Governance Advisor
Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Governance
Accountant

Internal Audit
External Audit
Deputy Chief Finance
Officer
Director of Corporate
Services and System
Infrastructure
Governance Advisor

Arrangements for Meetings and Circulation of Minutes
The Corporate Governance Officer is administrator for the Committee and the unconfirmed
minutes of each meeting are presented to the next Governing Body meeting. This protocol
applies for all Governing Body sub-committees.

4

Specific Duties and Responsibilities

4.1

Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control
The Committee has reviewed the adequacy of procedures, policies and mechanisms of control in
relation to;
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Key Financial Controls
Governance Part One
Primary Care Commissioning
Governance Part Two
Safeguarding Adults
Risk Management
Conflicts of Interest
GDPR
Financial Governance
Joint Management Team

Internal Audit Opinion
The Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion for 2020/21 is that;
“the organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk management, governance
and internal control. However our work has identified further enhancements to the framework
of risk management, governance and internal control to ensure that it remains adequate and
effective”.
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Governing Body Assurance Framework
The Committee has reviewed the Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF) at each of
its meetings, giving feedback, making recommendations and noting the progress made in the
development of the CCG’s risk management processes and reporting.
4.2

Audit Provision
Internal audit and counter fraud services are provided by RSM, with external audit being
provided by BDO. Internal and External auditors have attended all meetings held and Audit
Committee members have also met privately with the external and internal auditors.
Both auditors submitted annual audit plans for 2020/21 which were agreed and monitored by
the Audit Committee. Regular updates on the progress against these plans were presented to
the Audit Committee during the year.
Internal Audit
At each meeting the Audit Committee received details of recent Internal Audit work, within
interim reports prepared by the Head of Internal Audit, and audit recommendation reports,
which monitor management progress in implementing agreed actions.
The Audit Committee has overseen and supported the work of Internal Audit by:
a)
b)
c)
d)

approving the Annual Audit Plan
agreeing the detailed scope of internal audit coverage for 2020/21;
considering the results of internal audit reviews for 20120/21; and
reviewing the Head of Internal Audit’s Opinion for 2020/21.

From the audits completed during the year the overall control profile was as follows:
Assurance Level

Total

Substantial

4

Reasonable

3

Advisory

3

Total

10

The Audit Committee is satisfied that delivery of the internal audit plan for 2020/21 has given
assurance that controls are effective in the areas reviewed, that appropriate action plans are
developed for improvement and that the Internal Audit service is effective.
The Audit Committee has drawn confidence from the work of the internal auditor in supporting
its overall conclusions about internal control, financial reporting and the work of internal audit.
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External Audit
The Audit Committee has:
a)
b)
c)

considered the scope and planning of external audit through review of the
external audit plan;
considered the agreed fees and resources required by BDO
reviewed various financial and non-financial control related reports including the
external auditors interim report and annual audit letter.

The Audit Committee has drawn confidence from the work of the external auditor in supporting
its overall conclusions about internal control, financial reporting and the work of internal audit.
4.3

Counter Fraud
Counter fraud services are provided by RSM. At each meeting, the Audit Committee received
reports from the Local Counter Fraud Service (LCFS) which covered progress against the plan,
inform and involve work carried out, prevent and deter information and any hold to account
activity.

4.4

Other Assurance Functions
The CCG’s clinical audit processes, financial and contractual performance is reviewed and
monitored by the CCG’s Clinical Scrutiny Committee and Financial Performance Committee,
with the minutes of those meetings being presented to the Governing Body.

4.5

Management
The Audit Committee can request and review reports and assurances from the senior officers
and managers of the CCG on the overall arrangements for governance, risk management and
internal control. During 2020/21, the Audit Committee received and reviewed reports on/the
content of:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Hospitality and Gifts Register (April, September, December, February)
Audit Committee Terms of Reference Review (September)
Risk Management Strategy (September)
Review of Delegated Limits of Expenditure and Routes of Expenditure Approval (September)
Briefing on Assurance Engagement on the Mental Health Investment Standard (September)
Additional wording to the Information Governance policies (September)
Approval of Information Governance Steering Group Terms of Reference (September)
Cyber Security Update (September)
Covid-19 Update (September)
Audit Committee Self-Assessment (September)
Revised Terms of Reference for the Commissioning Governance Committee (September)
Year End Update (December, February)
Information Governance Update (December)
Whistleblowing (December)
Self-Assessment Feedback (December)
Update of Audit Committee Terms of Reference (February)
Final Covid-19 Cost Reimbursement Review Report (February)
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4.6

Financial Reporting
Annual Report and Financial Statements
During the year the Audit Committee reviewed the 2020/21 annual report and accounts. However
the external audit of the 2020/21 financial statements (specifically the VfM element) is not
scheduled to conclude until September 2021 due to the extended requirements on Use of
Resources; the audit opinion on the VfM element of these accounts will therefore be included in
next year’s report.
The audit opinion which was received in year relating to the 20-21 accounts so far is reproduced
below.
External Audit Opinion:
The CCG’s External Auditors, BDO advised of their opinion as follows;
We have audited the financial statements of NHS West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group (the
CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2021,which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity,
the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as interpreted
and adapted by the 2020-21 Government Financial Reporting Manual as contained in the
Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual 2020-21.
In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS West Suffolk CCG as at 31 March
2021and of its net expenditure for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care’s
Group Accounting Manual 2020-21; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006.

5

Committee Effectiveness and Compliance with Terms of Reference

5.1

Self-assessment
The Audit Committee carries out an annual self-assessment using a checklist derived from best
practice. The 2020 assessment was carried out during October, with the next one due in
September 2021. The Committee receives and reviews feedback from the self-assessment
which for 2020 revealed that the committee was considered to be administered and supported
appropriate to allow it to receive all relevant assurances on the CCGs risk and internal control
framework. Similarly, it was considered that the committee continued to work effectively despite
meetings being virtual in year because of the Covid19 pandemic. No specific training or
development needs for members were identified.

5.2

Terms of Reference
A review of the Terms of Reference is undertaken annually. The latest review was undertaken
in March 2021.

(Approved by Audit Committee on 10 September 2021)

Page 6 of 6

GOVERNING BODY
Agenda Item No.

13

Reference No.

WSCCG 21-54

Date.

29 September 2021

Title

Minutes of Meetings

Lead Director

Amanda Lyes, Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure

Author(s)

Jo Mael, Corporate Governance Officer

Purpose

To receive a report from the Lay Member for Governance seeking the
endorsement of minutes and decisions from West Suffolk CCG Sub
Committees,
a)

Audit Committee
The unconfirmed minutes of a meeting held on 10 September 2021.

b) Financial Performance Committee
The unconfirmed minutes of a meeting held on 15 September 2021
c)

Covid-19 Resource Approval Committee
Minutes from a meeting held on 19 August 2021

d) West Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The unconfirmed minutes of a meeting held on 25 August 2021
e)

Commissioning Governance Committee
Decisions from virtual meetings held on 7 and 12 July 2021 and 10 and
25 August 2021

f)

CCG Collaborative Group
The minutes of meetings held on 17 August 2021 and 7 September 2021

Applicable CCG Priorities
1.
Develop clinical leadership
2.
Demonstrate excellence in patient experience & patient engagement
3.
Improve the health & care of older people
4.
Improve access to mental health services
5.
Improve health & wellbeing through partnership working
6.
Deliver financial sustainability through quality improvement
Action required by Governing Body:
To endorse the minutes and decisions as attached to the report whilst noting that ‘unconfirmed’
minutes remain subject to change by the relevant Committee/Group.








Unconfirmed Minutes of a Meeting of the West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
Audit Committee held on 10 September 2021
(The meeting was held ‘in common’ with the Audit Committees of Ipswich and East
Suffolk CCG and North East Essex CCG)
In view of the absence of a second Lay Member, it was agreed that in order for the meeting to be
quorate, in accordance with the Committees terms of reference, the Lay Member for Governance from
the Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG be co-opted to attend as the second Lay Member.
PRESENT
Geoff Dobson
Graham Leaf

-

Lay Member for Governance (Chair)
Lay Member for Governance (IESCCG)

IN ATTENDANCE
Lisa Blake
Colin Boakes
Emily Bosley
Chris Chapman
Martyn Hanlon
Diane Her
Mark Kidd
Narinder Liddar
Amanda Lyes
Lizzie Mapplebeck
Jane Payling
Jon Price
Satinder Jas
Emma Seabrook
Jerry Wedge
Liz Wright

-

BDO, External Auditors
Governance Advisor, Suffolk CCGs
Governance Accountant
EPRR Manager
Lay Member, North East Essex CCG
EPRR Support Officer
RSM UK, Local Counter Fraud Specialist

21/039

Associate Director of Digital and IT

Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure (Part)
Head of Corporate Transformation
Director of Finance
Lay Member, North East Essex CCG
External Audit, BDO
Corporate Governance Officer, North East Essex CCG
Lay Member, North East Essex CCG
RSM UK, Internal Audit

WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and apologies for absence were
noted from;
Steve Chicken

21/040

-

Lay Member

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND HOSPITALITY AND GIFTS
No declarations of interest were received.

21/041

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The minutes of an Audit Committee meeting held on 13 April 2021 and
Extraordinary meeting held on 7 June 2021 were approved as correct records.

21/042

MATTERS ARISING AND REVIEW OF ACTION LOG
There were no matters arising and the action log was reviewed and updated.

It was agreed that, rather than as written on the agenda, items would be taken in
the following order.
21/043

CCG CLOSURE
The Committee was presented with an update detailing the indicative milestones
for inaugural planning and governance in relation to the closure of the CCGs. The
Committee was informed that 12 workstreams had been developed regarding the
closure and transition into the new organisation The overall plan would be taken to
the Joint Leadership Team for internal sign off in readiness for submission to
NHSE.
The CCG had a responsibility to provide assurance and due diligence to the
Integrated Care Body for the transfer of staff, contracts, estates etc. The NHSE
guidance on due diligence was yet to be published.
The Committee was asked if it was the appropriate Committee to provide the
internal assurance/due diligence. It was agreed it would be appropriate for the
Committee to review findings but that external input should be sought from an
appropriate body e.g. Internal Audit or lawyers. The Head of Corporate
Transformation was advised to link with the Finance Team and Internal Audit.
Having queried costs associated to transfer to the new organisation, it was
highlighted that costs were expected to be minimal and would have to be
absorbed internally; the CCGs were not expecting any redundancies to occur
directly as part of the move to the ICS.
The Committee noted the update and requested a further update to the
December 2021 meeting.

21/044

EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS RESILIENCE AND RESPONSE
Following the alignment of the three CCGs and EPRR arrangements, the
Committee was presented with an updated EPRR Policy, Emergency Response
Plan and Business Continuity Plan. Next steps would be to establish Business
Continuity Plans for the Integrated Care Board in readiness for 1 April 2022.
Some errors to the pagination within the Emergency Response Plan were
highlighted and it was suggested that Essex County Council was added to
External Stakeholders on page 8 of the Business Continuity Plan.
The fact that the documents were high level and did not include the practical detail
was queried. It was confirmed the documents were supported by a number of
action cards which were being finalised. In addition each team has its own
Business Impact Assessment (BIA) highlighting lower level actions required within
the team.
It was queried to which forum the six monthly exercises were reported. The
Committee was advised that Covid-19 was being reported as part of the Core
Standard Review to NHSE and the EPRR Core Standards Report would come to
Audit Committee and the Governing Body.
The Committee approved:
•
•
•

21/045

the EPRR Policy;
the Emergency Response Plan
the Business Continuity Plan and the associated EQIA

ANNUAL AUDITORS’ REPORT 2020/21
The Committee was presented with the Auditor’s Annual Report which provided a
summary of the key issues arising from the audit work for 2020/21. The report
replaced the annual audit letter and was the primarily vehicle to report under the

new use of resources/value for money assessment methodology. The Committee
was informed an unqualified opinion was issued for all three CCGs on the
financial statements.
The report reflected the fact normal financial planning arrangements, savings and
efficiency requirements, and performance monitoring arrangements were
suspended in 2020/21.
No significant weaknesses had been identified in the three CCGs’ arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources.
Following a request for feedback, the Chair reported that although the report was
comprehensive and of an easy read it did not enable the reader to drill down and
understand specific issues around any misstatements.
The Auditors reported good engagement and support from the CCGs in the first
year.
The Committee noted the report.
21/046

INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT
The Committee was in receipt of the current internal audit progress report.
Internal Audit Progress Report
The report provided an update on progress against the Internal Audit Plan for
2021/22. It was noted the majority of work would conclude in Q3 and Q4. The
report summarised the final two 2020/21 Internal Audit reviews both of which
were undertaken on an advisory basis: Data Security and Protection Toolkit and
GP Pensions.
There was discussion around the areas of inconsistency in the control design
and application across the CCGs for GP Pensions. It was flagged that was due
to different policies/approach between the CCGs. A review was underway to
align approaches for the ICS.
It was questioned whether the CCGs remained non-compliant in respect of the
Data Security and Protection Toolkit audit. It was confirmed that a compliant final
toolkit had been submitted for all three CCGs.
Internal Audit referred to the ‘follow ups’ and agreed to action a cleansing
exercise with management for the 2020-21 internal audit actions, in the light of
the CCGs becoming an ICS.
There was disappointment at the time taken to address some actions. It was
highlighted that a vast number of processes had been impacted by operational
challenges from the pandemic. Priority actions were low or medium with nothing
flagging as high priority and therefore there was nothing of particular concern or
that impacted on delivery of patient care.
A summary of the first ICS virtual workshop was presented to the Committee. A
second workshop would be held in the autumn, the date would be confirmed
shortly. An NHS News Briefing summarising the key issues and publications
within the sector was presented for information.
The Committee noted and accepted the reports.

21/047

LOCAL COUNTER FRAUD ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21
The Committee was in receipt of the Local Counter Fraud Annual Report for
2020/21 which provided a summary of work undertaken in the last year. All three
CCGs had received an overall rating of amber for compliance against Government

Functional Standard 013. Two areas were flagged as non-compliant (1B
Accountable Individual) and (3 Fraud, bribery and corruption and risk
assessment). It was highlighted that the new standards came into effect just prior
to year-end.
An update from NHSCFA as to what role/level the Fraud Champion should be was
expected at a Conference being held on 27 October 2021.
It was clarified that a risk assessment had been carried out, but the standards had
since changed. It was noted the staff survey was delayed as that was not
considered the best use of resources during a pandemic and the process for the
survey for 2021/22 would commence in the next month.
The percentage of bodies that had received a green CFFSR rating was queried.
Numbers were thought to be low and it was explained that the outcome was
reasonable; good progress was expected by the next meeting towards
achievement of the new standard.
With regard to the summary the question around the content “there is a strong
anti-fraud culture within the organisation”, was questioned. It was asked whether
it would be more appropriate for it to read ‘reasonably strong’ following the amber
CFFSR rating. The Counter Fraud Specialist believed the culture to be strong
around anti-fraud within the CCGs despite the amber rating, due to the consistent
engagement he received from senior management and CCG staff as a whole.
The Committee noted the report.
21/048

REACTIVE BENCHMARKING REPORT
The Committee was presented with the report summarising the areas/types of
referrals received and how we benchmark to other CCGs.
The Committee noted the Reactive Benchmarking Report.

21/049

CYBER SECURITY UPDATE
The Committee received a verbal update from the Associate Director of Digital
and IT on Cyber Security.
The Committee was informed the team was working with the CSUs in relation to
servers that would be unsupported from January 2022, and that there was
reliance on the two CSU organisations to update patches to ensure updates were
being applied in relation to cyber security. Work was taking place to replace old
estate (e.g. servers) and a training package for Practice Managers was underway.
Regular backups within practices were taking place to mitigate any risk.
The Chair queried how confident the CCG was that the two external providers had
robust arrangements in place to manage cyber-attacks. The Committee was
informed that regular meetings with the providers took place together with
engagement with NHSE. Work was underway for formal reports to be taken to the
Digital Board.
The removal of Cyber Security from the Internal Audit Plan was questioned. It
was explained that as it was the responsibility of external providers there was an
issue with access through contracts and therefore audits presented limited value.
External observation/testing to raise any flaws was suggested in place to provide
some level of assurance.
The Committee noted Cyber Security was a risk within the GBAF and that
reports would be provided to the Committee.
(Amanda Lyes left the meeting)

21/050

DRAFT AUDIT COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT

The Committee was in receipt of the Audit Committee Annual Report for 2020/21.
With regard to section 5.1 (self-assessment) it was suggested that further wording
be included to reflect the outcome of the self-assessment. It was agreed that be
added to the report.
The following statement: ‘the value for money element of these accounts will
therefore be included in next year’s report’, was queried. It was confirmed that
following today’s External Annual Report that section could be updated to include
the full opinion: Action JPa.
Subject to the amendments mentioned above, the Committee approved the
Audit Committee Annual Report for submission to Governing Body
21/051

GOVERNING BODY ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK (GBAF) AND RISK
REGISTERS
The Committee was in receipt of the latest Governing Body Assurance Framework
(GBAF) and risk registers in order to satisfy itself that appropriate risk
management processes were in place.
A new risk CCG024 (ICS White Paper - transition of CCGs to an ICS) was
highlighted and it was anticipated the risk would be reduced at its next review. It
was noted that Governing Body members had attended a recent Risk
Management training session.
Risks around failure to meet the outcomes within the NHS constitution were
highlighted and it was asked what level of confidence there was that providers had
the necessary resources to deliver. The Director of Finance reported that it
remained a huge challenge. There was daily close working with provider
organisations all of whom were under extreme pressure. Additional funding had
been provided around elective recovery and although the waiting list was
increasing, the number of long waiters was starting to decline. It was noted that
was an area scrutinised at the Finance and Performance Committee.
The Committee noted the GBAF as presented and was assured of the
robustness of risk management processes.

21/052

AUDIT COMMITTEE SELF-ASSESSMENT
The Committee was informed the self-assessment would be circulated to
members shortly with the outcome presented at the December 2021 meeting. A
Member referred to Question 10: ‘The Committee effectively reviews the findings
of other significant assurance functions, both internal (management reports) and
external (ICO, HSE, CQC etc.) to the CCG, and considers the implications to the
governance of the organisation’ and asked if such reports came to the Committee.
Internal Audit highlighted that the Committee should be assured those reports
were being received within the CCG via other Committees (not being reviewed in
full at Audit Committee) but was an external source of assurance the Committee
was cognisant of, with Committees flagging any serious control issues as part of
the GBAF.
The Committee agreed to commence the Audit Committee Self-Assessment

21/053

GOVERNANCE LOGS
Waivers
The Committee received the following waivers of competitive tendering.
095

EoE Greener NHS – reducing plastic waste (Axion, PA

consulting, Loopcyle and Renolit)
096

EoE Greener NHS – Engaging the Regional Sustainability
Network

097

Homeward Bound Service

098

Banardos Link Family Support Service

099

Kooth

100

Suffolk Mind Connect Service

102

The Stroke Association (TSA) 2020-25 Contract Agreement

103

East Anglia’s Children’s Hospice 2020-24 Grant Agreement

105

Dementia Together

106

St Nicholas Hospice

The Chair referred to 095 and the conflict of interest statement on some of the
waivers. The Director of Finance agreed to check the template and ensure
users were using the most up to date form.
Hospitality and Gifts Register
The Committee received the current hospitality and gifts register for review.
The Committee noted the waivers of competitive tendering and hospitality and
gifts register as presented.
21/054

POLICIES FOR APPROVAL
There were no policies for Suffolk CCGs to approve.

21/055

ANY OTHER BUSINESS AND REFLECTION
1) Concern was expressed that waiting lists continued to increase.
2) There was discussion associated to sign off of the CCG accounts. It was noted
that guidance around transfer of audit into new bodies was awaited and that a
proposal would be brought to a future meeting.

21/056

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
The next meeting was scheduled to take place on 17 December 2021.

Unconfirmed Minutes of a meeting of the West Suffolk CCG
Financial Performance Committee held on 15 September 2021
PRESENT:
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson
Ed Garratt
Paul Gibara
Jane Payling
Dr Godfrey Reynolds
Dr Bahram Talebpour
Kate Vaughton
Dr Victoria Wilson
Dr Andrew Yager

Lay Member (Chair)
Lay Member for Governance
Chief Executive
Director of Performance Improvement
Director of Finance
GP Governing Body Member
GP Governing Body Member
Chief Operating Officer
GP Governing Body Member (Part)
GP Governing Body Member

IN ATTENDANCE:
Chris Armitt
Mark Clinton
Lucy Game
Dr Andrew Hassan
Julie Kerridge
Jo Mael
Hannah Morgan
Annette Wilcox

Deputy Director of Finance
Senior Management Accountant
Continuing Healthcare Manager (Part)
Enhanced GP Associate Member
Senior Management Accountant
Corporate Governance Manager
Management Accountant
Head of Financial Accounting and Control

21/032 WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were noted from;
Dr Zohra Armitage
Dr Christopher Browning
Amanda Lyes
Dr Firas Watfeh

GP Governing Body Member
CCG Chair
Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure
GP Governing Body Member

Annette Wilcox, Head of Financial Accounting and Control, was welcomed to the CCG and
introduced to the Committee as a new member of the Finance Team.
21/033 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST HOSPITALITY AND GIFTS
No declarations of interest were received.
21/034

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 July 2021 were agreed as a correct record.

21/035

MATTERS ARISING AND REVIEW OF ACTION LOG
There were no matters arising and the action log was complete.

21/036 CCG FINANCES
Month 5 Finance Report
The Committee was in receipt of report that provided detailed information in respect of Month 5
finances.
Points highlighted included;
•
•
•

The CCG had reported a balanced position for Month 5 as per the Month 1 to 6 plan.
The CCG anticipated reimbursements of £0.7m for the Hospital Discharge Programme
(HDP), £0.3m for the Elective Recovery Fund (ERF), and £0.1m for COVID vaccination
costs.
The forecast was in line with the Month 1 to 6 plan once retrospective top-ups had been
received.

Key variances for Month 5 were:
Continuing Care was over spent by £0.4m after anticipated retrospective top-ups for HDP,
due to increased costs of Non HDP patients and backlog of CHC reviews resulting in more
patients remaining eligible for longer.
Other Programme showed a £0.5m over spend as the plan for the first half of the year
assumed prior year benefits in the General Reserve –those prior year benefits had come
through on other budget lines, leaving a variance showing here.
Running Costs showed a £0.2m under spend due to vacancy slippage.
Primary Care showed a £0.3m under spend due to under performance on GP+ contract, as
well as the SLA being lower than had been assumed in the Month 1 to 6 plan.
Acute showed a £0.4m under spend after retrospective top-ups, primarily due to the H1 budget
assuming increased costs from independent providers but not assuming the full level of
retrospective top-ups that were anticipated from NHSE.
Primary Care Delegated Commissioning had a minor under spend against plan due to the
utilisation of non recurrent benefits from prior year.
Comments included:
In respect of the underspend on the GP+ contract it was highlighted that the contract was not
due to transfer to PCNs until April 2022. The overall position with regard to the primary care
delegated budget included the release of some prior year benefits.
The underperformance of GP+ was of concern due to resulting pressures on the system and it
was recognised that more work was required to attempt to address the situation. It was noted
that the underspend relates to reclaims from the Suffolk GP Federation for clinics that were not
taking place and hoped that when PCNs took over there would be increased focus on
performance.
Having noted that mental health Section 117s, prescribing and primary care budgets were all
overspent there was concern at what the financial position would be in six months’ time. The
Committee was advised that the CCG’s funding settlement had not allowed for contingencies
and its ability to cover future cost pressures was of concern.
The Committee approved the report.
(Dr Victoria Wilson joined the meeting)
Continuing Healthcare (CHC) Deep Dive
The Director of Finance reported that funding for CHC was based on historic spend with a
small uplift. Benchmarking work had been undertaken which demonstrated that the CCG still

benchmarks well on costs overall, however the was unable to absorb the cost of the additional
activity being experienced. There was a need to consider the cause of the increased spend
and how it might be addressed.
•
•
•

CHC across the two CCGs was overspent by £3,123k year to date. However, excluding
HDP the CHC underlying position was £2,532k overspent year to date.
Year to date direct package costs were overspent by £3,189k (excl. Funded Nursing Care
(FNC)) across both CCGs. FNC was underspent overall by £212k year to date.
Expenditure in relation to the Hospital Discharge Programme had been consolidated into
the one line entitled HDP. Those costs form part of the CCG’s reimbursement claim which
was returned to the CCG a month in arrears as additional allocation. Year to date there had
been £1,832k of spend in Suffolk.

WSCCG
WSCCG was £368k over budget.
Nursing Home Care, One to Ones, Home Care Packages and Fast Tracks were the highest
areas of overspend.
Whilst Covid-19 funding had been non-recurrent, activity was recurrent.
Quarterly
benchmarking reports were provided to NHSE and had highlighted that West Suffolk was
below the national average in respect of CHC costs. There were however a higher proportion
of fast tracked cases and one to one requirements were challenging. Whilst West Suffolk’s
cohort of expensive patients had slightly decreased the overall spend had been higher than
previous years. As a result of cluster analysis by NHSE, the CCG had been identified as
having a low spend on CHC per 50k population, and was ranked 29th out of 36th with regard to
spend. Funding and spend per head was lower than the regional average.
A number of reviews were overdue and the work had recently been outsourced to an external
company who were due to start carrying out reviews from October 2021. The team had not
changed its approach and the key cause for increased costs was complexity of cases and a
need for specialist out of county placements. There was also sometimes a need to overcommission due to limitations within care provision. A data cleansing exercise had also been
initiated.
Key elements of work to pursue were the data cleanse, and a deep dive with finance
colleagues. High cost and complex panel reviews continued, and a rigorous financial approval
process was in place. There was a need to work closer with social care in respect of the care
market.
Comments included:
It was confirmed that cluster ranging was derived from spend. CHC nationally was forecast to
be significantly overspent.
It was queried whether there was any joining up of care packages or whether there was any
shift in cost from local authority to health. The need to link with the Discharge to Assess (DTA)
process was emphasized. In response, it was explained that the CCG had a joint working
policy with the local authority, although there had been a recent increase in referrals, the cause
for which, was being explored. There had been a drop off in Funded Nursing Care (FNC) last
year and a drop off in the number of people wanting to go to nursing homes due to the
pandemic. Robust DTA processes were in place which challenged the more complex cases
from the pathway. It was suggested that thought be given to carrying out an analysis of the
cost effectiveness of Personal Health Budgets (PHBs).
The Team was thanked for its contribution to the escalation process and it was recognised that
the availability of care provision was concerning. The service was currently a well run
integrated and robust service which needed to be retained.
Having queried whether there was enough capacity within the outsourcing of review work to
work across all CCGs, the Committee was informed that timing reviews would be managed,
with high cost cases and those that had had less contact with the CHC team being targeted
initially.

As previously reported next steps included the pursuance of a data cleanse exercise, a deep
dive with finance colleagues, and the need to work closer with social care in respect of the care
market.
The Committee noted the report and that future updates would be provided to the Executive.
21/037 H2 FINANCES AND BUDGETS
The Committee received a report which outlined H2 planning for 2021/22. Latest assumptions
included;
•
•
•
•

Efficiency target c0.82% plus 5% reduction in Covid funding, additional efficiency
targets for some systems but no area greater than 3%
Hospital Discharge Programme to continue to end of year.
Elective Recovery Fund to continue at 95% threshold.
H2 envelopes to be adjusted for additional costs of the pay award and backpay for NHS
Providers. However:
•
It was not yet clear whether the funding would be sufficient to cover the uplift,
with systems needing to work through how to distribute funding.
•
No additional funding for the cost of the pay award within CCG Running Costs
•
No clarity on value or criteria regarding any pay award funding for non NHS
contracts

CCGs were expected to receive clarity in respect of H2 from 16 September 2021. At its
meeting in September 2021, the Governing Body would be asked to delegate responsibility to
the Financial Performance Committee to sign off budgets from October 2021.
Comments included:
The need to consider bringing together the Financial Performance Committees across SNEE to
meet ‘in common’ was highlighted, together with exploring the potential use of Alliance funding.
It was noted that any conversation with regard to the use of Alliance funding would need to
take place at an early stage.
In 2022/23 there was expectation that normal allocations would return although efficiency need
would be more challenging.
The Committee noted the report.
21/038 ICS FINANCES
Month 4 Finance Report
•

NHS organisations were reporting that they would achieve their H1 financial plans to
break even, although at the end of month 4 East of England Ambulance Service was
showing a deficit, and had flagged heightened risks to Regulators.

•

Key risks to the delivery of finance targets included the impact of the RAAC plank
issues on the ability of the system as a whole to deliver elective recovery, and earn
significant additional income (Elective Recovery Fund, ERF). Changes to the ERF had also
been made nationally in July, which would result in significant reductions in income to the
acute provider organisations in Q2.

•

County Councils took a different approach to in year reporting. Essex showed a deficit
year to date which be offset by movements in reserves at the year-end, and would thereby
deliver break-even. Suffolk was reporting a small surplus year to date and forecast
position. Due to a change in the ledger system, Essex County Council figures for month 4
were not available; month 3 figures had been extrapolated as an estimate.

Comments included;

Having queried capital overspend as set out within the report, it was explained that West
Suffolk NHS Foundation Trust (WSFT) was reporting a capital overspend of £2.5m year to date
and overall pressure on its capital programme. An announcement with regard to further capital
funding was expected on 16 September 2021.
The Committee noted the report.
Efficiency Event
The Committee received the draft programme for an Efficiency Programme Away Day planned
on 7 October 2021.
The Committee noted the programme.
21/039 COVID-19 RESOURCE APPROVALS COMMITTEE (CRAC) APPROVALS
The Covid-19 Resources Approval Committee was initially set up to cover the period April to
July, that had now been extended to the end of September 2021 to assist decision making
around phase 3 and mass vaccination. The report set out the approvals made from the last
detailed report (which was up to 12 July).
The Committee noted the approvals made by CRAC on behalf of the Governing Body.
21/040 AUDITOR’S ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21
The Committee was in receipt of the Auditor’s Annual Report for 2020/21 prior to its
presentation to the Governing Body in September 2021. It was explained that presentation of
the Auditors Annual Report had been delayed due to a requirement to include narrative on
Value for Money (VFM) and the use of resources.
The Auditor’s had issued an unqualified audit opinion on the financial statements of all three
CCGs. That meant the Auditor’s considered that the financial statements gave a true and fair
view of the financial position and net expenditure for the year. The findings had been reported
to the Audit Committee ‘in common’ on 10 September 2021.
The Committee noted the report.
21/041 ANY OTHER BUSINESS AND REFLECTION
No items of other business were received.
21/042 DATE OF NEXT MEETING
The next meeting was scheduled to take place on 19 January 2022.

Ipswich & East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
North East Essex Clinical Commissioning Group
Unconfirmed Minutes of the CCG Covid-19 Resource Approval Committee meeting held on
19 August 2021
PRESENT
Dr Mark Shenton
Ed Garratt
Jane Payling

Chair, Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG (Chair)
Chief Executive
Director of Finance

IN ATTENDANCE
Carrie Bacchus
Emily Bosley
Jo Mael
James Waites

Contracts Manager
Project Accountant
Corporate Governance Manager
Contracts Manager

Minute
21/068

Welcome and apologies
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. Apologies for absence were received from;
Dr Christopher Browning
Dr Hasan Chowhan
Amanda Lyes
William Pope
Richard Watson

21/069

Chair, West Suffolk CCG
Chair, North East Essex CCG
Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure
Chair, ICS
Director of Strategy and Transformation

Declarations of Interest, Hospitality and Gifts
Dr Mark Shenton declared an interest as a member of primary care insofar as the papers
related to the vaccination programme. It was noted that any final decision in respect of
primary care would be made by the CCG’s Commissioning Governance Committee and
therefore Dr Shenton remained in the meeting.

21/070

Minutes of the previous meeting
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 12 July 2021 were approved as a correct
record.

21/071

Matters Arising and Review of Action Log
There were no matters arising and the action log was reviewed and updated.

21/072

Requests for Covid-19 related investment
Suffolk CCGs Non-Emergency Patient Transport Service (NEPTS) contract – additional costs
relating to Covid-19 for Q2 – Q4 2021-2
The NEPTS was provided by E-zec Medical (E-zec) a private sector organisation. All Covid19 costs that had been incurred by E-zec had been submitted and approved by CRAC as
they were unable to make direct claims to the national funding that was available.
Leading up to winter 2020-21 and into 2021-22, the service had been experiencing
increasing pressure due to the impact of Covid-19 as detailed in paragraph 1.2 of the report.

Additional funding to achieve the additional journeys was provided from December 2020 to
cover the occupancy restrictions to increase taxi and 3rd party, up to a maximum of £42,682
per month invoiced to the CCG on an open book basis. Since May 2021, only taxi provision
had been utilised due to the unavailability of 3rd party locally and inefficiencies of 3rd party
crews sourced from outside of the area. Levels of reimbursement during Q1 2021 had been
below the approved ceiling.
Solely investing in additional taxi resource, although offered some support to the reduced
occupancy challenges did not cover fully the 40 journeys a day additional requirement and
allow for flexibility to manage on the day demand or the increasing requirements for stretcher
or wheelchairs with two crew support transport. The expectation was that occupancy
restrictions would be in place for at least the remainder of 2021-22. E-zec had proposed that
recruitment of its own crews and additional vehicles (utilising locally based resilience fleet
brought into the area due to maintenance delays on vehicles last year) be deployed in order
to robustly manage those journeys.
The Committee was asked to consider the proposal as outlined in Section 2 of the report.
Learning from the use of taxis and whether there was a need to consider the reservation of
ambulances for patient transport was queried. It was highlighted that the County Council
used a wheelchair taxi service for some SEND patients and queried whether we might be
able to utilise that service, and also whether there was opportunity to stimulate the local
voluntary sector.
In response, it was explained that council services had been used during lockdown when the
schools had been closed.
With regards to the voluntary sector the service was already
making use of 250 hrs of voluntary sector provision per week. It should be noted that the
voluntary sector use was for lower acuity patients and the main challenge was associated to
those with greater need. The potential to loosen restrictions could also be explored. The
Contract Managers agreed to investigate the use of council services, increased use of the
voluntary sector and the potential to loosen restrictions and report back to a future meeting.
The Director of Finance advised that the CCGs were in a difficult position due to the
uncertainty of Covid-19 finances from October 2021. At present it was likely the CCGs were
facing significant deficits over the second half of the year. The Committee was reassured
that Ezec was aware of the risk of pursuing recruitment when funding had not been
approved. It was suggested that approval only be granted for funding at the current levels
until the end of September 2021.
Having queried where Ezec was with regard to quality, the Committee was informed that the
CCGs had requested development of a remedial action plan which was due to be discussed
with Ezec next week. There was a meeting planned on 14 September 2021 with
stakeholders to talk through issues in more detail.
After careful consideration, the Committee did NOT approve the recommendation of the
report, and instead approved continuation of the current arrangements to the end of
September 2021, allowing time to gain more certainty with regard to finances from October
onwards.
Covid 19 Vaccination Costs
The report sought review and approval of a further set of Covid-19 vaccination costs
expected to pass through the CCG, with some elements to be reclaimed via rebilling EPUT, a
proportion reclaimed via the non-ISFE and the remainder to be absorbed by the CCG.
The Covid-19 vaccination scheme continued to evolve, although the anticipated move to an
allocation basis had not yet occurred, with a series of reimbursement processes still being in
place. In order to meet NHS England operational requirements costs were being incurred
locally and would need retrospective reimbursement.
In meetings up to and including the 12 July 2021, the Committee had approved £1.037m of
expenses which were expected to be picked up by the CCGs in respect of the vaccination
programme. Today’s report set out the additional costs expected since that paper.

Categories of expenditure were detailed in Section 2 of the report.
The Committee approved the Covid-19 vaccination costs totalling £35,941 and noted that
where those related to payments to primary care the payments would be authorised by the
Commissioning Governance Committee.
Covid Vaccination Cost Analysis
The Committee was asked to review information provided within the report which had been
prepared in response to a request from the Committee to understand the cost profile of the
various delivery methods for the vaccination programme.
The report provided a summary of provision and vaccination numbers by delivery type, a cost
comparison and information with regard to future costs.
What was a reasonable negotiating position between the central commissioner and primary
care in terms of such issues was questioned. The added value of vaccination delivery via
practices was the speed of getting the programme up and running, there was lower agility
from centrally prescribed sites along with higher fixed costs. At the outset NHSE had set up
a situation where the relationship between mass vaccination sites and general practice was
potentially competitive rather than collaborative.
It was explained that there should be some caveat associated to the presented information
as it was likely that some elements of costs were not known. It was thought that NHSE data
might also become available in future and the presented information could be refreshed
going forward.
The need to take high level learning from the situation was emphasized.
The Committee noted the content of the report and that the situation would be monitored
going forward.
21/073

Forward Planner

21/074

Date of Next Meeting
TBA

Unconfirmed Minutes of a meeting of the West Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning
Committee held on Wednesday, 25 August 2021 via Microsoft Teams
with members of the public invited to email in questions prior to the meeting.
PRESENT:
Steve Chicken
Geoff Dobson
Paul Gibara
Jane Payling
Lois Wreathall

Lay Member (Chair)
Lay Member for Governance
Director of Performance Improvement
Director of Finance
Deputy Director of Primary Care

Dr Christopher Browning
Simon Jones
Stuart Quinton
Elizabeth Storer

CCG Chair
Local Medical Committee
Senior Contract Manager (Suffolk and North-East Essex STP)
Healthwatch

IN ATTENDANCE:
Hayley Charman
Elizabeth Dunn
Julia Hiley
Jo Mael
Simon Morgan
Daniel Turner
Denise Wrobbel

Communication and Engagement Officer, West Suffolk CCG
Estates Development Manager, North East Essex CCG
Estates Development Manager
Corporate Governance Manager
Head of Communications
Senior Estates Development Manager
Communications

21/37

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were noted from;
Ed Garratt
Amanda Lyes
Kate Vaughton

21/38

Chief Executive
Director of Corporate Services and System Infrastructure
Director of Integration

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND HOSPITALITY AND GIFTS
No declarations were received.

21/39

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
The minutes of the West Suffolk CCG Primary Care Commissioning Committee meeting
held on 30 June 2021 were approved as a correct record.

21/40

MATTERS ARISING AND REVIEW OF OUTSTANDING ACTIONS
There were no matters arising and the action log was reviewed and updated.

21/41

PRIMARY CARE UPDATE

The Deputy Director of Primary Care reported.

•

That the Covid-19 vaccination programme was ongoing with new cohorts being
encouraged to take up the offer of vaccination.

•

NHS England had recently published new contractual guidance for Primary
Care Networks.

•

There would be introduction of five new areas of focus. Some investment would
be associated to clinical director leadership. Of the previous four service
specifications introduced, two had been deferred to next year.

The Committee was informed that, whilst practices were planning to administer Covid-19
booster vaccinations, conversations continued at a national level with regard to whether the
booster would be offered.
With regards to flu vaccination, while vaccine had been ordered it was not yet known what
would be received, although no supply issues had been identified at present.
The Committee noted the update.
21/42

PRIMARY CARE CONTRACTS AND PERFORMANCE REPORT
The Committee was in receipt of a report which provided an update on performance related
matters in respect of GP Practices and actions taken; seeking further recommendations
and areas for consideration for the Primary Care team.
The report provided information and outlined ongoing actions in respect of the following
areas;
•
•
•
•
•
•

Prescribing and medicines management
Severe mental illness and physical health checks
Learning Disabilities (LD) health checks
Dementia diagnosis rates
Pulse Oximetry at home
Primary Care Network development

The following points were highlighted during discussion;

•

The prescribing updated focused on team development. A Chief Pharmacist
had been appointed across both Suffolk CCGs and work was underway to align
teams and best practice. QIPP plans were also being developed.

•

At the end of Q1 the CCG had achieved a reasonable number of SMI health
checks and it was anticipated that, as with previous years, there would be a
push during Q4.

•

With regard to LD health checks, practices were being encouraged to offer
health checks around individuals’ birthdays in order to spread the work
throughout the year.

•

Dementia diagnosis work continued with rates currently at 59.5% versus a target
of 66.7%.

•

Primary Care Network (PCN) development – new NHS England guidance was
currently being reviewed for impact.

The Committee noted the report.
21/43

PRIMARY CARE DELEGATED COMMISSIONING – FINANCE REPORT
The report provided an overview of the month four Primary Care Delegated Commissioning

Budget and other associated primary care budgets.
At the end of month four, the GP Delegated Budget was £33k underspent. That was mainly
due to release of 2020/21 costs no longer required in the year-to-date position.
A summary of key variances was detailed in paragraph 2.1 of the report.
As the CCG allocations had only been published to the end of month six, only risks in
relation to that period had been included in the forecast. Those included pending rent
increases, forecast list size adjustments and locum costs.
The Committee was informed that the delegated commissioning allocation was not
sufficient to fund the cost of primary care. It was anticipated that future reports would
attempt to show the extent to which the budget was being cost subsidised, which was
currently approximately £1m full year.
All budgets were being reviewed to identify areas where it might be possible to offset and
although the budget was on track, overall the CCG was under financial pressure.
The facilitation of additional PCN roles and responsibilities was highlighted as a future cost
pressure.
The Committee noted the financial performance at month four.
21/44

PRIMARY CARE NETWORK (PCN) DIRECT ENHANCED
REQUIREMENT - STRUCTURED MEDICATION REVIEWS (SMRS)

SERVICE

(DES)

The Committee was updated on the proposed number of SMRs, PCNs with Additional
Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS) clinical pharmacists were required to deliver.
The Network Contract Directed Enhanced Service (DES), Contract specification 2021/22 –
Primary Care Network (PCN) Requirements and Entitlements published 31 March 2021 set
out the CCG requirement to work with PCNs to determine the number of SMRs that a PCN
was required to offer, that in part would be determined and limited by their clinical
pharmacist capacity.
‘PCNs and commissioners must discuss and agree a reasonable volume of Structured
Medication Reviews (SMRs) on that basis if a PCN had not been able to secure sufficient
clinical pharmacist capacity to offer initial, follow-up and reactive SMRs to all identified
patients in the required cohorts. In estimating available capacity, CCGs and PCNs should
acknowledge that clinical pharmacists had a variety of responsibilities and not all of their
hours should be spent on SMRs. The commissioner must also be assured that the PCN
continued to demonstrate all reasonable ongoing efforts to reach sufficient capacity: for
example, by establishing regular SMR audit meetings to discuss progress, priorities and
lessons learnt’
It also set out the requirement for the PCNs to deliver SMRs according to the directions as
outlined in paragraph 1.4 of the report.
The East and West CCGs had worked with the Suffolk Local Medical Committee to
determine the most appropriate number and had universally agreed that in year one 25% of
PCN ARRS funded clinical pharmacist clinical time (i.e adjusted for training, annual leave
and other non-clinical duties) would be a manageable place to start and, in addition, we
agreed the principle that;
(a) If PCNs were to achieve their stated aim of delivering primary care at PCN level then
they needed flexibility not top-down targets.
(b) that SMRs needed to be allowed to dovetail with practice workload
The applicable period would be 1 September 2021 – 31 March 2022
PCNs pharmacists would record their SMRs on GP systems and numbers would be able to
be searched for and submitted to the CCG, monthly.

In response to questioning with regard to the QIPP plan, it was explained that it had been
agreed in Ipswich and East Suffolk and in West Suffolk had been developed for sign off by
the Prescribing Workstream.
Having noted that there had been agreement with the Local Medical Committee (LMC) with
regard to capacity, it was highlighted that the Direct Enhanced Service indicated that PCNs
needed to demonstrate their efforts to maximise capacity. It was anticipated that from April
2022 six months of data would be available and it would be interesting to see how much
more work had been carried out in excess of the target which if thought to be of value could
result in the devotion of more resource from the PCN.
The Primary Care Committee approved the approach as set out within the report.
21/45

PATIENT PARTICIPATION GROUP (PPG) UPDATE
NHS England had mandated that all practices must have a PPG in line with paragraph 5.2
of the GMS contract as detailed in paragraph 1.1 of the report.
Since the start of the pandemic, communications and PPG activity had varied greatly
across the West Suffolk practices. In order to support PPG activity and find out what issues
they were facing, a PPG Network was successfully established in November 2020.
The first PPG network meeting was held in November 2020 and the PPGs led the agenda
with issues such as the challenges faced by practices associated to Covid-19 etc. The
second meeting was held in March 2021 and followed a similar theme, with PPG members
identifying speakers to attend. The network requested presentations on social prescribing
and the integrated neighbourhood teams, which were well received. The most important
element of the network meetings was the PPGs being able to share issues, best practice
and problem solve together.
The network had members from 15 PPGs and covered all six PCNs across West Suffolk.
During the last West Suffolk PPG Network meeting on 30 March 2021, PPG members
discussed what activity, where possible, they had been able to undertake during the last
year.
It was noted that the Forest Health PCN had not been represented at the PPG Network, so
more information about the individual PPGs across Forest Heath was requested by the
Primary Care Commissioning Committee. Practice managers and PPG chairs were
contacted directly by the Alliance Engagement and Involvement Lead for West Suffolk,
however only two practices had responded so far. We continue to work with the remining
six to ascertain their position in order that we can report back to the Committee in due
course.
PCN Clinical Directors and Practice Managers were encouraged to help raise the profile of
the PPG network within their own practices and PPGs. PPGs were not only mandatory but
could provide an excellent communication loop between patients and practice. As the
majority of PPGs were not able to remain active during the pandemic, it would be more
important than ever to communicate with the members and involve them in upcoming
practice work, in order to not lose the momentum of the groups.
The Committee was informed that PPGs in Forest Heath had not been active during the
pandemic. There was a need for practice managers and Primary Care Networks to seek to
engage with PPGs and get them more involved.
It was suggested that a newsletter highlighting best practice might be of benefit. It was felt
that the most successful PPGs were those with one or two enthusiastic members that did
not rely on the practice managers, who were already busy on other work, to push forward
the Group.
The Committee noted the report and, having recognised that further work on PPG
engagement was required, requested that the Communication and Engagement Officer

and Communications Team develop an action plan with regard to the engagement of PPGs
for presentation to the next meeting.
21/46

REYNARD PRACTICE – PATIENT ENGAGEMENT FEEDBACK
The report, accompanied by a presentation, described the process that the Reynard
Surgery took to communicate and engage with its various stakeholders, partners, public
and patients on its proposal not to provide a satellite branch surgery in the Mildenhall Hub.
The report included feedback received during the eight-week engagement exercise
undertaken between May and July 2021.
Key concerns raised included;

•
•
•
•
•

That Red Lodge was too far.
That public transport links were limited within the area.
The impact of potential new housing development
There was no substitute for face to face consultations.
The loss of a town centre presence

There were also others that were in support and happy with the service provided at
Reynard.
Next steps included the issue of a press release thanking people for their feedback and
publication of the practice’s final decision.
The Committee was informed that there was an hourly public transport service between
Mildenhall to Red Lodge, together with available community transport.
The Committee noted the contents of the report and the feedback received during the
engagement exercise.
21/47

CONTRACTUAL UPDATE
To inform the Committee of contractual updates relating to GP practices within the Suffolk
and North-East Essex STP for the period June 2021 to August 2021.
Contractual updates covered activities such as branch closures; list closures; mergers;
practice name changes; and other contract variations. Contractual updates were detailed in
Section 3 of the report.
Comments included;
Haverhill Family Practice although still experiencing recruitment issues intended to re-open
its list from 1 September 2021.
The contract variation agreement for Suffolk Primary Care was in the process of being
signed by all parties. (Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG and West Suffolk CCG
The Committee noted the report.

21/48

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
The next meeting was scheduled to take place on Wednesday, 27 October 2021.

21/49

QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC
No questions had been received.

West Suffolk CCG
Commissioning Governance Committee (via email)
7 July 2021
Decision Record
Commissioning Governance Committee Members:
Geoff Dobson (Chair), Governing Body Lay Member for Governance
Steve Chicken, Lay Member
Ed Garratt, Chief Executive
Jane Payling, Director of Finance
Declarations of Interest
No declarations of interest were received.
2

Prescribing Budget and RAP Scheme
To receive and approve a report from the Deputy Chief Pharmacist
Decision
The Committee approved the prescribing budget and RAP scheme as
detailed within the report.

Walé Abimbola
Report No:
WSCCG/CGC 21-24

West Suffolk CCG
Commissioning Governance Committee (via email)
12 July 2021
Decision Record
Commissioning Governance Committee Members:
Geoff Dobson (Chair), Governing Body Lay Member for Governance
Steve Chicken, Lay Member
Ed Garratt, Chief Executive
Jane Payling, Director of Finance
Declarations of Interest
No declarations of interest were received.
2

LES Budgets and Payment rates – proposed revision
To receive and approve a report from the Director of Integration
Decision
The Committee approved the revised proposal as set out within the
report.

Kate Vaughton
Report No:
WSCCG/CGC 21-25

West Suffolk CCG
Commissioning Governance Committee (via email)
10 August 2021
Decision Record
Commissioning Governance Committee Members:
Geoff Dobson (Chair), Governing Body Lay Member for Governance
Steve Chicken, Lay Member
Ed Garratt, Chief Executive
Jane Payling, Director of Finance
Declarations of Interest
No declarations of interest were received.
2

Polypharmacy Enhanced Service Progress Review
To receive and approve a report from the Deputy Chief Pharmacist
Decision
As recommended by the WSCCG Prescribing Workstream on 09 June
2021, and Executive on 4 August 2021, the Committee approved a
further 6-month extension to the polypharmacy enhanced service from
01 October 2021 to 31 March 2022. Funding was included in the
2021/22 budget.

Adéwalé Abimbola
Report No:
WSCCG/CGC 21-26

West Suffolk CCG
Commissioning Governance Committee (via email)
25 August 2021
Decision Record
Commissioning Governance Committee Members:
Geoff Dobson (Chair), Governing Body Lay Member for Governance
Steve Chicken, Lay Member
Ed Garratt, Chief Executive
Jane Payling, Director of Finance
Declarations of Interest
No declarations of interest were received.
2

Minor Surgery and Vasectomy Services Procurement Award
To receive and approve a report from the Director of Performance
Improvement
Decision
The Committee:
Agreed the award of contracts to the outlined providers for both Minor
Surgery West and Vasectomy.
Approved the issue of award letters to commence the 10-day standstill
period.

Paul Gibara
Report No:
WSCCG/CGC 21-27

Ipswich & East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
North East Essex Clinical Commissioning Group
Minutes of the CCG Collaborative Group meeting held on
17 August 2021
PRESENT
Steve Chicken
Dr Christopher Browning (CB)
Dr Hasan Chowhan (HC)
Dr Mark Shenton (MS)
Graham Leaf (GL)
Jon Price (JP)
Ed Garratt (EG)
IN ATTENDANCE
Jo Mael (JM)
Lizzie Mapplebeck

Lay Member, IESCCG and WSCCG (Chair)
Chair, West Suffolk CCG Governing Body
Chair, North East Essex CCG Governing Body
Chair, Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG Governing Body
Lay Member (Governance) Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG
Lay Member (Governance) North East Essex CCG
Chief Executive, Ipswich & East Suffolk, North East Essex and West
Suffolk CCGs
Corporate Governance Manager
Head of Corporate Transformation

Minute
21/26

Action
Welcome and apologies
The Chair welcomed all to the meeting. Apologies for absence were received
from:
Geoff Dobson, Lay Member (Governance) West Suffolk CCG

21/27

Declarations of Interest, hospitality and gifts
No declarations of interest, hospitality or gifts were received.

21/28

Minutes of meeting held on 13 July 2021
The minutes of a meeting held on 13 July 2021 were approved as a correct
record subject to correction of a date on page two of the minutes to 31 March
2022.

21/29

Matters arising and review of action log
The action log was complete.

21/30

ICS Transition
Lizzie Mapplebeck, Head of Corporate Transformation was welcomed to the
meeting.
The Group was in receipt of a document entitled ‘Roadmap to 2022: High
Level System Transition Programme Plan – Update and Key Principles’. Key
points highlighted included:
•

•

Work to establish the new statutory bodies from April 2022 was in two
parts. Part one was associated to closure of the CCGs for which Lizzie
was the lead and Part two was the transition to the ICS which was being
led by Susannah Howard.
Ed was the Senior Responsible Officer for the CCG closure and he

•
•

•
•
•

•

currently had oversight of both elements of the work.
From 31 March 2022 all functions of the CCGs were to be closed as they
would no longer be legal entities. There should be smooth transfer of
data to the new statutory body from 1 April 2022.
13 workstreams had been established, each with an accountable lead. A
detailed plan was in place and being worked through. The plan was
being monitored closely and assurance on progress sought at regular
intervals. The plan would form part of the first assurance document for
NHSE and sat alongside the risk register.
Baselining work was also taking place in respect of people, data,
contracts and assets. No concerns had been identified at present.
Some guidance from NHSE remained outstanding and the delay in
receipt of the HR framework was of particular concern.
Plans were to be submitted to NHSE by the end of September 2021,
following which a statement of assurance from the CCG would be
required to confirm that everything was in place for transition. A checklist
had been produced by NHSE and had been incorporated into the wider
plan to ensure all elements were addressed.
Meetings with NHSE were taking place on a weekly basis to highlight or
identify any areas of concern.

Comments included;
In response to questioning the Group was informed that along with the HR
Framework there were other items of guidance from NHSE that remained
outstanding, such as that associated to the Constitution.
Having queried how existing CCG governance arrangements might operate
during the transition period and whether there was a need to create a shadow
form, it was explained that it was anticipated that the ICS would sign off the
CCG’s annual accounts for 2021/22.
The Chief Executive reported that conversations were to be had with NHSE
with regard to the possible movement of regional staff into the ICSs, which if
pursued would need careful consideration.
The Group thanked Lizzie for her presentation and welcomed future verbal
updates on progress.
The Group was informed that Will Pope had been appointed as the
Designate Chair for the ICS. Chief Executives had been asked to consider
whether a ‘slot in’ or appointment to the Accountable Officer role was most
appropriate.
The Group noted the update.
21/31

Chief Executive Update
The Chief Executive reported;
•

The Chief Executive advised the Group of a current HR issue and
advised that due process was being followed.

The Group noted the update.
21/32

Any Other Business
In light of the tight timelines associated to the transition to the ICS, the benefit
of running in shadow form from now until the end of March 2022 was queried.
In response it was highlighted that, as yet, the new Board structure for the
ICS was unknown and it seemed sensible to continue with the CCGs at
present in light of work associated to the pandemic and winter.

The need to ensure that there was close monitoring of the 13 workstreams to
ensure oversight of clinical issues was emphasized and the Chief Executive
agreed to feedback the Group’s concerns to the project leads.
21/33

Date of Next Meeting
7 September 2021 at 2.00pm

Ipswich & East Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group
North East Essex Clinical Commissioning Group
Minutes of the CCG Collaborative Group meeting held on
7 September 2021
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Dr Mark Shenton (MS)
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Jon Price (JP)
Ed Garratt (EG)
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Chair, West Suffolk CCG Governing Body
Chair, North East Essex CCG Governing Body
Chair, Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG Governing Body
Lay Member (Governance) Ipswich & East Suffolk CCG
Lay Member (Governance) North East Essex CCG
Chief Executive, Ipswich & East Suffolk, North East Essex and West
Suffolk CCGs

IN ATTENDANCE
Helen Farrow (HF)
Lizzie Mapplebeck (LM)

Executive Assistant (minutes)
Head of Corporate Transformation (Agenda item 5)

Minute
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Action
Welcome and apologies
The Chair welcomed all to the meeting. Apologies for absence were received
from:
Steve Chicken
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Lay Member, IESCCG and WSCCG

Declarations of Interest, hospitality and gifts
No declarations of interest, hospitality or gifts were received.
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Minutes of meeting held on 17 August 2021
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 August 2021 were approved as a
correct record.
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Matters arising and review of action log
There were no matters arising and the action log was reviewed and updated.
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ICS Transition
LM provided a progress update on plans towards CCG closure ahead of ICS
transition.
Members were assured that baseline mapping was being progressed, and
that work was on track around the Contracts Register, People Register,
Policy Register and Constitution template.
National Guidance was awaited for VCSE, clinical leadership and finance, as
well as the Job Descriptions for director roles.
The Group noted the update, making the following comments:

-

-

A discussion had taken place with Ipswich & East Suffolk PCN Clinical
Directors around clinical leadership roles; MS felt this would be helpful to
have across all three CCGs to help develop what clinical leadership
would mean within the Guidance.
There would be a need to ensure availability of resource for clinical
leadership, alongside other resource constraints

With regard to previous ICS boundary issues, EG reported that discussions
were taking place with Essex County Council, who were keen to look at
collaborative county-wide working in Essex.
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Chief Executive Update
The Chief Executive reported:
-

-

Applications were now invited for the SNEE ICS Chief Executive role, with
interviews scheduled for 3 November 2021
The interview date compresses the timeline for recruitment to other ICS
Director roles.
Discussions were taking place around primary care commissioning and
how this would look following transition to an ICS
Financial issues, being seen across CCGs nationally, would result in a
difficult second half of the year for all three CCGs; the Finance
Committees would receive detailed information at the next meetings.

The Group noted the update which prompted a considered discussion
around primary care commissioning and potential options.
There was some concern around the date of the Chief Executive interview,
with the preference that this be held earlier. The three CCG Chairs wished to
challenge the date with the ICS Chair and agreed that concerns would be
formally shared with him.
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Any Other Business
No items of other business were received.
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Date of Next Meeting
19 October 2021 at 2.00pm

